OAK LODGE WATER SERVICES

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

SEPTEMBER 10, 2024



o

o o0 oo

PUBLIC MEETING
OAK LODGE WATER SERVICES
BOARD OF DIRECTORS
AUGUST 13, 2024 at 4:00 p.m.
Call to Order
Call for Public Comment

Consent Agenda

July 2024 Financial Report
Approval of August 13, 2024 Board Meeting Minutes

Consideration of Updated Design and Construction Standards
Consideration of Contract for Biosolids Hauling

Business from the Board

Department Reports

Administration

Finance

Public Works

Plant Operations

Adjourn Meeting



AGENDA ITEM

Title Call to Order
Item No. 1
Summary

The Chair will call the meeting to order with a quorum of the Board at the noticed time.
The Chair may request participation in a nonpartisan acknowledgement of their choosing.

The General Manager will review the meeting protocols before business is discussed.



AGENDA ITEM

Title Call for Public Comment
Item No. 2

Date September 10, 2024
Summary

The Board of Directors welcomes comment from members of the public.
There are two basic public comment options: written and verbal.

Written Public Comment may be submitted in person, online, and by email or postal mail.
Written comments may not be read out loud or addressed during the meeting, however, all
public comments will be entered into the record.

Verbal Public Comment may be given during public meeting's comment period. Commenters
must register to speak with the District Recorder before the start of the meeting. The Board of
Directors may elect to limit the total time available for public comment or for any single
speaker depending on meeting length.



Dear Oak Lodge Water Services,

| am writing to express my concern regarding the sewage rates that have been applied to my
property at 13709 SE Laurie Ave. | have lived here for 26 years. | have had a single person
household for the last 13 years. | have a well for the water source. Oak Lodge Water Services has
been charging me a sewer fee based on "average ” water use. Because | have a well, you have
no idea what my water usage is. | made a public records request with you in June of 2021 for
rates pre covid in 2019. At the time | was using 2019 because people’s work and home habits
changed during 2020 and 2021.

Upon reviewing the billing costs for a 2-month period and comparing them to other properties
in the community, | believe that | have been overcharged for many years due to the method
used to determine my water usage.

Average water usage for 2 months described in billing amount

13709 SE Laurie ave. Subject property 1 person, water use $ 104.30
14415 SE Fairoaks Ln Milwaukie Or. 2 people, water use $102.11
14222 SE Fairoaks Ave. Milwaukie OR. 1 Person, water use $72.05
13811 SE Malloy Lane Milwaukie OR. 2 people, water use $93.15
13708 SE Malloy Lane Milwaukie OR. 2 people, water use $97.60
13710 SE Laurie Ave. Milwaukie OR. 2 people, water use $96.47
14322 SE Laurie Ave. Milwaukie OR. 1 person, water use $90.93
16020 SE Harold AVE, MILWAUKIE, OR. 2 people, water use $85.71
3835 SE Oatfield Ct. Milwaukie OR. 1 person, water use $ 84.29

4130 SE Harold Ct Milwaukie OR. 2 people water use $95.73.

So, the average water use for 2 people is approximately $95.13, and the average water use for 1
person is approximately $82.42. | believe that my usage is closer to the low end of a one person
household of $72.00. | was being charged an average of $104.30 for 2 months in 2019.

Though not intentional, Oak Lodge Water Services policy to charge well owners a sewer fee
based on “average” water use is discriminatory to well owners and single person households.



| have been unfairly charged for sewage rates compared to water usage on properties with more
occupants. | am also a water conserver. | limit my water usage ( watering) to reduce the wear on
my well pump.

| request a thorough investigation of my case and a fair credit adjustment of my sewage charges
over the last 12 years to reflect my actual water usage. | also request an adjustment to the
formula used to calculate my sewer bill going forward.

Please provide a detailed breakdown of the calculations used for my charges and any additional
information needed to resolve this matter promptly. Thank you for your attention to this issue.

Sincerely,

Ken Roberts

13709 SE Laurie Ave.
Milwaukie, Or 97222
503-539-2260
ken@krhouses.com



CONSENT AGENDA

To Board of Directors

From Brad Albert, General Manager
Title Consent Agenda

Item No. 3

Date September 10, 2024
Summary

The Board of Directors has a standing item on the regular monthly meeting agenda called
“Consent Agenda.” This subset of the regular agenda provides for the Board to relegate routine
business functions not requiring discussion to a consent agenda where all included items can be
acted upon by a single act.

The Consent Agenda includes:

a. July 2024 Financial Report
b. Approval of August 13, 2024 Board Meeting Minutes

Options for Consideration
1. Approve the Consent Agenda as listed on the meeting agenda.

2. Request one or more items listed on the Consent Agenda be pulled from the
Consent Agenda for discussion.

Recommendation
Staff requests that the Board approve the items listed under the Consent Agenda.
Suggested Board Motion

“I move to approve the Consent Agenda.”

Approved By Date




MONTHLY FINANCIAL REPORT

To Board of Directors

From Brad Albert, General Manager
Title July 2024 Financial Reports
Item No. 3a

Date September 10, 2024

Reports

e July 2024 Monthly Overview
e July 2024 Budget to Actual Report
e July 2024 Budget Account Roll Up Report



Oak Lodge Water Services
Monthly Financial Overview
FY 2024-25 July 2024

This report summarizes the revenues and expenditures for July 2024. Also incorporated in this
report are account balances, including all cash and investment activity as well as checks and
withdrawals.

Cash and Investments

Account Balances As of:

July 31, 2024 Interest Rate Balance
Account ) )
Wells Fargo Bank Checking-3552 $ 26,693
Wells Fargo Bank Checking-9966 $ 1,476,906
LGIP 5.30% $ 11,764,608

| Total $ 13,268,206 |

The OLWS’ checks, electronic withdrawals, and bank drafts total $ 1.6 million for July 2024. There
was one voided check.

Services Revenue

Below is a table identifying OLWS’ three principal sources of service charges in each fund with a
comparison between annual budget estimates and year-to-date service charge fees.

Budget Period Year-to-Date Percentage

GL Account Service Charge Estimate Amount Amount of Budget
10-00-4211 Water sales $ 6,146,000 $ 638,509 $ 638,509 10.4%
20-00-4212 Wastewater charges 12,781,000 1,086,002 1,086,002 8.5%
30-00-4213 Watershed protection 1,995,000 165,505 165,505 8.3%
Subtotal $20,922,000 $1,890,016 $1,890,016 9.0%

With respect to revenues, water and wastewater revenues are above budget, while watershed
protection services’ is below budget. Total variance through July is positive $146,516 or 0.7%.

Expenses by Budget Category

The table below matches the Budget for the number of months reported to the same number of
months of actual expenses. The Budget YTD column provides the portion of the Budget for
comparison, whereas the financial reports compare actuals to the full annual budget. This view
allows for a review at the category level to ensure expenditures remain within the budget within
each category.



FY 2025 BUDGET Year-to-Date = ACTUALS Year-to-Date

Expense Category Adopted Budget July 2024 July 2024 % Spent
Personnel Services $ 6,238,000 $519,833 S 494,479 95%
Materials & Services 5,975,900 497,992 416,407 84%
Capital Outlay 15,727,000 1,310,583 226,047 17%
$2,328,408 $1,136,933 49%

With respect to expenditures, at the end of July expenditures are overall 5.7% of budget,
excluding Contingencies.



General Ledger
Budget to Actual

User: antonio@olwsd.org
Printed: 8/30/2024 4:42:01 PM

Period 01 - 01
Fiscal Year 2025

Account Number Description Budget Period Amt End Bal Encumbered % of Budget
05 Administrative Services
NonDivisional
Beginning Fund Balance
05-00-3500 Fund Balance 1,209,778.00 0.00 123,870.45 0.00 10.24
Beginning Fund Balance 1,209,778.00 0.00 123,870.45 0.00 10.24
NonDivisional 1,209,778.00 0.00 123,870.45 0.00 10.24
Fund Balance 1,209,778.00 0.00 123,870.45 0.00 10.24
NonDivisional
Revenue
05-00-4227 System 1,000.00 2,515.00 2,515.00 0.00 251.50
Devel opment-Compliance
05-00-4230 Contracted Services 60,000.00 9,400.00 9,400.00 0.00 15.67
Revenue
05-00-4610 Investment Revenue 10,000.00 6,538.12 6,538.12 0.00 65.38
05-00-4630 Miscellaneous Revenues 10,000.00 1,280.00 1,280.00 0.00 12.80
Revenue 81,000.00 19,733.12 19,733.12 0.00 24.36
NonDivisional 81,000.00 19,733.12 19,733.12 0.00 24.36
Transfers &
Contingencies
Revenue
05-29-4910 Transfer In from Fund 10 1,100,000.00 91,659.00 91,659.00 0.00 8.33
05-29-4920 Transfer In from Fund 20 2,200,000.00 183,341.00 183,341.00 0.00 8.33
05-29-4930 Transfer In from Fund 30 1,100,000.00 91,659.00 91,659.00 0.00 8.33
Revenue 4,400,000.00 366,659.00 366,659.00 0.00 8.33
Transfers & 4,400,000.00 366,659.00 366,659.00 0.00 8.33
Contingencies
Revenue 4,481,000.00 386,392.12 386,392.12 0.00 8.62
AdminFinance
Personnel Services
05-01-5110 Regular Employees 897,000.00 73,879.07 73,879.07 0.00 8.24
05-01-5120 TemporarySeasonal 0.00 310.71 310.71 0.00 0.00
Employees
05-01-5130 Overtime 10,000.00 990.02 990.02 0.00 9.90
05-01-5210 HealthDental Insurance 149,000.00 12,234.13 12,234.13 0.00 8.21
05-01-5230 Socia Security 70,000.00 5,660.77 5,660.77 0.00 8.09
05-01-5240 Retirement 178,000.00 14,315.68 14,315.68 0.00 8.04
05-01-5250 TrimetWBFPaid Leave OR 24,000.00 921.94 921.94 0.00 384
05-01-5270 Workers Compensation 1,000.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
Personnel Services 1,329,000.00 108,312.32 108,312.32 0.00 8.15
Materials & Services
05-01-6110 Legal Services 300,000.00 44,126.12 44,126.12 0.00 14.71
05-01-6120 Accounting and Audit 75,000.00 10,500.00 10,500.00 2,450.00 14.00
Services
05-01-6155 Contracted Services 232,000.00 16,339.63 16,339.63 28,720.00 7.04
05-01-6180 Dues and Subscriptions 46,000.00 -263.00 -263.00 0.00 -0.57
05-01-6220 Electricity 22,000.00 1,707.61 1,707.61 20,152.00 7.76
05-01-6240 Natural Gas 5,500.00 92.83 92.83 5,328.30 1.69
GL - Budget to Actua (08/30/2024 - 04:42 PM) Page 1



Account Number Description Budget Period Amt End Bal Encumber ed % of Budget
05-01-6290 Other Utilities 5,500.00 221.62 221.62 2,437.82 4.03
05-01-6310 Janitorial Services 25,000.00 1,769.79 1,769.79 12,388.53 7.08
05-01-6320 Buildings & Ground 40,000.00 1,190.01 1,190.01 6,545.07 2.98
Maintenance
05-01-6410 Mileage 1,000.00 18.76 18.76 0.00 1.88
05-01-6420 Staff Training 16,000.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
05-01-6510 Office Supplies 35,000.00 1,626.40 1,626.40 0.00 4.65
05-01-6730 Communications 1,000.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
05-01-6760 Equipment Rental 3,000.00 278.64 278.64 0.00 9.29
05-01-6770 Bank Charges 200,000.00 18,855.93 18,855.93 0.00 9.43
05-01-6780 Taxes, Fees, Permits 2,000.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
Materials & Services 1,009,000.00 96,464.34 96,464.34 78,021.72 9.56
AdminFinance 2,338,000.00 204,776.66 204,776.66 78,021.72 8.76
Human Resour ces
Personnel Services
05-02-5110 Regular Employees 227,000.00 25,380.34 25,380.34 0.00 11.18
05-02-5120 TemporarySeasonal 0.00 4,683.53 4,683.53 0.00 0.00
Employees
05-02-5130 Overtime 5,000.00 163.98 163.98 0.00 3.28
05-02-5210 HealthDental Insurance 31,000.00 5,464.12 5,464.12 0.00 17.63
05-02-5230 Social Security 18,000.00 1,900.96 1,900.96 0.00 10.56
05-02-5240 Retirement 43,000.00 1,566.34 1,566.34 0.00 3.64
05-02-5250 TrimetWBFPaid Leave OR 3,000.00 314.57 314.57 0.00 10.49
05-02-5260 Unemployment 5,000.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
05-02-5270 Workers Compensation 500.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
05-02-5290 Other Employee Benefits 15,000.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
Personnel Services 347,500.00 39,473.84 39,473.84 0.00 11.36
Materials & Services
05-02-6155 Contracted Services 45,500.00 591.95 591.95 4,000.00 1.30
05-02-6175 Records Management 4,000.00 682.10 682.10 0.00 17.05
05-02-6230 Telephone 60,000.00 4,187.52 4,187.52 12,375.75 6.98
05-02-6410 Mileage 1,000.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
05-02-6420 Staff Training 20,000.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
05-02-6440 Board Expense 5,000.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
05-02-6510 Office Supplies 1,000.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
05-02-6540 Safety Supplies 2,000.00 31.96 31.96 0.00 1.60
05-02-6560 Uniforms 10,500.00 599.96 599.96 0.00 571
05-02-6610 Board Compensation 2,500.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
05-02-6620 Election Costs 5,000.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
05-02-6720 Insurance-General 247,000.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
05-02-6730 Communications 2,500.00 300.00 300.00 0.00 12.00
05-02-6740 Advertising 7,000.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
Materials & Services 413,000.00 6,393.49 6,393.49 16,375.75 1.55
Human Resour ces 760,500.00 45,867.33 45,867.33 16,375.75 6.03
Technical Services
Personnel Services
05-03-5110 Regular Employees 814,000.00 57,138.23 57,138.23 0.00 7.02
05-03-5130 Overtime 5,000.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
05-03-5210 HealthDental Insurance 150,000.00 7,300.60 7,300.60 0.00 4.87
05-03-5230 Socia Security 64,000.00 4,317.01 4,317.01 0.00 6.75
05-03-5240 Retirement 156,000.00 10,998.16 10,998.16 0.00 7.05
05-03-5250 TrimetWBFPaid Leave OR 11,000.00 702.45 702.45 0.00 6.39
05-03-5270 Workers Compensation 1,000.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
Personnel Services 1,201,000.00 80,456.45 80,456.45 0.00 6.70
Materials & Services
05-03-6155 Contracted Services 335,000.00 18,271.69 18,271.69 151,728.31 5.45
05-03-6350 Computer Maintenance 418,000.00 27,595.78 27,595.78 99,183.57 6.60
05-03-6410 Mileage 500.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
05-03-6420 Staff Training 10,000.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
05-03-6430 Certifications 2,000.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
05-03-6530 Small Tools & Equipment 1,000.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
GL - Budget to Actua (08/30/2024 - 04:42 PM) Page 2



Account Number Description Budget Period Amt End Bal Encumbered % of Budget
05-03-6540 Safety Supplies 3,000.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
05-03-6550 Operational Supplies 3,000.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
05-03-6730 Communications 52,000.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
Materials & Services 824,500.00 45,867.47 45,867.47 250,911.88 5.56
Technical Services 2,025,500.00 126,323.92 126,323.92 250,911.88 6.24
Vehicle Services
Materials & Services
05-04-6330 V ehicleEquipment 80,000.00 9,724.80 9,724.80 0.00 12.16
Maintenance
05-04-6520 Fuels & Qils 50,000.00 3,566.97 3,566.97 0.00 7.13
Materials & Services 130,000.00 13,291.77 13,291.77 0.00 10.22
Vehicle Services 130,000.00 13,291.77 13,291.77 0.00 10.22
Transfers &
Contingencies
Transfers & Contingencies
05-29-9000 Contingency 436,778.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
Transfers & Contingencies 436,778.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
Transfers & 436,778.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
Contingencies
Expense 5,690,778.00 390,259.68 390,259.68 345,309.35 6.86
05 Administrative Services 0.00 -3,867.56 120,002.89 -345,309.35 0.00
10 Drinking Water
NonDivisional
Beginning Fund Balance
10-00-3500 Fund Balance 950,061.00 0.00 405,679.79 0.00 42.70
Beginning Fund Balance 950,061.00 0.00 405,679.79 0.00 42.70
NonDivisional 950,061.00 0.00 405,679.79 0.00 42.70
Fund Balance 950,061.00 0.00 405,679.79 0.00 42.70
NonDivisional
Revenue
10-00-4210 Wholesale Water Sales 40,000.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
10-00-4211 Drinking Water Charges 6,146,000.00 638,508.75 638,508.75 0.00 10.39
10-00-4215 Penalties & Late Charges 14,000.00 1,395.76 1,395.76 0.00 9.97
10-00-4240 Service Installations 10,000.00 21,980.00 21,980.00 0.00 219.80
10-00-4280 Rents & Leases 180,000.00 16,808.46 16,808.46 0.00 9.34
10-00-4290 Other Charges for Services 10,000.00 4,048.00 4,048.00 0.00 40.48
10-00-4610 Investment Revenue 5,000.00 2,915.73 2,915.73 0.00 58.31
10-00-4630 Miscellaneous Revenues 25,000.00 29.00 29.00 0.00 0.12
Revenue 6,430,000.00 685,685.70 685,685.70 0.00 10.66
NonDivisional 6,430,000.00 685,685.70 685,685.70 0.00 10.66
Revenue 6,430,000.00 685,685.70 685,685.70 0.00 10.66
Drinking Water
Personnel Services
10-20-5110 Regular Employees 723,000.00 58,560.13 58,560.13 0.00 8.10
10-20-5130 Overtime 42,000.00 7,095.73 7,095.73 0.00 16.89
10-20-5210 HealthDental Insurance 133,000.00 8,012.98 8,012.98 0.00 6.02
10-20-5230 Social Security 57,000.00 4,991.38 4,991.38 0.00 8.76
10-20-5240 Retirement 139,000.00 12,687.89 12,687.89 0.00 9.13
10-20-5250 TrimetWBFPaid Leave OR 9,000.00 808.50 808.50 0.00 8.98
10-20-5270 Workers Compensation 15,000.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
Personnel Services 1,118,000.00 92,156.61 92,156.61 0.00 8.24
Materials & Services
10-20-6155 Contracted Services 292,000.00 4,859.85 4,859.85 96,339.00 1.66
10-20-6220 Electricity 51,000.00 4,479.03 4,479.03 46,750.00 8.78
GL - Budget to Actua (08/30/2024 - 04:42 PM) Page 3



Account Number Description Budget Period Amt End Bal Encumbered % of Budget
10-20-6240 Natural Gas 3,000.00 199.83 199.83 2,775.41 6.66
10-20-6290 Other Utilities 6,000.00 377.80 377.80 5,161.14 6.30
10-20-6320 Buildings & Grounds 5,000.00 133.25 133.25 0.00 2.67
10-20-6340 System Maintenance 200,000.00 20,661.17 20,661.17 3,925.55 10.33
10-20-6410 Mileage 500.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
10-20-6420 Staff Training 10,000.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
10-20-6430 Certifications 2,000.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
10-20-6530 Small Tools & Equipment 10,000.00 1,410.95 1,410.95 0.00 14.11
10-20-6540 Safety Supplies 15,000.00 1,415.61 1,415.61 3,179.00 9.44
10-20-6550 Operationa Supplies 10,000.00 863.86 863.86 0.00 8.64
10-20-6560 Uniforms 0.00 151.97 151.97 0.00 0.00
10-20-6710 Purchased Water 1,250,000.00 129,559.86 129,559.86 0.00 10.36
10-20-6715 Water Quality Program 35,000.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
10-20-6760 Equipment Rental 8,000.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
10-20-6780 Taxes, Fees, Permits 20,000.00 0.00 0.00 4,500.00 0.00

Materials & Services 1,917,500.00 164,113.18 164,113.18 162,630.10 8.56

Drinking Water 3,035,500.00 256,269.79 256,269.79 162,630.10 8.44

Debt Service

Materials & Services
10-24-6815 Zions Bank Loan-Principa 198,000.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
10-24-6825 Zions Bank Loan-Interest 11,000.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00

Materials & Services 209,000.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00

Debt Service 209,000.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00

Transfers &

Contingencies

Transfers & Contingencies
10-29-8105 Transfers Out to Fund 05 1,100,000.00 91,659.00 91,659.00 0.00 8.33
10-29-8171 Transfers Out to Fund 71 2,200,000.00 183,337.00 183,337.00 0.00 8.33
10-29-9000 Contingency 835,561.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00

Transfers & Contingencies 4,135,561.00 274,996.00 274,996.00 0.00 6.65

Transfers & 4,135,561.00 274,996.00 274,996.00 0.00 6.65

Contingencies

Expense 7,380,061.00 531,265.79 531,265.79 162,630.10 7.20
10 Drinking Water 0.00 154,419.91 560,099.70 -162,630.10 0.00
20 Wastewater Reclam.

NonDivisional

Beginning Fund Balance
20-00-3500 Fund Balance 742,904.00 0.00 -278,898.04 0.00 -37.54

Beginning Fund Balance 742,904.00 0.00 -278,898.04 0.00 -37.54

NonDivisional 742,904.00 0.00 -278,898.04 0.00 -37.54

Fund Balance 742,904.00 0.00 -278,898.04 0.00 -37.54

NonDivisional

Revenue
20-00-4212 Wastewater Charges 12,781,000.00 1,086,002.35 1,086,002.35 0.00 8.50
20-00-4215 Penalties & Late Charges 7,000.00 819.37 819.37 0.00 11.71
20-00-4290 Other Charges for Services 10,000.00 2,366.00 2,366.00 0.00 23.66
20-00-4610 Investment Revenue 1,000.00 0.11 0.11 0.00 0.01
20-00-4630 Miscellaneous Revenues 2,000.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00

Revenue 12,801,000.00 1,089,187.83 1,089,187.83 0.00 851

NonDivisional 12,801,000.00 1,089,187.83 1,089,187.83 0.00 851

Transfers &

Contingencies

Revenue
20-29-4930 Transfer In from Fund 30 164,500.00 13,708.00 13,708.00 0.00 8.33

Revenue 164,500.00 13,708.00 13,708.00 0.00 8.33
GL - Budget to Actua (08/30/2024 - 04:42 PM) Page 4



Account Number Description Budget Period Amt End Bal Encumber ed % of Budget
Transfers & 164,500.00 13,708.00 13,708.00 0.00 8.33
Contingencies
Revenue 12,965,500.00 1,102,895.83 1,102,895.83 0.00 8.51
Wastewater -Plant
Personnel Services
20-21-5110 Regular Employees 754,000.00 64,013.68 64,013.68 0.00 8.49
20-21-5130 Overtime 53,000.00 3,662.40 3,662.40 0.00 6.91
20-21-5210 HealthDental Insurance 177,000.00 13,528.99 13,528.99 0.00 7.64
20-21-5230 Socia Security 59,000.00 5,108.70 5,108.70 0.00 8.66
20-21-5240 Retirement 142,000.00 12,668.97 12,668.97 0.00 8.92
20-21-5250 TrimetWBFPaid Leave OR 10,000.00 834.69 834.69 0.00 8.35
20-21-5270 Workers Compensation 15,000.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
Personnel Services 1,210,000.00 99,817.43 99,817.43 0.00 8.25
Materials & Services
20-21-6155 Contracted Services 191,000.00 37,219.26 37,219.26 112,527.95 19.49
20-21-6220 Electricity 383,000.00 26,430.43 26,430.43 351,065.00 6.90
20-21-6240 Natural Gas 2,000.00 27.19 27.19 1,843.00 1.36
20-21-6250 Solid Waste Disposal 49,000.00 229.12 229.12 53,520.32 0.47
20-21-6310 Janitorial Services 17,000.00 1,170.14 1,170.14 8,190.98 6.88
20-21-6320 Buildings & Grounds 68,000.00 4,651.96 4,651.96 40,563.72 6.84
20-21-6342 WRF System Maintenance 200,000.00 1,857.51 1,857.51 0.00 0.93
20-21-6410 Mileage 500.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
20-21-6420 Staff training 10,000.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
20-21-6430 Certifications 2,000.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
20-21-6525 Chemicals 77,000.00 6,383.35 6,383.35 74,466.65 8.29
20-21-6530 Small Tools & Equipment 18,000.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
20-21-6540 Safety Supplies 10,000.00 3,226.19 3,226.19 2,750.00 32.26
20-21-6550 Operational Supplies 5,000.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
20-21-6560 Uniforms 18,000.00 546.15 546.15 0.00 3.03
20-21-6760 Equipment Rental 10,000.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
20-21-6780 Taxes, Fees, Permits 81,000.00 1,103.87 1,103.87 36,000.00 1.36
Materials & Services 1,141,500.00 82,845.17 82,845.17 680,927.62 7.26
Wastewater -Plant 2,351,500.00 182,662.60 182,662.60 680,927.62 7.77
Wastewater-Collections
Personnel Services
20-22-5110 Regular Employees 526,000.00 39,953.93 39,953.93 0.00 7.60
20-22-5130 Overtime 30,000.00 1,889.63 1,889.63 0.00 6.30
20-22-5210 HealthDental Insurance 119,000.00 7,266.40 7,266.40 0.00 6.11
20-22-5230 Social Security 41,000.00 3,129.75 3,129.75 0.00 7.63
20-22-5240 Retirement 99,000.00 7,833.11 7,833.11 0.00 7.91
20-22-5250 TrimetWBFPaid Leave OR 7,000.00 516.14 516.14 0.00 7.37
20-22-5270 Workers Compensation 12,000.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
Personnel Services 834,000.00 60,588.96 60,588.96 0.00 7.26
Materials & Services
20-22-6155 Contracted Services 49,000.00 0.00 0.00 23,000.00 0.00
20-22-6220 Electricity 62,000.00 2,072.76 2,072.76 61,819.00 3.34
20-22-6290 Other Utilities 1,000.00 43.17 43.17 487.83 4.32
20-22-6342 Collection System Maint. 35,000.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
20-22-6410 Mileage 500.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
20-22-6420 Staff Training 10,000.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
20-22-6430 Certifications 2,000.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
20-22-6530 Small Tools & Equipment 15,000.00 85.51 85.51 0.00 0.57
20-22-6540 Safety Supplies 12,000.00 1,227.98 1,227.98 0.00 10.23
20-22-6550 Operational Supplies 5,000.00 1,196.28 1,196.28 0.00 23.93
20-22-6560 Uniforms 10,000.00 423.00 423.00 0.00 4.23
20-22-6780 Taxes, Fees, Permits 30,000.00 766.08 766.08 10,800.00 2.55
Materials & Services 231,500.00 5,814.78 5,814.78 96,106.83 2.51
Wastewater-Collections 1,065,500.00 66,403.74 66,403.74 96,106.83 6.23
GL - Budget to Actua (08/30/2024 - 04:42 PM) Page 5



Account Number Description Budget Period Amt End Bal Encumbered % of Budget
Transfers &
Contingencies
Transfers & Contingencies
20-29-8105 Transfers Out to Fund 05 2,200,000.00 183,341.00 183,341.00 0.00 8.33
20-29-8150 Transfers Out to Fund 50 3,467,000.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
20-29-8172 Transfers Out to Fund 72 4,000,000.00 333,341.00 333,341.00 0.00 8.33
20-29-9000 Contingency 609,404.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
Transfers & Contingencies 10,276,404.00 516,682.00 516,682.00 0.00 5.03
Transfers & 10,276,404.00 516,682.00 516,682.00 0.00 5.03
Contingencies
Expense 13,693,404.00 765,748.34 765,748.34 777,034.45 5.59
20 Wastewater Reclam. 15,000.00 337,147.49 58,249.45 -777,034.45 388.33
30 Water shed Protection
NonDivisional
Beginning Fund Balance
30-00-3500 Fund Balance 123,126.00 0.00 159,089.90 0.00 129.21
Beginning Fund Balance 123,126.00 0.00 159,089.90 0.00 129.21
NonDivisional 123,126.00 0.00 159,089.90 0.00 129.21
Fund Balance 123,126.00 0.00 159,089.90 0.00 129.21
NonDivisional
Revenue
30-00-4213 Watershed Protection 1,995,000.00 165,505.17 165,505.17 0.00 8.30
Charges
30-00-4215 Penalties & Late charges 1,000.00 246.07 246.07 0.00 24.61
30-00-4290 Other Charges for Services 10,000.00 6,031.00 6,031.00 0.00 60.31
30-00-4610 Investment Revenue 500.00 260.63 260.63 0.00 52.13
Revenue 2,006,500.00 172,042.87 172,042.87 0.00 8.57
NonDivisional 2,006,500.00 172,042.87 172,042.87 0.00 8.57
Revenue 2,006,500.00 172,042.87 172,042.87 0.00 8.57
Water shed Protection
Personnel Services
30-23-5110 Regular Employees 120,000.00 8,665.61 8,665.61 0.00 7.22
30-23-5130 Overtime 1,000.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
30-23-5210 HealthDental Insurance 41,000.00 2,632.99 2,632.99 0.00 6.42
30-23-5230 Social Security 10,000.00 645.81 645.81 0.00 6.46
30-23-5240 Retirement 23,000.00 1,622.21 1,622.21 0.00 7.05
30-23-5250 TrimetWBFPaid Leave OR 2,000.00 106.46 106.46 0.00 5.32
30-23-5270 Workers Compensation 1,500.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
Personnel Services 198,500.00 13,673.08 13,673.08 0.00 6.89
Materials & Services
30-23-6155 Contracted Services 174,000.00 1,617.00 1,617.00 11,383.00 0.93
30-23-6340 System Maintenance 45,000.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
30-23-6420 Staff Training 2,000.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
30-23-6430 Certifications 400.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
30-23-6530 Small Tools & Equipment 1,000.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
30-23-6540 Safety Supplies 1,000.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
30-23-6550 Operational Supplies 5,000.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
30-23-6780 Taxes, Fees, Permits 4,500.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
Materials & Services 232,900.00 1,617.00 1,617.00 11,383.00 0.69
Water shed Protection 431,400.00 15,290.08 15,290.08 11,383.00 354
Transfers &
Contingencies
Transfers & Contingencies
30-29-8105 Transfers Out to Fund 05 1,100,000.00 91,659.00 91,659.00 0.00 8.33
30-29-8120 Transfers Out to Fund 20 164,500.00 13,708.00 13,708.00 0.00 8.33
30-29-8173 Transfers Out to Fund 73 250,000.00 2,087.00 2,087.00 0.00 0.83
GL - Budget to Actua (08/30/2024 - 04:42 PM) Page 6



Account Number Description Budget Period Amt End Bal Encumbered % of Budget
30-29-9000 Contingency 122,726.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
Transfers & Contingencies 1,637,226.00 107,454.00 107,454.00 0.00 6.56
Transfers & 1,637,226.00 107,454.00 107,454.00 0.00 6.56
Contingencies
Expense 2,068,626.00 122,744.08 122,744.08 11,383.00 5.93
30 Water shed Protection 61,000.00 49,298.79 208,388.69 -11,383.00 341.62
50 WW Revenue Bond Debt
Service
NonDivisional
Beginning Fund Balance
50-00-3500 Fund Balance 666,920.00 0.00 73,599.55 0.00 11.04
Beginning Fund Balance 666,920.00 0.00 73,599.55 0.00 11.04
NonDivisional 666,920.00 0.00 73,599.55 0.00 11.04
Fund Balance 666,920.00 0.00 73,599.55 0.00 11.04
NonDivisional
Revenue
50-00-4610 Investment Revenue 3,000.00 394.30 394.30 0.00 13.14
Revenue 3,000.00 394.30 394.30 0.00 13.14
NonDivisional 3,000.00 394.30 394.30 0.00 13.14
Transfers &
Contingencies
Revenue
50-29-4920 Transfer In from Fund 20 3,467,000.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
Revenue 3,467,000.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
Transfers& 3,467,000.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
Contingencies
Revenue 3,470,000.00 394.30 394.30 0.00 0.01
Debt Service
Materials & Services
50-24-6810 2010 SRF Loan Principal 984,000.00 489,536.00 489,536.00 0.00 49.75
50-24-6811 2021 IFA Loan Principal 336,000.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
50-24-6813 JPM Bank Loan Principal 1,490,000.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
50-24-6820 2010 SRF Loan Interest 236,000.00 97,462.00 97,462.00 0.00 41.30
50-24-6822 2021 IFA Loan Interest 138,000.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
50-24-6823 JPM Bank Loan Interest 235,000.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
Materials & Services 3,419,000.00 586,998.00 586,998.00 0.00 17.17
Debt Service 3,419,000.00 586,998.00 586,998.00 0.00 17.17
Expense 3,419,000.00 586,998.00 586,998.00 0.00 17.17
50 WW Revenue Bond Debt 717,920.00 -586,603.70 -513,004.15 0.00 -71.46
Service
71 Drinking Water Capital
NonDivisional
Beginning Fund Balance
71-00-3500 Fund Balance 3,654,753.00 0.00 424,853.00 0.00 11.62
Beginning Fund Balance 3,654,753.00 0.00 424,853.00 0.00 11.62
NonDivisional 3,654,753.00 0.00 424,853.00 0.00 11.62
Fund Balance 3,654,753.00 0.00 424,853.00 0.00 11.62
NonDivisional
Revenue
71-00-4221 System 50,000.00 99,903.00 99,903.00 0.00 199.81
Development-Reimburse
71-00-4225 System 50,000.00 92,814.00 92,814.00 0.00 185.63
GL - Budget to Actua (08/30/2024 - 04:42 PM) Page 7



Account Number Description Budget Period Amt End Bal Encumbered % of Budget
Devel opment-I mprovement
71-00-4610 Investment Revenue 50,000.00 19,606.23 19,606.23 0.00 39.21
Revenue 150,000.00 212,323.23 212,323.23 0.00 141.55
NonDivisional 150,000.00 212,323.23 212,323.23 0.00 141.55
Transfers &
Contingencies
Revenue
71-29-4910 Transfer In from Fund 10 2,200,000.00 183,337.00 183,337.00 0.00 8.33
Revenue 2,200,000.00 183,337.00 183,337.00 0.00 8.33
Transfers & 2,200,000.00 183,337.00 183,337.00 0.00 8.33
Contingencies
Revenue 2,350,000.00 395,660.23 395,660.23 0.00 16.84
Drinking Water
Capital Outlay
71-20-7200 Infrastructure 316,000.00 69,363.62 69,363.62 0.00 21.95
71-20-7300 Buildings & Improvements 210,000.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
71-20-7400 Improvement Other than 30,000.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
Bldgs
71-20-7520 Equipment 346,000.00 0.00 0.00 314,545.76 0.00
71-20-7530 Information Technology 50,000.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
71-20-7540 Vehicles 67,000.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
71-20-7600 Capital Improvement 2,025,000.00 18,254.37 18,254.37 222,695.22 0.90
Projects
Capital Outlay 3,044,000.00 87,617.99 87,617.99 537,240.98 2.88
Drinking Water 3,044,000.00 87,617.99 87,617.99 537,240.98 2.88
Transfers &
Contingencies
Transfers & Contingencies
71-29-9000 Contingency 400,000.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
Transfers & Contingencies 400,000.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
Transfers & 400,000.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
Contingencies
Expense 3,444,000.00 87,617.99 87,617.99 537,240.98 254
71 Drinking Water Capital 2,560,753.00 308,042.24 732,895.24 -537,240.98 28.62
72 Wastewater Reclamation
Capital
NonDivisional
Beginning Fund Balance
72-00-3500 Fund Balance 2,595,944.00 0.00 -233,791.69 0.00 -9.01
Beginning Fund Balance 2,595,944.00 0.00 -233,791.69 0.00 -9.01
NonDivisional 2,595,944.00 0.00 -233,791.69 0.00 -9.01
Fund Balance 2,595,944.00 0.00 -233,791.69 0.00 -9.01
NonDivisional
Revenue
72-00-4220 System Development 100,000.00 46,485.00 46,485.00 0.00 46.49
Charges
72-00-4320 State Grants 3,000,000.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
72-00-4610 Investment Revenue 30,000.00 12,020.10 12,020.10 0.00 40.07
72-00-4650 Proceeds From Borrowing 5,615,000.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
Revenue 8,745,000.00 58,505.10 58,505.10 0.00 0.67
NonDivisional 8,745,000.00 58,505.10 58,505.10 0.00 0.67
Transfers &
Contingencies
GL - Budget to Actua (08/30/2024 - 04:42 PM) Page 8



Account Number Description Budget Period Amt End Bal Encumbered % of Budget
Revenue
72-29-4920 Transfer In from Fund 20 4,000,000.00 333,341.00 333,341.00 0.00 8.33
Revenue 4,000,000.00 333,341.00 333,341.00 0.00 8.33
Transfers & 4,000,000.00 333,341.00 333,341.00 0.00 8.33
Contingencies
Revenue 12,745,000.00 391,846.10 391,846.10 0.00 3.07
Wastewater-Plant
Capital Outlay
72-21-7300 Buildings & Improvements 40,000.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
72-21-7400 Improvement Other than 30,000.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
Bldgs
72-21-7520 Equipment 343,000.00 24,809.95 24,809.95 77,762.00 7.23
72-21-7530 Information Technology 60,000.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
72-21-7600 Capital Improvement 6,615,000.00 0.00 0.00 9,468.51 0.00
Projects
Capital Outlay 7,088,000.00 24,809.95 24,809.95 87,230.51 0.35
Wastewater -Plant 7,088,000.00 24,809.95 24,809.95 87,230.51 0.35
Wastewater-Collections
Capital Outlay
72-22-7200 Infrastructure 300,000.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
72-22-7520 Equipment 30,000.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
72-22-7540 Vehicles 67,000.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
72-22-7600 Capital Improvement 4,898,000.00 113,618.83 113,618.83 434,221.89 2.32
Projects
Capital Outlay 5,295,000.00 113,618.83 113,618.83 434,221.89 215
Wastewater-Collections 5,295,000.00 113,618.83 113,618.83 434,221.89 215
Transfers &
Contingencies
Transfers & Contingencies
72-29-9000 Contingency 1,238,300.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
Transfers & Contingencies 1,238,300.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
Transfers & 1,238,300.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
Contingencies
Expense 13,621,300.00 138,428.78 138,428.78 521,452.40 1.02
72 Wastewater Reclamation 1,719,644.00 253,417.32 19,625.63 -521,452.40 114
Capital
73 Watershed Protection
Capital
NonDivisional
Beginning Fund Balance
73-00-3500 Fund Balance 2,844,237.00 0.00 147,543.57 0.00 5.19
Beginning Fund Balance 2,844,237.00 0.00 147,543.57 0.00 5.19
NonDivisional 2,844,237.00 0.00 147,543.57 0.00 519
Fund Balance 2,844,237.00 0.00 147,543.57 0.00 5.19
NonDivisional
Revenue
73-00-4610 Investment Revenue 20,000.00 13,111.94 13,111.94 0.00 65.56
Revenue 20,000.00 13,111.94 13,111.94 0.00 65.56
NonDivisional 20,000.00 13,111.94 13,111.94 0.00 65.56
Transfers &
Contingencies
Revenue
73-29-4930 Transfer In from Fund 30 250,000.00 2,087.00 2,087.00 0.00 0.83
GL - Budget to Actua (08/30/2024 - 04:42 PM) Page 9



Account Number Description Budget Period Amt End Bal Encumbered % of Budget
Revenue 250,000.00 2,087.00 2,087.00 0.00 0.83
Transfers & 250,000.00 2,087.00 2,087.00 0.00 0.83
Contingencies
Revenue 270,000.00 15,198.94 15,198.94 0.00 5.63
Watershed Protection
Capital Outlay
73-23-7600 Capital Improvement 300,000.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
Projects
Capital Outlay 300,000.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
Water shed Protection 300,000.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
Transfers &
Contingencies
Transfers & Contingencies
73-29-9000 Contingency 50,000.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
Transfers & Contingencies 50,000.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
Transfers & 50,000.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
Contingencies
Expense 350,000.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
73 Water shed Protection 2,764,237.00 15,198.94 162,742.51 0.00 5.89
Capital
Revenue Total 44,718,000.00 3,150,116.09 3,150,116.09 0.00 7.0444
Expense Total 49,667,169.00 2,623,062.66 2,623,062.66 2,355,050.28 5.2813
GL - Budget to Actua (08/30/2024 - 04:42 PM) Page 10



Genera Ledger
Account Roll Up

User: antonio@olwsd.org
Printed: 8/6/2024 4:37:07 PM

Period 12 - 12
Fiscal Year 2024
Sort Level Description Budget Period Amt End Bal % Expend
/Collect
Revenue Revenue
4210 Water Sales- CRW $ 40,000.00 $ - $ - 0.0%
4211 Water sales $ 6,146,000.00 $ 638,508.75 $ 638,508.75 10.4%
4212 Wastewater Charges $ 12,781,000.00 $ 1,086,002.35 $ 1,086,002.35 8.5%
4213 Watershed protection fees $ 1,995,000.00 $ 165,505.17 $ 165,505.17 8.3%
4215 Penalties & late charges $ 22,000.00 $ 246120 $ 2,461.20 11.2%
4220 System Development Charges $ 100,000.00 $ 46,485.00 $ 46,485.00 46.5%
4221 System Devel opment-Reimburse $ 50,000.00 $ 99,903.00 $ 99,903.00 199.8%
4225 System Devel opment-Improvement $ 50,000.00 $ 92,814.00 $ 92,814.00 185.6%
4227 System Devel opment-Compliance $ 1,000.00 $ 251500 $ 2,515.00 251.5%
4230 Contract services $ 60,000.00 $ 9,400.00 $ 9,400.00 15.7%
4240 Service installations $ 10,000.00 $ 21,980.00 $ 21,980.00 219.8%
4280 Rents & leases $ 180,000.00 $ 16,808.46 $ 16,808.46 9.3%
4290 Other charges for services $ 30,000.00 $ 12,445.00 $ 12,445.00 41.5%
4320 State grants $ 3,000,000.00 $ - $ - 0.0%
4610 Investment revenue $ 119,500.00 $ 54,847.16 $ 54,847.16 45.9%
4630 Miscellaneous revenues $ 37,000.00 $ 1,309.00 $ 1,309.00 3.5%
4650 Proceeds from borrowing $ 5,615,000.00 $ - $ - 0.0%
$ 30,236,500.00 $ 2,250,984.09 $ 2,250,984.09 7.4%
4910 Transfer in from Fund 10 $ 3,300,000.00 $ 274,996.00 $ 274,996.00 8.3%
4920 Transfer in from Fund 20 $ 9,667,000.00 $ 516,682.00 $ 516,682.00 5.3%
4930 Transfer in from Fund 30 $ 1,514,500.00 $ 107,454.00 $ 107,454.00 7.1%
Revenue Revenue $ 44,718,000.00 $ 3,150,116.09 $ 3,150,116.09 7.0%
Expense Expense
Personnel Services
5110 Regular employees $ 4,061,000.00 $ 327,590.99 $ 327,590.99 8.1%
5120 Temporary/Seasonal employees $ - $ 490424 $ 4,994.24 0.0%
5130 Overtime $ 146,000.00 $ 13,801.76 $ 13,801.76 9.5%
5210 Employee Ins $ 800,000.00 $ 56,440.21 $ 56,440.21 7.1%
5230 Social Security $ 319,000.00 $ 25,754.38 $ 25,754.38 8.1%
5240 Retirement $ 780,000.00 $ 61,692.36 $ 61,692.36 7.9%
5250 Trimet $ 66,000.00 $ 420475 $ 4,204.75 6.4%
5260 Unemployment $ 5,000.00 $ - $ - 0.0%
5270 Workers compensation $ 46,000.00 $ - $ - 0.0%
5290 Other employee benefits $ 15,000.00 $ - $ - 0.0%
$ 6,238,000.00 $ 49447869 $ 494,478.69 7.9%
Materials & Services
6110 Lega services $ 300,000.00 $ 4412612 $ 44,126.12 14.7%
6120 Accounting & audit services $ 75,000.00 $ 10,500.00 $ 10,500.00 14.0%
6155 Contracted Services $ 1,318,500.00 $ 78,899.38 $ 78,899.38 6.0%
6175 Records M anagement $ 4,000.00 $ 682.10 $ 682.10 17.1%
6180 Dues & subscriptions $ 46,000.00 $ (263.00) $ (263.00) -0.6%
6220 Electricity $ 518,000.00 $ 34,689.83 $ 34,689.83 6.7%
GL - Account Roll up Page 1




% Expend

Sort Level Description Budget Period Amt End Bal
/Collect

6230 Telephone $ 60,000.00 $ 418752 $ 4,187.52 7.0%
6240 Natual gas $ 10,500.00 $ 31985 $ 319.85 3.1%
6250 Solid waste disposal $ 49,000.00 $ 22912 $ 229.12 0.5%
6290 Other utilities $ 12,500.00 $ 64259 $ 642.59 5.1%
6310 Janitorial services $ 42,000.00 $ 293993 $ 2,939.93 7.0%
6320 Buildings & grounds $ 113,000.00 $ 597522 $ 5,975.22 5.3%
6330 Vehicle & equipment maint. $ 80,000.00 $ 9,724.80 $ 9,724.80 12.2%
6340 Distribution system maint $ 245,000.00 $ 20,661.17 $ 20,661.17 8.4%
6342 Collection system maint. $ 235,000.00 $ 185751 $ 1,857.51 0.8%
6350 Computer maintenance $ 418,000.00 $ 27,595.78 $ 27,595.78 6.6%
6410 Mileage $ 4,000.00 $ 1876 $ 18.76 0.5%
6420 Staff training $ 78,000.00 $ - $ - 0.0%
6430 Certifications $ 8,400.00 $ - $ - 0.0%
6440 Board travel & training $ 5,000.00 $ - $ - 0.0%
6510 Office supplies $ 36,000.00 $ 162640 $ 1,626.40 4.5%
6520 Fuel & oils $ 50,000.00 $ 3,566.97 $ 3,566.97 7.1%
6525 Chemicals $ 77,000.00 $ 6,383.35 $ 6,383.35 8.3%
6530 Small tools & equipment $ 45,000.00 $ 1,496.46 $ 1,496.46 3.3%
6540 Safety supplies $ 43,000.00 $ 590174 $ 5,901.74 13.7%
6550 Operational Supplies $ 28,000.00 $ 2,060.14 $ 2,060.14 7.4%
6560 Uniforms $ 38,500.00 $ 1,721.08 $ 1,721.08 4.5%
6570 In-House Laboratory Services $ 15,000.00 $ - $ - 0.0%
6610 Board compensation $ 2,500.00 $ - $ - 0.0%
6620 Election Costs $ 5,000.00 $ - $ - 0.0%
6710 Purchased water $ 1,250,000.00 $ 129,559.86 $ 129,559.86 10.4%
6715 Water quality program $ 35,000.00 $ - $ - 0.0%
6720 Insurance $ 247,000.00 $ - $ - 0.0%
6730 Communications $ 55,500.00 $ 300.00 $ 300.00 0.5%
6735 Public Outreach & Education $ 61,000.00 $ - $ - 0.0%
6740 Advertising $ 7,000.00 $ - $ - 0.0%
6760 Equipment Rental $ 21,000.00 $ 27864 $ 278.64 1.3%
6770 Bank charges $ 200,000.00 $ 18,855.93 $ 18,855.93 9.4%
6780 Taxes, Fees & Permits $ 137,500.00 $ 1,869.95 $ 1,869.95 1.4%

$ 5,975,900.00 $ 416,407.20 $ 416,407.20 7.0%
Debt Service and Special Payments
6810 2010 SRF Loan Principal $ 984,000.00 $ 489,536.00 $ 489,536.00 49.8%
6811 2010 IFA Loan Principal $ 336,000.00 $ - $ - 0.0%
6813 JPM Bank Loan Principal $ 1,490,000.00 $ - $ - 0.0%
6815 Zions Bank loan-principal $ 198,000.00 $ - $ - 0.0%
6820 2010 SRF Loan Interest $ 236,000.00 $ 97,462.00 $ 97,462.00 41.3%
6822 2010 IFA Loan Interest $ 138,000.00 $ - $ - 0.0%
6823 JPM Bank Loan Interest $ 235,000.00 $ - $ - 0.0%
6825 Zions Bank loan-interest $ 11,000.00 $ - $ - 0.0%

$ 3,628,000.00 $ 586,998.00 $ 586,998.00 16.2%
Capital Outlay
7200 Infrastructure $ 616,000.00 $ 69,363.62 $ 69,363.62 11.3%
7300 Buildings & Improvements $ 250,000.00 $ - $ - 0.0%
7400 Improvement other than Bldgs $ 60,000.00 $ - $ - 0.0%
7520 Equipment $ 719,000.00 $ 24,809.95 $ 24,809.95 3.5%
7530 Information Technology $ 110,000.00 $ - $ - 0.0%
7540 Vehicles $ 134,000.00 $ - $ - 0.0%
7600 Capital Improvement Projects $ 13,838,000.00 $ 131,873.20 $ 131,873.20 1.0%

$ 15,727,000.00 $ 226,046.77 $ 226,046.77 1.4%
Transfers

GL - Account Roll up Page 2



% Expend

Sort Level Description Budget Period Amt End Bal ICollect
8105 Transfers out to Fund 05 $ 4,400,000.00 $ 366,659.00 $ 366,659.00 8.3%
8120 Transfers out to Fund 20 $ 164,500.00 $ 13,708.00 $ 13,708.00 8.3%
8150 Transfers out to Fund 50 $ 3,467,000.00 $ - $ - 0.0%
8171 Transfers out to Fund 71 $ 2,200,000.00 $ 183,337.00 $ 183,337.00 8.3%
8172 Transfers out to Fund 72 $ 4,000,000.00 $ 333,341.00 $ 333,341.00 8.3%
8173 Transfers out to Fund 73 $ 250,000.00 $ 2,087.00 $ 2,087.00 0.8%
$ 14,481,500.00 $ 899,132.00 $ 899,132.00 6.2%
$ 46,050,400.00 $ 2,623,062.66 $ 2,623,062.66 57%
9000 Contingency $ 3,692,769.00 $ - $ - 0.0%
Expense Expense $ 49,743,169.00 $ 2,623,062.66 $ 2,623,062.66 5.3%
Revenue Total $ 44,718,000.00 $ 3,150,116.09 $ 3,150,116.09 7.0%
Expense Total $ 49,743,169.00 $ 2,623,062.66 $ 2,623,062.66 5.3%
Grand Total $ (5,025,169.00) $ 527,05343 $ 527,053.43 -10.5%
GL - Account Roll up Page 3




AGENDA ITEM

To Board of Directors

From Laural Casey, District Recorder
Title Approval of Meeting Minutes
Item No. 3b

Date September 10, 2024

Summary of Minutes for Approval
The Board of Directors reviews and approves the minutes of the Body’s prior public meetings.
Attachments

1. August 13, 2024 Meeting Minutes



OAK LODGE WATER SERVICES
BOARD OF DIRECTORS
REGULAR MEETING MINUTES
AUGUST 13, 2024

Board of Directors

Susan Keil Chair
Kevin Williams Vice Chair
Paul Gornick Treasurer
Ginny Van Loo Director
Heidi Bullock Director

Oak Lodge Water Services Staff

Brad Albert General Manager
David Hawkins Plant Superintendent
Lindsey Kangiser HR/Payroll Manager
Ryan Hunter Water Field Supervisor
Laural Casey District Recorder
Antonio Canisales Senior Accountant Lead
Tessie Prentice Civil Engineer

Consultants & Organizational Representatives
Tommy Brooks Cable Huston

1. Callto Order

Chair Keil called the meeting to order at 3:59 p.m.

2. Call for Public Comment

Jim Moreland provided comment regarding a partition project and the OLWS permitting process.
3. Consent Agenda

Items on the Consent Agenda included:

e The June 2024 Financial Report, and
e July9, 2024 Board Meeting Minutes.

Treasurer Gornick moved to approve the Consent Agenda. Vice Chair Williams and Director Van Loo
seconded.

The Board asked questions regarding the Monthly Financial Report. There was a technical correction on



OAK LODGE WATER SERVICES
Board of Directors Regular Meeting Minutes for August 13, 2024
Page 2 of 3

the Monthly Overview.

District Recorder Casey conducted a roll call vote. Voting Aye: Directors Keil, Williams, Gornick, Van Loo,
and Bullock.

MOTION CARRIED

4. Consideration of Contract for I&l Construction in the LS5 Basin Area Phase |

Civil Engineer Prentice was introduced and presented the written Staff Report, detailing the project and
procurement process.

The Board asked questions regarding the pipe materials,

Vice Chair Williams moved to approve the General Manager to sign a Public Improvement Contract with
Landis and Landis Construction for the work of furnishing and installing the LS5 Sewer Improvements
Phase 1 Project for $2,124,494.50, and a $200,000.00 contingency for unforeseen work related to the
project. Director Van Loo seconded. District Recorder Casey conducted a roll call vote. Voting Aye:
Directors Keil, Williams, Gornick, Van Loo, and Bullock.

MOTION CARRIED
5. Consideration of Financial Assistance Utility Rate Relief Policy Update
General Manager Albert presented the written Staff Report.

The Board asked questions regarding binding future boards through policy and requested that the
language include a minimum funding amount of no less than a half percent.

Treasurer Gornick moved to adopt Resolution No. 2024-0032 adopting an update to the Financial
Assistance Utility Rate Relief Program Policy with an addition of language to set the minimum budgeted
amount each fiscal year at 0.5% of total budgeted revenue and direct the General Manager to make
corrections, as such, to the resolution and policy. Director Van Loo seconded. District Recorder Casey
conducted a roll call vote. Voting Aye: Directors Keil, Williams, Gornick, Van Loo, and Bullock.

MOTION CARRIED
6. Business from the Board

Vice Chair Williams discussed the Clackamas River flow, which was discussed at the CRW meeting, and
the American Civil Engineers report on infrastructure.

Chair Keil reported on the North Clackamas Chamber meeting and a future meeting with Representative
Anessa Hartman.



OAK LODGE WATER SERVICES

Board of Directors Regular Meeting Minutes for August 13, 2024

Page 3 of 3

The Board discussed attendance at the Jennings Lodge community picnic.

7. Department Reports

The Management Team provided highlights from their written reports, including a reservoir leak, the
NPDES permit, and flushable wipe settlement.

The Board asked clarifying questions regarding billing delinquencies, the Check Run Report, service
conflicts with Clackamas County, the PGE generator project, WWTP in-house lab analysis, staff
proactivity at the WWTP.

8. Adjourn Meeting

District legal counsel Brooks offered updated language to the FAURR Policy:

The OLWS Board of Directors shall budget resources for each fiscal year in sufficient amounts to fund
the revenue losses due to the program, through the budget adoption process, and at a rate that is no
less than 0.5 percent of budgeted OLWS rate revenue.

The Board approved.

Chair Keil adjourned the meeting at 4:54 p.m.

Respectfully submitted,

Susan Keil Kevin Williams
Chair, Board of Directors Vice Chair, Board of Directors

Date: Date:




STAFF REPORT

To: Board of Directors

From: Markus Mead, Development Review Specialist

Agenda Iltem: Consideration of Updated Design and Construction Standards
Item No: 4

Date: September 10, 2024

Summary

Board approval of Resolution 2024-0031 to amend The Design and Construction Standards
(Standards).

History

e October 17, 2017 adopted by Resolution Number 17- 14 October 20, 2017

e February 15, 2019 adopted by Resolution Number 19- 01 February 15, 2019
e April 17, 2020 adopted by Resolution Number 2020-02 March 17, 2020

e February 18, 2021 adopted by Resolution Number 2021-01 January 19, 2021

Background

The Standards are an essential component of OLWS’s infrastructure. They implement OLWS’s
policies and provide guidance to OLWS staff, developers and consultants for new utility
installation, construction inspections and plan document archival. The document includes all
three utilities in Oak Lodge’s purview: water, wastewater and storm water. Design and
Construction Standard documents are routinely amended to reflect updated policies, practices,
industry standards and technologies. No service fee, System Development Charge, or revenue
changes are included in this document.

In 2023, OLWS, and the other Clackamas Co-Permittees were reissued a modified Municipal
Separate Storm Sewer (MS4) Permit. Major changes to the permit included updated
requirements for water quality monitoring, post-construction runoff control, legal authority,
hydromodification, low impact development/green infrastructure standards, and stormwater
design standards. Under this new permit, OLWS must adopt the permit requirements by
November 2024. This proposed Standards update satisfies this requirement.



Summary of Chapter Changes

Wastewater: Changes are in “track changes” in red color text. The proposed text is in bold and
underlined. Deleted text is in strikethrough. Proposed changes are minimal and considered
“housekeeping”. No significant changes are proposed. Organizationally, the construction-
related chapter has been combined with the design chapter at the request of staff and some
designers (customers). Detail drawings have been updated with new adoption dates.

Stormwater: The proposed standards closely follow Water Environment Services’ (WES)
standards but have been slightly modified to reflect requirements specific to Oak Lodge’s MS4
Permit regarding the impervious surface threshold triggering a permit (1,000 square feet versus
5,000 square feet). As compared to the current code, the proposal requires using Low Impact
Development / Green Infrastructure to treat stormwater, offers a sizing calculation that
simplifies the design calculations for design engineers and the review process for staff.

Water: Changes are in “track changes” in red color text. The proposed text is in bold and
underlined. Deleted text is in strikethrough. Proposed changes are minimal and considered
“housekeeping”. No significant changes are proposed. Organizationally, the construction-
related chapter has been combined with the design chapter at the request of staff and some
designers (customers). Detail drawings have been updated with new adoption dates including a
new detail drawing 435: sampling station.

Proposed Amendment Description: Storm Code Standards

The WES code was adopted in June 2023. Oak Lodge has retained the WES section numbering
system which differs from the other Oak Lodge design chapters’ system.

Major changes from the WES Code include the following:

e Existing standards and City of Portland standards and drawings referenced for water
quality is completely replaced by the proposed Design Standards Section 2.

e Removed Section 4: public stormwater system expansion.

e Removed Sections 7.4-7.10 Infrastructure design standards (referred to Clack. Co. DTD).

e Removed Figures 1-4.

e Removed Tables 9-14

e Engineered stormwater detail drawings all reference WES and CC DTD.

e Definitions are from WES unless Oak Lodge had an existing definition, which then
replaced the WES definition.

e Table 1 explicitly provides permitting triggers based on square footage of impervious
surface. Developments less than 10,000 square feet can use a “simplified method”
(meaning not engineered) which uses an open swale treatment system sized to provide
treatment, flow control and infiltration which are the three primary treatment tools.
This now captures single family dwellings - both new construction and additions - which
were not captured in the current code.



e Developments greater than 10,000 square feet must be engineered, include a bond,
maintenance agreement, stormwater report / calculations and downstream analysis.

e All triggered construction uses the BMP sizing tool or an equivalent. This simplifies
design and reduces the review time and associated cost.

e A new requirement is for Oak Lodge to review commercial and industrial operations for
potential spills into the surface water system. Examples include automotive
repair/painting/detailing outside of a structure, liquid storage, fuel dispensing, recycling
or solid waste. These are new requirements from the MS4 permit and will add to staff
time.

e Added “simplified” method stormwater infiltration facility detail drawings 200-210.

Public Comment

The proposed Standards document has been available for public comment since August 16,
2024 for a total of 12 days as of this memo and 25 days of public comment availability as of this
hearing. Oak Lodge actively notified all permit applicants from the past four years, neighboring
municipalities and agencies and its interested party list which includes NGOs and Community
Councils. To date, Oak Lodge has received no comments.

Staff Response to Public Comment
N/A
Cost Implications

Unlike most code updates, there is an estimated cost increase to OLWS. The increases will be
staff time to administer and inspect additional requirements and an intermittent cost for the
stormwater software used to calculate runoff. The increases originate in the updated MS4
permit’s increased requirements.

e Oak Lodge inspection staff time required would increase an estimated 7%.

e Oak Lodge permit review staff time required would increase an estimated 10%.

e Membership to the stormwater calculation software (called the BMP sizing tool) could
cost an estimated $8,000 when changes or updates are needed. However, it’s estimated
that this is completely offset by reducing the current consultant cost needed to review
storm calculations because the proposed code is simpler (less costly to administer) than
the existing.

Recommendation

Staff seeks approval from the Board to approve the proposed amendments in this annual
update to go into effect October 10, 2020 following the 30-day public comment period.

1 Net increase.



Sample Motion

“I move to approve Resolution No. 2024-0031 adopting the Design and Construction Standards
for Oak Lodge Water Services effective October 10, 2024 unless there are substantial comments
received that should be considered by the Board.”

Attachments

1. Design and Construction Standards (with track changes).
2. Resolution 2024-0031



DESIGN AND CONSTRUCTION STANDARDS

Oak Lodge Water Services Design and Construction Standards
Oct. 10, 2024 (Previous Revision: February 18, 2021)




SECTION 1

SECTION 2

SECTION 3

SECTION 4

SECTION 5

DESIGN AND CONSTRUCTION STANDARDS

GENERAL DESIGN AND APPLICATION SUBMITTAL REQUIREMENTS
STORMWATER DESIGN AND CONSTRUCTION

WASTEWATER DESIGN AND CONSTRUCTION

WATER DESIGN AND CONSTRUCTION

STANDARD DRAWINGS

Oak Lodge Water Services Design and Construction Standards

Oct. 10, 2024 (Previous Revision: February 18, 2021)




DESIGN AND CONSTRUCTION STANDARDS

This document is intended to be updated annually. If errors are found, please cite them and
submit them to Oak Lodge Water Services Engineering Department:

Phone: (503) 654-7765

Email: Rermits@OLWSD-org Permits@OLWS.org

Versions

Current OLWS: October 10, 2024 adopted by Resolution Number 2024-031

OLWSD February 18, 2021: Adopted by Resolution Number 2021- 01 January 19, 2021
OLWSD April 17, 2020: Adopted by Resolution Number 2020-02 March 17, 2020
OLWSD February 15, 2019: Adopted by Resolution Number 19- 01 February 15, 2019

OLWSD October 17, 2017: Adopted by Resolution Number 17- 14 October 20, 2017 (Oak Lodge
Water Services District)

OLSD March 2, 2016: Adopted by Ordinance 85; March, 8 2016 (Oak Lodge Sanitary District)

Oak Lodge Water Services Design and Construction Standards
Oct. 10, 2024 (Previous Revision: February 18, 2021)




SECTION 1—GENERAL DESIGN AND APPLICATION SUBMITTAL

REQUIREMENTS
TABLE OF CONTENTS
1.0 GENERAL ettt ettt ettt e ettt e e et e e s et e e e e e ab e e e e e bt e e e e abta e e e teeeenraeeean 1
1.0.1 Authority and Purpose and Alternative Design Proposals .......ccccccceeevecevcnnnnnnnnnnns 1
1.0.2 ENgINEErING POlICY . .ccciiieiieeeieeeeecc e e e e e e e eeeeeeeeneeeeeees 1
1.0.3 Applicability and Permit TYPES ..cccoecueiiiiiiee ettt e e e 2
1.0.4 Conflicting Codes, Regulations, Rules, Standards ..........cccccecvvireeeeeiiiiiciiieeeee e, 4
1.0.5 Standard SPeCifiCations ........uuiiiiiiiiiiiiiiece e 4
1.0.6 Approval of Alternate Materials Or Methods .........ceeeeeeeiiiiiiiiieee e, 4
1.0.7 Special DesigN Problems .........uiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiee et 4
1.0.8 Revisions to Design and Construction Standards.........ccceeeveeiviciinnneieiiiieiinieiaens 5
1.0.9 Definitions and ABDreviations ........ooccuuiiiiieeiiiiiiiieee e 5
1.1 CONSTRUCTION PLANS ..ettiieiiitee ettt e eeiie e e e ettt e e s stte e e e sibaeeessnbaneessnsbaeeesnnsaeessnnsaeeennns 303431
1.1.1 General INformation .......oooeieeiieeieeececccccc e, 303131
1.1.2 Plan Preparation ... raaae 3031341
1.1.3 REQUITEA SNEETS...cciieeieeeiieciccecccciceicc bbb bbb basssesrrassssesseereenes 313232
1.1.4 Supporting INformation ........ccoeeeiiiiiicicc e 343535
1.1.5 Plan Submittal and Review Procedures ..........cccoeeeeeeeeeeieeieceiicennnnnnenns 414242
1.1.6 As-Built Plan ReqUIrements ........oooeeeeiieiiee e 424343
1.1.7 Plan Quality and Miscellaneous Requirements.........cccccevvecvneennerernnnnenennnenn. 434444
1.1.8 Permit and Approval Vesting and Amendments.......ccccceeevvcvriieeeeeeerscivnneenn. 444545
O I T I 1Y oo o g V=Yt f o] o [ U PPPPUPRT 454646
1.1.10 Replacement Service Lateral Installations ........cccceeeeeiviiiiiiieeeeieciiiieee, 454646
1.1.11 Building SEWEr REPair....cccceeeiee e e 454646
1.1.12 Connection to Cesspools And Septic Tanks.......cccceeeereeiiiiieeeeeeeisiiineeeeeenn 464747
1.1.13 Sanitary Sewer BackfloOW.........ccoooiiiiiiiiiiiiee e 464747
1.1.14 Ownership and Acceptance And Bonding......ccceeveeeeeeiiieiiiciiiiieinnnnnnns 464747
1.1.15 Inspections and AUthOritY.......cooeeeiieiieeiccc e 464747
1.1.16  Construction QUAlILY .....cceeeeeiieeiieecccece e erreereeeeeees 495050
1.1.17 Construction DUration ......ccoeviiiiiiiiie i e e e e 495050
I 2 I - [ 0 =Y =P 495050

Oak Lodge Water Services Design and Construction Standards
Section 1—General Requirements Oct 10, 2024 (Previous Revision: February 18, 2021)




1.1.19 DEQ Authority and ProCess........coooeeiieiiieiieeiieeiccccceniassrvnrraesbaerreareenes 495050

1.1.20 Agency CoordiNation .....ccc.uuiieeeeeiiiiiiiieeee et e e s arareee e 495050
1.2 GENERAL CONSTRUCTION REQUIREMENTS ...cccuviiiiiiiiieeiniiieeeeiieee e enieeee s e s 505451
1.2.1 INStructions tO Bidders.....ccuuuiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiee e 50545¢
1.2.2 Award and Execution of Contract..........cooeieeiieii e 50545%
1.2.3  SCOPE OF WOTK ..eeeeeeiee et s e s e resaeeeeeeeseeereeeeeeees 505151
1.2.4 CoNtrol Of WOrK .. .o eeeeeereeseeereeeeeeees 535454
1.2.5 Control of Materials.......cooeeieeiieeiieiccccccc e eereeeeeeees 596060
1.2.6 Legal Relations and Responsibilities ............coooeeieeiiee e 616262
1.2.7 Prosecution and Progress of Work .........ccooovveieeiieiieee e, 717272

Oak Lodge Water Services Design and Construction Standards
Section 1—General Requirements Oct 10, 2024 (Previous Revision: February 18, 2021)




1.0 GENERAL

1.0.1 Authority and Purpose and Alternative Design Proposals

OLWS Design and Construction Standards establish and provide specific, technical direction for
the design and construction of public sanitary sewer, public water and public and private
watershed protection projects. Through the adoption of these standards, OLWS endorses a
comprehensive set of design and construction practices that are designed to deliver high
quality improvements to OLWS customers.

Infrastructure improvements are conditioned through development permits including the
Clackamas County development review, and/or building permit, and/or plumbing permit,
and/or OLWS-specific permit process, these standards, and other OLWS policies adopted by
OLWS. No relevant utility or infrastructure construction shall commence prior to OLWS
approval of the construction plans. OLWS may require documents to be stamped by a
Registered Professional Engineer licensed to practice by the State of Oregon.

The purpose of these Design and Construction Standards is to provide a consistent policy under
which certain physical aspects of public facility design are constructed. Most of the elements
contained in these standards are Infrastructure-oriented and it is intended that they apply to
both public improvements under OLWS contract and public improvements under private
contract designated herein.

These Design and Construction Standards cannot provide for all situations. They are intended to
assist but not to substitute for competent work by design professionals. It is expected that
engineers will bring to each project the best of skills from their respective disciplines.

The Design and Construction Standards are also not intended to unreasonably limit any
innovative or creative effort, which could result in better quality, better cost savings, and/or
better life cycles. Any proposed departure from the Design and Construction Standards will be
judged, however, on the likelihood that such departure will produce a compensating or
comparable result in every way adequate for the user and OLWS's customer. Alternate
materials, methods or design will be considered for approval by the District Engineer as the
need arises and conditions warrant modification. This consideration will be on a case-by-case
basis and require sufficient justification prior to approval. The justification shall be submitted in
writing and shall state the standard being changed and the rationale. If the proposed
alternative cannot be agreed to, the owner shall submit a variance as described in the OLAS

Rules-and-Regulations:Section 2 of the Design Standards.

The purpose of this Chapter is to describe the permit types, common scenarios activating those
permits, common permit review procedures and responsibilities. These are provided as
examples and any application may vary depending on relative conditions.

1.0.2 Engineering Policy

It shall be the policy of OLWS to require compliance with all state and federal standards for
professional engineers.

Oak Lodge Water Services Design and Construction Standards
Section 1—General Requirements Oct. 10, 2024 (Previous Revision: February 18, 2021)

1-1



All engineering plans, reports, or documents shall be prepared by a registered professional
engineer, or by a subordinate employee under the engineer's direction, and shall be signed by
the engineer and stamped with the engineer's seal to indicate the engineer's responsibility for
them. This engineer is designated by these Standards to be the Design Engineer. Through the
permit review process, it shall be the Design Engineer's responsibility to review any proposed
public facility extension, modification, or other change with OLWS prior to engineering or
proposed design work to determine any special requirements (conditions) or whether the
proposal is permissible.

A "Not Approved For Construction" and/or a "Plans Approved for Construction" stamp of OLWS
on the plans, etc., for any job, does not in any way relieve the Design Engineer of responsibility
to meet all requirements of OLWS or obligation to protect life, health, and property of the
public. The plan for any project shall be revised or supplemented at any time it is determined
that the full requirements of OLWS have not been met.

1.0.3 Applicability and Permit Types

These Design and Construction Standards shall govern all construction and upgrading of all
public and privately financed public facilities in OLWS and applicable work within its service
areas.

An OLWS-issued permit is required prior to any work commencing. Failure to acquire permit(s)
eguates to a violation of the Rules and Regulations. The issuance of a permit by OLWS will not
relieve the permit holder from the responsibility of obtaining such other permits or licenses as
may be required by other governmental agencies.

1.0.3.01 Permit Types

Site Development Permits are required for line extensions, subdivisions/partitions and /
or site development or redevelopment (partial or wholesale) including middle-housing
land divisions. A line extension includes any proposal to install, lengthen, enlarge,
amend, repair, replace, upgrade or alter any exiting sanitary sewer or water main line or
other portion of the public system other than a side sewer lateral or water service. Line
extensions also include vertical alignment changes. Any alteration to a public main line
is considered a “line extension” The County equivalent permit numbers are typically
“Z...xxx"” and/or “SC.....xxx" and include subdivisions, partitions, design review, site
clearing and similar applications. Site Development permits are to be garnered for any
relevant activity within OLWS Boundary and / or Service Area. Line Extension Permits
are processed as a “Site Development” permit.

Utility Permits are required to install new, or lengthen, enlarge, amend, repair, replace,
upgrade or alter any existing sanitary sewer lateral or water service or other portion of
the public system other than a main line or other portion of the public system not a line
extension. The County equivalent permits can be “Z...xxx” and/or “SC.....xxx", but
typically are associated with a -ardfes“B.....xxx" and include, tenant improvements,
building permits and occupancy permits and similar applications. Examples include
single family residences, ADUs, sewer taps, water service installations, meter size

Oak Lodge Water Services Design and Construction Standards
Section 1—General Requirements Oct. 10, 2024 (Previous Revision: February 18, 2021)

1-2



changes, lateral or service repair in the public right of way. Utility Connection Permits
are to be garnered for any relevant activity within OLWS Boundary and / or Service
Area.

Disconnection: A utility permit is garnered for any service discontinuance or
abandonment. A disconnection requires a utility permit when any property(ies),
existing service(s) either physical or virtual to be disconnected from the sanitary sewer
or water system. Disconnection permits shall be required when a structure(s) is
demolished wholly or may be required at OLWS discretion if the structure(s) is partially
demolished.

Virtual Connection: Utility service connection permits are required for virtual
connections to evaluate the effluent volume and strength (see definition “virtual
connection”). Virtual connections do not typically install, lengthen, enlarge, amend,
repair, replace, upgrade or alter any existing sanitary sewer or water main line or other
portion of the public system and may not have any sanitary sewer work outside the
building envelope at all. The County equivalent permits are “Z....xxx and / or B...xxxx"
and include design review, tenant improvements, building and occupancy permits,
process changes and similar applications. Examples include tenant improvement
occupancy changes, production process intensification or reduction, or increased
wastewater strength or volume. Utility Connection Permits are to be garnered for any
relevant activity within OLWS Boundary and / or Service Area. Virtual Connection
Permits are processed as a “Utility Permit”.

Erosion Control/Surface Water Management Permit: OLWS issues Erosion
Control/Surface water Management Permits within its jurisdictional area. All
construction activities affecting areas 500 square feet up to five (5) acres within OLWS
shall obtain an Erosion Control/Surface Water Management Permit. Construction
activities affecting areas 250 square feet or greater within the undisturbed buffer,
sensitive areas, or riparian areas must also obtain an Erosion Control/ Surface Water
Management Permit. An Erosion Control/Surface Water Management Permit is also
required to discharge to the stormwater system.

NPDES 1200-CN and 1200-C Permit

In addition to OLWS EPSC Permit, a NPDES 1200-CN permit is required for projects
disturbing one acre up to less than 5 acres of disturbance. The 1200-CN shall be issued
by OLWS along with the local permit.

For disturbances of 5 acres or greater, an OLWS EPSC Permit and a DEQ 1200-C permit is
required. The local permit may also be issued by OLWS. The 1200-C permit shall be
obtained directly from DEQ. In the case of a residential subdivision, the “child lots”
created with the subdivision may be required by OLWS to obtain individual ECSL

permits.

Clackamas County Utility Placement Permit

Oak Lodge Water Services Design and Construction Standards
Section 1—General Requirements Oct. 10, 2024 (Previous Revision: February 18, 2021)

1-3



Utility Placement Permits (Road Opening) may be required by Clackamas County if work
enters the public right-of-way or other applicable area.

1.0.4 Conflicting Codes, Regulations, Rules, Standards

Where these Design and Construction Standards conflict with other applicable codes,
Regulation or Rule or Standard, the more restrictive code shall prevail.

1.0.5 Standard Specifications

All construction design detail, workmanship, and materials shall be in accordance with the
current edition of OLWS Standards.

OLWS'’s Standard Drawings shall be used for public and private development projects and
cannot be modified by designers, unless approved by OLWS on a project-by-project basis. It is
the responsibility of the Engineer to incorporate the standard detail drawings as originally
intended.

1.0.6 Approval of Alternate Materials Or Methods

Any substitution, material or alternate method not explicitly approved herein will be considered

for approval as set forth in Subsection 1.0010 (Authority and Purpese-andRulesand
Regulations-Seetion11-02- Variaheesand-ExemptionsDesign Standards 2.2.4 Variance). Persons

seeking such approvals shall make an application in writing. Approval of any major deviation
from these Design and Construction Standards will be in written form. Approval of minor
matters will be made in writing if requested.

Any alternative must meet or exceed the minimum requirements set in these Design and
Construction Standards.

The request must meet the requirements of Rules and Regulations Section 11-02-\arianeces
Design Standard Section 2.2.4 Varianceand-Exemptions, and the written application shall
include, but is not limited to, the manufacturer's specifications and testing results, design
drawings, calculations, and other pertinent information.

Any deviations or special problems shall be reviewed on a case-by-case basis and approved by
the District Engineer. When requested by OLWS, full design calculations shall be submitted for
review with the request for approval.

1.0.7 Special Design Problems

Special applications not covered in these Design and Construction Standards require review and
approval by the District Engineer. Submittal of full design calculations, supplemental drawings,
and information will be required prior to any approval.

Such applications which may require special review and approval are among, but not limited to,
the following.

Oak Lodge Water Services Design and Construction Standards
Section 1—General Requirements Oct. 10, 2024 (Previous Revision: February 18, 2021)

1-4



Sewer Force Mains Water Distribution Pump Stations

Relining of Existing Sewers Relining of Existing Water Mains

Internal Sealing of Existing Sewers Water Pressure Regulating Devices

Sewer Regulatory Devices Energy Dissipaters

Sewage Pump Stations Water Reservoirs

Sewer Siphons Water Treatment Plants

Sewage Treatment Plants Water Flow Measurement/Monitoring/Telemetry Devices

Sewer Flow Measurement/Monitoring Devices Stormwater Sewer

1.0.8 Revisions to Design and Construction Standards

It is anticipated that revisions to these Design and Construction Standards will be made from
time to time. The date appearing on the title page is the date of the latest revision. Users
should apply the latest published issue to the work contemplated.

Parenthetical notations at the end of sections indicate the most recent change to those
sections. All sections without notations are from the original Design and Construction Standards
as adopted. Some sections may be changed more than once and it shall be the user's
responsibility to maintain their copy of these Design and Construction Standards with the latest
changes.

1.0.9 Definitions and Abbreviations

1.0.9.01 Definitions

Acceptance of work
All work required by the contract documents and/or conditions of approval will be
considered accepted upon approval of the Certificate of Completion by OLWS.

Advertisement

The public announcement inviting bids for work to be performed or materials to be
furnished.

Applicant
See the OLWS Rules.

Approved Point of Discharge.
A location down slope from a development that OLWS has deemed adequate to accept
stormwater flows from all or a portion of the Development area.

Approved backflow prevention device
A backflow prevention device that has been investigated and approved by the Oregon
State Health Division.

As-built plans
Plans signed and dated by the Design Engineer indicating that the plans have been
reviewed and revised, if necessary, to accurately show all as-built construction details.

Oak Lodge Water Services Design and Construction Standards
Section 1—General Requirements Oct. 10, 2024 (Previous Revision: February 18, 2021)

1-5



Attorney
The OLWS Legal Counsel.

Back Siphonage
Backflow that results from negative pressure (partial vacuum) in the supply piping
system.

Backflow
The reverse of flow from its normal or intended direction of flow. Backflow can be
caused by back pressure or back siphonage.

Backflow preventer
An approved device or means to prevent backflow into the potable water system.

Best Management Practices (BMP)

Requirements, methods, measures, practices, or design and performance standards
imposed on an owner or operator that facilitate compliance with this Code, applicable
water quality standards or with requirements for dredged fill materials. BMPs may cover
treatment requirements, operating and maintenance procedures, schedules of
activities, prohibitions of activities, and other management practices to control plant
site run-off, spillage, leaks, sludge or water disposal, or drainage from raw material
storage.

BMP Sizing Tool.

A computer program, approved by OLWS, for use in calculating the required size of
Stormwater Management Facilities (SMFs). This tool is limited to a set list of pre-defined
SMFs. See Clackamas County Water Environment Services BMP Sizing Tool webpage:
https://www.clackamas.us/wes/bmp-sizing-tool

Board
The Board of Directors of Oak Lodge Water Services Authority.

Bioswale

Landscaped elements designed to remove silt and pollution from surface runoff water.
They consist of a drainage course with gently sloped sides (less than six percent) and
filled with vegetation.

Bond
See the OLWS Rules.

Oak Lodge Water Services Design and Construction Standards
Section 1—General Requirements Oct. 10, 2024 (Previous Revision: February 18, 2021)

1-6



Buffer

Generally, the zone contiguous with a sensitive area that is required for water quality.
The critical functions of a riparian buffer (those associated with an aquatic system)
include shading, input of organic debris and coarse sediments, uptake of nutrients,
stabilization of banks, interception of fine sediments, overflow during high water events,
protection from disturbance by humans and domestic animals, maintenance of wildlife
habitat, and room for variation of aquatic system boundaries over time due to
hydrologic or climatic effects. The relevant regulatory agency’s definition shall
supersede this definition.

Building Drain
See the Oregon State Specialty Code (Plumbing)

Building service lateral / sewer lateral

See Rules and Regulations definitions “sewer lateral”
Building sewer

See Rules and Regulations definitions “building sewer”.

Building supply
See Rules and Regulations definitions “service line”.

Business Customer

A person who resides or conducts business or other activities on a parcel zoned for
business. Mere ownership and activities that are necessary to prevent or abate nuisance
conditions or to avoid deterioration of a business parcel shall not constitute “residing”
or “conducting business or other activities”.

Business Parcel
A parcel of land, which is zoned for business use.

CBE
Crushed based equivalent (CBE) is the number that directly relates the traffic coefficient
to the number of inches of rock.

Certificate of Completion
Standard OLWS form, which must be signed by the Contractor.

Certificate of Compliance
Standard OLWS form, which must be signed by the Contractor, stating compliance with
the contract documents and/or conditions of approval.

Change Order
A written order issued by the District Engineer to the Contractor directing changes in the
work, subject to approval of OLWS.

Oak Lodge Water Services Design and Construction Standards
Section 1—General Requirements Oct. 10, 2024 (Previous Revision: February 18, 2021)

1-7



Collection systems
Facilities maintained by OLWS for the purposes of collecting, pumping, conveying, and
controlling of wastewater.

Conservation Easements
A voluntary agreement that allows a property owner to permanently limit the type and
amount of development on their property while retaining private ownership.

Construction Activity
Ground disturbance activities including, but not limited to, clearing, grading, excavation,
or filling, or activities subject to a building permit.

Contract

The document entitled "contract" or "agreement" which is executed by the Contractor
and the OLWS; authorizing ordinance; advertisement calling for bids; bid; instructions to
bidder; plans; and all specifications, addenda, permits, performance bond, insurance
certificates, and change order for any approved revisions made during the performance
of the work to any of the above listed documents, collectively referenced as the
"contract documents."

Contract Cost
The aggregate amount of price promised to be paid by OLWS to Contractor upon
fulfillment of the Contract.

Contract Item
A specific unit of work for which a price or basis of payment is provided in the Contract.

Contractor
A person duly licensed or approved by the State of Oregon to perform the type of work
to be done under a permit or contract issued by OLWS.

Conveyance System.

See the OLWS Rules. As relates to these Standards, conveyance system refers to the
stormwater and surface water conveyance system and includes sewers SMFs,
drainageways, detention facilities, infiltration facilities, pretreatment facilities.

Core
To cut and remove a portion of pipe with a circular hollow drill.

County
Clackamas County, Oregon.

Cross-connection

Any actual or potential physical connection between a potable waterline and any pipe
or vessel containing a nonpotable or potable (e.g., well) fluid (suspended solid or gas) so
that it is possible to introduce the nonpotable fluid into the potable fluid by backflow.

Oak Lodge Water Services Design and Construction Standards
Section 1—General Requirements Oct. 10, 2024 (Previous Revision: February 18, 2021)

1-8



Curb
The concrete structure indicating the edge of the vehicular roadway within the overall
right-of-way.

Customer
See OLWS Rules.

Customer Charge

The periodic charges applied to all customers of OLWS Surface Water Management
system for the cost of planning, program development, public education, operation,
maintenance, and replacement; including any other costs, such as but not limited to,
debt service, capital improvements, administration, etc. This does not include charges
from specific fees related to permits or one-time service fees.

Cut sheets

Sheets of tabulated data, indicating stationings, structures, fittings, angle points,
beginning of curve, points on curve, end of curves, stormwater drain slope, staking
offset, various elevations, offset cuts, and stormwater drain depths for streets,
waterlines, sanitary sewers, and stormwater drains.

Datum
The vertical elevation control.

Day
Calendar day; i.e., any and every day shown on the calendar, Sundays and holidays
included.

Debris

Discarded human made objects that would not exist in an undeveloped stream corridor
or wetland. Debris includes, but is not limited to, tires, vehicles, litter, scrap metal,
construction waste, lumber, plastic, or Styrofoam. Debris does not include objects
necessary to a use allowed by Section 709, or ornamental and recreational structures.
Debris does not include existing natural plant materials or natural plant materials that
are left after flooding, downed, or standing dead trees, or trees that have fallen into
protected water resources.

Dedication
The legal conveyance of land, typically from a private property owner to OLWS.

Definition of words

That, whenever, in these Standards, the words "directed", "required", "permitted",
"ordered", "designated," or words of like importance are used, they shall be understood
to mean the direction, requirement, permission, or order of designation of the District
Engineer. Similarly, the words "approved", "acceptable", or "satisfactory", shall mean
approved by, acceptable to, or satisfactory to the District Engineer.

Oak Lodge Water Services Design and Construction Standards
Section 1—General Requirements Oct. 10, 2024 (Previous Revision: February 18, 2021)

1-9



Design Engineer

The engineer, licensed by the State of Oregon as a Professional Engineer under whose
direction plans, profiles, and details for the work are prepared and submitted to OLWS
for review and approval, or who is in charge of and responsible for construction of the
improvement.

Design Storm
The distribution of rainfall intensity over time, identified to have a probability of
recurrence, given in years (i.e., 5-year design storm).

Detention
The holding of runoff for a designed period of time and then releasing it to the natural
water course.

Developer
See the OLWS Rules.

Developer’s Engineer
See the OLWS Rules.

Developer’s Engineer’s Inspector, or Engineer’s Inspector

The Developer’s Engineer’s Inspector(s) shall be the Developer’s Engineer of record, or
recognized as representatives of the Developer’s Engineer, and their duties shall be to
approve materials and workmanship as required by the plans and specifications in
accordance with OLWS Stormwater Standards.

Development
All human-induced changes to improved or unimproved real
property. See-OLWS-Rules.

Discharge

Any addition of water, stormwater, wastewater, process water or any pollutant or
combination of pollutants to waters of the State, directly or indirectly, by actions of
dumping, spilling, disposing or physically connecting to the public stormwater system or
natural drainage conveyance.

District
Oak Lodge Water Services Authority.

District Employee or District Personnel.
See OLWS Rules.

District Engineer
The District Engineer, or General Manager, of OLWS, acting either directly or through
authorized representatives.

Disturbed Area or Disturbance

Oak Lodge Water Services Design and Construction Standards
Section 1—General Requirements Oct. 10, 2024 (Previous Revision: February 18, 2021)

1-10



Areas of disturbance for activities defined under “Development”. Work area includes
areas used for storage of equipment or materials that are used for these activities.

Domestic sewage

The liquid and water-borne waste derived from ordinary living processes, free from
industrial wastes, and of such character to permit satisfactory disposal without special
treatment into the public sewer or by means of a private sewage disposal system.

Double check detector check valve assembly

A line-sized, approved, double check valve assembly with a parallel meter and
meter-sized, approved, double check valve assembly. The purpose of this assembly is to
provide backflow protection for the distribution system and, at the same time, provide a
metering of the fire system showing any system leakage or unauthorized use of water.

Double check valve assembly

An assembly composed of two single, independently acting, approved check valves,
including tightly closing shutoff valves located at each end of the assembly and fitted
with properly located test cocks.

Drainage facilities
Pipes, ditches, detention basins, creeks, culvert bridges, etc., used singularly or in
combination with each other for the purpose of conveying or storing stormwater runoff.

Drainageway
A channel such as an open ditch that carries stormwater.

Dwelling Unit
As defined by Clackamas County.

Drywell

An approved receptacle used to receive storm, surface and other water, the sides and
bottom being porous, permitting the contents to seep into the ground. A drywell must
conform to local agency standards and Oregon Department of Environmental Quality
(DEQ) Underground Injection Control (UIC) standards.

Easement
Areas located outside of dedicated rights-of-way, which are granted to OLWS for special
uses.

(Private) Easement
An area on a parcel that benefits other parcel(s) by granting special uses.

Emergency

Any anthropogenic or natural event or circumstance causing or threatening loss of life,
injury to person or property, and includes, but is not limited to, fire, explosion, flood,
severe weather, drought, earthquake, volcanic activity, spills or releases of oil or
hazardous material, contamination, utility or transportation disruptions, and disease.

Engineer or Professional Engineer (PE)

Oak Lodge Water Services Design and Construction Standards
Section 1—General Requirements Oct. 10, 2024 (Previous Revision: February 18, 2021)

1-11



A registered professional engineer licensed to practice in the State of Oregon by the
Oregon Board of Engineering Examiners. This person is also referred to as the project
engineer or the engineer of record.

Enhancement

The process of improving upon the natural functions and/or values of an area or
resource that has been degraded by human activity. Enhancement activities may or may
not return the site to a pre-disturbance condition but create/recreate beneficial
processes and resources that occur naturally.

Equivalent Service Unit (ESU)

A configuration of development resulting in impervious surfaces on a parcel, which
contributes runoff to the stormwater system. One ESU is equal to 2,500 square feet of
impervious surface area.

Erosion

Erosion is the movement of soil particles resulting from the flow or pressure from water,
wind, or earth movement. Visible or measurable, construction-related erosion includes,
but is not limited to:

e Deposits of mud, dirt, sediment or similar material exceeding ¥:-cubic-foot in
volume on public or private streets, adjacent property, or into the stormwater
system, either by direct deposit, dropping, discharge, or as a result of the action
of erosion during the construction period.

e Evidence of concentrated flows of water over bare soils; turbid or sediment-
laden flows; or evidence of onsite erosion such as rivulets or bare soil slopes,
where the flow of water is not filtered or captured on the site.

e Earth slides, mudflows, earth sloughing, or other earth movement, which results
in material leaving the property.

Erosion Control Plan
A plan containing a list of best management practices (BMP) to be used during
construction to control and limit soil erosion.

Erosion control, post construction
The re-establishment of groundcover or landscaping prior to the removal of temporary
erosion control measures.

Erosion prevention and sediment control

Measures that are required for construction sites where the ground surface will be
disturbed with clearing, grading, fills, excavations, and other construction activities, in
order to prevent and/or control eroded material and sediment from leaving the
construction site and entering the public stormwater system and/or a water quality
resource area.

Erosion, visible or measurable
Includes, but is not limited to: deposits of mud, dirt, sediment, or similar material,
exceeding % cubic-foot in volume on public or private streets, adjacent property, or into

Oak Lodge Water Services Design and Construction Standards
Section 1—General Requirements Oct. 10, 2024 (Previous Revision: February 18, 2021)

1-12



the stormwater system, either by direct deposit, dropping discharge, or as a result of
the action of erosion.

Excavation
The mechanical removal of earth material.

Fences
Structures that consist of concrete, brick, wood, plastic, or metal posts located in the
ground, connected by wood, metal, or plastic, and capable of allowing passage of water.

Fill
See Clackamas County Water Environment Services definition.

Fire hydrant assembly
The fire hydrant and attached auxiliary valve from a water main to a hydrant.

Fire protection service
A metered connection to the public water main intended only for the extinguishment of
fires and the flushing necessary for its proper maintenance.

Flood or flooding

A general and temporary condition of partial or complete inundation or normally dry
land areas from the overflow of inland or tidal waters, and/or the unusual and rapid
accumulation of runoff of stormwaters from any source.

GIS
Geographic Information System is a system of hardware and software used for storage,
retrieval, mapping and analysis of geographic data.

Grade
The degree of inclination of a road or hillside.

Green Infrastructure.

A SMF that mitigates stormwater runoff similar to the natural surface hydrological
functions through infiltration and/or evapotranspiration, or that involves stormwater
reuse.

Groundwater
Water found underground in the cracks and spaces of soil, sand and rock.

Hazardous Materials

Materials described as hazardous under state and federal law, including,

but not limited to, any toxic chemicals listed as toxic under Section 307(a) of the CWA or
Section 313 of Title Il of the Superfund Amendments and Reauthorization Act (SARA).

Hearings Officer
Officer appointed by the General Manager or the Board of Directors, for hearings of
appeals of administrative actions.

Oak Lodge Water Services Design and Construction Standards
Section 1—General Requirements Oct. 10, 2024 (Previous Revision: February 18, 2021)

1-13



Highly Erodible
Soils with erosion (K) factors greater than 0.25, as listed in the Soil Survey of Clackamas
County Area, Oregon, developed by the Soil Conservation Service.

Impervious areas

conditionspreexistentto-development: See Design Standards Section 2.
Improvement

General term encompassing all phases of work to be performed under a Contract for a
Local Improvement OLWS and synonymous with the terms "project" or "work."

Industrial waste
Solid, liquid, or gaseous waste resulting from any industrial, manufacturing, trade, or
business process due to development, recovery, or processing of natural resources.

Infiltration System
A drainage facility designed to use the hydrologic process of stormwater runoff soaking
into the ground, commonly referred to as recharge, to dispose of stormwater runoff.

In-Lieu Fee
A fee paid to OLWS to cover onsite water quality or water quantity facilities from a site
on which Stormwater management is not practical.

In-Line Detention
Detention located in a stream channel, a drainageway, or in a regional or subregional
piped system. In-line detention mixes flows to be detained with flows from other areas.

Inspector
A person authorized by OLWS to inspect construction sites and activities affecting
stormwater.

Installer

Either the Owner of the property being served or a Contractor doing work in connection
with the installation of a Building Sewer or conveyance system under a permit from
OLWS, City, or County.

Interceptor sewer
The primary public sanitary sewer which conveys wastewater directly into the
wastewater treatment plant.

Intermittent Stream

A body of running water moving over the earth’s surface in a channel or bed, such as a
creek, rivulet, or river. A stream flows at least part of the year, including perennial and
intermittent streams. Streams are dynamic in nature and their structure is maintained
through build-up and loss of sediment.

Oak Lodge Water Services Design and Construction Standards
Section 1—General Requirements Oct. 10, 2024 (Previous Revision: February 18, 2021)

1-14



Irrigation service
A metered connection intended for seasonal use and delivering water, which is not
discharged to the sanitary sewer.

Landscape Architect
A registered professional licensed to practice in the State of Oregon by the Oregon State
Board of Landscape Architecture.

Lateral sewer
See Rules and Regulations definitions “sewer latera

|II

Longitudinal joint
A joint which follows a course approximately parallel to the centerline of the roadway.

Low Impact Development

A stormwater management approach that seeks to mitigate the impacts of increased
runoff and stormwater pollution using a set of planning, design and construction
approaches and stormwater management practices that promote the use of natural
systems, green infrastructure, and other techniques for infiltration, filtration,
evapotranspiration, and reuse of rainwater, and can occur at a wide range of landscape
scales (e.g., regional, community and site). Low impact development is a comprehensive
land planning and engineering design approach to stormwater management with a goal
of mimicking the pre-development hydrologic regime of urban and developing
watersheds.

Lump sum

A method of payment providing for one all-inclusive payment for the work described to
be done, complete and accepted without further measurement, as such work is covered
under the applicable lump sum pay item.

Manager
See Rules and Regulations definitions “administrator”.

Metro

The Metropolitan Service District organized and operating under ORS Chapter 268 and
its Charter in portions of Washington, Multnomah and Clackamas Counties to provide
planning and other services.

Mitigation
The reduction of adverse effects of a proposed project by considering, in the following
order:
A. Avoiding the impact altogether by not taking a certain action or parts of an
action.
B. Minimizing impacts by limiting the degree or magnitude of the action and its
implementation.

Oak Lodge Water Services Design and Construction Standards
Section 1—General Requirements Oct. 10, 2024 (Previous Revision: February 18, 2021)

1-15



C. Compensating for the impact by replacing or providing comparable substitute
Water Quality Resource Areas.

D. Rectifying the impact by repairing, rehabilitating, or restoring the affected
environment.

Municipal Separate Storm Sewer System (MS4)

part-of a-Publicly-Owned Treatment- Works {POTW ) See Design Stand

National Pollutant Discharge Elimination System (NPDES) Permit
A permit issued pursuant to Chapter 402 of the Clean Water Act (40 CFR 122, 123, 124,
and 504).

ards Section 2.

Native Vegetation.

Vegetation native to the Portland metropolitan area provided that it is not invasive non-
native or noxious vegetation. See the Portland Plant List maintained by the City of
Portland Bureau of Planning and Sustainability.

Natural drainageway
A natural depression which collects drainage of surface water. It may be permanently or
temporarily inundated.

Natural grade
The grade of the land in an undisturbed state.

Natural resource
A functioning natural system such as a wetland or stream.

Natural resource area
The land containing the natural resources to be protected.

Non-Single-Family Customer (or User)

A person or property owner who resides or conducts business or other activities on a
parcel that is other than a single-family parcel, including multi-family developments,
commercial or industrial zoned parcels.

Notice

A written communication delivered, by hand or by mail, to the authorized individual,
member of the firm, or officer of the corporation for which it is intended. If delivered or
sent by mail it shall be addressed to the last known business address of the individual,
firm, or corporation. In the case of a Contract with two or more persons, firms, or
corporations, notice to one shall be deemed notice to all.

OLWS Rules
OLWS Rules and Regulations, as adopted by the Board.

Oak Lodge Water Services Design and Construction Standards
Section 1—General Requirements Oct. 10, 2024 (Previous Revision: February 18, 2021)

1-16



On-site detention

The storage of excess runoff on a development site prior to its entry into a public
stormwater drain system. Stored runoff is gradually released after the peak of the
runoff has passed.

Open Space
1. Land within a development that has been dedicated in common to the
ownership within the development or to the public specifically for the purpose
of providing places for recreational uses or scenic purposes.
2. Land designated by local, state, or federal agencies for preservation.

Oregon Standard Specifications for Construction
The latest edition of the Specification Document published by the State of Oregon.

Owner

The owner of record of real property as shown on the latest tax rolls or deed records of
the county or a person who furnishes evidence that they are purchasing a parcel of
property under a written recorded land sale contract.

Parcel
Means the fee title owner of the property that receives services from OLWS.

Parcel of Land

A lot, parcel, block or other tract of land that is occupied or may be occupied by a
structure or structures or other use, and includes yards and other undeveloped areas
required under the zoning, subdivision or other development ordinances.

Pavement

Surface to walk, drive or park on that may reduce stormwater runoff by allowing water
to soak/infiltrate into the ground. Examples are permeable pavers, pervious concrete,
and porous asphalt.

Peak runoff
The maximum water runoff rate (cfs) determined for the design storm.

Perennial Stream
A permanently flowing (non-intermittent) stream.

Permit
Any authorization required pursuant to this or any other regulation of OLWS.

Permittee
The person issued a building permit, development permit or any other permit described
in this Code is issued.

Person
Any individual, firm, company, corporation, partnership association, entity, public
corporation, political subdivision, governmental agency, municipality, industry, or any

Oak Lodge Water Services Design and Construction Standards
Section 1—General Requirements Oct. 10, 2024 (Previous Revision: February 18, 2021)

1-17



department or agency thereof tadividual-firm,-corporation,—association,agency-erother
RS

Pervious Pavement

Surface to walk, drive or park on that may reduce stormwater runoff by allowing water
to soak/infiltrate into the ground. Examples are permeable pavers, pervious concrete,
and porous asphalt.

Perennial Stream.

A body of running water moving over the earth’s surface in a channel or bed, such as a
creek, rivulet, or river. A stream flows at least part of the year, including perennial and
intermittent streams. Streams are dynamic in nature and their structure is maintained
through build-up and loss of sediment.

Plans

Construction plans, including system plans, sewer plans, and profiles, cross sections,
detailed drawings, etc., or reproductions thereof, approved or to be approved by the
District Engineer, which show the location, character, dimensions, and details for the
work to be done, and which constitute a supplement to these standards.

Pollutant

Any of the following, but not restricted to: oil, grease, soil, mining waste, spoil, solid
waste, incinerator residue, sewage, garbage, sewage sludge, munitions, chemical
wastes, biological materials, radioactive materials, heat, heavy metals, asbestos,
wrecked or discharged equipment, cellar dirt and untreated industrial, municipal and
agricultural discharges into water.

Post-developed Conditions
Refers to the time period, or conditions that may reasonably be expected or anticipated
to exist, after completion of the land development activity on a site.

Potable water
Water which is satisfactory for drinking, culinary, and domestic purposes and meets the
requirements of the health authority having jurisdiction.

Practicable.
Available and capable of being done after taking into consideration cost, existing
technology, and logistics in light of overall project purpose.

Pre-developed

For new development, pre-developed condition is defined as the condition of land at
the time of development. For redevelopment projects, pre-developed condition is
defined as the condition of the land before urban development. For the purpose of
hydrological evaluations, the pre-developed conditions will be prescribed in the adopted
Stormwater Standards.

Pretreatment Device or Facility
Any structure or drainageway that is designed, constructed, and maintained to collect

Oak Lodge Water Services Design and Construction Standards
Section 1—General Requirements Oct. 10, 2024 (Previous Revision: February 18, 2021)

1-18



and filter, retain, or detain stormwater runoff during and after a storm event for the
purpose of water quality improvement.

Pretreatment

The reduction of the total suspended solids, including sediments and turbidity-causing
materials and the removal of petroleum hydrocarbons, fats, oils, and grease through
physical straining, settling processes or filtering of runoff.

Private collection system
A privately owned and maintained lateral sewer system installed to serve multi-unit
structures on single ownership properties which cannot legally be further divided.

Private storm drain
A stormwater drain located on private property serving one or more structures or inlets
and is not owned or maintained by OLWS.

Private Storm System

That portion of the stormwater system owned and/or maintained by any person or
entity other than OLWS and is located outside the public right-of- way, except as
otherwise approved by OLWS.

Professional Engineer (PE)

A registered professional licensed to practice in the State of Oregon by the Oregon
Board of Engineering Examiners. This person is also referred to as the project engineer
or the engineer of record.

Project
General term encompassing all phases of the work to be performed under the Contract
and is synonymous with the term improvement or work.

Property (or the Site)
The real property undergoing development.

Proprietary Stormwater Treatment Device

A manufactured device, often proprietary, in which stormwater receives treatment
before being discharged to the stormwater drainage system, to a SMF, or to the
receiving water. This is a broad category of SMFs with a variety of pollutant removal
mechanisms and varying pollutant removal efficiencies.

Provide
When related to an item of work, the word provide shall be understood to mean furnish
and install the work complete in place.

Public Right-of-Way

Any public space dedicated to a public transportation agency for ownership and
maintenance, such as a county or city owned highway, road, street, avenue, or alleyway.
All land or interest therein which by deed, conveyance, agreement, easement,
dedication, usage, or process of law is reserved for or dedicated to the use of the

Oak Lodge Water Services Design and Construction Standards
Section 1—General Requirements Oct. 10, 2024 (Previous Revision: February 18, 2021)

1-19



general public for roadway purposes, within which OLWS shall have the right to install
and maintain public utilities, including sanitary sewers, stormwater, and surface water
systems (ORS 758.010). See OLWS Rules.

Public sanitary sewer
Sanitary main in public right-of-way or easement operated and maintained by OLWS for
carrying sewage and industrial wastes.

Public storm drain
Any stormwater sewer in public right-of-way or public easement-eperated-and

mathtained-by-OLWS,

Public Stormwater

Public stormwater runoff is defined as flows that include stormwater runoff from public
streets that may-reludeincludes, but is not limited to pipes, natural drainageways,
creeks, streams and rivers.

Public Stormwater Easement
See OLWS Rules for definition of Easement.

Public Stormwater Mainline

See the OLWS Rules for Public Mainline. As relates to these Standards, Public
Stormwater Mainline refers to the portion of the Public Stormwater System which
conveys wastewater through a piping system flowing by gravity.

Public Stormwater System

Those portions of the Stormwater system that are in the public ROW or public
easement. These facilities include, but are not limited to: pipes, inlets, catch basins,
curbs, ditches, drainageways, berms and other sheet flow and conveyance
improvements (such as roadway surfaces), appurtenances and facilities but do not
include SMFs.-Naturalwaterway i Hations.

Rational Method

A formula for estimating maximum discharge of runoff at a point, using flow (Q), runoff
coefficient (C), rainfall intensity (1) for selected recurrence interval, and area (A), in the
formula: Q=CIA.

Redevelopment
A project that proposes to add, replace, and/or alter impervious surface (for purposes

Reference specifications

Bulletins, standards, rules, methods of analysis or test, codes and specifications of other
agencies, engineering societies, or industrial associations referred to in the contract
documents. All such references specified herein refer to the latest edition thereof,

Oak Lodge Water Services Design and Construction Standards
Section 1—General Requirements Oct. 10, 2024 (Previous Revision: February 18, 2021)

1-20



including any amendments thereto which are in effect and published at the time of
advertising for bids or of issuing the permit for the project.

Release rate

The controlled rate of release of drainage, storm, and runoff water from property,
storage pond, runoff detention pond, or other facility during and following a storm
event.

Replaced Impervious Surface

The removal of an impervious surface that exposes soil, or native subgrade, followed by
the placement of an impervious surface is considered Redevelopment of an impervious
surface area. Replacement does not include repair or maintenance activities on
structures or facilities taken to prevent decline, lapse or cessation in the use of the
existing facility or surface, provided the repair or maintenance activity does not expand
the coverage of the existing impervious area.

Retention
The process of collecting and holding surface water runoff with no surface outflow.

Right-of-way (ROW)

All land or interest therein which (by deed, conveyance, agreement, easement,
dedication, usage, or process of law) is reserved for or dedicated to the use of the public
for sidewalk, utility, and/or roadway purposes.

Riparian
Those areas associated with streams, lakes, and wetlands where vegetation
communities are predominately influenced by their association with water.

Roadbed
Any earthen material below the asphalt or concrete lifts.

Roadway
All of that portion of the right-of-way used or to be used for vehicle movement which
exists between the curbs, proposed curb lines, or edges of pavement.

Sedimentation
Deposition of debris and soil.

Seasonal High Groundwater.
The maximum elevation to which the groundwater can be expected to rise due to a
normal wet season.

Sensitive Areas

Existing or created wetlands, including all mitigated wetlands, Rivers, streams, sloughs,
swamps, creeks and impoundments; limits defined by wetlands reports approved by the
U.S. Army Corp of Engineers (USACE), Oregon Department of State Lands (DSL), and/or
Clackamas County.

Oak Lodge Water Services Design and Construction Standards
Section 1—General Requirements Oct. 10, 2024 (Previous Revision: February 18, 2021)

1-21



Service Connection
See the OLWS Rules.

Sewage
Water-carried wastes from residences, business buildings, institutions, and industrial
establishments, except industrial wastes.

Sewer Main

The portion of the public sewerage system which is primarily installed to receive
wastewater directly from individual residences and other individual public or private
structures.

Shop drawings and submittals
Supplementary plans or data or other information which the Contract requires the
Contractor to submit to the District Engineer.

Silt
Fine textured soil particles, including clay and sand, as differentiated from coarse
particles of sand and gravel.

Siltation
Deposition of (silt) fine textured waterborne sedimentation.

Soil
The upper layer of earth in which plants grow; a black or dark brown material typically
consisting of a mixture of organic remains, clay, and rock particles.

Source Control
SMFs and/or specific actions taken that attempt to control high risk pollutant loading
from entering the stormwater runoff through site activities and site design.

Special Specifications
Requirements peculiar to the project and changes and modifications of the Standard
Specifications.

Specified
As used herein, the word specified, or as specified, means as required by the Contract.

Standard drawings

The drawings of structures or devices commonly used on public improvements and
referred to on construction plans contained in the OLWS Design and Construction
Standards.

Standard Methods

The examination and analytical procedures set forth in the most recent edition of
Standard Methods for the Examination of Water and Wastewater, published by the
American Public Health Association, AWWA, and Water Environment Federation.

Standard Specifications

Oak Lodge Water Services Design and Construction Standards
Section 1—General Requirements Oct. 10, 2024 (Previous Revision: February 18, 2021)

1-22



The terms, directions, provisions and requirements set forth herein.

Station
A distance of 100 feet measured horizontally along the established centerline of a
street, sewer, or other work, unless specified otherwise.

Stop Work Order

An Order issued by OLWS for violation of the Rules and Regulations. All work
contributing to the violation must cease when a Stop Work Order is issued, and the Stop
Work Order will stay in place until such time as removed by OLWS in writing.

Storm Sewer System

Those portions of the sStormwater system that are in the public ROW or public
easement and on private property. These facilities include, but are not limited to: pipes,
inlets, catch basins, curbs, ditches, drainageways, berms and other sheet flow and
conveyance improvements (such as roadway surfaces), appurtenances and facilities and

do include SMFs.A-conduit-intended-to-carry-stormwatersurfacerunoffordrainage:

Stormwater
Waters on the surface of the ground or underground resulting from precipitation.

Stormwater Mainline
The portion of the Stormwater System which conveys wastewater through a piping
system flowing by gravity. It can be publicly or privately-owned.

See Publics Mainline.

Stormwater Management (SWM)

A program to provide surface water quality and quantity controls through nonstructural
methods and capital improvement projects. Nonstructural controls include maintenance
of surface water facilities, public education, water quality monitoring, implementation
or intergovernmental agreements to provide for regional coordination, and preparation
of water quality control ordinances and regulations. Stormwater Management is also
referred to as “surface water management”.

Stormwater Management Facility (SMF)

Any facility that is designed, constructed, and maintained to collect, treat, filter, retain,
or detain surface water runoff during and after a storm event for the purpose of
controlling flows and/or reducing pollutants in stormwater runoff. SMFs include, but are

Oak Lodge Water Services Design and Construction Standards
Section 1—General Requirements Oct. 10, 2024 (Previous Revision: February 18, 2021)

1-23



not limited to constructed wetlands, rain gardens, water quality swales, stormwater

planters, infiltration facilities, and ponds. SMFs can be pr|vatelv or publlclv owned and

Stormwater Management Plan

A plan that is stamped by a Professional Engineer (PE) and contains specific information
regarding plans to locate and construct SMFs and stormwater drainage systems to meet
OLWS performance and design standards.

Stormwater Quality Treatment Facility

Stream
A drainageway that is determined to be jurisdictional by the USACE or DSL, also referred
to as creek.

Structures
See Design Section 2.

Subcontractor
An individual, partnership, firm, corporation, or any combination thereof, to whom the
Contractor sublets part of the Contract.

Substantial completion

The work (or a specified part thereof) has progressed to the point where, in the opinion
of the District Engineer, it is sufficiently complete in accordance with the contract
documents and/or conditions of approval, so that the work (or specified part) can be
utilized for the purposes for which it is intended.

Surety

The corporate body which is bound with and for the Contractor, for the acceptable
performance of the Contract, and for their payment of all obligations arising out of the
Contract.

Top-of-bank

The point closest to the boundary of the active floodplain of a stream where a break in
the slope of the land occurs such that the grade beyond the break is flatter than 3:1 at
any point for a minimum distance of 25 feet measured perpendicularly from the break.

Oak Lodge Water Services Design and Construction Standards
Section 1—General Requirements Oct. 10, 2024 (Previous Revision: February 18, 2021)

1-24



Transverse joint
A joint, which follows a course approximately perpendicular to the centerline of the
roadway.

Treatment

The reduction of the amount of pollutants, the elimination of pollutants, or the
alteration of the nature of pollutant properties in water to a less harmful state prior to
discharging to Waters of the State.

Trunk sewer

(Interceptor) A sanitary sewer which is primarily intended to receive wastewater from a
collector sewer, another trunk sewer, an existing major discharge of raw or
inadequately treated wastewater, or water pollution control facility.

Undeveloped Land
Land left in its natural state, free from any structures, roadways, placement of
impervious materials or any other man created alteration.

Uniform Plumbing Code

The Uniform Plumbing Code adopted by the International Association of Plumbing and
Mechanical Officials (current edition), as revised by the State of Oregon, called the
"Oregon State Plumbing Specialty Code".

Unit price
A contract item of work providing for payment based on specific unit of measurement;
e.g., linear foot or cubic yard.

User

Any person or entity in whose name service is rendered as evidenced by the signature
on the application or contract for that service, or in the absence of a signed instrument,
by the receipt and payment of utility bills regularly issued in his/her/its name. A user,
under this system and structure of rates, is either single-family or non- single-family.

User — Non-Single-family

Any user whose impervious surface results from the development of land for purposes
of operating a dwelling unit for occupancy by more than one single-family or for other
business, industrial, commercial or institutional purposes and to whom utility services

are provided at a distinct service location

Utility Facilities

Buildings, structures, or any constructed portion of a system that provides for the
production, transmission, conveyance, delivery, or furnishing of services including, but
not limited to, heat, light, water, power, natural gas, sanitary sewer, stormwater,
telephone, and cable television. Utility facilities do not include stormwater
pretreatment facilities.

Variance

Oak Lodge Water Services Design and Construction Standards
Section 1—General Requirements Oct. 10, 2024 (Previous Revision: February 18, 2021)

1-25



A discretionary decision to permit modification of the terms of any part of this Code
based on a demonstration of unusual hardship or exceptional circumstance unique to a
specific property.

Vegetated Corridor
See the Clackamas County Definition.

Virtual Connection

A change in “service class” or occupancy or operational change which results in an
increase in wastewater volume, strength or load using the existing sewer lateral or
service line. Typically, these are tenant improvements or accessory dwelling units, but
could also be commercial/industrial process changes.

Wastewater

The total fluid flow in the sanitary sewerage system which includes industrial waste,
sewage, or any other waste (including that which may be combined with any ground
water, surface water, or stormwater) that may be discharged into the sanitary sewerage
system.

Water distribution system
Water pipelines, pumping stations, reservoirs, valves, and ancillary equipment used to
transmit water from a supply source through a service meter.

Water main
A water supply pipe for public use.

Water Quality Facility
A facility specifically designed for pollutant removal.

Water Quality Standards
The Federal Clean Water Act, the Code of Federal Regulations, ORS Chapter 468 and
OAR Chapter 340 Division 41.

Water service line
The pipe connection from OLWS water main to the users' water meter, hydrant,
backflow prevention device, or fire sprinkler double check valve.

Waters of the State

Those waters defined in ORS Chapter 468B.005, or as amended, which include lakes,
bays, ponds, impounding reservoirs, springs, wells, rivers, streams, creeks, estuaries,
marshes, inlets, canals, the Pacific Ocean within the territorial limits of the State of
Oregon, and all other bodies of surface or underground waters, natural or artificial,
inland or coastal, fresh or salt, public or private (except those private waters which do
not combine or effect a junction with natural surface or underground waters), which are
wholly or partially within or bordering the state or within its jurisdiction.

Oak Lodge Water Services Design and Construction Standards
Section 1—General Requirements Oct. 10, 2024 (Previous Revision: February 18, 2021)

1-26



Water Treatment Bioswale/Water Quality Swale
A vegetated natural depression, wide shallow ditch, or similar constructed facility used
to filter runoff for the purpose of improving water quality.

WES
Clackamas County Water Environment Services is the wastewater and surface water
management agency for Clackamas County

Wetland

Areas that are inundated or saturated by surface or groundwater at a frequency and
duration sufficient to support and that under normal circumstances do support a
prevalence of vegetation typically adapted for life in saturated soil conditions. Wetlands
are those areas identified and delineated by a qualified wetlands specialist as set forth
in the Federal Manual for Identifying and Delineating Jurisdictional Wetlands, January
1987, or by a DSL/COE 404 permit. Wetlands may also consist of:

1. Constructed Wetlands. As defined in Section 404 of the Clean Water Act,
constructed wetlands are those areas developed as a water quality or quantity
facility, subject to maintenance as such. These areas must be clearly separated
from existing or created wetlands.

2. Created Wetlands. Created wetlands are those wetlands developed in an area
previously identified as a non-wetland to replace or mitigate wetland destruction
or displacement.

3. Existing Wetlands. Wetlands identified and delineated as set forth in the Federal
Manual for Identifying the Delineating Jurisdictional Wetlands, January 1987, or
as amended, by a qualified wetlands specialist.

Wet Weather
The portion of the year when rainfall amounts and frequency tend to have the most
significant effect on erosion prevention and sediment control (October 1 to May 31).

Work

All material, labor, tools, equipment, and all appliances, machinery, transportation, and
appurtenances necessary to perform and complete the Contract, and such additional
items not specifically indicated or described which can be reasonably inferred as
belonging to the item described or indicated and as required by good practice to
provide a complete and satisfactory system or structure.

Work Area
Areas of disturbance for activities defined under “Development”. Work Area includes
areas used for storage of equipment or materials that are used for these activities.

Working day
Calendar day, any and every day shown on the calendar, excluding Saturdays, Sundays
and legal holidays.

Oak Lodge Water Services Design and Construction Standards
Section 1—General Requirements Oct. 10, 2024 (Previous Revision: February 18, 2021)

1-27



1.0.9.02 Abbreviations

AAN American Association of Nurserymen
AASHTO American Association of State Highway and Transportation Officials
ACI American Concrete Institute

AGA American Gas Association

AGC Associated General Contractors of America
AlA American Institute of Architects

AISC American Institute of Steel Construction

AlSI American Iron and Steel Institute

ANSI American National Standards Institute

APWA American Public Works Association

ASCE American Society of Civil Engineers

ASME American Society of Mechanical Engineers
ASTM American Society for Testing and Materials
AWPA American Wood Preservers Association

AWS American Welding Society

AWWA American Water Works Association

BMP Best Management Practices

CCDTD Clackamas County Department of Transportation and Development
CFR Code of Federal Regulation

CFS Cubic feet per second

CKD Cement kiln dust

CLSM Controlled low strength material.

CMP Corrugated metal pipe

CN Curve numbers

CRSI Concrete Reinforced Steel Institute

CTB Cement treated base

DEQ Oregon Department of Environmental Quality
DSL Oregon Department of State Lands

DTD Clackamas County Department of Transportation and Development
EPA Environmental Protection Agency

EPSC Erosion Prevention and Sediment Control
FEMA Federal Emergency Management Agency

FPS Feet per second

GIS Geographic Information System

GULD General Use Level Designation

H:V Horizontal to vertical

HDPE High density polyethylene pipe

HEC-RAS Hydrologic Engineering Centers — River Analysis System
HGL Hydraulic grade line

IE Invert elevation

ITE Institute of Traffic Engineers

MS4 Municipal Separate Storm Sewer System

NEC National Electrical Code

Oak Lodge Water Services Design and Construction Standards
Section 1—General Requirements Oct. 10, 2024 (Previous Revision: February 18, 2021)

1-28



NEMA National Electrical Manufacturer's Association

NLMA National Lumber Manufacturer's Association
NPDES National Pollutant Discharge Elimination System
NRCS National Resource Conservation Service

0O&M Operations and Maintenance

OAR Oregon Administrative Rules

ODFW Oregon Department of Fish and Wildlife

oDOT Oregon Department of Transportation

OLWS Oak Lodge Water Services

OPSC Oregon Plumbing Specialty Code

ORS Oregon Revised Statutes

OSHA Occupational Safety and Health Administration
OSHD Oregon State Highway Division

0SssC Oregon Standard Specifications for Construction
PCA Portland Cement Association

PDF Portable Document Format

PE Professional Engineer

PPM Parts per million

PSI Pounds per square inch

PVC Polyvinyl chloride

ROW Right of Way

SBUH Santa Barbara Urban Hydrograph

SDR Standard Dimensional Ratio

SMF Stormwater Management Facility

SWM Stormwater Management

SWMM Stormwater Management Model

SuU Standard Units

TAPE Technology Assessment Protocol - Ecology

Tc Time of Concentration

TSS Total Suspended Solids

UBC Uniform Building Code

uIC Underground Injection Control

UL Underwriters' Laboratories, Inc.

UPC Uniform Plumbing Code

USACE United States Army Corps of Engineers

USASI United States of America Standards Institute
WES Clackamas County Water Environment Services
WPCF Water Pollution Control Facility

WQRA Water Quality Resource Area

WWPA Western Wood Products Association

Oak Lodge Water Services Design and Construction Standards
Section 1—General Requirements Oct. 10, 2024 (Previous Revision: February 18, 2021)

1-29



1.1 CONSTRUCTION PLANS

1.1.1 General Information

Prior to any construction work and plan approval, complete construction plans, specifications
and all other necessary submittals shall be submitted to the District Engineer for review.
Submittal requirements consist of design plans (where required), drainage calculations, and
other information as necessary. Conditions of approval from the Development Plan Review
process, or as specified by OLWS, the Clackamas County Planning Commission, Hearings Officer
or the Planning Director shall all be shown on the design plans.

1.1.2 Plan Preparation

Construction plans and specifications shall be prepared by a professional engineer licensed by
the State of Oregon, as specified in Subsections 1.1020 (Plan Preparation) and 1.1030 (Required
Sheets).

Typical permit submittal items include:

e Complete OLWS Plan Review Application Form (online submittal)

e Preliminary Site Plan: A site plan containing proposed sanitary sewer, water and / or
stormwater facilities

e Details

e Profile plans

e Fees and charges

e Drainage Fixture schedule

e Statement of occupancy(ies) for any and all relevant structures with water and sanitary
sewer connection.

e Note, all submitted Site plans, grading plans, stormwater drainage plans, and associated
calculations must be stamped and signed by a professional engineer licensed by the
State of Oregon and meet the standards of OLWS.

e Engineer’s statement (calculation) of disturbed area.

e Engineer cost estimate of water / sanitary sewer / stormwater facilities including
installation

e Downstream analysis.

e Preliminary and final plat

e Utility maintenance agreement(s)

e Geotechnical Report / Soil Report / Infiltration Analysis (from a professional
geotechnical engineer or geologist).

e Stormwater Report

e Erosion Prevention / Sediment Control plan and details and narrative

e Performance bond

e Warranty bond

e DEQ Approval letter

e As-builts for any site work.

Oak Lodge Water Services Design and Construction Standards
Section 1—General Requirements Oct. 10, 2024 (Previous Revision: February 18, 2021)

1-30



1.1.2.01 Sheet Size

All construction plans shall be clearly and legibly drawn in ink ”D”- size sheets. Sheets
shall have a 1%-inch clear margin on the left edge and a Y:-inch margin on all other
edges.

1.1.2.02 Scale of Plans
The following are applicable to engineering drawings for plan review and as-builts.

When plans are prepared for developer financed projects, the scale of drawings shall be
as follows. Horizontal scales shall be 1” = 40’, or 50’, vertical scales shall be 1” = 2’, 4’, 5,
or 10’. For subdivision plans it is preferred that all plan views and profile views of the
plan set are drawn at a common scale, if more than one scale is necessary, the
difference should be large enough to be noticeable (e.g. 1” =20’ & 1” = 50’). When a
scale is used which is smaller than 1” = 20’ (e.g. 1” = 40’) intersection details showing
fittings and valves shall be provided at a larger scale. Architectural scales (e.g., %" = 1'0")
are not permitted unless approved. Letter size shall not be smaller than 0.10 inches.

Sheets shall contain a maximum of one plan view and one profile per sheet. The stations
must align on the plan view and profile view and of a corresponding scale. The sheet
coverage ratio should be no less than 60% plan view and 40% profile.

1.1.3 Required Sheets

Construction plan submittals shall contain the following minimum sheets: title sheet (unless not
required by the District Engineer) plan and profile sheet(s), and detail sheet(s). A title block
shall appear on each sheet of the plan set and shall be placed on the lower right-hand corner of
the sheet, across the bottom edge of the sheet or across the right-hand edge of the sheet. The
title block shall include the names of the project, the engineering firm, the owner, the sheet
title, page, and revision number and dates.

The seal and signature of the Design Engineer responsible for preparation of the plans shall
appear on each sheet as well as the Design Engineer’s phone number. The description and date
of all revisions to the plans shall be shown on each sheet affected and shall be approved and
dated by the Design Engineer as evidenced by signature or initial.

1.1.3.01 Title Sheet

All subdivision projects and multiple sheet improvement projects shall have a title sheet
as the first page of the construction plans. This sheet shall contain the following
minimum information.

1. Site plan of entire project with street right-of-way and/or subdivision layout at a
1" =100' scale. A 1" = 200' scale may be used if project size is too large. The site

Oak Lodge Water Services Design and Construction Standards
Section 1—General Requirements Oct. 10, 2024 (Previous Revision: February 18, 2021)

1-31



plan shall also be a composite utility plan showing all properties served by
proposed sewer, water, and stormwater facilities, in addition to the proposed
facility.

2. Vicinity map at a 1" = 1000’ scale or greater. Map shall show the location of the
project in respect to the nearest major street intersection.

3. Index of sheets.

4. Complete legend of symbols used.

5. General and construction notes pertinent to project, space permitting. If space
does not permit a separate note page shall be used.

6. Temporary and/or permanent benchmarks used along with their descriptions,
elevations of benchmark, and datum.

7. Design Engineer's name, address, phone number, and seal.

8. Developer's/owner's name, address, and phone number for public
improvements with private financing.

9. Statement referencing OLWS Infrastructure Design and Construction
Specifications.

10. Provide contact phone number for all affected utility companies.

11. Show tax lot numbers or lot and block designations.

12. Conditions of approval.

1.1.3.02 Plan Sheet

The plan view of each sheet shall be drawn at the appropriate scale showing the
following minimum information.

1. Adjacent street curbs, property lines, right-of-way lines, utility easements
referenced to property lines, street centerlines, and intersections. Show
property corner and curb elevations to determine water service level,
serviceability of lot/property for sanitary sewer, points of disposal for building
stormwater drains, and how new curbs will join to existing curbs. Include
existing topographical map with 2' contour intervals; slopes over 10% may use 5'
intervals; extend contours a minimum of 100 feet beyond property and finished
contours of the property, after development, at 2' or 5' intervals as required and
percent grade for graded slopes; elevations, dimensions and locations for all
graded slopes.

2. Location of all underground utilities within 100 feet of project (if they are
affected by the project), existing power/telephone poles and guy anchors,
valves, manholes, catch basins, fire hydrants, meter boxes and vaults, signs, etc.

3. Location of all water courses, subsurface water outlets (e.g. springs), railroad
crossings, culverts, bridges, large water transmission pipes and gravity sewers,
and/or stormwater drains within 200 feet of proposed gravity sewer and
stormwater drain extensions if they affect the design of the project. All water
courses shall show the 100-year flood plain as indicated on the U.S. Army Corps
of Engineers and Federal Emergency Management Agency (FEMA) maps.

Oak Lodge Water Services Design and Construction Standards
Section 1—General Requirements Oct. 10, 2024 (Previous Revision: February 18, 2021)

1-32



4. On sewer and stormwater drain plans, each manhole, catch basin, and cleanout
shall be numbered and stationed. Station numbering shall tie to existing street
monuments, property corners, or manholes. Each separate line shall be
separately designated (e.g., sewer line 'A’, storm line 'A’, etc.).

5. On street plans, horizontal stationing shall show points of tangency and
curvature for centerline; curve data shall show tangent length, radius distance,
centerline curve length, and delta angle. Centerline intersection stationing, in
both directions, shall be shown.

6. Where streets are being widened, edge of pavement elevations shall be shown
to determine pavement cross-slope to new curb or pavement edge.

7. On water plans, show all fittings and valves and identify by type (e.g., MJ x MJ,

FLG x MJ, etc.); fire hydrants; intersection details for valves and fittings

On all plans, show stub-outs and block-outs for future developments.

9. On composite utility plans, if individual sheets are not provided, all utilities and
associated lines, appurtenances and fittings, and associated callouts and notes
must be colored to their utility locate color. For example, sanitary sewer =
green, potable water = blue, and pink for stormwater sewer and stormwater.

9.10. All proposed drainage facilities - including but not limited to public and
private systems; show all paved areas, curbs, sidewalks; drainage ditches,
culverts. Include Cut/fill areas; structural fill placement areas;
erosion/sedimentation control methods; reseeding areas and on-site basin plan
showing drainage areas with respective treatment facilities. (For example, the
drainage area for each proposed swale, and/or catch basin, and/or inlet, and/or
mechanical filter, and/or outlet.)

11. All corrections to plan review comments must be identifiable by being "clouded"
or otherwise "called out" on the plans with the associated revision number.

12. All revisions must be labeled with the revision number and associated drawing
date.

o

1.1.3.03 Profile Sheet

Profiles for construction plans shall be the same horizontal scale as the plan sheet.
Where profiles are drawn on the same sheet as the plan view, the profile shall be
immediately below the plan view. The following minimum information shall be shown.

1. For sewers and stormwater drains, show locations of manholes, catch basins,
and cleanouts, with each numbered and stationed as indicated in Subsection
1.1.3.02 (Plan Sheet) item 4.

2. Existing profile at centerline of proposed utility or street. Profiles at the right-of-
way lines will be required if grade differences are significant.

3. Proposed profile grade, as appropriate, for all sewers, stormwater drains, and
waterlines, giving pipe size, length between structures or fittings, slope, backfill
and pipe material, sewer inverts, rim elevations, etc. Extension of the profile of

Oak Lodge Water Services Design and Construction Standards
Section 1—General Requirements Oct. 10, 2024 (Previous Revision: February 18, 2021)

1-33



streets for future extensions (stub streets) will be extended at least 200 feet for
local streets or as required by the District Engineer.

4. Existing underground utilities that cross the alignment of the proposed facility.

5. Beginning of all vertical curves, points of vertical intersection, end of vertical
curve, low point of sag curve, and length of vertical curve. Profiles of existing
centerline grade shall extend a minimum of 250 feet beyond the end of the
improvement.

6. Clearly show all potential conflicts with existing public and private utilities (i.e.,
pipes, conduits, vaults, cathodic protection systems, etc.) that impact proposed
design.

7. Profiles for ditch and creek flowlines shall extend a minimum of 200 feet beyond
the project, both upstream and downstream. Typical cross sections at 50-foot
intervals shall also be submitted.

SPECIAL NOTE: OLWS As-builts are only to be used as an aid to the engineer. When a
potential conflict may occur, the Design Engineer shall field locate, or cause to be
located, and verify the alignment, depth, and inverts of all existing facilities shown on
the plans that will be crossed by the proposed facility.

1.1.3.04 Detail Sheets

Detailed drawings shall be included with all construction plans where OLWS standard
drawings do not exist. If a standard drawing, such as sewer manholes, must be modified
to fit existing or unique conditions, the modified drawing shall be shown on the plans.
When appropriate, due to required detail complexity, a separate detail sheet shall be
drawn. When OLWS standard drawing appurtenances or construction installations are
to be used, a reference to the specific standard drawing number shall be made on the
title sheet.

1.1.4 Supporting Information

The Design Engineer shall submit sufficient supporting information to justify the proposed
design. Such information shall include, but not be limited to, the following:

1.
2.
3.

Design calculations.
Hydrology and hydraulic calculations with basin maps.
Alternate materials specifications including manufacturer's design application
recommendation.
Grading plan support information to include as appropriate.
a. Soils classification report
b. Hydrology report
c. Geotechnical engineer’s report

1.1.4.01 Facility Plan

When designing sanitary or stormwater sewer facilities, a facility plan shall be submitted
with the construction plans when required by the District Engineer. This plan shall be
used to identify and analyze the proposed extension of facilities. The topographic plan

Oak Lodge Water Services Design and Construction Standards
Section 1—General Requirements Oct. 10, 2024 (Previous Revision: February 18, 2021)

1-34



shall show all upstream and tributary areas within no less than 200 feet of the proposed
development.

The plan shall include existing contours at 2-foot intervals, or as approved by OLWS,
including location of existing structures and public and private utilities.

For water quality facilities, the plan shall also include:
e Design Engineer that certification that the proposed water quality facilities have
been designhed to meet the stormwater management requirements in Section
2.0002.

e A financial assurance, meeting the requirements of the community development
code is provided for the construction of the water gquality facility.

e An operation and maintenance plan shall be prepared showing how the water
quality facility is to be maintained.

e Alandscape plan shall be prepared for the proposed facility.

e Alist of recommendations by a Geotechnical Engineer may be required at the
discretion of the District Engineer.

1.1.4.02 Erosion Prevention and Sediment Control Plan

An EPSC Plan shall be prepared in accordance with the requirements of the most current
version of the Erosion Prevention and Sediment Control Planning and Design Manual
adopted by OLWS and these Standards for all sites where an EPSC Permit is required.

The erosion control plan shall address the measures as required by the Erosion
Prevention and Sediment Control Plans, Technical Guidance Handbook (ECTGH)
(Clackamas County Department of Utilities, 2001). Construction projects beginning
prior to May 1 or those projects anticipating construction activity between November 1
and April 30 will be required to submit a plan addressing "wet weather" measures as
outlined in the ECTGH. Construction activity is assumed as "active" until all permanent
vegetation and/or erosion protection is established.

The plan shall include existing contours at 2-foot intervals, or as approved by OLWS,
including location of erosion control facilities (i.e., silt fence, straw mulch, sediment
ponds, etc.); outlet structures (i.e., catch basins, culverts, creeks, etc.); and existing

public and private utilities.

1.1.4.03 Information Required on Erosion Control Drawings
The following items must be depicted on ESCP drawings, as applicable:

L Or current edition.

Oak Lodge Water Services Design and Construction Standards
Section 1—General Requirements Oct. 10, 2024 (Previous Revision: February 18, 2021)

1-35



[«)]

Total property boundary including surface area of the development.

Areas of soil disturbance (including, but not limited to, showing cut and fill areas

and pre-and post-development elevation contours);

Drainage patterns before and after finish grading;

Discharge points;

Areas used for the storage of soils or wastes;

Areas where vegetative practices are to be implemented;

All erosion and sediment control measures or structures;

Identify the type of seed mix (percentages of the various seeds of annuals,

perennials and clover) and other plantings.
i. Critical riparian areas, sensitive preserved vegetative areas, including trees and
their root zones.
j- Runoff controls to minimize erosion and scour. BMPs such as, diversion, slope
drains, diversion dikes, check dams and drainage swales.
k. Stabilized site entrances and access roads including, but not limited to
construction entrances, roadways and equipment parking areas (for example,
using geotextile fabric underlay).
I. Perimeter sediment control, including stormwater drain inlet protection as well
as all sediment basins, traps, and barriers.
m. Stockpile management, including dust control and location.
Concrete truck and other concrete equipment washout areas.
Impervious structures after construction is completed (including buildings, roads,
parking lots and outdoor storage areas);
Springs, wetlands and other surface waters on site or adjacent to the site;
Temporary and permanent stormwater conveyance systems;
Onsite water disposal locations (for example, for dewatering);
Stormwater drain catch basins depicting inlet protection, and a description of
the type of catch basins used (for example, field inlet, curb inlet, grated drain
and combination);
Septic drain fields;
Existing or proposed drywells or other UICs;
Drinking water wells on site or adjacent to the site;

. Planters;
Sediment and erosion controls including installation techniques;
Natural buffer zones and any associated BMPs for all areas within 50 feet of a
waters of the state; and
Detention ponds, stormwater drain piping, inflow and outflow details.

o

S@ o a0

o>

w - 00T

=xXxg = e

N

Narrative Site Description: Describe the nature of the construction activity and the final
use of the site, that is what will the site be used for at the completion of the
construction. The narrative shall also contain the following:

Water Quality Requirements for TMDL and 303(d) Listed Waterbodies. If there is a
potential for discharge of stormwater to directly discharge or discharge through a

Oak Lodge Water Services Design and Construction Standards
Section 1—General Requirements Oct. 10, 2024 (Previous Revision: February 18, 2021)

1-36



conveyance system to a portion of a waterbody that is listed for turbidity or
sedimentation or that has an established Total Maximum Daily Load (TMDL) for
sedimentation or turbidity from the construction site, then one or more of the BMPs
listed below must be implemented. Identify the selected BMP(s) in the ESCP as one that
addresses this condition of the permit, and provide the rationale for choosing the
selected BMP(s). The 303(d) list can be found at: the Oregon DEQ website. Search
under Category 5 (303(d)) and Category 4a (TMDL approved). If none, state “no water
quality requirements” on the narrative.

Inspector Qualification Information: Provide the following information on the Erosion
and Sediment Control Inspector. This is a person that works for the applicant and not a
government employee. The consultant, general contractor, project manager, or person
who prepared the ESCP may be designated with their agreement as the initial or final
ESC Inspector. Upon designating an inspector(s), submit to OLWS their name(s), and
contact information including the following:

e Any Erosion Control Certification Information (E.g. CESCL, CPESC or equivalent)

e Application Date;

e Project Name;

e Plan Prepared By;

e Company Name;

e E-mail Address; and

e Emergency Phone Number.

Natural Buffer Zone

If a “waters of the state” is within the project site or within 50 feet of the project
boundary, and a natural buffer exists within 50 feet of the water of the state, the ESCP
must delineate and protect this area with orange fencing or flagging and maintain
existing buffer until completion of project. All discharge must be filtered prior to
entering the natural buffer to avoid sediment build up. If scour is an issue, an energy
dissipater may need to be installed.

Natural Buffer means, for the purposes of this permit, an area of undisturbed natural
cover surrounding surface waters within which construction activities are restricted.

Natural cover includes the natural vegetation, exposed rock, and barren ground that
existed prior to commencement of earth-disturbing activities.

If project will reduce natural buffer zone under 50 feet of waters of the state, the ESCP
must include one or more of the following BMPs to control and treat sediment and
turbidity:

e Compost berms, compost blankets, or compost socks;

e Erosion control mats;

e Tackifiers used in combination with perimeter sediment control BMPs;

e Water treatment by electro-coagulation, flocculation, filtration; or

Oak Lodge Water Services Design and Construction Standards
Section 1—General Requirements Oct. 10, 2024 (Previous Revision: February 18, 2021)

1-37



e Other substantially equivalent sediment or turbidity BMP approved by DEQ or
Agent

If no natural buffer zone(s) will be affected by the project, on the narrative state the
following: “no natural buffer zone impacts will be realized by the proposal.”

Additional Information: OLWS may also require the applicant to provide additional
information as indicated in these Standards or the Rules and Regulations.
Supplemental Plans can include:

Maintenance and Removal of Stormwater Best Management Practices

The Permittee shall maintain the BMPs contained in the approved EPSC Plan to continue
to be effective during the construction phase, post construction phase, establishment of
permanent vegetation, or any other permitted activity. If the BMPs approved in an EPSC
Plan are not effective or sufficient as determined by OLWS site inspection, the Permittee
shall submit a revised plan within three (3) working days of written notification by
OLWS. Upon approval of the revised plan by OLWS, the Permittee shall immediately
implement the additional BMPs included in the revised plan. In cases where erosion is
likely to occur, OLWS may require the Applicant to install interim control measures prior
to submittal and/or approval of the revised EPSC Plan.

Temporary BMPs, such as sediment fences, shall be removed after permanent
vegetation is established.

Wet Weather Stabilization

Where natural vegetation has been removed, or the original land contours disturbed,
vegetative ground cover shall be planted and established by October 1 and continue to
function through May 31 of the following year, or as approved by OLWS. If ground cover
is not established by October 1, the open areas shall be protected through May 31 of
the following year with straw mulch, erosion blankets, or other methods approved by
OLWS. The site shall be revegetated per a submitted and approved seeding and
maintenance plan as soon as practicable after construction has commenced, but not
later than September 1. After that date, a stabilization plan approved by OLWS must be
used.

Contaminated Soils

In the event the construction process reveals soils contaminated with hazardous
materials or chemicals, all parties shall stop work immediately, ensure no contaminated
material is hauled from the site, remove work forces from the immediate area of the
contamination, leaving all machinery and equipment, and secure the area from access
by the public until such time as a response team has evaluated the situation and
identified an appropriate course of action. The Applicant and the Contractor shall notify
OSHA and DEQ of the situation upon discovery. The Applicant and the Contractor must
comply with OSHA and DEQ statutes and rules.

Oak Lodge Water Services Design and Construction Standards
Section 1—General Requirements Oct. 10, 2024 (Previous Revision: February 18, 2021)

1-38



Mass Grading and Runoff Control

A phased mass grading and runoff control plan is required for projects where clearing
and mass grading activities are proposed during Wet Weather. The runoff control plan
shall identify BMPs from Section 8.6.3, Table 15, or approved alternatives, and be
submitted with, or as a revision to, the EPSC Plan. All stormwater BMPs specified on the
runoff control plan shall be in place and functional prior to commencement of mass

grading.

Dewatering
A dewatering plan is required for projects with anticipated excavation activities at or

below the ground water table, or if ground water is encountered during construction.
The supplemental plan shall be submitted with, or as a revision to, the EPSC Plan and
shall identify how dewatering discharges will be managed.

Cement Treatment

A cement treatment plan is required for projects where cement treatment is proposed
as a soil amendment (including, but not limited to Portland cement-treated base [CTB],
cement kiln dust [CKD], or fly ash). The supplemental plan shall indicate an application
rate, work schedule, and limits of work areas proposed for cement treatment. If cement
treatment will occur during Wet Weather, the following conditions will also apply:

A. The project shall be phased in small manageable areas to minimize the risk for
erosion.

B. Contractor shall have sufficient erosion prevention stormwater BMPs on site to
cover all exposed soil.

C. Each phase must be stabilized with temporary or permanent erosion prevention
stormwater BMPs before disturbing additional phases.

D. The plan shall indicate how runoff from areas treated with cement will not cause
or accelerate erosion of soils not treated with cement.

E. If the runoff has a high pH (8.5 standard units or higher) then the plan must
include an engineered sediment basin or similar impoundment must be used for
treatment before discharge. The operator is required to determine the
acceptable pH water quality criteria range of site discharge based on criteria of
the receiving waterbody according to OAR 340-041-0021. If necessary, the
operator must adjust or neutralize the high pH water until it is in the range of pH
Standard Units (SU) using an appropriate treatment BMP such as carbon dioxide
(CO2) sparging or dry ice. The operator must conduct and document pH
monitoring of stormwater captured in the sediment impoundment as described
below:

a. The operator must begin the pH monitoring period when the engineered
soils are first exposed to precipitation and must continue every 7 calendar
days and within 24 hours of the occurrence of discharge from the site, or the
occurrence of a storm event of 0.10-inches or greater until final stabilization
of the area of engineered soils is established.

Oak Lodge Water Services Design and Construction Standards
Section 1—General Requirements Oct. 10, 2024 (Previous Revision: February 18, 2021)

1-39



b. Document date soil amendments were added and final stabilization achieved
in the Inspection Reports.

c. The operator must monitor the pH of stormwater in the sediment
basins/impoundments and at discharge point locations that receive
stormwater runoff from the area of engineered soils before the stormwater
discharges to surface waters. Testing shall be done by an approved method
and protocol and be performed by an operator knowledgeable in the testing
method.

d. The benchmark value for pH is defined in SU and determined by the river
basin containing the receiving waterbody according to OAR 340-041-0021.
Anytime monitoring indicates that the pH is the maximum allowed SU or
greater, the operator must either:

i. Prevent the high pH water from entering stormwater sewer systems or
surface waters; or
ii. If necessary, adjust or neutralize the high pH water until it is in the range
of pH SU acceptable for discharge to the river basin containing the
receiving waterbody by using an appropriate treatment BMP such as
carbon dioxide (CO2) sparging or dry ice. The operator must obtain
written permission from OLWS (and/or other authorities as applicable)
before using any form of chemical treatment other than CO2 sparging or
dry ice.
F. If visible or measurable erosion is occurring, all cement treatment activities shall
be suspended, and approved erosion prevention facilities shall be applied to all

exposed soil.

Chitosan Treatment Systems

Chitosan treatment plan is required where chitosan is proposed as a BMP. The
supplemental plan must include a statement of the intent to use chitosan, the reason
for its use and the name, experience and training of the qualified operator who will be
monitoring the use of chitosan. Additional requirements are dependent on the form of
chitosan proposed, as detailed below:

A. If chitosan acetate is proposed, the system must be a chitosan enhanced sand
filtration system. The supplemental plan must demonstrate that the system is
consistent with the protocol outlined in Ecology’s GULD for chitosan enhanced
sand filtration.

B. If chitosan lactate (cartridge) is proposed, the system shall be designed by a
registered PE to meet site specific conditions and comply with the
manufacturer’s recommendations. A supplemental plan must include the
following:

a. Location and design schematic of treatment system, location of inlet and
location of discharge and dispersion device design.

b. Method for ensuring filtration or settlement of treated stormwater to
comply with the following discharge standards:
i. Residual chitosan must not exceed 1 mg/L,

Oak Lodge Water Services Design and Construction Standards
Section 1—General Requirements Oct. 10, 2024 (Previous Revision: February 18, 2021)

1-40



ii. Turbidity must not exceed DEQ’s Water Quality Standards, and
iii. pH must remain within a range of 6.5-8.5
C. Qualified operator inspection and certification of consistency with the design,
prior to system operation and use.
D. Testing and monitoring protocol, including at minimum:

a. Qualified operator must field test discharge using a Residual Chitosan Lactate
Field Screening Test Kit, or OLWS approved equal.

b. Field tests shall be performed during the first discharge of treated water and
weekly thereafter for as long as chitosan is being used.

E. Response protocol, if field testing demonstrates exceedance of discharge
standards, including immediate notification to OLWS, modification to the
treatment system, and implementation of additional erosion control
facilities.

F. Notification protocol to OLWS if any modifications to the treatment system
are made.

G. Maintenance protocol of treatment system

1.1.5 Plan Submittal and Review Procedures

For all utility or erosion control permit reviews, the property owner shall make a relevant
application to OLWS. This submittal is separate from the Clackamas County or other Agency or
OLWS submittal. Other agencies such as Clackamas County do not provide application
materials to OLWS. The applicant or property owner must submit to OLWS separately.

Construction plans for all privately financed Infrastructure facility improvements shall be
submitted to the District Engineer. The District Engineer will coordinate the plan review and
approval of all construction plans which will include review for compliance with all OLWS
Infrastructure Standard Construction Specifications, rules, and the project conditions of
approval.

All plan submittals shall include information required in Subsection 1.1.4 (Supporting
Information) along with all other information requested by the District Engineer. This
information is to include, but not be limited to, construction cost estimates, easement
documents, right-of-way dedications, executed agreements, and a plan check and inspection
fee. All submittals will be reviewed for completeness and the Design Engineer notified if
required information is missing. Submittals should be made in a timely manner as lack of
information to OLWS may impede the review process.

Plans and documents shall be submitted electronically through OLWS permitting software
system. A complete construction cost estimate will be submitted for review and determining
review fees. Once the plans are deemed complete, a detailed review will begin on a “first-in,
first-out” basis. If the submittal is not complete, notification will be given by OLWS to the
Design Engineer specifying information needed.

Oak Lodge Water Services Design and Construction Standards
Section 1—General Requirements Oct. 10, 2024 (Previous Revision: February 18, 2021)

1-41



Upon completion of the detailed review, OLWS will notify the Design Engineer, any revisions or

“Red-line comments” OLWS may have. The Design Engineer will revise the plans, addressing all

items in the OLWS letter, and return one electronic approved construction plan set to OLWS for
approval.

1.1.6 As-Built Plan Requirements

For all Infrastructure facility improvements, the Design Engineer shall submit certified As-built
drawings for all plans, which were approved for construction and a copy of the recorded plat.
One set of As-built drawings shall be submitted for preliminary review. If the first submittal is
not acceptable, the District Engineer will notify the Design Engineer of information needed for
resubmittal.

As-built drawings and plat drawings shall meet the requirements of Subsections 1.1.2 (Plan
Preparation), 1.1.3 (Required Streets), and 1.1.6 (As-Built Plan Requirements) and shall be of
archival quality. At a minimum, one (1) hard copy shall be submitted and one (1) electronic
copy shall be submitted in PDF file format and one (1) copy of drafting software such as .DWG
shall be submitted.. As-built drawings shall include all field changes and be approved by OLWS.
As-built drawings shall be created with a surveyed space of NAD83 projection.

The Design Engineer shall submit, along with the As-built drawings, a statement certifying that
all work for which plans were approved has been completed in accordance with the OLWS
Design and Construction Standard Specifications.

The words "as-built drawing" shall appear as the last entry in the revision block along with the
month, day, and year the as-built drawing was prepared.

NOTE: Actual location and depth from finish grade of any other utilities encountered during
construction shall be shown and noted on both plan and profile of the as-built plans.

1.1.6.01 Stormwater Drains

The following minimum information shall be noted on stormwater drain as-built
drawings.

1. Station of wye or tee into main line. Tie end of branch line to nearest property
corner at right-of-way line and distance back from the face of curb.

2. Alignment changes, grade changes, and changes in construction materials. If
changed alignment results in station changes, a station equation shall be shown as
appropriate at a manhole.

3. Other change altering the approved plans.

4. Other items as determined by OLWS.

1.1.6.02 Sanitary Sewer
The following minimum information shall be noted on sanitary sewer as-built drawings.

Oak Lodge Water Services Design and Construction Standards
Section 1—General Requirements Oct. 10, 2024 (Previous Revision: February 18, 2021)

1-42



B

LN,

Station of wye or tee into main line. Stationing will reference Oak Lodge stations and
be sequential on Oak Lodge numerical system. Tie end of service lateral to nearest
property corner at right-of-way line and distance back from the face of curb.

Depth at the end of service lateral measured from existing ground to invert of pipe.
When required by the District Engineer, invert elevations shall be noted.

Length of service lateral measured from centerline of sewer main to end of pipe.
Alignment changes, grade changes, and changes in construction materials. If
changed alignment results in station changes, a station equation shall be shown as
appropriate at a manhole.

Other changes altering the approved plans.

Provide complete test results to the District Engineer.

Type of pipe, backfill material and location.

All rim and invert elevations on manholes, catch basins, and clean outs.

Other items as determined by OLWS.

1.1.6.03 Water Main
The following minimum information shall be noted on water main as-built drawings.

1.

8.

Station and/or property line/corner to valves (not at standard location), all fittings,
blow-offs, and dead-ended lines.

All changes from standard 36-inch depth cover. Limits shall be shown on plan with
annotated reason for change. Actual pipe elevation (top of pipe) will be taken at
every fitting.

Show alignment changes, grade changes, and changes in construction materials. If
changed alignment results in station changes, a station equation shall be shown as
appropriate at a valve.

Identify types of fittings (i.e., MJ x MJ, FLG x MJ, etc.); provide information in the
form of an inventory list on construction drawings.

Other change altering the approved plans.

Provide design calculations and complete test results to the District Engineer.
Actual location and depth, from finish grade of street, of any other utilities
encountered during construction.

Other items as determined by OLWS.

1.1.7 Plan Quality and Miscellaneous Requirements

All submitted items shall be in both hard copy as described in this Section and as electronic
documents in PDF format. Plan sheets shall be collated into one single file. Multiple individual
sheets will not be accepted. OLWS and other relevant details, notes and conditions shall be
contained on the plan(s). Digital plans shall be vector-based, produced directly from drafting
software such as AutoCAD. Scanned documents will be accepted only with prior approval and
shall be at 360dpi minimum resolution.

Oak Lodge Water Services Design and Construction Standards
Section 1—General Requirements Oct. 10, 2024 (Previous Revision: February 18, 2021)

1-43



If plans contain excessive linework, layers, have callouts that interfere with interpretation or
are otherwise difficult to read, OLWS shall at its discretion, reject the plans. Any incomplete or
rejected submittal shall count as a submittal for inclusion in the review fee order.

Each submittal shall contain responses to the relevant previous comments and/or conditions of
approval as satisfied by the plans or submittal as a narrative in a “findings” format. The initial
submittal narrative shall contain the land use decision conditions of approval with OLWS-
related items responded to and successive submittals shall contain response(s) to the relevant
comments from previous review(s).

Redlines are to be performed by the applicant or owner and shall be performed on all plan
copies and shall be incorporated onto the final approved drawing set.

The applicant or owner coordinates with Clackamas County to establish a pre-construction
meeting. The applicant shall coordinate with OLWS to attend this meeting. If OLWS is unable
to do so, OLWS shall require an individual pre-construction meeting on-site or at the OLWS
office.

Engineering review fees include one engineering review, one revision and plat review and as-
built review for a partition or subdivision. Engineering review fees for design reviews with no
plat include one review and one revision and one as-built review. Additional reviews are paid
for with additional fees. Additional reviews are, for fee purposes, considered as new submittals
and full review fees are charged.

1.1.8 Permit and Approval Vesting and Amendments

All OLWS permits are valid for one year. Following expiration, a new permit shall be garnered
by the owner and be subject to all relevant fees and/or regulations. Upon the date OLWS
deems the application to OLWS to be complete, the application shall be vested with those
current rules, regulations standards and other requirements being current at the date deemed
complete. Other agency or jurisdictional approvals do not apply. The following are the vesting
time ranges per OLWS permit. In the following the shortest time period applies if there are
multiple permits referenced. Permit vesting shall consider section 1.1.8.01 Permit
Amendments in this Chapter.

1.1.8.01 Permit Amendments

Should conditions or plans change from the original or approved conditions, the owner
shall immediately apply for and obtain from OLWS an amendment to the permit prior to
conducting any further work other than or different from that approved in the original
permit. This includes submittal of updated permit application materials, and payment of
amendment charges prior to the start of construction activities or other as determined
by the General Manager. Permit amendments would not extend the vesting timeline.

Oak Lodge Water Services Design and Construction Standards
Section 1—General Requirements Oct. 10, 2024 (Previous Revision: February 18, 2021)

1-44



1.1.8.02 Permit Required

A permit is required prior to work commencement. Failure to acquire permit(s) equates
to a violation of the Rules and Regulations and Standards. An individual service
connection permit and lateral shall be required for each individual house, dwelling,
building or other structure or connection (physical or virtual) requiring sanitary sewage
disposal. No installer shall install a sewer connection(s) in public right-of-way or public
easements not covered by the OLWS issued permit. The issuance of a permit by OLWS
will not relieve the permit holder from the responsibility of obtaining such other permits
or licenses as may be required by other governmental agencies. Wastewater
connections from multiple structures or dwellings within private property are regulated
by the Clackamas County Building Division.

1.1.9 Disconnections

Sanitary Sewer

Property owners may voluntarily disconnect from the sanitary sewer system in the event that
the building being served is being demolished?. Property owners may also voluntarily relocate
{4-4069)}-where along the sanitary sewer mainline the building being served. Disconnections
shall be capped at the property-tine-oredgeofapubliceasementmain with a compression plug
(Cherne) at the main and inspected by OLWS. Main lines may be required to be capped
(plugged) at OLWS discretion.

Drinking Water
Disconnections from the water system shall require the service to be severed on the meter side
of the corporation stop with the corporation stop turned off and inspected by OLWS.

1.1.10 Replacement Service Lateral Installations

If new service lateral alignment is proposed, the existing lateral shall be removed at main,
plugged with a Cherne Plug, and inspected by OLWS prior to burial. The existing lateral shall be
grouted at the downstream end.

If the existing lateral alignment is used, a new side sewer lateral shall be installed. The lateral
shall conform to current OLWS standards and requirements. Replacing laterals may be
performed by pipe bursting or trenching. If HDPE material is used from the main to the
structure, Oak Lodge waives the cleanout construction requirement.

1.1.11 Building Sewer Repair

OLWS'’s purview is the public sanitary sewer system. Only the Clackamas County Building
Official shall permit and / or inspect sewer plumbing on private property (notwithstanding
public easements).

2 Pursuant to all relevant Oregon laws

Oak Lodge Water Services Design and Construction Standards
Section 1—General Requirements Oct. 10, 2024 (Previous Revision: February 18, 2021)

1-45



1.1.12 Connection to Cesspools And Septic Tanks

Direct connection from all plumbing fixtures in the structure(s) to the sanitary sewer system is
required. Any connections to a cesspool, septic tank shall be removed and proper connection
directly made to the public sewer system. Cesspools and septic tanks shall be abandoned in
accordance with Clackamas County and Oregon Department of Environmental Quality
requirements.

1.1.13 Sanitary Sewer Backflow
OLWS reserves the right to require backwater valves to be installed on sanitary sewer laterals whenever

conditions warrant at OLWS discretion. Typically, conditions involve flood-related locations or high-
water tables.

1.1.14 Ownership and Acceptance And Bonding

Performance ard-Warranty-Bond: See Rules and Regulations 8.58205-50-01 and 10.8. This
bond is separate from any other agencies bond such as Clackamas County. The owner shall
submit a separate bond document to OLWS not combined with any other agencies.

Prior to commencement of construction, the owner shall submit a combined performance and
warranty bond to OLWS. The bond or deposit shall be in the amount of 100% of all proposed
sanitary, surface water (private) and public water work including installation costs. The
performance bond shall automatically transform into a warranty bond upon completion of the
improvement and the approval and acceptance thereof by OLWS. At that time, the applicant
shall execute and deliver to OLWS a bill of sale or other document in form approved by OLWS
transferring all right and title to the sewer main extension to OLWS, and a statement of value of
the work completed. The warranty portion of the bond shall guarantee the associated
infrastructure against any defects of labor and material for a period of one year from the date
of acceptance by OLWS. Upon acceptance by OLWS of the infrastructure and the security for
the one-year guarantee, the relevant infrastructure shall be incorporated in the OLWS system
and be a part thereof and shall be maintained by OLWS, subject to the guarantee requirement
for the first year.

1.1.15 Inspections and Authority

Site Development / Engineering Review / Line Extension: OLWS inspects public main lines, side
sewer laterals and all fittings, manholes, cleanouts and any other facility(ies) in the public right-
of-way or easement. These utilities are installed by the owner. OLWS inspects the pipe zone
within six inches surrounding the main line and / or side sewer lateral or other facilities
including backfill, bedding, concrete and associated installation. Clackamas County generally
inspects all other backfill and compaction and road surfaces.

Engineering Review / Stormwater facilities on private property (outside the public right-of-
way): OLWS inspects any water quality facility including swales, rain gardens or other pollution
control device such as mechanical filter. OLWS also inspects stormwater detention and/or

Oak Lodge Water Services Design and Construction Standards
Section 1—General Requirements Oct. 10, 2024 (Previous Revision: February 18, 2021)

1-46



retention facilities including swales, rain gardens or other pollution control device such as
mechanical pipes.

Clackamas County inspects the following:
e all plumbing on private property for sanitary sewer and stormwater sewer and
e rain drains and stormwater infrastructure in the public right-of-way.

Utility Connection Permits / Sanitary Sewer: OLWS inspects public main lines, side sewer
laterals and all fittings, manholes, cleanouts and any other facility(ies) in the public right-of-way
or easement.

Utility Connection Permits / Water: OLWS inspects public main lines, services and all
appurtenances and any other facility(ies) in the public right-of-way or easement. For water
services of two inches and less, Oak Lodge installs the tap and eerperatiencorporation stop. The
owner's contractor installs the water service pipe and appurtenances around the meter and
Oak Lodge inspects this installation. Finally, Oak Lodge inspects and installs the meter. For
water services greater than two inches, the owner installs the entire service.

Erosion Prevention and Sediment Control: OLWS inspects all EPSC measures are installed prior
to the start of any permitted activity. A pre-construction conference may be required when the
risk of erosion is high due to one or more of the following factors:

A. Construction during Wet Weather.

B. Steep slopes with severe erosion potential.

C. Construction adjacent to a sensitive area or vegetated corridor.

D. Mass grading on a large site.
ESPC inspections of the site shall be ongoing by the Permittee or Applicant’s authorized agent in
accordance with approved plans to ensure compliance with the standards specified in this
chapter. The Permittee or Applicant’s authorized agent for inspections shall be knowledgeable
in EPSC BMP selection, installation, and maintenance. They shall also possess the technical skills
to assess conditions at the construction site that could impact stormwater quality, and to assess
the effectiveness of EPSC BMPs selected. If the Permittee or representative determines the
stormwater BMPs approved in the EPSC Plan are not effective or sufficient to ensure
compliance, additional stormwater BMPs must be implemented and identified in a revised plan.

For single family developments that disturb 1 acre or greater and all non-single-family
developments the Engineer’s Inspector shall:

A. Meet the applicable DEQ gqualifying inspection certifications.

B. Inspect the site once every 14 calendar days and within 24 hours of any storm event,
including snowmelt, that results in discharge from the site.

C. Maintain records of their EPSC inspection and maintenance activities. Records shall be
made no later than 48 hours after inspection by the Permittee or their authorized agent.
Records shall be made available to OLWS Inspector upon request.

For single family developments that disturb less than 1 acre, the Permittee’s or representative
shall:

Oak Lodge Water Services Design and Construction Standards
Section 1—General Requirements Oct. 10, 2024 (Previous Revision: February 18, 2021)

1-47



A. Inspect the EPSC measures and provide maintenance as required to maintain the
functionality of the BMP measures.

B. Inspect site daily when stormwater runoff, including runoff from snow melt, is
occurring, once per week on active sites when runoff not occurring or once every two
weeks on inactive sites

C. Keep onsite documentation of their EPSC activities for reference during operations,
maintenance activities, and inspections.

A final erosion control inspection shall be required on all sites after they have been stabilized
and prior to approval of the Certificate of Occupancy. All temporary BMPs shall be removed
prior to final inspection.

For single family sites seeking final erosion control inspection between September 1 and May
31, groundcover, using approved technigues, shall be completed before the single-family site
can be deemed complete.

Design Review and Utility Connection Permits and Other Applicable / Erosion Prevention /
Sediment Control: OLWS inspects all applicable sites and associated erosion prevention /
sediment control and pollution control measures. These measures are installed by the owner.

1.1.15.01 Inspection Request

OLWS requires a twenty-four hour notice of inspection request which must be made
online in each respective permit record. All relevant installations are to be inspected
before their completion and while the installation and connections are still uncovered.

1.1.15.02 Installation Without Inspection

In the event an excavation is backfilled without an inspection first being completed by
OLWS, then the owner shall cause the pipe to be exposed for the required inspection.
All costs incurred in excavating a line for inspection shall be borne by the owner.

1.1.15.03 Charges For Additional Inspections

Excess Inspection Fee (see Fee Schedule) shall apply as follows:

e Where the pipe is laid and back-filled and/or connection of the building and/or
side sewer made to the sanitary sewer system of OLWS without prior inspection
and approval thereof by an inspector of OLWS, or the OLWS delegee.

e For each re-inspection and/or retesting of the pipe to be made because of the
failure of the installer to comply with the ordinances, rules and regulations of
OLWS and the Oregon State Plumbing Specialty Code and/or failure of the pipe
to meet the minimum leakage requirements set by OLWS upon testing thereof.

e Should the owner wish an inspection outside of the regular working hours (7:30
am to 3:30 pm Monday through Friday) of OLWS, the applicant must apply to
OLWS twenty-four hours in advance and make a deposit of triple the Excess
Inspection Fee.

Oak Lodge Water Services Design and Construction Standards
Section 1—General Requirements Oct. 10, 2024 (Previous Revision: February 18, 2021)

1-48



1.1.16 Construction Quality

If any work done under a permit granted by OLWS is not in accordance with the provisions of
this code, and if the installer doing the work shall refuse to construct properly and complete
such work, notice of such failure or refusal shall be given to the installer stating the nature of
the violation and providing a reasonable time for corrections thereof. The installer shall, within
the period of time stated in such notice, correct and complete the work. In the event the work
is not so corrected and completed within the stated time, OLWS may cause said work to be
completed if, in its opinion, the failure constitutes a hazard to safety or health, and the cost of
such work and any materials necessary therefore shall be charged to the installer and shall be
payable by the installer immediately upon notice and demand thereof given to the installer.

1.1.17 Construction Duration

All work within the limits of any public right-of-way shall be completed with due diligence. If
any excavation is left open beyond a time reasonably necessary to complete the same, OLWS
may cause the excavation to be backfilled and the public right-of-way restored. Any costs of
such work shall be charged to the property owner and shall be payable immediately to OLWS
upon written notice and demand for the amount thereof given to the installer.

1.1.18 Damage

Should any installer or person damage any portion of the system during repair, installation or
any other activity, OLWS reserves the right to charge the property owner for reimbursement of
all time, materials and resources allocated to the associated correction, inspection and
assessment and any other related work.

1.1.19 DEQ Authority and Process

The Oregon DEQ shall approve each sanitary sewer line extension in the OLWS service area.
The Oregon DEQ reviews proposed sanitary sewer installation plans for every line extension
and charges associated fees. For this review Clackamas County provides the land Use
Compatibility Statement. The Oregon DEQ shall be contacted by the applicant to submit the
application and shall assure that the Oregon DEQ has provided OLWS the Sanitary Sewer
Extension Approval.

1.1.20 Agency Coordination

OLWS coordinates with CCDTD on land use development proposals within the County. The
County has a policy to coordinate the review of development applications with OLWS, for
proposals within OLWS jurisdiction, to ensure that approval is not granted in the absence of
adequate utilities or a mechanism to provide them concurrently with development.

OLWS coordinates with the Clackamas County Department of Transportation and Development
and Oregon Department of Environmental Quality on land use and/or development proposals
within the County. In the Clackamas County Comprehensive Plan Chapter 11 Policy 1 of City,
Special District and Agency Coordination’s Policy 1 authorizes the County to: “Participate in
interagency coordination efforts with federal, state, Metro, special purpose districts and cities.

Oak Lodge Water Services Design and Construction Standards
Section 1—General Requirements Oct. 10, 2024 (Previous Revision: February 18, 2021)

1-49



The County will maintain an updated list of federal, state and regional agencies, cities and
special districts and will invite their participation in plan revisions, ordinance adoptions, and
land use actions which affect their jurisdiction or policies.”3 The County has a policy to
coordinate the review of development applications with OLWS, for proposals within OLWS's
jurisdiction, to ensure that approval is not granted in the absence of adequate surfacewater
management facilities per Clackamas County Zoning and Development Ordinance.

1.2 GENERAL CONSTRUCTION REQUIREMENTS

1.2.1 Instructions to Bidders
See Oak Lodge Water Services Purchasing Rutes-Policies.

1.2.2 Award and Execution of Contract
See Oak Lodge Water Services Purchasing Policies.Rules:

1.2.3 Scope of Work

1.2.3.01 Plans and Specifications

The contract documents and/or conditions of approval will govern the work to be done.
Anything mentioned in the Specifications and not shown on the Plans and detailed
drawings or shown on the Plans and detailed drawings and not mentioned in the
Specifications, shall be of like effect as though shown or mentioned in both.
Specifications and Plans referred to in any of the contract documents and/or conditions
of approval shall be considered as being included in the document in which such
reference is made. When a particular standard plan or Specification is referred to, such
reference shall be to the standard plan or Specification which is in force at the time of
advertising for bids. The phrases, "Contractor shall", "Contractor will", etc. may not
always be specifically stated in all paragraphs but is considered understood where not
specifically stated otherwise.

1.2.3.02 Precedence of Contract Documents

In case of conflict, the order of precedence of the following documents in controlling the

work shall be:

1. Contract Change Orders

Special Provisions

3. Stamped Agency-prepared drawings specifically applicable to the Project and
bearing the Project title

4. Permits from outside agencies required by law

N

3 https://dochub.clackamas.us/documents/drupal/def278a5-a8a3-4883-94ba-20443d3ba068 May 23, 2018

Oak Lodge Water Services Design and Construction Standards

Section 1—General Requirements Oct. 10, 2024 (Previous Revision: February 18, 2021)

1-50



Reviewed and accepted, stamped Working Drawings
Standard drawings and details

Approved unstamped working drawings
Supplemental Specifications

Standard/Technical Specifications

10 The Public Improvement Contract

11. All other Contract Documents not listed above

©w N o w;

Notes on a drawing shall take precedence over drawing details.

Dimensions shown on the drawings, or that can be computed, shall take precedence
over scaled dimensions.

1.2.3.03 Shop Drawings and Other Submittals

Plans furnished and included with Specifications indicate the work proposed and the
intended results.

By approving and submitting shop drawings, product data and samples, the Contractor
represents that they have determined and verified all materials, field measurements,
and field construction criteria related thereto, and that they have checked and
coordinated the information contained within such submittals with the requirements of
the work and of the contract documents and/or conditions of approval and that they
have checked and coordinated the information contained within such submittals with
the requirements of the work and of the contract documents and/or conditions of
approval.

All required shop drawings, product data and samples shall be furnished to the District
Engineer for their review and any required testing before any of the work or related
work is performed or products or material ordered prior to the District Engineer's
review and completion of any testing will be at Contractor's risk.

The District Engineer will review all shop drawings, product data and samples and
conduct such tests as are required by the contract documents and/or conditions of
approval within a reasonable time but in no event will the District Engineer be required
to complete such review or conduct such tests in less than 14 days after submission. The
District Engineer will notice the applicant stating one of the following:

1. Make corrections/additions noted: make the necessary changes and resubmit for
review.

2. Setis ready for approval: send one digital set stamped by the Designing Engineer
for construction.

The review by the District Engineer of any shop drawings, product data, samples,
construction methods and equipment or other submittals is only for conformance with

Oak Lodge Water Services Design and Construction Standards
Section 1—General Requirements Oct. 10, 2024 (Previous Revision: February 18, 2021)

1-51



the general design concept of the project and does not extend to consideration of
structural integrity, safety, detailed compliance with contract requirements, or any
other obligation of the Contractor. Any action shown is subject to the requirements of
the plans and specifications. The Contractor is responsible for confirming and correlating
all dimensions; fabricating and construction techniques; coordinating their entire work
in strict accordance with the contract documents and/or conditions of approval. The
review does not relieve Contractor from their obligation fully to perform all Contract
requirements, nor shall such review give rise to any right of action or suit in favor of
Contractor or third persons, against OLWS.

1.2.3.04 Changes in Work

Without invalidating the agreement and without notice to a surety, OLWS may, at any
time, order additions, deletions or revisions in the work: these will be authorized by a
written amendment, a change order, or a work directive change.

Upon receipt of any such document, Contractor shall promptly proceed with the work
involved that will be performed under the applicable conditions of the contract
documents (except as otherwise specifically provided).

1.2.3.05 Force Account Work

The Contractor shall perform work on a force account basis upon written notice by the
District Engineer. If the District Engineer determines that the work increases the amount
due under the Contract, payment will be made pursuant as force account work.

The Contractor must:

Maintain records in such a manner as to provide a clear distinction between
direct cost of work performed on force account basis and costs of all other
operations performed in connection with the Contract.

Daily, furnish to the District Engineer signed reports itemizing materials used and
setting forth the cost of labor and charges for equipment rental, delineating
whether said equipment is Contractor or Subcontractor owned. Provide names,
identifications, and classifications of workmen, the hourly rate of pay and hours
worked, and the size, type, and identification number of equipment and hours of
equipment operation.

Substantiate material charges by vendor's invoices, submit such invoices with
the reports; or, if not available, submit with subsequent reports. In the event
said vendor's invoices are not submitted within 30 days after completion of the
force account work owner reserves the right to establish the cost of such
materials.

The District Engineer will compare their records with the reports furnished by the
Contractor, make any necessary adjustments, compile the costs of work paid for on a
force account basis and issue a change order covering the work.

Oak Lodge Water Services Design and Construction Standards
Section 1—General Requirements Oct. 10, 2024 (Previous Revision: February 18, 2021)

1-52



1.24

1.2.3.06 Salvage

When shown or specified, carefully salvage and stockpile within the construction area all
castings, pipe and any discarded facilities, to be disposed of by owner.

Control of Work

1.2.4.01 Authority of the District Engineer

The District Engineer will decide all questions which may arise as to quantity, quality,
and acceptability of materials furnished and work performed, the rate of progress of the
work; interpretation of the Plans and Specifications; the measurement of all quantities;
and the acceptable fulfillment of the Contract on the part of the Contractor. The District
Engineer's estimates, decisions and approval signify favorable opinion and qualified
consent; it does not carry with it certification or assurance of completeness, quality or
accuracy concerning details. Such approval does not relieve Contractor from
responsibility for errors, improper fabrication, improper construction methods,
nonconformance to requirements or for deficiencies within their control.

It is further understood that all work to be done under the Contract will not be
considered completed until it has passed final inspection by the District Engineer and is
accepted by OLWS. It is further understood that the authority of the District Engineer is
such that the Contractor shall at all times carry out and fulfill the instructions and
directions of the District Engineer insofar as they concern the work to be done under
the Contract.

The District Engineer shall have the authority to order unacceptable work to be
corrected, removed or replaced, and unauthorized work to be removed and, pending
completion of such order, to deduct the estimated cost thereof from any monies due, or
to become due the Contractor including retainage. This authority shall take precedence
over any and all requirements of the specifications for payment set forth elsewhere in
the specifications.

At the District Engineer's sole discretion, minor defects in the work may be accepted
subject to a reasonable deduction from the Contract price or other credits to the owner.
Such determination by the District Engineer shall be final.

The District Engineer is not authorized to waive any written notice required of the
Contractor by the Contract.

1.2.4.02 Authority and Duty of Inspectors

The District Engineer may appoint assistants to inspect all materials used and all work
done. Such inspection may extend to any or all parts of the work and to the preparation
or manufacture of materials to be used. Inspectors will not be authorized to revoke,
alter, enlarge, or relax the provisions of the Contract. An Inspector is placed on the work
to keep the District Engineer informed of progress of the work and the manner in which

Oak Lodge Water Services Design and Construction Standards
Section 1—General Requirements Oct. 10, 2024 (Previous Revision: February 18, 2021)

1-53



it is being done. In addition, the Inspector shall call to the attention of Contractor any
deviation from the Plans, or Specifications.

An Inspector will not be authorized to approve or accept any portion of the work or to
issue instructions contrary to the Plans and Specifications under this Contract.
Furthermore, the Inspector is not authorized to waive any written notices required by
the Contract. The Inspector will have authority to reject defective material and to
suspend any work that is being improperly done, subject to final decision by the District
Engineer.

1.2.4.03 Responsibility of Contractor
Do all work and furnish all labor, materials, equipment, tools, and machines necessary

for the performance and completion of the project in accordance with the Contract. Be
obligated to determine and be responsible for the method of construction.

Contractor shall be solely liable for any accident, loss or damage happening to work
referred to in the Contract prior to completion and acceptance thereof.

Contractor shall be responsible for coordinating and scheduling work with residents and
property owners, local garbage service, and US Postal Service within and adjacent to the

Project.

1.2.4.04 Notification of Utilities and Agencies

Obtain prior approval from Clackamas County for closing or partial closing of any street.
When performing work in streets and easements, whether inside or outside OLWS’s
legal boundaries, notify all of the affected utilities and local agencies about the
operations so as to properly coordinate and expedite the work in such a manner as to
cause the least amount of conflict and interference between the operations and those
of other agencies.

The Contractor and its Subcontractors must comply with all provisions of OAR 952-001-
0050 including notification of all owners of underground facilities at least 48 business
day hours but not more than 10 business days before beginning work. Notify the
following utilities and agencies in writing at least 2 working days before commencing
any work on the project.

OLWS Technical Services Department

Northwest Natural Gas Co.

Oregon Department of Transportation

Portland General Electric Co.

Comcast

Century Link

Water Environment Services of Clackamas County

NouswN e

Other applicable municipalities, agencies or special districts or providers

Oak Lodge Water Services Design and Construction Standards
Section 1—General Requirements Oct. 10, 2024 (Previous Revision: February 18, 2021)

1-54



OLWS shall relocate or cause to be relocated all privately or publicly owned utility
conduits, lines, poles, mains, pipes, and such other facilities within the jurisdiction and
control of OLWS where such relocation is necessary in order to conform said utility and
other facilities with the plans and ultimate requirements of the project. If desirable for
specific reasons, or for convenience of field operations, contact the above listed utilities.

1.2.4.05 Utilities and Existing Improvements

Information shown as to location of existing water courses, drains, sewer lines, or utility
lines is provided for Contractor's information and convenience and is not, in any way,
warranted to be accurate by OLWS. Contractor shall verify all such information and shall
deal with varying conditions at its own expense.

Operation of water valves and hydrants by unauthorized personnel is strictly prohibited.
Obtain written permission from and pay any fee required from OLWS prior to using
hydrant water.

Provide for the flow of sewers, drains, or water courses interrupted during the progress
of the work, and restore such drains or water courses as approved by the District
Engineer, at no additional cost to OLWS.

Be responsible for all costs for the repair of any and all damage to any utility, whether
previously known or disclosed during the work, as may be caused by the work. Maintain
in place utilities not shown on the drawings to be relocated or altered by others. If
Contractor requires temporary relocation, for their convenience or because of their
method of construction or as a result of site conditions, Contractor shall bear all costs
for said temporary relocation. Maintain utilities which have been relocated by others in
their relocated positions in order to avoid interference with structures which cross the
project work.

Make excavations and borings ahead of work, as necessary, to determine the exact
location of interfering utilities or underground structures. When this is not feasible or
practical or the need for such work was not foreseen, the utility owners or OLWS shall
have the right to enter upon the right-of-way and upon any structure therein for the
purpose of making new installations, changes or repairs. Conduct operations so as to
provide the time needed for such work to be accomplished during the progress of the
improvement, at no additional cost to the owner.

It is understood that there will be interfering utilities, service laterals, and other
underground pipes, drains or structures encountered on underground projects that are
not shown or are shown incorrectly on the plans and/or have not been previously
discovered in the field. Contractor agrees this is a normal and usual occurrence in the
construction of underground improvements. Furthermore, bidders understand and
agree that work in some cases must be done in close proximity to said utilities and
underground pipes, drains, and structures not shown or shown incorrectly on the plans
which may require a change in operations and may cause sloughing of the trench,
additional traffic control, additional pavement and backfill costs, and time; the

Oak Lodge Water Services Design and Construction Standards
Section 1—General Requirements Oct. 10, 2024 (Previous Revision: February 18, 2021)

1-55



Contractor agrees that a reasonable number of these occurrences are usual and
ordinary on underground projects and are reflected in the bid and plan of operation.

The District Engineer will require a reasonable amount of time to perform design
changes necessitated by directly conflicting utilities and/or the utility owners will
require a reasonable amount of time to make necessary utility relocations.

The Bidders agree to provide for these conflicts and interferences and agree to provide
for a reasonable amount of time for design changes and/or utility relocations due to
said interference in the bid and understand that no additional compensation for
interruption of schedule, extended overhead, delay or any other impact claim or ripple
effect or any other costs whatsoever or additional time will be made for these conflicts
or interferences.

1.2.4.06 Survey Service

Give notice to the District Engineer not less than 3 working days in advance of when
survey services will be required in connection with the laying out of any portion of the
work.

The District Engineer will furnish appropriate offset lines and grades as they deem
necessary for all projects involving trenching operations. Contractor will be responsible
for the transfer of the offset lines or grades into the ditch, to batter boards, or any other
point within the work. Work done without lines and grades having been established by
the District Engineer or work done beyond the lines and grades will be considered as
unauthorized and will not be paid for and may be ordered removed, replaced, or
corrected at no expense to OLWS.

1.2.4.07 Protection of Survey Markers

1.2.4.07.01 Permanent Survey Markers

Notify the District Engineer not less than three working days prior to starting
work in order that the District Engineer may take necessary measures to ensure
the preservation of survey monuments, stakes, lot stakes, and benchmarks. Do
not disturb permanent survey monuments, stakes, lot stakes, or benchmarks
without the consent of the District Engineer and notify the District Engineer and
bear the expense of replacing any that may be disturbed.

When a change is made in the finished elevation of the pavement of any
roadway in which a permanent survey monument is located, preserve the
monument, and adjust the monument cover to the new grade at no expense
OLWS.

1.2.4.07.02 Construction and Survey Markers

Oak Lodge Water Services Design and Construction Standards
Section 1—General Requirements Oct. 10, 2024 (Previous Revision: February 18, 2021)

1-56



Preserve construction survey stakes and marks for the duration of their
usefulness during construction. If any construction survey stakes are lost or
disturbed through negligence of Contractor, and in the judgment of the District
Engineer need to be replaced, such replacement shall be by the District Engineer
at the expense of Contractor. The cost of replacement shall be charged against
and shall be deducted from payments for Contract work.

1.2.4.08 Protection of Property

Protect all public and private property, insofar as it may be endangered by operations
and take every reasonable precaution to avoid damage to such property.

Restore and bear the cost of any public or private improvement, facility, structure, or
land and landscaping within the right-of-way or easement which is damaged or injured
directly or indirectly by or on account of an act, omission, or neglect in the execution of
the work. Restore to a condition substantially equivalent to that existing before such
damage or injury occurred, by repairing, rebuilding, or otherwise effecting restoration
thereof, or if this is not feasible, make a suitable settlement with OLWS of the damaged
property.

Give reasonable notice to occupants of buildings on property adjacent to the work to
permit the occupants to remove vehicles, trailers and other possessions as well as
salvage or relocate plants, trees, fences, sprinkler systems, or other improvements in
the right-of-way which are designated for removal or which might be destroyed or
damaged by work operations.

Protect all designated trees, lawns and planted areas within the right-of-way or
easements. Restore all on-surface disturbed areas, by methods as set forth in the
technical specifications. If conditions are such that the method specified cannot be
done, provide erosion control surface covering of such quality and quantity as will
prevent erosion from occurring, without adverse impacts to the environment, if
required by conditions existing at the site, at no additional cost to OLWS.

Review with the District Engineer the location, limits and methods to be used prior to
clearing work. Clearing and grubbing shall be performed in strict compliance with all
local, State and federal laws and requirements pertaining to clearing and burning, and
particularly in conformity with the provisions of ORS Chapter 477, and all subsequent
amendments, which require, among other things, filing with the State Forester a general
description of the right-of-way to be cleared before the start of clearing operations.
Obtain the required permit from the State Forester and OLWS and perform clearing
work in conformance thereto.

1.2.4.09 Use of Work During Construction

OLWS shall have the right to take possession of and use any completed or partially
completed portions of the work. Such use shall not be considered as final acceptance of
the work or portions thereof.

Oak Lodge Water Services Design and Construction Standards
Section 1—General Requirements Oct. 10, 2024 (Previous Revision: February 18, 2021)

1-57



Such action by OLWS will not relieve the Contractor of responsibility for injury or
damage to said completed portions of the work resulting from use by public traffic,
action of the elements, Contractor's operations, defective work, or negligence, or from
any other cause, except for injury or damage resulting from OLWS's negligence.
Contractor will not be required to again clean up such portions of the work prior to final
acceptance, excepting for such clean up as results from Contractor's operations or
defective work. Use of any completed or partially completed portions of the work does
not relieve Contractor from the warranty responsibility nor shall the warranty period
commence to run until final completion and acceptance of the work.

1.2.4.10 Furnishing Temporary Services and Facilities

Install, furnish and maintain temporary light, power, water and any temporary services
or facilities complete with connecting piping, wiring, lamps, and similar equipment
during construction of the work, including testing and start up. Remove temporary
facilities upon completion of work. Obtain all permits and bear all costs in connection
with temporary services and facilities. Conform to applicable statues, rules, codes, and
other requirements in the use of these facilities.

1.2.4.11 Verbal Agreements or Representations

No verbal agreement or conversation by or with any officer, agent or employee of
OLWS, either before or after execution of the Contract, shall affect or modify any of the
terms or obligations contained in any of the documents comprising the Contract. Any
such verbal agreement or conversation is in no way binding upon OLWS.

1.2.4.12 Water and Air Pollution Control

During the term of the Contract, Contractor's operations shall conform to applicable
laws and regulations of the Oregon DEQ, and other agencies of the State and Federal
Government, OLWS Erosion Control Plans, as well as other local ordinances and
resolutions designed to prevent, control, and abate water and air pollution.

During all phases of the work, or when directed, protect work sites, storage and disposal
areas from washout and erosion, and take precautions to control or abate dust nuisance
and air pollution by cleaning up, sweeping, sprinkling, covering, enclosing, or sheltering
work areas, and stockpiles, and by promptly removing from paved streets earth or other
material which may become airborne or may be washed into waterways or drainage
systems.

1.2.4.13 Noise

Conform and comply with applicable noise regulations as established in the Clackamas
County Code. Work hours are restricted to the hours of 7:00 a.m. to 7:00 p.m. during
the weekdays and 8:00 a.m. to 5:00 p.m. on the Saturday.

Oak Lodge Water Services Design and Construction Standards
Section 1—General Requirements Oct. 10, 2024 (Previous Revision: February 18, 2021)

1-58



1.2.5

1.2.4.14 Access to the Work

Provide access to the work for representatives of OLWS, the State of Oregon, the
Federal Government, and other entities having jurisdiction in the area.

Allow access to the District Engineer or their representatives to all parts of the work and
to plants of manufacturers at all times.

1.2.4.15 Defective or Unauthorized Work

All work which does not conform to the requirements of the Contract shall be
considered as unacceptable.

Upon discovery immediately remove unacceptable and defective work and replace by
work and materials which conform to the Contract. This provision shall have full effect
regardless of the fact that the unacceptable work may have been done or the defective
materials used with the full knowledge of the Inspector.

Control of Materials

1.2.5.01 Preference for Use of Oregon Products

Preference may be given to services, articles or materials produced or manufactured in
Oregon, if price, fitness, availability and quality are otherwise equal. These provisions do
not apply to Contracts on projects financed wholly or in part by federal funds.

1.2.5.02 Quality of Work

Materials, parts, products and equipment which are to be incorporated into the work
shall be new and shall conform to the contract documents.

1.2.5.03 Sampling and Testing

Tests of the work may be made by OLWS at any time during construction of the work or
during the production, fabrication, or preparation and use of materials, parts, products,
and equipment.

OLWS reserves the right to require samples and to test products for compliance with
pertinent requirements irrespective of prior certification of the products by the
manufacturer.

When such tests of the work are necessary, as determined by the District Engineer, such
tests will be made by and at the expense of OLWS unless otherwise specified. Provide
such facilities and cooperate as required for collecting and forwarding samples and do
not incorporate into the work until tests have been made and found acceptable. In all
cases furnish the required samples without charge and in ample time to permit testing
prior to use. Provide safety measures and devices to protect those who take the
samples.

In the absence of any reference Specification, it shall be understood that materials shall
meet the Specifications and requirements of ASTM, as directed by the District Engineer.

Oak Lodge Water Services Design and Construction Standards
Section 1—General Requirements Oct. 10, 2024 (Previous Revision: February 18, 2021)

1-59



When there is no pertinent coverage under ASTM, the material concerned shall meet
Specifications and requirements of applicable commercial standards of the Commodity
Standards Division of the U.S. Department of Commerce. Lacking such coverage,
materials shall meet requirements established by reputable industry for a high-quality
product of the kind involved.

All testing shall be performed by the testing laboratory, the District Engineer, or as
directed by the District Engineer.

In the event the District Engineer requests tests and the work fails, the Contractor shall
bear all costs for this test and all subsequent testing necessary to meet specified
requirements.

1.2.5.04 Certification

The District Engineer may, at their sole discretion and in lieu of any other required
sampling and testing, accept from Contractor two copies of the manufacturer's
certification with respect to the product involved, under conditions set forth as follows:

1. Certification shall state that the named product conforms to OLWS requirements
and that representative samples thereof have been sampled and tested as
specified.

2. Certification shall either be accompanied by a certified copy of test results or
certify that such test results are on file with the manufacturer and will be
furnished to the District Engineer upon request.

3. Certification shall give the name and address of the manufacturer and the
testing agency and the date of tests; and shall set forth the means of
identification which will permit field determination of the product delivered to
the project as being the product covered by the certification.

4. Contractor shall be responsible for any costs of certification or for any costs of
the sampling and testing of products in connection therewith.

1.2.5.05 Inspection by Others

Inspection of work by persons other than representatives of OLWS will not constitute
inspection by OLWS.

1.2.5.06 Storage and Protection of Items of Work

Store items to be incorporated into the work to assure the preservation of their quality
and fitness for the work. Stored items, even though approved before storage, may be
re-inspected and are subject to rejection prior to being incorporated into the work.
Stored items shall be located so as to facilitate their prompt inspection.

Oak Lodge Water Services Design and Construction Standards
Section 1—General Requirements Oct. 10, 2024 (Previous Revision: February 18, 2021)

1-60



1.2.5.07 Trade Names, Equals, or Substitutions

In order to establish a basis of quality, certain processes, types of machinery or
equipment, or kinds of materials may be specified—either by description of process, by
designating a manufacturer by name and referring to their brand or product
designation, or by specifying a kind of material. It is not the intent of these specifications
to exclude other processes, equipment, or materials of equal value, utility, or merit.

Whenever a process is designated; a manufacturer's name, brand, or item designation is
given; or a process or material covered by patent is designated or described; it shall be
understood that the words "or equal" follow such name, designation, or description,
whether in fact they do so or not. This "or equal" clause is not a warrantee, either
expressed or implied, by OLWS that an equal exists.

The Contractor may offer to furnish materials or equipment of equal or better quality
and performance than that specified as a substitute after the Contract is executed. If the
offer necessitates changes to, or coordination with, any other portion of the work, the
data submitted shall include drawings and details showing all such changes. Contractor
agrees to perform these changes as part of the substitution of material or equipment.
Acceptance by the District Engineer shall not relieve the Contractor from full
responsibility for the efficiency, sufficiency, quality, and performance of the substituted
material or equipment in the same manner and degree as the material and equipment
specified by name. Any cost differential associated with a substitution shall be reflected
in the Contract price and the Contract shall be appropriately modified by change order.

If the bid includes a list of equipment, materials, or articles for which Contractor must
name the manufacturer at time of submission of the bid, no substitutions therefore will
be permitted.

All materials or equipment of equal or better quality offered by the Contractor for
substituting shall be approved by the District Engineer prior to incorporation into the
project.

1.2.6 Legal Relations and Responsibilities

1.2.6.01 Laws and Regulations

Comply with all federal and State laws; all local laws, ordinances, and regulations; and
all orders and decrees of bodies or tribunals having any jurisdiction or authority, which
in any manner affect those engaged or employed on the work, or which in any way
affect the conduct of work. Observe and comply with all such laws, ordinances,
regulations, orders, and decrees. Protect and indemnify OLWS and their representatives
against any claim or liability arising from, or based on, the violation of any such law,
ordinance, regulation, order, or decree—whether by Contractor, their Subcontractors,
suppliers of materials or services, or others engaged by the Contractor or their
employees.

Oak Lodge Water Services Design and Construction Standards
Section 1—General Requirements Oct. 10, 2024 (Previous Revision: February 18, 2021)

1-61



In addition to those set forth herein, the OLWS Public Contracting rules and the Statutes
of the State of Oregon for public works contracts, ORS Chapters 279A and 279C, are
incorporated by reference into the Contract.

1.2.6.02 Subcontractors

After Contract award and notice of Contractor/Subcontractor agreements have been
submitted, work shall not be transferred or subcontracted without prior consent of
OLWS.

Use of Subcontractors, material suppliers or equipment suppliers shall in no way release
Contractor from any obligations of contract with OLWS.

Contractor will provide in all subcontract agreements that the Subcontractor, material
supplier and equipment supplier will be bound by the terms and conditions of this
Contract to the extent that they relate to the Subcontractor's work, material or
equipment. All Subcontractor's agreements will also provide that they are assignable to
OLWS at OLWS's option, in the event this agreement is terminated for default of
Contractor.

1.2.6.03 No Waiver of Legal Rights

OLWS shall not be precluded by any measurement, estimate or certificate made either
before or after completion and acceptance of work or payment therefore, from showing
the true amount and character of work performed and materials furnished by the
Contractor, or from showing that any such measurement, estimate or certificate is
untrue or incorrectly made, or that work or materials do not conform in fact to the
Contract. OLWS shall not be precluded, notwithstanding any such measurement,
estimate or certificate, or payment in accordance therewith, from recovering from the
Contractor and their sureties such damages as it may sustain by reason of their failure to
comply with terms of the Contract, or from enforcing compliance with the Contract.
Neither acceptance by OLWS, or by any representative or agent of OLWS, of the whole
or any part of the work, nor any extension of time, nor any possession taken by OLWS,
nor any payment for all or any part of the project, shall operate as a waiver of any
portion of the Contract or of any power herein reserved, or any right to damages herein
provided. A waiver of any breach of the Contract shall not be held to be a waiver of any
other breach.

1.2.6.04 Other Contracts

OLWS reserves the right to award other contracts or issue permits for work that may
require coordination with the work to be performed under this Contract.

When separate contracts or permits are awarded or issued for different portions of the
Project, "the Contractor" in the contract documents in each case shall be the Contractor
who signs each separate contract.

Oak Lodge Water Services Design and Construction Standards
Section 1—General Requirements Oct. 10, 2024 (Previous Revision: February 18, 2021)

1-62



Mutual Responsibility of Contractors: The Contractor shall afford other Contractors
reasonable opportunity for the introduction and storage of their materials and
equipment and the execution of their work, and shall properly connect and coordinate
their work with theirs.

If any part of the Contractor's work depends for proper execution or results upon the
work of any other separate Contractor, the Contractor shall inspect and promptly report
to the District Engineer any apparent discrepancies or defects in such work that render
it unsuitable for such proper execution and results. Failure of the Contractor to inspect
and report shall constitute an acceptance of the other Contractor's work as fit proper to
receive the work, except as to defects which may develop in the other separate
Contractor's work after the execution of the Contractor's work.

Should the Contractor cause damage to the work or property of any separate Contractor
which results in a claim against OLWS, and if the claim is not satisfied by Contractor and
the separate Contractor sues OLWS or initiates an arbitration proceeding on account of
any damage alleged to have been so sustained, OLWS shall notify the Contractor who
shall defend if requested such proceedings at the Contractor's expense, and if any
judgment or award against OLWS arises therefrom the Contractor shall pay or satisfy it
and shall reimburse OLWS for all attorney's fees and court or arbitration costs which
OLWS has incurred.

The Contractor shall be responsible for any cutting, fitting and patching that may be
required to complete the work except as otherwise specifically provided in the Contract.
The Contractor shall not endanger any work of any other Contractors by cutting,
excavating or otherwise altering any work and shall not cut or alter the work of any
other Contractor. Any costs caused by defective or ill-timed work shall be borne by the
party responsible, therefore.

If a dispute arises between the separate Contractors as to their responsibility for
cleaning up, OLWS may clean up and charge the cost thereof to the several Contractors
as the District Engineer shall determine to be just.

1.2.6.05 Liability and Indemnification

The Contractor shall assume all responsibility for the work and shall bear all losses and
damages directly or indirectly resulting to the Contractor, to OLWS, to the District
Engineer, and to their officers, agents, and employees on account of (a) the character or
performance of the work, (b) unforeseen difficulties, (c) accidents, or (d) any other
cause whatsoever.

The Contractor shall defend, indemnify, and hold harmless OLWS, the Design Engineer,
and their officers, agents and employees from all claims, loss, damage, and injury of
every kind directly or indirectly arising out of this Contract. The Contractor shall assume
this responsibility even if (a) fault is the basis of the claim, and (b) any act, omission or
conduct of OLWS connected with the Contract is a condition or contributory cause of
the claim, loss, damage or injury.

Oak Lodge Water Services Design and Construction Standards
Section 1—General Requirements Oct. 10, 2024 (Previous Revision: February 18, 2021)

1-63



The Contractor shall not be liable for, nor be required to defend, or indemnify OLWS or
the Design Engineer relative to any claim, loss, damage, or injury resulting solely from
acts or omissions by OLWS, the Design Engineer, or their officers, agents or employees.
The Contractor shall not be liable for, nor be required to defend, or indemnify OLWS or
the Design Engineer relating to any claim loss, damage, or injury arising from the use of
any maps, drawings, reports, surveys, designs, or specifications furnished by OLWS,
Design Engineer, or their officers, agents, or employees.

Any specific duty or liability imposed or assumed by the Contractor, as may be
otherwise set forth in the contract documents, shall not be construed as a limitation or
restriction of the general liability or duty imposed upon the Contractor by this section.

The Contractor shall assume all responsibility for the work.
1.2.6.06 Insurance

1.2.6.06.01 General

The Contractor shall provide and maintain during the life of this Contract the
insurance coverage designated hereafter. All costs for such insurance shall be
borne by the Contractor and shall be included in the Contract price.

Prior to execution by OLWS and before commencing work under this Contract,
Contractor shall furnish the District Engineer with certificates of insurance
specified herein showing the name of the insurance carrier, coverage, type,
amount (or limits), policy numbers, effective and expiration dates, description of
operations covered, and containing substantially the following cancellation
provision:

"The insurance covered by this certificate will not be canceled or materially
reduced, except after 30 days written notice has been received by OLWS."

In case of the breach of any provision of this Article, OLWS, at its option, may
take out and maintain, at the expense of the Contractor, such insurance as OLWS
may deem proper. OLWS may deduct the cost of such insurance from any
monies which may be due or become due the Contractor under this Contract.

1.2.6.06.02 Review and Approval of Insurance

The Contractor shall not commence work under this Contract nor allow any
Subcontractor to commence work on a subcontract until the Contractor has
obtained all the insurance required hereunder and such insurance has been
approved by the Attorney. All policies or insurance and certificates of insurance
shall be satisfactory to OLWS. Approval of the insurance shall not relieve or
decrease the liability of the Contractor hereunder.

1.2.6.06.03 Workers' Compensation, the Federal Longshoremens' and
Harborworkers' Act, and the Federal Jones Act

Oak Lodge Water Services Design and Construction Standards
Section 1—General Requirements Oct. 10, 2024 (Previous Revision: February 18, 2021)

1-64



The Contractor shall provide and shall require all Subcontractors to provide
workers' compensation coverage for all persons employed under this Contract
including the Contractors' partners and any individual regardless of relation to
the Contractor's partners and any individual regardless of relation to the
Contractor or to the partners who provide work under this Contract. The
Contractor shall be required to assure that subject workers will receive the
compensation for compensable injuries provided in ORS Chapter 656 either by:

1. a carrier-insured employer; or
2. a self-insured employer as provided by ORS 656.407.

In addition to the statutory benefits outlined above, the Contractor and all
Subcontractors shall provide employers' liability insurance with limits of not less

than:

1. $2,000,000 each occurrence

2. $2,000,000 disease each employee
3. $2,000,000 disease—policy

Evidence of such coverage, including the guaranty or warrant period, shall be
filed with OLWS and maintained for the duration of the Contract.

The Contractor shall defend, indemnify, and hold harmless, OLWS and the
OLWS's officers, agents, and employees against any liability that may be imposed
upon them by reason of the Contractor's or Subcontractor’s failure to provide
workers' compensation and employers liability coverage.

1.2.6.06.04 General Liability and Automobile Liability

The Contractor shall provide a general liability policy that provides coverage for
bodily injury including personal injury and property damage liability insurance
and automobile liability insurance. Such insurance must protect the Contractor,
OLWS, and their officers and employees from all things or damage which may
arise out of this Contract or in connection therewith, including all operations of
Subcontractors. Such insurance shall provide coverage for not less than the
amounts for which public bodies are responsible as set forth in ORS Chapter
30.260 - 30.300, Tort Actions against public bodies, but in no event less than the
following limits of liability:

The policy shall contain an endorsement that the aggregate applies separately to
this Contract.

Commercial General Liability Insurance

1. $2,000,000 each occurrence limit
2. $3,000,000 general aggregate
3. $3,000,000 products/completed operations aggregate

Oak Lodge Water Services Design and Construction Standards
Section 1—General Requirements Oct. 10, 2024 (Previous Revision: February 18, 2021)

1-65



4. $3,000,000 personal and advertising injury
5. $2,000,000 limited job site pollution occurrence sub-limit

Comprehensive Automobile Liability Insurance Including Coverage for all
Owned, Hired, And Non-owned Vehicles.

1. $2,000,000 each occurrence combined single limit

2. $3,000,000 aggregate bodily injury and property damage, or $2,000,000 each
person bodily injury

3. $2,000,000 each occurrence bodily injury

4. $2,000,000 each occurrence property damage

5. $2,000,000 each occurrence pollution occurrence sub-limit

The insurance shall be written on a comprehensive form which includes broad
form property damage on an occurrence basis. Unless excluded by Special
Specification, the general liability policy shall include, without deductible,
coverage for premises operations, explosion and collapse hazard, underground
hazard, products, completed operations, contractual insurance, and independent
Contractors. Such insurance shall be maintained until the expiration of the
guaranty period required by the Contract. Failure to maintain liability insurance
as provided above shall, at OLWS's option, because for immediate termination of
the Contract.

The Contractor shall provide a letter from the insurance company which states
that such insurance shall be without prejudice to coverage otherwise existing.

OLWS, its officers, agents, and employees, shall be named additional insureds in
the Contractor's General Liability Insurance policy.

The policy shall also provide for a Cross Liability Endorsement or Separation of
Insureds Endorsement.

The policy shall be endorsed to provide an Amendment - Aggregate Limits of
Insurance (per project) specifying that a separate aggregate limit of liability
applies to this Contract.

If there are insufficient insurance proceeds and assets of the Contractor to fully
indemnify OLWS, its officers, employees, agents, and the District Engineer, then
OLWS, its officers, employees, and agents would be indemnified first with any
remaining insurance proceeds and assets to be used to indemnify the District
Engineer.

If set forth in the Special Specifications, additional insureds may be the District
Engineer, other governmental bodies with jurisdiction in the area involved in the
project, and their officers and employees and such agents as may be specified.

1.2.6.06.05 Claims on Project
The Contractor, when notified of a claim by an affected party shall:

Oak Lodge Water Services Design and Construction Standards
Section 1—General Requirements Oct. 10, 2024 (Previous Revision: February 18, 2021)

1-66



1. Refer claim to the Contractor's insurance carrier or claims administrator.

Contractor's insurer will copy OLWS on acknowledgment of claim.

3. Contractor's insurer will copy OLWS on notice to claimant of disposition of
claim.

N

1.2.6.06.06 Builders Risk Insurance

During construction, Contractor shall obtain and maintain for the benefit of the
parties to the Contract as their interest may appear, all-risk builder's risk
insurance to the extent of 100% of the value of the project. Coverage shall also
include: (1) formwork in place; (2) form lumber on site; (3) temporary structures;
(4) equipment; and (5) supplies related to the work while at the site. Such
insurance shall be endorsed to require 30 days' written notice to OLWS prior to
cancellation or change of the policy. One (1) copy of the policy and 2 certificates
of such insurance shall be delivered to OLWS before commencing work and shall
be subject to review and approval by OLWS. OLWS may temporarily waive
delivery of the copy of the policy. In the event Contractor fails to maintain such
insurance, OLWS may arrange therefore; and any premium incurred shall be to
the account of Contractor.

1.2.6.06.07 Insurance for Work in Railroad Rights-of-Way

During construction in railroad right-of-way, Contractor shall obtain and
maintain insurance as required by the individual railroads.

1.2.6.07 Royalties and Patents

Contractor shall pay all royalties and license fees required to perform the work. Defend
and indemnify OBWS;0LWS from all loss or damage that may result from the
Contractor's wrongful or unauthorized use of any patented article or process.

1.2.6.08 Permits

Contractor shall obtain all Municipal, County, State, federal, or other permits or licenses
necessary or incident to performance of the work under this Contract. Work within the
railroad right-of-way requires permit by the rail authority and railroad operators in
addition to the above. Comply with all permit requirements pertaining to the project.

1.2.6.09 Compliance with ORS Chapter 279A, B, and C (Public Contracting Code)

Comply, and require all Subcontractors to comply, with the OLWS’s Public Contracting
Rules, the requirements of the applicable State statutes, and be subject to the
applicable liabilities provided in ORS Chapter 279A, B and C, such as, but not limited to,
the statutes that are numbered and referenced, and incorporated herein by an
abbreviated subject matter, and listed below and the statutes required to be set forth as
conditions in public contracts, which follows.

1. ORS 279C.375 Award of contract; Bond; Waiver of bond in case of emergency.
2. ORS 279C.505 Drug Testing Program

Oak Lodge Water Services Design and Construction Standards
Section 1—General Requirements Oct. 10, 2024 (Previous Revision: February 18, 2021)

1-67



3. ORS 279C.540 Maximum hours of labor on public contracts; holidays;
exceptions.

4, ORS 279C.840 Workers on public works to be paid not less than prevailing rate

of wage.
5. ORS 279C.845 Certification of rate of wage by Contractor or Subcontractor.
6. ORS 279C.850 Inspection to determine whether prevailing rate of wage being

paid; proceedings to require payment of prevailing rate of overtime.

7. ORS 279C.855 Liability of Violations.

1.2.6.10 Labor

Upon notification in writing from the District Engineer, remove immediately from the
job for its duration any laborer, workman, mechanic, foreman, superintendent, or other
person employed who is found to be incompetent, intemperate, troublesome,
disorderly or otherwise objectionable, or who fails or refuses to perform their work
properly or acceptably.

Comply with provisions of the OLWS's Equal Opportunity Policy and to ORS Chapter 659
relative to unlawful employment practices and discrimination by employers against any
employee or applicant for employment because of race, religion, color, sex, or national
origin. Particular reference is made to ORS 659.030, which states that it is unlawful
employment practice for any employer, because of the race, religion, color, sex, or
national origin of any individual, to refuse to hire or employ or to bar or discharge from
employment such individual or to discriminate against such individual in compensation
or in terms, conditions or privileges of employment.

1.2.6.11 Overtime
Inadditionto-the regquirementsset forth-in-Specification-107.09,-Contractor shall notify

the District Engineer of any overtime operations as soon as possible. The Contractor
must provide documentation to the District Engineer's satisfaction justifying the
overtime work (ORS 279C.520).

In the event that the Contractor wishes to proceed with an overtime operation, the
Contractor must first notify and obtain approval from the District Engineer to do so,
prior to commencing such work.

For overtime work requested by the Contractor, the Contractor shall pay the applicable
wage rate for the District Engineer's Inspector, engineering and operations personnel,
and other staff required at the project during the overtime hours.

This section does not apply to labor performed in the manufacture or fabrication of any
material ordered by the Contractor or manufactured or fabricated in any plant or place
other than the place where the main Contract is to be performed.

Oak Lodge Water Services Design and Construction Standards
Section 1—General Requirements Oct. 10, 2024 (Previous Revision: February 18, 2021)

1-68



1.2.6.12 Safety

1.2.6.12.01 Employee Safety

The Contractor shall at all times be responsible for the safety of their employees
and their Subcontractor’s employees. The Contractor shall maintain the job site
and perform the work in a manner which meets OLWS's responsibility under
statutory and common law for the provision of a safe place to work and which
complies with OLWS's written safety regulations, if any.

Conduct the project with proper regard for the safety and convenience of the
public. When the project involves use of public ways, provide necessary flag
persons and install and maintain means of reasonable access to all fire hydrants,
service stations, warehouses, stores, houses, garages, and other property.
Private residential driveways shall be closed only with approval of the District
Engineer or specific permission of the property owner. Do not interfere with
normal operation of public transit vehicles unless otherwise authorized. Do not
obstruct or interfere with travel over any public street or sidewalk without
approval. At all times provide open trenches and excavations with secured and
adequate barricades or fences of an approved type which can be seen from a
reasonable distance. Close up or plate all open excavations at the end of each
working day in all street areas unless approved otherwise by the District
Engineer and in all other areas when it is reasonably required for public safety or
as directed by the District Engineer. At night, mark all open work and
obstructions by lights. Install and maintain all necessary signs, lights, flares,
barricades, railings, runways, stairs, bridges, and facilities. Observe all safety
instructions received from the District Engineer or governmental authorities, but
following of such instructions shall not relieve Contractor from its responsibility
or liability for accidents to workmen or damage or injury to person or property.

1.2.6.12.02 Public Safety and Convenience

The Contractor shall at all times conduct their work so as to ensure the least
possible obstruction to traffic and convenience to the general public and
residents in the vicinity of the work and to ensure the protection of persons and
property. No road or street shall be closed to the public except with the
permission of the District Engineer and proper governmental authority. Fire
hydrants on or adjacent to the work shall be kept accessible to firefighting
equipment at all times. Temporary provisions shall be made by the Contractor to
ensure the use of sidewalks, private and public driveways and proper functioning
of all gutters, sewer inlets, drainage ditches and culverts, irrigation ditches and
natural water courses. The Contractor will minimize inconvenience to others due
to mud and dust.

1.2.6.12.03 Safety Program

Oak Lodge Water Services Design and Construction Standards
Section 1—General Requirements Oct. 10, 2024 (Previous Revision: February 18, 2021)

1-69



The Contractor shall adopt a written safety program complying with the
requirements of employee and public safety set forth hereinabove and as
described in the Special Conditions. The safety program shall also comply with
OAR Chapter 437, Division 3, regarding general safety and health provisions.

1.2.6.13 Right-Of-Way, Easements and Premises

Confine construction activities within property lines, right-of-way, limits of easements
and limits of construction permits as shown or specified in the contract documents
unless arrangements are made with owner(s) of adjacent private property. If additional
space or property is needed to accommodate Contractor's method for construction of
the work or for the convenience of the Contractor, Contractor shall bear all related costs
and responsibilities. Prior to the use of any private property outside the specified
boundaries, file with the District Engineer written permission from the property
owner(s).

Do not unreasonably encumber the specified work areas with materials and equipment.
Obtain and bear the costs of permits for special occupancy and use of the specified work
areas from the proper agencies. Comply with all requirements regarding signs,
advertisements, fires and smoking.

1.2.6.14 12-Month Maintenance and Warranty

In addition to and not in lieu of any other warranties required under the Contract make
all necessary repairs and replacements to remedy, in a manner satisfactory to the
District Engineer and at no cost to OLWS, any and all defects, breaks, or failures of the
work occurring within 12 months following the date of substantial completion due to
faulty or inadequate materials or workmanship. Repair damage or disturbances to other
improvements under, within, or adjacent to the work, whether or not caused by
settling, washing, or slipping, when such damage or disturbance is caused, in whole or in
part, from activities of the Contractor in performing their duties and obligations under
this Contract when such defects or damage occur within the warranty period. The 12-
month maintenance period required shall, with relation to such required repair, be
extended 1 year from the date of completion of such repair.

If Contractor, after written notice, fails within 10 days to proceed to comply with the
terms of this section, OLWS may have the defects corrected, and Contractor and
Contractor's surety shall be liable for all expense incurred. In case of an emergency
where, in the opinion of the District Engineer, delay would cause serious loss or damage,
repairs may be made without notice being given to Contractor and Contractor or surety
shall pay the cost of repairs. Failure of the District Engineer to act in case of an
emergency shall not relieve Contractor or surety from liability and payment of all such
costs.

In addition to the above provisions, OLWS waterline facilities installed by the Contractor
under this Contract that require repair or replacement during the 12-month

Oak Lodge Water Services Design and Construction Standards
Section 1—General Requirements Oct. 10, 2024 (Previous Revision: February 18, 2021)

1-70



1.2.7

maintenance period shall be repaired by OLWS or under the direction of OLWS and the
Contractor and Contractor's surety shall be liable for all expenses incurred.

Prosecution and Progress of Work

1.2.7.01 Contractor's Construction Schedule

Within 30 days of Contract award or 1 week in advance of starting work, whichever is
earlier, submit for written approval a proposed construction schedule to the District
Engineer. Contractor may not commence work until construction schedule is approved
by the District Engineer.

If it is desirable to carry on operations in more than one location simultaneously, submit
a schedule for each location at least 1 week in advance of beginning such operations. In
the event that the Contractor's proposed construction schedule does not meet the
necessary construction program schedule as determined by OLWS, immediately
resubmit a schedule that conforms as approved. Contractor shall not commence work
until schedule is approved by the District Engineer.

The schedule shall show the proposed order of work and indicate the time required for
completion of the major items of work. This working schedule shall take into account
the passage and handling of traffic with the least practicable interference therewith and
the orderly, timely and efficient prosecution of work. It will also be used as an indication
of the sequence of the major construction operations and as a check on the progress of
work.

1.2.7.02 Preconstruction Conference

Attend a preconstruction conference, if requested, at a time, prior to start of work,
designated by the District Engineer. Comply with information and instructions provided
at the preconstruction conference as recorded in the minutes of the meeting.

1.2.7.03 Notice-to-Proceed

Unless stated otherwise in the Special Specifications, written Notice to Proceed will be
given by the District Engineer within 30 days after the performance and payment bond
and all required insurances have been filed with and approved by OLWS and the
Contract has been executed. Do not commence work under the Contract until such
written notice has been given.

Notice to Proceed may be delayed up to an additional 30 days (for a total of sixty 60
days) from date of Contract by the District Engineer if, in the District Engineer's opinion,
necessary easements or permits have not been obtained, or required utility relocation,
construction, or reconstruction has not been completed or has not progressed to a
degree that will allow initial contract work to commence.

Commence work within 10 working days after the date of the Notice to Proceed, or such
other date as may be fixed by the Notice to Proceed, which date shall establish the date

Oak Lodge Water Services Design and Construction Standards
Section 1—General Requirements Oct. 10, 2024 (Previous Revision: February 18, 2021)

1-71



for commencement of the Contract time. Notify the District Engineer 48 hours in
advance of the time and place work will be started.

1.2.7.04 Contract Time
Time shall be considered the essence of the Contract.

Upon commencement of work, Contractor shall provide adequate labor, materials, and
equipment, and work shall be performed vigorously and continuously in accordance
with a schedule which will ensure completion within the specified time limit. Failure to
diligently pursue the work may jeopardize additional contract time.

1.2.7.05 Suspension of Work

If the work is suspended for convenience: Temporarily suspend work on the Project
wholly or in part for convenience of OLWS as directed by the District Engineer. In the
event of such suspension, the District Engineer shall, except in emergency, and except
as hereinafter provided, give Contractor 3 days' notice. Work shall be resumed within 5
days after notice has been given by the District Engineer to Contractor to do so. The
District Engineer shall allow Contractor an extension of time for completion
corresponding to the total period of temporary suspension, and shall reimburse
Contractor for necessary rental of unused equipment, services of watch persons, and
other unavoidable expenses accruing by reason of the suspension, as stipulated in
Subsection 1.2.7.06, Delays and Extensions of Time.

If work is suspended by the District Engineer: Immediately suspend work on the project,
wholly or in part, as directed by the District Engineer, for reasonable periods of time as
the District Engineer may deem necessary, when conditions are unsuitable for
satisfactory performance of the work. OLWS shall allow the Contractor an extension of
time for completion corresponding to the total period of suspension, but the Contractor
shall not be entitled to reimbursement for any costs or damages arising under this
clause.

If work is suspended for cause: Immediately suspend work on the Project wholly or in
part as directed by the District Engineer for such periods as the District Engineer may
deem necessary due to: (1) failure to correct unsafe conditions for working personnel,
the general public, or OLWS employees, (2) failure to immediately correct defective and
unacceptable work in accordance with Subsection 1.2.4.15 205.15, (3) failure to carry
out provisions of the contract documents and/or conditions of approval, and (4) failure
to carry out orders or directives.

Voluntary suspension by Contractor: There shall be no voluntary suspension or slowing
of operations without the prior written approval of the District Engineer and such
approval shall not relieve Contractor from the responsibility to complete the Contract
work within the prescribed Contract time. Should operations be discontinued,
Contractor shall notify, in writing, the District Engineer at least 24 hours in advance of
resuming operations.

Oak Lodge Water Services Design and Construction Standards
Section 1—General Requirements Oct. 10, 2024 (Previous Revision: February 18, 2021)

1-72



Responsibilities of Contractor:

1. At the commencement of and during any suspension of work, protect all work
performed to prevent any damage or deterioration of the work. Provide
temporary protection devices to warn, safeguard, protect, guide, and inform
traffic during suspension, the same as though the work had been continuous and
without interferences.

2. Bear all costs for providing suitable provisions for traffic control and for
maintenance and protection of the work during suspension unless the
suspension was for convenience.

In all cases of suspension, except voluntary suspension by Contractor, work will be
resumed only upon written order of the District Engineer or OLWS.

1.2.7.06 Delays and Extensions of Time

If the Contractor is significantly delayed due to court orders enjoining the prosecution of
this Project, unavoidable strikes, acts of God, unusual and extraordinary action of the
elements that are of such severity to stop all progress of the work, or act or neglect of
OLWS not authorized by the Contract, the Contractor shall, within 48 hours of the start
of the occurrence, give notice to the District Engineer of the cause of the potential delay
and estimate the possible time extension involved. Within 10 days after the cause of the
delay has been remedied the Contractor shall give notice to the District Engineer of any
actual time extension requested as a result of the aforementioned occurrence.

No extension of time will be considered for weather conditions normal to the area and
time of year in which the work is being performed. Delays in delivery of equipment or
material purchased by the Contractor or their Subcontractors (including OLWS-selected
equipment) shall not be considered as a just cause for delay, when timely ordering
would have made the equipment available. The Contractor shall be fully responsible for
the timely ordering, scheduling, expediting, delivery, and installation of all equipment
and materials. Extensions of time will be considered for delayed delivery of OLWS
specified equipment "without equal."

Within a reasonable period after the Contractor submits to the District Engineer a
written request for an extension of time the District Engineer will make the decision on
each request, for General Manager approval.

An adjustment of Contract time as herein provided shall be the Contractor's sole
remedy for any delay in completion of the project arising from causes beyond the
control of the Contractor, except for unreasonable delay caused by acts or omissions of
OLWS or persons acting therefore. In no event shall the Contractor be entitled to collect
or recover any damages, loss or expense incurred by reason of such delay, except for an
unreasonable delay caused by acts or omissions of OLWS or persons acting therefor.
However, if Contractor is delayed due solely to a breach by OLWS, Contractor will be
entitled to recover damages limited to reimbursement for necessary rental of unused

Oak Lodge Water Services Design and Construction Standards
Section 1—General Requirements Oct. 10, 2024 (Previous Revision: February 18, 2021)

1-73



equipment, services of watch persons, documented direct overhead costs, documented
direct unavoidable expenses accruing by reason of the suspension, plus 15% of the
foregoing damages to cover normal Contractor profit. Contractor shall not be entitled to
indirect costs or any other damages arising out of the delay, including but not limited to,
interruption of schedules, or any other impact claim or ripple effect. If a delay is caused
by OLWS and Contractor (joint delay), Contractor shall be entitled to a time extension
only, by reason of such joint delay.

1.2.7.07 Liquidated Damages

Time shall be considered the essence of the Contract. If Contractor fails to complete the
project or to deliver the supplies or perform the services within the time specified in the
Contract or any extension thereof by OLWS, the actual damage to OLWS for the delay
will be substantial but will be difficult or impractical to determine.

It is therefore agreed that Contractor will pay to OLWS, not as a penalty but as
liguidated damages, the per diem amount of 0.5% of the total contract or modification
thereof for each and every calendar day elapsed in excess of the Contract time or the
final adjusted Contract time applicable to the work required under the Contract.

Permitting Contractor to continue and finish the work or any part thereof after the
Contract time or adjusted Contract time, as pertinent, has expired shall in no way
operate as a waiver on the part of OLWS or any of its rights under the Contract.

Payment of liquidated damages shall not release Contractor from obligations in respect
to the fulfillment of the entire Contract, nor shall the payment of such liquidated
damages constitute a waiver of OLWS's right to collect any additional damages which
may be sustained by failure of Contractor to carry out the terms of the Contract, it being
the intent of the parties that said liquidated damages be full and complete payment
only for failure of Contractor to complete the work on time.

1.2.7.08 Contractor's Representative

Designate, in writing before starting work, an authorized representative who shall have
complete authority to represent and to act for Contractor, in all directions given by the
District Engineer. Contractor, or its authorized representative shall supervise the work,
and shall be present on site continually during its progress.

If Contractor or its authorized representative is not present, directions may be given by
the District Engineer or their authorized representative to the workmen and such order
shall be received and followed. Any direction will be confirmed in writing upon request
from the Contractor.

Keep a complete copy of the Plans and Specifications on or near the site at all time.

1.2.7.09 Conflicts, Errors, Omissions, And Additional Drawings

Check and compare all Plans and Specifications prior to construction and notify the
District Engineer of any discrepancies or omissions in order to permit correction by the

Oak Lodge Water Services Design and Construction Standards
Section 1—General Requirements Oct. 10, 2024 (Previous Revision: February 18, 2021)

1-74



District Engineer. Coordination of Plans and Specifications is intended. Furnish labor and
materials as required for the work. Should any work or materials be reasonably required
or intended for carrying the project to completion which are omitted on the Plans and
Specifications, furnish same as fully as if particularly delineated or described. The intent
of the Plans and Specifications is to show and describe a complete project within the
limits stated. Dimensions shown on Plans shall be followed, rather than scale
measurements. Whenever it appears that the Plans are not sufficiently detailed or
explicit, the District Engineer may furnish additional detail drawings or written
instructions and Contractor shall perform the work in accordance with the additional
details or instructions.

1.2.7.10 OLWS’s Right to Do Work

Failure or refusal to comply with any of the terms or conditions of the Contract will
permit OLWS to supply or correct any deficiency or defect or take other appropriate
action without prejudice to any other remedy. Such action by OLWS shall be taken only
after 7 days’ notice by the District Engineer to Contractor and their surety, unless in the
judgment of the District Engineer an emergency or danger to the work or to the public
exists, in which event action of the OLWS as set forth above may be taken without any
notice whatsoever. The cost of such action by OLWS shall be deducted from the
payment then or thereafter due Contractor. Pay OLWS any costs in excess of such
payment due.

1.2.7.11 Termination for Default

If the Contractor should be adjudged bankrupt, or if they should make a general
assignment for the benefit of their creditors, or if a receiver should be appointed on
account of insolvency, or if they should refuse to or fail to supply enough properly
skilled workmen or proper materials for the efficient prosecution of the Project,
disregard laws, ordinances or the instructions of the District Engineer, or otherwise be in
violation of any provision of the Contract, OLWS may, without prejudice to any other
right or remedy and after giving the Contractor and its surety 7 days' written notice,
terminate the services of the Contractor and take possession of the premises and of all
materials, tools and appliances thereon as well as all other materials whether on the
premises or not, on which the Contractor has received partial payment and finish the
work by whatever method it may deem expedient.

In the event action as above indicated is taken by OLWS, the Contractor, or its surety,
shall provide the District Engineer with immediate and peaceful possession of all of the
materials, tools and appliances located on the premises as well as all other materials
whether on the premises or not, on which the Contractor has received any progress
payment. Upon termination, in the event that the surety does not complete the
Contract, at the election of OLWS, Contractor shall assign any and all Subcontractors and
material contracts to OLWS or OLWS designee. Further, the Contractor shall not be
entitled to receive any further payment until the work is completed. On completion of
the work, determination shall be made by the District Engineer of the total amount the

Oak Lodge Water Services Design and Construction Standards
Section 1—General Requirements Oct. 10, 2024 (Previous Revision: February 18, 2021)

1-75



Contractor would have been entitled to receive for the work, under the terms of the
Contract, had Contractor completed the work. If the difference between said total
amount and the sum of all amounts previously paid to the Contractor, which difference
will hereinafter be called the "unpaid balance," exceeds the expense incurred by OLWS
in completing the work, including expense for additional managerial and administrative
services, such excess will be paid to the Contractor, with the consent of the surety. If,
instead, the expense incurred by OLWS exceeds the unpaid balance, the amount of the
excess shall be paid to OLWS by the Contractor or their surety. The expense incurred by
OLWS as herein provided, and the damage incurred through the Contractor's default,
shall be as determined and certified by the District Engineer.

In addition to and apart from the above-mentioned right of OLWS to terminate the
employment of the Contractor, the Contract may be canceled at the election of OLWS
for any willful failure or refusal on the part of the Contractor to faithfully perform the
Contract according to all of its terms and conditions; provided, however, that in the
event OLWS should cancel the Contract, neither the Contractor nor its surety shall be
relieved from damages or losses suffered by OLWS on account of the Contractor's
breach of Contract.

OLWS may, at its discretion, avail itself of any or all of the above rights or remedies and
its invoking of any one of the above rights or remedies will not prejudice or preclude
OLWS from subsequently invoking any other right or remedy set forth above or
elsewhere in the Contract.

None of the foregoing provisions shall be construed to require OLWS to complete the
work, not to waive or in any way limit or modify the provisions of the Contract relating
to the fixed and liquidated damages suffered by OLWS on account of failure to complete
the Project within the time prescribed.

1.2.7.12 Termination in the Public Interest

It is hereby agreed that OLWS has the right to terminate the Contract in whole or in part
when it is considered to be in the public interest.

In the event the Contract is terminated as being in the public interest the Contractor
shall be entitled to a reasonable amount of compensation for preparatory work and for
all costs and expenses arising out of the termination excluding lost profits.

The amount to be paid to the Contractor:

1. Shall be determined on the basis of the Contract price in the case of any fully
completed separate item or portion of the work for which there is a separate or
unit Contract price; and

2. Inrespect to any other work, the Contractor will be paid a percent of the
Contract price equal to the percentage of the work completed.

Oak Lodge Water Services Design and Construction Standards
Section 1—General Requirements Oct. 10, 2024 (Previous Revision: February 18, 2021)

1-76



END OF SECTION

Oak Lodge Water Services Design and Construction Standards
Section 1—General Requirements Oct. 10, 2024 (Previous Revision: February 18, 2021)

1-77



SECTION 2—STORMWATER
AND EROSION CONTROL STANDARDS

TABLE OF CONTENTS
2.1 DEFINITIONS c.ceeeteeeeee ettt ettt e ettt e e e e e sttt e e e e e e s saabbe b e e eeessesabnraeeeeeeeaaan eeessnnnnnnes 1
2.1.1 WOrds @nd TEIMS ..uvuiiieeieieeiiiiiieee e e e ettt ee e e e e s st eeeesesssabbaaeeeeeeesssssataneeeesessnnnses 1
2.1.2 ADDIreVviations ......eeeeiiieee e e e e e 5
2.2 GENERAL INFORMATION ...ttttiteeiieiiitttee e e eeeiitttee e e e e s siaateeeesessssbbaaaeeeeesssasssaseeeessssnnsssaneeeeen 5
2.2.1 Relationship to OLWS Rules and Regulations .......ccccccceeeiiiiiii e, 5
2.2.2 Ownership of Stormwater SYSteM .......cooviiiiiiieeeeeeeeeeee s 6
2.2.3 OLWS Authority: Storm/Surface Water System ........c.ccoveveeeeeiiieeeeeeiiee e 6
2.2.4 AULhOrity and PUIPOSE......ooeeiieiieeeeeee e aeaaeees 6
2.2.5 Preliminary Statements of Feasibility: Stormwater .....cccccoeeeeei . 7
2.2.6 OB ECHIVES coveeiieeeeeeieeee e ———————. 8
0 A Yo o [ oF=Y o 11 Y2 9
2.2.8  VaATANC it s 14
2.3 GENERAL STORMWATER STANDARDS......ccitiittitieeeeeeeiitiireeee e e essiareeeeesessananeeeaeessnnnseeees 16
2.3.1 GeNeral POlCY o ———— 16
2.3.2 DeVeloPMENT POIICY ..uuiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiee ettt e e e s e e e s s e sirrae e e e e e e ennnes 17
2.3.3 ENGINEEering POlICY.ccciiiiii i ———— 20
2.3.4 Stormwater Standard Detail Drawings .......ccccceeeeeiiciiiiiiee e cecciiieeee e eesieeeee e 20
2.3.5 Approval of Alternative Materials and Methods .........ccccccoeiviiiiiiiiii e, 20
2.3.6 Special Design APPlCAtioNS .......ceeeiiiiiiiiiiiiiiie e 20
2.4 PUBLIC STORMWATER SYSTEM EXPANSION ....cuuiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiieee e eesiieeee e e e s ssiiaeeeeee s e s e 20
2.5 SOURCE CONTROLS .....ciiiiitteeeeeeeeiieet e e s e ettt e e e e e et e e e e e s s sanabbeeeeeesssnnsnnaeeeessesannnnne sans 20
2.5.1 General REQUIrEMENTS....ccciiiii e aaeees 20
2.5.2 Source Control REQUIrEMENTS......ccceiiiiiiiiiiieee e 22
2.6 STORMWATER MANAGEMENT FACILITY DESIGN ...ccciiiiiiiiiiiiieeee e eeriiieeeee e e e siiieeeeee e e e e 42
2.6.1 Stormwater Management Performance Standards..........ccccccceeeiiieniieiiienieeieeeeennn, 42
2.6.2 Stormwater Management Facility Sizing Methods ..........cooeeieiiiiiiiiiiiiiic, 44
2.6.3 General Design ReqUIre€mMENTS ...ccceeeeiiiei e 49
2.6.4 General Facility Design ReqUIrEmMENtS ........uueeeeieiiiiiiiiiieeee s eeeciireee e e e eesrivaeeeea e 49
2.6.5 Stormwater Facility Design Requirements.........cooeeeieeiieeiiceiiiceeeeeeeees 57
2.7 STORMWATER DRAINAGE SYSTEM DESIGN ....oooiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiieee e esrreee e e e 80
2.7.1 General CONAITIONS ....ceiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiee ettt e e e e e e e e s s siareeeeeeesesaanes 80
2.7.2 Stormwater Drainage System Requirements......cccoeeveiiiiiiiiie e 80

Oak Lodge Water Services Design and Construction Standards
Section 2—Stormwater and Erosion Control Oct. 10, 2024 (Previous Revision: February 18, 2021)




2.7.3 Stormwater Drainage System Design Methods .........coooeeiieiiieiiiciiiiiiiiiiiniinns 82

2.8 CONSTRUCTION REQUIREMENTS ....utiiiiieiiiiiiiiiieee e e e ssiiiiteeee e s sssiitnneeeeessssiinaaeeeeesssnnsnnnnnens 82
2.8.1 GENEIal PrOVISIONS ..cccueiitieiiiieeisiitee ettt ettt e e st e e e s rbte e e s sbba e e e snaaeees 83
2.8.2 Erosion Prevention and Source Control Requirements.........occcvveeeeeeeeiiiinneeeeeenn. 84
2.8.3 Establishing Protective Vegetative Cover Upon Completion of Final Grading ...... 86
2.8.4 Plans REQUITE .......coiiiiiiiiiii ettt 87
2.8.5 Supplemental PIans ... 87
2.8.6 Best Management PraCtiCes ..ouuu it e e e e e e 90
2.8.7 INSPECLION REQUINEMENTS. .civiiiiiiiiee i e eeieieititcies e e e e e ee et rese e e e e e e e eeaetbeae s e e e eeeaenennes 96
2.9 OPERATION AND MAINTENANCE ....oettitttieieeiiiete e ettt e e e e e e e e ee e e e s s eneeees 98
2.9.1 General REQUIrEMENTES..ccciiiiiieiieccccee et 98
2.9.2 Operations and Maintenance Plans Required ...........ccoooeeieeiieeicecicccce, 98
2.9.3 Privately Owned and Maintained FacilitieS........ccecuvivieeiiiiiniiiiieieee e, 100
2.9.4 Publicly Owned and Maintained Facilities ..........cooeeeeeeeeeieecccecccs 102
Appendix A PERMITTING AND SUBMITTAL REQUIREMENTS......uuvriiiiieeiieiiiiieeee e 103
Review and Permitting REQUIrEMENTS ... ...ttt e e e e e e e e 103
Infiltration Testing REQUITEMENTS......ciiiiiiiiiiiiiiee e e e e e e 127
Appendix B STORMWATER FACILITY GUIDANCE ...ttt e e 139
Planting Guide for Vegetated Stormwater Facilities ........cccccvvvvrrrrrrrrrnnrereeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeen. 139
Stormwater Facility Operations and Maintenance Guidance.............ccccceeeeeeeieeeeeeeennn, 155
Appendix C STORMWATER TYPICAL DRAWINGS AND STANDARD DETAILS.......ccccoevveeerninenn. 167
Appendix D FACILITY SIZING METHODOLOGY AND RESOURCES ........cueeeeiiiiiiiiiiieeeeeeniiieeennn 168
Santa Barbara Urban Hydrograph Method............eeeeevveivieiiiiiiiiiiiiiiieieee, 168
SOIS INFOIMALION .. e e e e e e e s bbaaeeaeeeeas 169
[ Yo [ = 1V [ ol PP 177
@7V AN oY o] [NV 1Y =Y o PP 181
Appendix E OAK LODGE SIMPLIFIED METHOD ...cccoiiiiiiiiiieeee ettt ee e siieeeeee e 187

Oak Lodge Water Services Design and Construction Standards
Section 2—Stormwater and Erosion Control Oct. 10, 2024 (Previous Revision: February 18, 2021)




2.1 DEFINITIONS

2.1.1 Words and Terms

The Oak Lodge Water Services (OLWS) Standards contain words and terms that apply to and are
consistent across the Standards document. Unless the context specifically indicates otherwise,
the following words and terms, as used in these Standards, shall have the meanings hereinafter
designated:

Applicant. See Section 1.0.9 and the OLWS Rules.

Approved Point of Discharge. See Section 1.0.9.

Best Management Practice (BMP). See Section 1.0.9 and the OLWS Rules.
Board. See Section 1.0.9.

BMP Sizing Tool. See Section 1.0.9.

Board. See Section 1.0.9 and the OLWS Rules.

Bioswale. See Section 1.0.9.

Buffer. See Section 1.0.9.

Building Drain. See Section 1.0.9.

Building Sewer. See Section 1.0.9.

Business Customer. See Section 1.0.9.

Contractor. See Section 1.0.9.

Conveyance System. See Section 1.0.9.

County. See Section 1.0.9.

Customer. See OLWS Rules.

Customer Charge. See Section 1.0.9.

Debris. See Section 1.0.9.

Design Storm. See Section 1.0.9.

Detention. See Section 1.0.9.

Developer’s Engineer’s Inspector or Engineer’s Inspector. See Section 1.0.9.
Development. See Section 1.0.9.and the OLWS Rules.

Discharge. See Section 1.0.9.

District. Oak Lodge Water Services Authority

District Employee or District Personnel. See Section 1.0.9 and OLWS Rules.

Disturbed Area or Disturbance. See Section 1.0.9.

Oak Lodge Water Services Design and Construction Standards
Section 2—Stormwater and Erosion Control Oct. 10, 2024 (Previous Revision: February 18, 2021)

2-1



Drainageway. See Section 1.0.9.

Dwelling Unit. See Section 1.0.9.

Drywell. See Section 1.0.9.

Easement. See Section 1.0.9.

Ecology. The Washington State Department of Ecology.
Emergency. See Section 1.0.9.

Engineer. See Section 1.0.9.

Enhancement. See Section 1.0.9.

Fill. See Section 1.0.9.

GIS Geographic Information System. See Section 1.0.9.
Groundwater. See Section 1.0.9.

Green Infrastructure. See Section 1.0.9.

Hazardous Materials. See Section 1.0.9.

Hearings Officer. See Section 1.0.9.

Highly Erodible. See Section 1.0.9.

Impervious Surface. That surface area, which either prevents, or retards the entry of water into
the soil mantle and/or causes water to run off the surface in greater quantities or at an
increased rate. Impervious surfaces may include, but are not limited to, rooftops, concrete or
asphalt paving, walkways, patios, driveways, parking lots, oiled macadam, gravel, or other
surfaces which similarly resist infiltration or absorption of moisture. For purposes of these
Standards, standing water areas of SMFs and wetlands shall be considered as impervious
surfaces. Permeable pavement SMFs, such as permeable pavement designed to mimic the
natural hydrology of the site, are considered impervious surfaces for the purpose of
determining project impervious surface area thresholds but may be used as a SMF to mitigate
the stormwater from the impervious surface area.

Industrial Waste. See Section 1.0.9.
Infiltration System. See Section 1.0.9.
In-Lieu Fee. See Section 1.0.9.

In-Line Detention. See Section 1.0.9.
Inspector. See Section 1.0.9.
Installer. See Section 1.0.9.

Intermittent Stream. See Clackamas County Definition, or definition of “stream” in Section
1.0.9.

Landscape Architect. See Section 1.0.9.

Oak Lodge Water Services Design and Construction Standards
Section 2—Stormwater and Erosion Control Oct. 10, 2024 (Previous Revision: February 18, 2021)

2-2



Low Impact Development. See Section 1.0.9.
Metro. See Section 1.0.9.
Mitigation. See Section 1.0.9.

Municipal Separate Storm Sewer System (MS4). A storm drainage system(s) (including roads
with drainage systems, municipal streets, catch basins, curbs, gutters, ditches, manmade
channels, or storm drains) as defined in 40 Code of Federal Regulations (CFR) 122.26(b)(8).

Native Vegetation. See Section 1.0.9.

National Pollutant Discharge Elimination System (NPDES) Permit. See Section 1.0.9.
Non-Single-Family Customer (or User). See Section 1.0.9.
OLWS Rules. See Section 1.0.9.

Owner. See Section 1.0.9.

Parcel. See Section 1.0.9.

Perennial Stream. See Section 1.0.9.

Permit. See Section 1.0.9.

Permittee. See Section 1.0.9.

Person. See Section 1.0.9.

Pervious Pavement. See Section 1.0.9.

Plans. See Section 1.0.9.

Pollutant. See Section 1.0.9.

Post-Developed Conditions. See Section 1.0.9.
Practicable. See Section 1.0.9.

Pre-Developed. See Section 1.0.9.

Pretreatment Device or Facility. See Section 1.0.9.
Pretreatment or Treatment. See Section 1.0.9.

Private Stormwater. Flows that include stormwater runoff from private properties (i.e., homes,
driveways, roads), that may include pipes and other natural drainageways, creeks, streams.

Private Stormwater System. See Section 1.0.9.

Private Storm System. See Section 1.0.9.

Professional Engineer (PE). See Section 1.0.9.

Property. See Section 1.0.9.

Proprietary Stormwater Treatment Device. See Section 1.0.9.

Public Right-of-Way (ROW). See Section 1.0.9.

Oak Lodge Water Services Design and Construction Standards
Section 2—Stormwater and Erosion Control Oct. 10, 2024 (Previous Revision: February 18, 2021)

2-3



Public Stormwater. See Section 1.0.9.

Public Stormwater Easement. Benefitting the public, but managed by Clackamas County unless
the easement specifically states “Oak Lodge Sanitary District, or Oak Lodge Water Services
District, or Oak Lodge Water Services.”

Public Stormwater Mainline. See Section 1.0.9.
Public Stormwater System. See Section 1.0.9.
Redevelopment. See Section 1.0.9.

Replaced Impervious Surface. See Section 1.0.9.
Retention. See Section 1.0.9.

Riparian. See Section 1.0.9.

Seasonal High Groundwater. See Section 1.0.9.
Sensitive Areas. See Section 1.0.9.

Service Connection. See Section 1.0.9.

Sewer. See Section 1.0.9.

Soil. See Section 1.0.9.

Standard Methods. See Section 1.0.9.

Stop Work Order. See Section 1.0.9.

Source Control. See Section 1.0.9.

Storm Drainage. See Section 1.0.9 Storm Sewer System.
Storm Sewer. See Section 1.0.9 Storm Sewer System.
Stormwater. See Section 1.0.9.

Stormwater Mainline. See Section 1.0.9.
Stormwater Management. See Section 1.0.9.
Stormwater Management Facility (SMF). See Section 1.0.9.
Stormwater Management Plan. See Section 1.0.9.
Stream. See Section 1.0.9.

Structure. A building or other major improvement that is built, constructed, or installed, not
including minor improvements—such as fences, utility poles, flagpoles, or irrigation system
components—that are not customarily regulated through zoning codes.

Top-of-bank. See Section 1.0.9.
Undeveloped Land. See Section 1.0.9.

User. See Section 1.0.9.

Oak Lodge Water Services Design and Construction Standards
Section 2—Stormwater and Erosion Control Oct. 10, 2024 (Previous Revision: February 18, 2021)

2-4



User Non-Single-family. See Section 1.0.9.
Utility Facilities. See Section 1.0.9.
Variance. See Section 1.0.9.

WES. See Section 1.0.9.

Vegetated Corridor. See Section 1.0.9.
Waters of the State. See Section 1.0.9.
Wet Weather. See Section 1.0.9.
Wetland. See Section 1.0.9.

Work Area. See Section 1.0.9.

2.1.2 Abbreviations
See Section 1.0.9.

2.2 GENERAL INFORMATION

The stormwater standards in this document describe requirements and methods for minimizing
the hydrologic and water quality impacts of development in areas within OLWS’s MS4 area.
Implementing these standards will help protect water resources which, in turn, will benefit
human health, fish and wildlife habitat, recreational resources, and drinking water.

As land is developed, creation of new impervious surfaces and loss of vegetation increases
stormwater runoff during rainfall events, altering the natural hydrologic cycle. Without
stormwater management, the changes in runoff and/or discharge patterns lead to reduced
groundwater recharge and hydromodification of stream channels. The effects of
hydromodification include increased erosion of streambanks, increased incision and/or
aggradation of stream channels, reduction of high value riparian habitat, impacts to aquatic
organisms, and degradation of water quality.

Runoff flowing from roadways, parking areas, rooftops, and other impervious surfaces also
collects pollutants that are transported to streames, rivers, and groundwater. Stormwater
pollutants are generally separated into the following categories: suspended solids (sediment),
oxygen-demanding pollutants, bacteria, organic carbon, hydrocarbons, metals (cadmium,
copper, lead, mercury, and zinc), nutrients (nitrogen and phosphorous), and pesticides/
herbicides.

This section describes the authority, purpose, applicability, and administrative review
requirements of these Standards.

2.2.1 Relationship to OLWS Rules and Regulations

The following standards, procedures and rules are adopted by reference in OLWS Section 10 of
the Oak Lodge Rules and Regulations and have the full force and effect of the OLWS Rules and
Regulations.

Oak Lodge Water Services Design and Construction Standards
Section 2—Stormwater and Erosion Control Oct. 10, 2024 (Previous Revision: February 18, 2021)

2-5



2.2.2 Ownership of Stormwater System

The public stormwater sewer system is located on or within public and private property.
Generally, Clackamas County owns and maintains the stormwater system and associated
facilities in the public right-of-way (ROW) or public easements not specifically dedicated to
OLWS. Through intergovernmental Memorandum(s) of Understanding, OLWS assists in
maintaining some infrastructure in the public rights-of-way through various agreements but is
not responsible for the drainage function of that system (e.g., flooding), nor does it maintain
information about the location, size, condition, or capacity of that system.

Property owners generally own and maintain stormwater system and associated facilities on
private property. In the case of a development, the adjacent property owner may maintain a
SMF in the public right-of-way fronting their property, regardless of the authority, ownership or
responsibility of the water entering those privately-owned facilities.

2.2.3 OLWS Authority: Storm/Surface Water System

Oak Lodge’s authority is derived from its compliance responsibilities with OLWS’s MS4 permit.
Compliance with this permit includes water quality monitoring, associated reporting, assuring
new development and construction adheres to stormwater standards for volume, rate and
quality and erosion prevention / sediment control and to retrofit existing developed areas to
improve water quality. Under this permit, OLWS is not responsible for flood control or flood
management or the function of the public or private stormwater system. OLWS is a co-
permittee with Clackamas County in this MS4 Permit with authority allocated to each separate
jurisdiction. At times, stormwater system deficiencies are identified from a development
application analysis or other observations. Corrections or upgrades (exactions) to any
deficiencies are determined (required) by Clackamas County as the owner of the system.

Clackamas County is responsible for stormwater compliance within the public rights-of-way and
public stormwater easements not dedicated to Oak Lodge. Clackamas County is the regulator of
the Goal 5 / Title Il natural resources which comprise elements of OLWS’s stormwater system.
Clackamas County, as the public stormwater system owner, determines if a downstream
analysis is required for capacity or condition analysis or other system function.

Oak Lodge’s responsibility is for stormwater treatment-related alterations to private property
and any public easements dedicated to Oak lodge.

2.2.4 Authority and Purpose

OLWS, located in Clackamas County, Oregon, is an intergovernmental entity formed pursuant
to Oregon Revised Statutes Chapter 190 for the purpose of providing stormwater and surface
water management. It is further declared to be the policy of OLWS to provide and offer
stormwater and surface water management services for such areas adjacent to OLWS as may,
in the judgment of OLWS, be feasibly served upon such terms, conditions, and rates as OLWS
shall determine, and as provided in other applicable federal and state laws.

Oak Lodge Water Services Design and Construction Standards
Section 2—Stormwater and Erosion Control Oct. 10, 2024 (Previous Revision: February 18, 2021)

2-6



OLWS, through its Director or other authorized designee or representative, shall have the
authority to administer all the requirements, regulations, and provisions set forth in these
Standards.

OLWS may promulgate new or amended standards in accordance with the process outlined in
the OLWS Rules.

Conformance with these standards shall not be a substitute for, or eliminate the necessity of,
conforming with any and all federal, state, and local laws, ordinances, rules and regulations
which are now, or may in the future, be in effect. Other applicable regulations may include the
hazardous materials storage requirements of Articles 79 and 80 of the Oregon State Fire Code;
the Spill Prevention, Countermeasure, and Containment Regulations of §40.112 of the Code of
Federal Regulations (CFR) administered by the Environmental Protection Agency (EPA); the
Resource Conservation and Recovery Act; or Willamette Basin Total Maximum Daily Load
(TMDL) Programs regulated by the DEQ.

Any provisions or limitations of these standards are suspended and supplemented by any
applicable federal, state, or local requirements existing or adopted subsequent hereto which
are more stringent than the provisions and limitations contained herein. In the event of a
conflict, the most stringent local, state, or federal regulations generally apply.

The purpose of these Standards is to provide a consistent policy under which certain physical
aspects of stormwater system design will be implemented. Many of the elements contained in
this document are public works oriented and are related to public improvements; however, it is
intended these Standards apply generally to private work designated herein. Generally, public
work is to be regulated by CC DTD.

2.2.5 Preliminary Statements of Feasibility: Stormwater

OLWS signs preliminary statements of feasibility for Stormwater management as the
Stormwater management authority subject to the following conditions:

e The property owner is responsible for substantiating Stormwater compliance and
performance. This is demonstrated through a preliminary stormwater report and plan
submitted for the preliminary statement of feasibility.

e OLWS does not own the stormwater system and cannot authorize connections to that
system. The owner of the system reconciles existing capacity to proposed impacts with
Clackamas County DTD and may include downstream analysis.

e OLWS's authority is derived from its compliance responsibilities with OLWS’s MS4
permit. Compliance with this permit includes water quality monitoring, associated
reporting, assuring new development and construction adheres to stormwater
standards for volume, rate and quality and erosion prevention / sediment control and to
retrofit existing developed areas to improve water quality, perform watershed
assessment. Under this permit, OLWS is not responsible for flood control or flood
management or the function of the public or private stormwater system.

e OLWS s a co-permittee with Clackamas County in this MS4 Permit with authority
allocated to each separate jurisdiction. At times, stormwater system deficiencies are
identified from a development application analysis or other observations. Corrections

Oak Lodge Water Services Design and Construction Standards
Section 2—Stormwater and Erosion Control Oct. 10, 2024 (Previous Revision: February 18, 2021)

2-7



(exactions) to any deficiencies are determined (required) by Clackamas County as the
owner of the system. may require use of public easements which OLWS cannot
determine access rights.

Other conditions may apply depending on the proposal.

2.2.6 Objectives

The objectives of the Stormwater Standards are as follows:

Meet federal and state National Pollutant Discharge Elimination System (NPDES)
Municipal Separate Storm Sewer System (MS4) permitting requirements.

Minimize the discharge of pollutants and provide water quality treatment of stormwater
runoff to preserve the beneficial uses of drainageways, lakes, ponds, wetlands, and
other Sensitive Areas.

Minimize stormwater runoff volumes and maximize groundwater recharge through the
process of infiltration of runoff into vegetated stormwater facilities.

Maintain the pre-development stormwater runoff characteristics to minimize effects on
the drainageways, such as erosion and degradation, generally associated with
urbanization.

Protect the safety of persons and property by safely conveying all stormwater runoff
from site development and preventing the uncontrolled or irresponsible discharge of
stormwater onto adjoining public or private property.

Construct SMFs which are safe, effective, and economical to maintain and minimize
future replacement costs.

Provide for orderly development by preserving the drainageways and natural
stormwater drainage systems shaped by the existing topography and creating man-
made stormwater drainage systems with adequate capacity for future development
upstream.

Provide guidance to designers and engineers in meeting the requirements of
stormwater regulations when developing land and constructing infrastructure within
OLWS.

Protect soil, groundwater, and surface water by capturing pollutants and reducing
impacts to the environment.

Redirect flows to the sanitary sewer from areas with the potential for relatively
consistent wastewater discharges and manage areas that have potential for pollutant
releases or spills with containment or disposal.

Prioritize structural controls over operational procedures to provide permanent and
reliable source control.

Minimize the movement of soil during construction and the associated impacts to water
quality through proper erosion prevention and sediment control practices.

Oak Lodge Water Services Design and Construction Standards
Section 2—Stormwater and Erosion Control Oct. 10, 2024 (Previous Revision: February 18, 2021)

2-8



2.2.7 Applicability

These Standards shall govern design, construction, and upgrading of all privately financed
Stormwater Systems in OLWS and applicable work within OLWS, unless it is shown that OLWS's
authority to impose these standards are superseded by another local jurisdiction.

Some facilities may be required to obtain a NPDES Industrial Stormwater General Permit 1200-Z
(1200-Z Permit) issued by DEQ before discharging to the Public Stormwater System or to
Waters of the State. The 1200-Z Permit includes discharge benchmarks for facilities with
industrial activities that are exposed to rainfall and stormwater runoff. The state also has water
quality standards listed in Oregon Administrative Rules (OAR) 340 Division 041 for discharges to
surface waters.

Applicants may be required to obtain an Industrial Wastewater Discharge Permit from the local
wastewater service provider for discharges to the sanitary sewer system. Facilities subject to
these requirements are generally commercial or industrial. Typical discharges include process
wastewater, cooling water, or other discharges generated by some of the sources that are
required to drain to a sanitary sewer system.

The requirements presented in these Standards do not exclude or replace the requirements of
other applicable codes or regulations, such as the Willamette TMDL Program, the Industrial
NPDES Permitting Program, or any other applicable federal or state regulations or permit
requirements.

All development within Federal Emergency Management Agency (FEMA) regulated streams and
floodplain overlay zones may be required to meet the FEMA floodplain requirements and the
requirements of the local planning and building authority.

If it is determined by OLWS that stormwater management or stormwater drainage system
facilities, in addition to the onsite facilities required by these standards, are necessary to
manage and protect natural resources, Public Stormwater Systems, and/or private property
effectively, OLWS may require additional facilities or modifications at the sole discretion of
OLWS.

[This Space Intentionally Left Blank]

Table 1 lists the stormwater minimum requirements and the applicable design standards within
these Standards.

Table 1. Stormwater Minimum Requirements

STORMWATER MANAGEMENT
Threshold Minimum Requirements
Development or redevelopment proposing less Verify impervious areas through submission of a site plan
than 1,000 square feet (sf) of impervious surface that shows the exact square footage of all new or replaced

areas, including the cumulative impervious surface |impervious surfaces. No stormwater permit likely
area that was developed/redeveloped over the last 3 |required.
years.

Development or redevelopment proposing a Stormwater Permit Required using the Simplified Method.
minimum of 1,000 square feet up to a maximum of |(See Appendix E)

Oak Lodge Water Services Design and Construction Standards
Section 2—Stormwater and Erosion Control Oct. 10, 2024 (Previous Revision: February 18, 2021)

2-9



STORMWATER MANAGEMENT

Threshold

Minimum Requirements

10,000 square feet of new or re-constructed
impervious surface (including any potential right-of-
way improvements); or Oak Lodge may, at its
discretion, require complex sites proposing less than
10,000 square feet to design to the engineered
method described in row #3.

Flow Control and Water Quality Treatment Required.
Facility Sizing: Tiered size with no engineering
requirement; use the OLWS simplified method.
Design is per OLWS detail drawing(s).

Submit the following:

e Site plan

e Detail drawing(s)

e Infiltration rate (simplified form)
e  Facility sizing calculations

e Maintenance agreement

Development or redevelopment proposing greater
than 10,000 square feet of impervious surface areas,
including the cumulative impervious surface area
that was developed/ redeveloped over the last

3 years.

Or

Any (0.1 square feet or greater) of impervious
surface is proposed as new or replaced in a
designated natural resource area or associated
buffer discharging stormwater runoff to a natural or
manmade stormwater drainage system or infiltration
facility.

A stormwater permit is required. Water quality treatment,
flow control, and detention and retention are required.

At a minimum, submit a Preliminary Site Plan, engineered
storm report and design drawings.

Design and construct SMF(s) to meet the flow control, and
water quality performance standards as calculated by the
BMP sizing tool or engineered method as described in
Section 2.6.2.

Execute and record an Operations and Maintenance
(O&M) Plan for stormwater facilities on private property
or those required to be in the public ROW for any
associated improvements.

Development or redevelopment that is categorized
as high risk for increased stormwater pollutant
loading

Design and implement applicable source controls (see
Section 2.5).

EROSION CONTROL

Threshold

Minimum Requirements

Development or redevelopment proposing less than
one acre of disturbance regardless of parcel size in
the following categories:

(1) 500 square feet or greater of ground
disturbance is proposed.

(2) 250 square feet or greater of ground
disturbance is proposed in a designated
natural resource area or associated buffer

a. Examples include construction,
reconstruction, demolition, tree
removal, site preparation,

An erosion control small lot permit is required. Develop
Erosion Prevention and Sediment Control (EPSC) Plans and
obtain EPSC Permit for a “small lot”.

Oak Lodge Water Services Design and Construction Standards

Section 2—Stormwater and Erosion Control

Oct. 10, 2024 (Previous Revision: February 18, 2021)

2-10



EROSION CONTROL

Threshold Minimum Requirements

mitigation activities, brush
removal, grading and/or clearing.
(3) Generally, utility trenching is exempt unless

the trench is in a designated natural
resource or associated buffer, constitutes a
potential hazard or will be open for more
than 72 hours or is otherwise subject to
erosion potential.

An erosion control 1200CN permit is required for A 1200CN Permit is required. The owner shall supply all

ground disturbing proposals of one acre to five acres reqL.Jired materials. Develop Erosion Preyention and .
of disturbance or if the project involves phases that Sediment Control (EPSC) Plans and obtain EPSC Permit

collectively constitute more than one acre of
disturbance.

An erosion control 1200C permit is required for Obtain a 1200C permit from DEQ and provide the issued

ground disturbing proposals of five acres and greater | Permit to Oak Lodge.
of disturbance or if the project involves phases that
collectively constitute more than one acre of
disturbance.

2.2.7.01 Stormwater Management Requirements

All new Development and Redevelopment activities that result in 10,000-sf or greater of
new or replaced impervious surface area, cumulative over the last 3 years, are subject to
the requirements of these Standards for all newly proposed and replaced impervious
surface areas within the overall project boundary. Examples of this include residential
development and construction such as subdivisions or partitions including all new public
and/or private roadways, sidewalks, curbs, driveways, and roof areas; non-residential
development including structure roof area, parking and vehicle maneuvering area,
walkways, and other surfaces.

Stormwater runoff from all the Developed and Redeveloped impervious surface areas
shall be treated in accordance with these Standards.

e Water quality facilities shall be designed to capture and treat the first 1 inch of
stormwater runoff from a 24-hour storm event. The water quality facility shall
use either an approved vegetated SMF or an approved Proprietary Stormwater
Treatment Device if infiltration is not possible.

e All existing site development that desires to change the existing point of
discharge and the stormwater runoff from impervious areas exceeds the 10,000-
sf impervious threshold shall comply with these Standards, and for design
criteria purposes the impervious area will be considered as redevelopment.

Oak Lodge Water Services Design and Construction Standards
Section 2—Stormwater and Erosion Control Oct. 10, 2024 (Previous Revision: February 18, 2021)

2-11



e All Development and Redevelopment activities that result in the creation of
private stormwater facilities must execute and record an Operations and
Maintenance Plan (with the exceptions of Table 1).

e All private stormwater drains outside the building envelope shall be designed
using these standards, along with the Oregon Structural Code, Oregon Plumbing
Specialty Code (OPSC), and/or other applicable codes as appropriate.

e The stormwater management requirements are in addition to the applicable
source control and erosion control requirements.

Exemptions

Projects in the following categories are exempt from the stormwater minimum
requirements:

A. Residential structures being re-built following fire damage, flooding, earthquake,
or other natural disasters, as long as the structure is re-built at the same scale
and discharging to the same disposal point. Expansions to the original footprint,
such as an addition or alteration to the original structure, may trigger
stormwater management requirements for the expanded impervious area
(reference Table 1).

B. Interior remodeling projects and tenant improvements.
C. Stream enhancement or restoration projects as approved by OLWS.

D. Farming practices as defined by Oregon Revised Statutes (ORS) 30.930 and farm
use as defined in ORS 214.200 and including farm roads, including farm
structures and farm access roads outside the Urban Growth Boundary where
stormwater is managed through dispersion with no direct connection to the
public drainage system. Buildings associated with farm practices and farm access
roads are subject to the requirements of these standards if there is a direct
discharge to a Stormwater Drainage System. Residential homes proposed to be
built on farmland are not exempt from these Standards.

E. Forest practices as defined by ORS 527.610.

F. Modular/temporary structures and/or surfaces that will be removed at the
completion of the project and do not have a direct connection to the
Stormwater Drainage System.

G. Actions by a public utility or any other government agency to remove or alleviate
an emergency condition.

H. Underground utility projects that replace the ground surface with in-kind
material or materials with similar runoff characteristics.

I. Non-pollution generating, linear projects (e.g., pedestrian and bicycle pathways,
sidewalks, trails, and ramps not included in a larger project) that disperse

Oak Lodge Water Services Design and Construction Standards
Section 2—Stormwater and Erosion Control Oct. 10, 2024 (Previous Revision: February 18, 2021)

2-12



stormwater runoff into vegetated areas, as long as the pathways do not include
inlets connected to the Stormwater Drainage System.

J.  Stormwater Drainage Systems shall be designed to meet the requirements of
Section 2.5, except when the Development/Redevelopment is not above the
impervious thresholds listed in this section, and the stormwater drainage system
is located entirely on a privately-owned parcel, is privately maintained, and
receives no stormwater from outside the parcel’s property limits. Those systems
exempted from the stormwater drainage system requirements will remain
subject to the requirements of the OPSC and shall be reviewed by the building
official.

K. Unfeasible treatment areas including, but not limited to the following
(subsection a-f). Rather than being completely exempted as the examples in A-K
above, the following shall add the relevant impervious area in terms of square
feet to the proposed treatment facility(ies) with a multiplier of “2”1. The below
examples shall be used to calculate the entire project’s impervious square feet of
impervious for standard compliance as stated in Table 1 and other areas of the is
document. If this exchange is used, the application shall explicitly describe this,
enumerate the area(s), and show the area(s) on submitted plans.

a. impervious areas downstream from the treatment facility that are
demonstrated to be impossible to capture and treat.

b. areas within the public right-of-way which demonstrate a deficiency in area
or dimension to install a SMF.

c. driveway extensions into the public ROW and including road approaches and
aprons

d. elevation/ topography that cannot be altered to convey stormwater to a
facility

e. generally, ROW improvements such as half-street improvements can use the
treated area exchange as described above.

f. Other proposals may be approved at the sole discretion of the OLWS
Engineer with all variance criteria addressed.

2.2.7.02 Source Control Requirements

Source control requirements apply to all developments and redevelopments with high-
risk characteristics during new development, redevelopment, tenant improvements, or
when existing sites proposing new offsite discharges.

Source controls shall be applied to the areas of the site with high-risk characteristics as
well as any areas hydraulically connected to a high-risk area. With redevelopment

! For example, if the exchange area is 1,000 sf the facility shall be sized to accommodate an additional 2,000 sf

Oak Lodge Water Services Design and Construction Standards
Section 2—Stormwater and Erosion Control Oct. 10, 2024 (Previous Revision: February 18, 2021)

2-13



projects, only areas that are being disturbed with the redevelopment are required to
make structural source control changes.

Projects with the following site uses/characteristics are considered to be high-risk and are
subject to source control requirements in Section 2.5:

A. Fuel Dispensing Facilities and Surrounding Traffic Areas
Above-Ground Storage of Liquid Materials

Recycling and Solid Waste Storage Areas

Exterior Storage of Bulk Materials

Material Transfer Areas/Loading Docks

Equipment and/or Vehicle Washing Facilities

Equipment and/or Vehicle Repair Facilities

I o6 m m o 0O @

Land with Suspected or Known Contamination
I. Covered Vehicle Parking Areas for Commercial or Industrial Uses
J. Industrial and Commercial High Traffic Areas

Applicants are required to address all high-risk site characteristics listed above. For
example, if a development includes both a fuel dispensing area and a vehicle washing
facility, the source controls in both those sections will apply.

The source control requirements are in addition to the applicable stormwater
management and erosion control requirements. Developments that have existing or
proposed offsite SMFs are not exempt from the source control requirements.

2.2.7.03 Erosion Prevention and Sediment Control Requirements

All development as described in Table 1 shall be subject to the Erosion Prevention and
Sediment Control (EPSC) requirements of Section 2.8.2. The Permittee shall be required
to obtain an EPSC Permit, unless otherwise excluded by OLWS.

The erosion control requirements are in addition to the applicable stormwater
management and source control requirements.

2.2.8 Variance

Alternative materials and methods will only be accepted if the Applicant can demonstrate that
the existing standards are not appropriate for a given site and the proposed alternative
provides the same or greater level of performance as defined in these standards. Alternate
materials or methods not explicitly approved herein will be considered for approval through the
variance process outlined below.

2.2.8.01 Variance Request

A variance request to the Standards shall be submitted in writing to OLWS. The written

Oak Lodge Water Services Design and Construction Standards
Section 2—Stormwater and Erosion Control Oct. 10, 2024 (Previous Revision: February 18, 2021)

2-14



request for a variance should be submitted to OLWS prior to land use approval if a land
use action is required. Land use conditions of approval are commonly written so there is
little, if any, flexibility after land use approval is issued. If land use approval has already
been issued or is not required, then the variance request should be submitted in writing
along with the first plan review submittal.

Once OLWS approves the plans, a variance request will only be accepted at the discretion
of OLWS, and if the request is the only feasible solution without regards to delays or cost.
Only minor variance requests will be considered during the construction phase of the
project to address a specific design or construction problem. It is the responsibility of the
Applicant to obtain all approvals from any local, county, state or federal authority having
any jurisdiction or permitting of the activities before proceeding with an approved
variance.

This written request shall include the following:
A. The desired variances(s);
B. The reason(s) for the request(s);

C. A quantitative comparison between the specification(s) and standard(s) and the
variance(s) for performance in terms of water quality treatment, detention and
retention and infiltration, and include an analysis of comparative function,
maintainability, safety, and any other applicable criteria as determined
reasonable by OLWS;

D. References to regionally and/or nationally accepted standards, records of
successful use by other agencies or other supportive information.

2.2.8.02 Criteria for Variance

OLWS may grant a variance when the request does not compromise the following: public
safety, environmental protection, maintenance/repair/replacement, and when any one
of the following conditions are met:

A. Topography or other geographic conditions impose an environmental or safety
concern and the request is considered an equivalent alternative, which can
accomplish the intent and criteria that is provided in these standards.

B. A minor change to the standard is required to address a specific design or
construction problem which, if not enacted, will result in an unreasonable or
disproportionate burden or obstacle to development. The financial viability of
meeting the requirements of these design standards is not in itself a justification
for a design exception.

C. The variance request is in the public interest and requirements for safety,
function, appearance, and maintainability are based upon sound engineering
and functionality of the proposed system is a feasible alternative.

All requests will be evaluated on a case-by-case basis, and approval of alternative
materials and methods for one development proposal will not imply an approval under

Oak Lodge Water Services Design and Construction Standards
Section 2—Stormwater and Erosion Control Oct. 10, 2024 (Previous Revision: February 18, 2021)

2-15



similar circumstances in another proposal. Approval of a variance, or denial of a site-
specific request shall not constitute a precedent for use at other locations with potentially
similar circumstances.

2.2.8.03 Review Process

The request for variance shall be reviewed by OLWS. OLWS shall make one of the
following decisions:

A. Approve as proposed, or
B. Approve with changes, or
C. Deny with an explanation.

It is the responsibility of the Applicant to obtain all approvals from any local, county, state
or federal authority having any jurisdiction or permitting of the activities before
proceeding with an approved variance.

2.2.8.04 Appealing Variance Request Decision

The Applicant may make a written request to OLWS to appeal the variance request
decision as outlined in the appeals process contained in Section 12 of OLWS Rules and
Regulations. The request must accompany a complete set of application materials.

2.3 GENERAL STORMWATER STANDARDS

This section of the Stormwater Standards presents an overview of the general policies,
methods, and processes associated with the Stormwater Standards as a whole.

2.3.1 General Policy

Public improvements are conditioned through the development review and land use approval
process, described, and administered under the local planning department administering the
zoning and development ordinance, or by federal, state, or other local government regulation.
These Stormwater Standards cannot provide for all situations and are intended to assist, but
not to substitute for competent work by design professionals. It is expected that the design
professionals will bring to each project the best of skills from their respective disciplines.

These Stormwater Standards are not intended to limit unreasonably any innovative or creative
effort that could result in better quality, cost savings, or both.

General stormwater requirements for all projects and developments are as follows:

A. OLWS does not allow the diversion of stormwater runoff from one watershed to
another watershed.

B. All public stormwater drainage systems shall be gravity systems without the use of
pumps or other mechanical means to convey or transport stormwater.

C. The Approved Point of Discharge for all stormwater may be a piped system or open
channel as approved by OLWS in conjunction with CC DTD. All outfalls to an existing or

Oak Lodge Water Services Design and Construction Standards
Section 2—Stormwater and Erosion Control Oct. 10, 2024 (Previous Revision: February 18, 2021)

2-16



D.

proposed stormwater facility, stormwater system, drainageway, or surface water
system shall be approved by OLWS.

The Approved Point of Discharge for surface water, stormwater and/or groundwater
shall not be a sanitary sewerage system, except as provided in Section 2.5.

No project shall directly or indirectly discharge, to the public stormwater system, any
guantity of stormwater, pollutant, substance, or wash water that will violate the
Discharger’s permit (if one is issued), OLWS’s NPDES MS4 permit, or other
environmental laws or regulations.

2.3.2 Development Policy

Requirements for development of a property or a tract of land are as follows:

A.

Design of surface water and stormwater systems must include provisions to control
runoff from impervious and pervious areas within and upstream of the development
without exceeding capacities of available facilities and downstream drainageways.

Development proposals shall maintain the natural drainage pathways for seasonal and
intermittent drainages or provide alternate manmade natural drainage pathways.

Pre-existing surface or subsurface drainage, caused or affected by development, shall
not flow over adjacent public or private property in a volume, flow rate or location
significantly different from that which existed prior to development, but shall be
collected and conveyed to an acceptable point of discharge as approved by OLWS.

Surface drainage entering a development from offsite areas shall be intercepted at the
naturally occurring locations. Offsite surface drainage shall be conveyed through the site
in a separate stormwater drainage system and will not be mixed with the stormwater
collected and treated within the onsite SMFs unless the onsite SMFs are designed to
manage and treat the additional flows from the upstream drainage basin(s) assuming
full development potential.

When an Approved Point of Discharge is located and/or conveyed on an adjacent
private property, the Applicant shall be responsible to acquire all applicable
downstream private and/or Public Stormwater Easements. An easement is not
necessary if the point of discharge is considered an intermittent stream, perennial
stream, river, wetland, or natural resource.

In compliance with Oregon Drainage Law, development shall not adversely impact
downstream properties. Stormwater runoff from a development shall be safely
conveyed to prevent the uncontrolled or irresponsible discharge of stormwater onto
adjoining public or private property.

Development shall not cause or increase flooding of adjacent or downstream property.
Flow control standards are intended to limit input to the system at no greater rate than
the undeveloped condition. Clackamas County may require an upstream and
downstream analysis of the drainage system.

Oak Lodge Water Services Design and Construction Standards
Section 2—Stormwater and Erosion Control Oct. 10, 2024 (Previous Revision: February 18, 2021)

2-17



H. All development, regardless of permit status, shall keep sediment laden water and any
other forms of stormwater pollution from entering natural drainage systems, wetlands,
natural resources, and the Public Stormwater System.

I. All development must obtain a Service Provider Letter from OLWS prior to applying for
Land Use/Design Review to the local planning authority. To obtain the Service Provider
Letter from OLWS the Applicant must demonstrate that the proposed development is
viable in accordance with OLWS Rules and Standards. The Service Provider Letter will
only be issued once the Applicant has provided sufficient plans, reports, and studies
needed for preliminary review by OLWS. Based on the preliminary review, OLWS may
request additional information prior to issuance of the letter or as part of the
forthcoming land use application. Receipt of the Service Provider Letter does not imply
that all OLWS requirements have been met or guarantee that land use approval for the
development will be granted. Service Provider Letter submittal requirements are found
in Appendix A.

J. Developments subject to O&M requirements are required to submit an O&M Plan and
shall include an agreement that allows OLWS Personnel access to the SMFs for
inspections or abatement of a public nuisance or to correct a violation of these
Standards.

K. All publicly maintained SMFs shall be fully located in the Public ROW or within a tract of
land that has adequate maintenance access and rights dedicated to Public, and the
Stormwater Drainage System(s) shall be located within an easement or tract of land that
has rights dedicated to Public; not specifically OLWS. Typically, any SMF in a public ROW
that is a component of any development action is maintained by the associated
property(ies) of that development.

L. A public drainage easement is required on existing open drainages that conveys Public
Stormwater. The easement shall be dedicated to the Public and not to OLWS.

M. Surface or subsurface drainage, caused or affected by the changing of the natural grade
of the existing ground or removal of natural ground cover or placement of impervious
surfaces, shall not be allowed to flow over adjacent public or private property in a
volume or location materially different from that which existed before development
occurred, but shall be collected and conveyed in an approved manner to an approved
point of disposal.

N. Stormwater and surface water entering the subject property shall be received at the
naturally occurring locations and stormwater and surface water exiting the subject
property shall be discharged at the natural locations with adequate energy dissipaters
within the subject property to minimize downstream damage and with no diversion at
any of these points.

0. The approved point of disposal for all stormwater may be a storm drain or a detention
or retention pond or other approved by Clackamas County or other relevant agency.
Existing open channels, creeks or streams are approved points of disposal after the
stormwater has been treated for water quality. Acceptance of proposed systems will

Oak Lodge Water Services Design and Construction Standards
Section 2—Stormwater and Erosion Control Oct. 10, 2024 (Previous Revision: February 18, 2021)

2-18



depend upon the prevailing site conditions, capacity of existing downstream facilities,
and functional performance of the alternate design.

P. When private property must be crossed in order to reach an approved point of disposal,
it shall be the owner's responsibility to acquire a recorded drainage easement.
Temporary drainage ditch facilities, when approved, must be engineered to contain the
stormwater without causing erosion or other adverse effects to the private property.

Q. All stormwater drain system designs shall make adequate provisions for collecting all
stormwater runoff. The system shall accommodate all runoff from upstream tributary
areas whether or not such areas are within the proposed development. The amount of
runoff to be accommodated shall be based upon ultimate development of all upstream
tributary areas.

R. Proposed stormwater drain systems shall not discharge flows into inadequate
downstream systems unless approved by Clackamas County or relevant agency. The
Owner must obtain all necessary permits (Division of State Lands, Army Corps of
Engineers, Oregon Department of Fish and Wildlife, etc.).

S. Public drainage facilities shall comply with Clackamas County standards, unless
amended by OLWS with CC DTD approval.

T. Inthe event a development or any part thereof is traversed by any water course,
channel, stream or creek, gulch or other natural drainage channel, adequate easements
for purposes of stormwater and surface water drainage maintenance shall be provided.
The easement shall be dedicated to the public, but not to OLWS. Oak Lodge does not
assume any maintenance obligation.

U. Facilities developed on site, including flow discharge from site, shall be constructed in a
manner consistent with “OLSD Surface Water Master Plan”.

V. Following completion of construction, the engineer shall submit a document, stamped
by a professional engineer, indicating all stormwater systems have been inspected and
installed per approved plans and approved changes.

W. Maintenance is required for all onsite stormwater facilities. The maintenance program
must be approved by OLWS. OLWS may require a recorded Operations and
Maintenance Agreement for onsite facilities.

X. Site plans, grading plans, stormwater drainage plans, and associated calculations must
be stamped and signed by a professional engineer licensed by the State of Oregon and
meet the standards of OLWS.

Y. Development projects shall not be phased or segmented in such a manner to avoid the
requirements of the Code or Standards.

Z. The owner is also responsible for springs and groundwater that surface during
construction and within the warranty period of the drainage system.

Oak Lodge Water Services Design and Construction Standards
Section 2—Stormwater and Erosion Control Oct. 10, 2024 (Previous Revision: February 18, 2021)

2-19



2.3.3 Engineering Policy
See Section 1.0.2.

2.3.4 Stormwater Standard Detail Drawings
See Section 5 — STANDARD DRAWINGS

2.3.5 Approval of Alternative Materials and Methods
See Section 1.0.6.

2.3.6 Special Design Applications

Special applications not covered in these Standards require review and approval by OLWS.
Submittal of full design calculations, supplemental drawings, and other information shall be
required before any approval is considered.

In the Oak Lodge boundary, Clackamas County owns and maintains public stormwater and
surface water assets. Any development proposals that require construction of public
stormwater assets, repair, or alterations are under the jurisdiction of Clackamas County.

2.4 PUBLIC STORMWATER SYSTEM EXPANSION

This section heading is retained for numbering consistency with WES. The content is removed
as Oak Lodge does not own or regulate the public stormwater system construction. WES owns
and maintains some public stormwater and surface water assets. The WES chapter only applies
to development proposals that require construction of public stormwater assets that are
intended to be conveyed to WES. In Oak Lodge, Clackamas County DTD performs this function.

2.5 SOURCE CONTROLS

This section presents the source control requirements for site uses and characteristics that have
the potential to generate higher levels of pollutants than typical stormwater runoff.

The site characteristics/uses in this section have been identified as potential sources of chronic
loadings or acute releases of pollutants such as oil and grease, toxic hydrocarbons, heavy
metals, toxic compounds, solvents, abnormal pH levels, nutrients, organics, bacteria, chemicals,
and suspended solids. This section presents controls for managing these pollutants at their
source.

These controls are not intended to supersede any Clackamas County Fire or building permit-
related, or any OSHA requirements and are intended to be complimentary to these. The Source
Control requirements are intended to fill a regulatory gap from secondary containment to
protecting OLWS’s assets and the public’s stream system.

2.5.1 General Requirements

The following requirements apply to all sites subject to source control.

Oak Lodge Water Services Design and Construction Standards
Section 2—Stormwater and Erosion Control Oct. 10, 2024 (Previous Revision: February 18, 2021)

2-20



2.5.1.01 Signage Requirements

Informational signage is required for some site uses and activities that have the
potential to contaminate stormwater. Proper signage addresses good housekeeping
rules and provides emergency response measures in case of an accidental spill.

All signage shall conform to the following requirements:

A. Signs shall be located and plainly visible from applicable activity areas.

B. More than one sign may be needed to accommodate larger activity areas.
C. Signs shall be water and weather resistant.
D

. Signs shall include the following information:

Q

Safety precautions

b. Immediate spill response procedures (for example: “Turn the valve located at...”
or “Use absorbent materials”)

c. Emergency contact(s) and telephone number(s)

E. Signs may need to be in more than one language if required to communicate
effectively with employees and delivery personnel.

F. Signs may need to meet retro-reflectivity standards dependent on the use and
intent of the sign.

2.5.1.02 Spill Control

Spill response supplies, such as absorbent material, containment booms, and protective
clothing, shall be available at all potential spill areas. Any applicable spill response
supplies need to be clearly marked and located where the signage is posted and near
the high-risk activity area. The spill response supplies should be appropriate to the
nature of the potential risk present at the site. More than one spill response kit may be
necessary to accommodate larger activity areas.

Employees should be familiar with the site’s O&M Plan; the site’s Spill Prevention,
Countermeasure, and Containment plan; and/or proper spill cleanup procedures.

2.5.1.03 Public Sanitary Sewer Discharge Permit

Many source control strategies require a connection of private stormwater drains to the
public sanitary sewer system. Connection/discharge to the public sanitary sewer system
requires prior written approval by OLWS. A request to discharge to the public sanitary
system shall be submitted as part of the permitting process. All impervious surface areas
that can drain into the public sanitary sewer shall be designed in a manner to eliminate
stormwater runoff from entering the sanitary sewer system. The separation of
stormwater into the sanitary sewer system is generally accomplished by covering the
impervious area that drains into the sanitary sewer and grading the area in a manner
that separated the flows.

Oak Lodge Water Services Design and Construction Standards
Section 2—Stormwater and Erosion Control Oct. 10, 2024 (Previous Revision: February 18, 2021)

2-21



2.5.2 Source Control Requirements

Applicants shall show the locations of proposed structural source controls (including spill
control manholes and shutoff valves) and include documentation of high-risk site uses and the
applicable source controls as part of the Stormwater Report and Stormwater Plans (see
Appendix A for submittal requirements).

2.5.2.01 Fuel Dispensing Facilities and Surrounding Traffic Areas

These requirements apply to all development where vehicles, equipment, or fuel tanks
are refueled on the premises, whether it is a gas station, a single-pump maintenance
yard, or a small-sized fuel tank. A fuel dispensing facility is defined as the area where
fuel is transferred from bulk storage tanks to vehicles, equipment, and/or mobile
containers (including fuel islands, above- or below-ground fuel tanks, fuel pumps, and
the surrounding pad). Propane tanks are exempt from these requirements.

Any discharge or point of connection to the public or private stormwater system must
obtain authorization and permitting by OLWS. Discharges of hydrocarbons are
prohibited to the public sanitary and stormwater sewer systems. When a containment
or emergency storage device is used, the Owner or responsible person shall contact
OLWS’s Environmental Monitoring Division for authorization to open any valve and
discharge any substance to a public sanitary or stormwater sewer system. OLWS shall
determine the conditions to discharge or dispose of the substance to safeguard the
environment, public health, and safety.

Underground storage tanks or installations requiring a Water Pollution Control Facility
(WPCF) permit are exempt from these requirements but must go through DEQ’s WPCF
permit process.

Cover

The fuel dispensing area shall be covered with a permanent canopy or roof so
precipitation cannot come in contact with the fueling activity area. Rainfall shall be
directed from the cover to a stormwater disposal point that meets all applicable code
requirements.

Covers 10 feet high or less shall have a minimum overhang of 3 feet on each side. The
overhang shall be measured relative to the perimeter of the hydraulically isolated
fueling activity area it is to cover.

Covers higher than 10 feet shall have a minimum overhang of 5 feet on each side. The
overhang shall be measured relative to the perimeter of the hydraulically isolated
fueling activity area it is to cover.

Pavement

A paved fueling pad of concrete shall be placed under and around the fueling activity
area and shall meet all applicable building code requirements. Sizing of the paved area
shall be adequate to cover the activity area, including placement and number of vehicles

Oak Lodge Water Services Design and Construction Standards
Section 2—Stormwater and Erosion Control Oct. 10, 2024 (Previous Revision: February 18, 2021)

2-22



or pieces of equipment to be fueled by each pump. Fuel pumps shall be located a
minimum of 10 feet from the edge of the fueling pad.

Drainage

The impervious area beneath the cover shall be hydraulically isolated from the
surrounding area through grading, berms, or drains.

Drainage from under the cover that is hydraulically isolated shall be directed to the
sanitary sewer system. When connecting to sanitary sewer, an oil/water separator shall
be installed to collect and detain the runoff from under the cover of a fuel dispensing
area. Unless OLWS requires a different volume, the minimum storage capacity of the
oil/water separator and, if needed, an upstream storage sump/vault shall be 1,000
gallons. A flow-stop or shut-off valve is required downstream of the oil/water separator
prior to connection with the public sanitary sewer system.

Surrounding runoff must be directed away from the hydraulically isolated fueling pad to
a stormwater discharge point that meets all stormwater management requirements of
these standards and other applicable code requirements.

Traffic pathways that surround fueling pads are considered high use/high-risk areas and
will require a valve on the stormwater drainage system. Valves installed on stormwater
drainage systems must be installed downstream of all applicable private SMFs to
accommodate spill containment. These valves must be left open to facilitate stormwater
flows during normal conditions, and immediately closed in the event of a spill.

Pretreatment: Oil/Water Separator

Runoff from the fuel dispensing area is required to be pretreated in an oil/water
separator with coalescing plates prior to being discharged into the spill control manhole.
The purpose of the device is to treat runoff from washing down and cleaning of the
fueling area and to prevent small spills from entering the spill control manhole.

Coalescing plate separators shall be designed to achieve a 100 parts per million (ppm)
non-polar oil and grease limit in the effluent from the peak flow generated by the
washing activity. Testing information must be submitted by the manufacturer of the unit
that supports the 100 ppm effluent standard at the calculated flow rate.

At a minimum, the device will be sized to treat the standard flow from a 5/8-inch hose
which is estimated to be 10 gallons per minute.

Each device shall be verified with the vendor to assure the treatment and flow rate
capacity are within the parameters of the device.

Separator details must be shown on the building plans submitted at the time of building
permit application and shall match manufacturer specifications and details, including
the unit flow rate, effluent water quality, and maximum process flow rate.

All separators shall be maintained per the manufacturer specifications and the private
maintenance plan approved by OLWS.

Spill Control Manholes

Oak Lodge Water Services Design and Construction Standards
Section 2—Stormwater and Erosion Control Oct. 10, 2024 (Previous Revision: February 18, 2021)

2-23



A spill control manhole shall be installed as the last device inline to collect and retain the
runoff from the fuel dispensing area. The spill control manhole shall have a downstream
inline valve prior to point of discharge into an approved stormwater drainage system.
Spills and contaminants are treated and contained within the pretreatment device and
spill control manhole until authorization is obtained by OLWS to release the substance
into an Approved Point of Discharge or dispose of it appropriately offsite. In general,
with OLWS approval of the acceptable level of contaminants and release method, the
contaminants are allowed to be discharged into the public sanitary sewer system. The
shut-off valve shall be located below the outlet elevation, and the manhole shall have a
minimum dead storage capacity of 60 cubic feet in volume between the invert elevation
(IE) of the inflow pipe and the IE of the discharge pipe for storage of oil, grease, and
solids. The tee section shall extend 18 inches below the outlet elevation. The manhole
shall be located on private property and accessible for operation and maintenance
activities.

Shut-Off Valves

Shut off valves are required to protect the public or private sanitary or stormwater
drainage systems from risks that may present a danger or risk to the environment,
public health, and safety.

Shut-off valves are required for any of the following situations:

A. Site or activity areas are exposed to corrosives or oxidizers that can harm
stormwater drainage system components (such as, but not limited to, battery
acid).

B. Substances (such as, but not limited to, oil and grease) that do not settle or
remain in one location and are capable of being dissolved in or float on water.
These substances can spread rapidly into downstream stormwater drainage
system and disposal systems, causing widespread impacts and difficult cleanup
situations.

C. Substances that are known to infiltrate through soils and contaminate
groundwater.

D. Traffic pathways that surround fueling pads are considered high use/high-risk
areas and will require a valve on the stormwater drainage system. Valves
installed on stormwater drainage systems shall be installed downstream of all
applicable private SMFs to accommodate spill containment. These valves shall be
left open to facilitate stormwater flows during normal conditions, and
immediately closed in the event of a spill.

E. Fueling pads require a valve downstream of the spill control manhole. Valves
installed on sanitary sewer systems shall be installed before the public sanitary
sewer system tie-in. These valves shall be kept closed and opened upon approval
by OLWS. The valve shall be closed immediately after the approved discharge
activities are completed.

Oak Lodge Water Services Design and Construction Standards
Section 2—Stormwater and Erosion Control Oct. 10, 2024 (Previous Revision: February 18, 2021)

2-24



F.

Shut-off valves shall be located on private property and downstream of all SMFs.
All valves shall be installed and maintained per the manufacturer’s
recommendations and the private maintenance plan approved by OLWS. The
Applicant must also obtain a plumbing permit from the local building authority
to install plumbing on private property.

Bulk Fuel Terminals

Bulk fuel terminals, also known as tank farms, require the following:

Secondary containment equal to 110 percent of the product’s largest container or 10
percent of the total volume of product stored, whichever is larger.

A.

A separate containment area for all valves, pumps, and coupling areas, with sub-
bermed areas either in front of or inside the main containment areas. These sub-
bermed areas shall have rain shields and be directed to a public sanitary sewer
system with a valve maintained in the closed position to control unauthorized
discharges. If no public sanitary sewer is available, drainage shall be directed to a
temporary holding facility for proper disposal and may require a WPCF permit
from the Water Quality Division of DEQ.

An impervious floor within all containment areas is required to prevent spills
from contaminating the groundwater.

Truck loading and off-loading areas shall be covered to prevent spills from
entering the public sanitary or stormwater system. To prevent the discharge of
spills a shut-off valve is required as identified for fuel dispensing facilities.

Shut-off valves shall be installed for the drainage of the required containment
facilities for a tank yard. The valves shall be installed downstream of the primary
containment area and kept closed. Valves installed for the drainage of the truck
pad and sub-bermed containment areas shall be installed downstream of the
SMFs including the spill control manhole.

Approval of a batch discharge from OLWS is required before discharging a
containment area into a public sanitary or stormwater system. This approval will
determine appropriate disposal methods, identify pretreatment requirements (if
applicable), and approval of the discharge. Pretreatment and testing may be
required to establish the specific characteristics of the substance to be
discharged. Contact OLWS’s Environmental Monitoring Division to request
authorization for batch discharge.

Underground fuel tanks less than 4,000 gallons in size are subject to additional
permitting requirements by DEQ, and tanks larger than 4,000 gallons are
referred to the EPA. For technical questions and permitting, call DEQ’s North
Region Portland office and ask for the Underground Storage Tank Permitting
Department. The installations of underground storage tanks are subject to all
requirements and permits per the local building authority and OPSC.

Additional Requirements

Oak Lodge Water Services Design and Construction Standards
Section 2—Stormwater and Erosion Control Oct. 10, 2024 (Previous Revision: February 18, 2021)

2-25



A. Track spill control manhole and shut-off valve installations.

B. Installation, alterations, or removal of above-ground fuel tanks larger than 55
gallons, and any related equipment may be subject to additional building permit
and fire department requirements. For technical questions and permitting,
contact the local building authority and OLWS’s Development Review Division.

2.5.2.02 Above-Ground Storage of Liquid Materials

These requirements apply to all development where there is any exterior storage of
liguid chemicals, food products, waste oils, solvents, process wastewaters, or petroleum
products in above-ground containers, in quantities of 50 gallons or more. This includes
both permanent storage and temporary storage areas.

Containment

Liquid materials shall be stored and contained in such a manner that if the container(s)
is ruptured, the contents will not discharge, flow, or be washed into a drainageway,
public stormwater or sanitary sewer system. A containment device and/or structure for
accidental spills shall have capacity to capture a minimum of 110 percent of the
product’s largest container, or 10 percent of the total volume of product stored,
whichever is larger.

Double-walled containers may be exempt from these spill containment requirements.

Quantity thresholds of products that are generally exempt from these spill containment
measures include: Janitorial, cleaning, office and stationary supplies packaged for
consumer use in containers less than 100 pounds net weight or 15 gallons net volume
are exempt from spill containment measures.

Note: This does not include cleaners or solvents used for cleaning machinery or motor
vehicle and machine parts.

Cover

Storage containers (other than tanks) shall be completely covered so rainfall and
stormwater runoff cannot come in contact with them. Runoff shall be directed from the
cover to a SMF that meets all applicable code requirements.

Covers 10 feet high or less shall have a minimum overhang of 3 feet on each side. The
overhang shall be measured relative to the perimeter of the hydraulically isolated
activity area.

Covers higher than 10 feet shall have a minimum overhang of 5 feet on each side. The
overhang shall be measured relative to the perimeter of the hydraulically isolated
activity area.

Pavement (Impervious Surface)

An impervious surface storage area is required unless otherwise approved by OLWS’s
Development Review Division. The storage area shall be an impervious surface area and
shall meet all applicable zoning and building code requirements. Compactors,

Oak Lodge Water Services Design and Construction Standards
Section 2—Stormwater and Erosion Control Oct. 10, 2024 (Previous Revision: February 18, 2021)

2-26



containers, and drop boxes shall be located on a level Portland Cement concrete pad, a
minimum 4 inches thick, at ground level or other location compatible with the local
collection service franchisee’s equipment at the time of construction. The pad shall be
designed to discharge stormwater runoff to avoid ponding. Sizing of the impervious
areas shall be adequate to cover the area intended for storage.

Drainage

All impervious storage areas shall be hydraulically isolated through grading, berms, or
drains, such as:

A. Covered storage areas. Significant amounts of precipitation are not expected to
accumulate in covered storage areas, and drainage facilities are not required for
the contained area beneath the cover. If the Applicant elects to install drainage
facilities, the drainage from the hydraulically isolated area shall be directed to an
approved pretreatment, containment facility and point of discharge.

B. Uncovered storage areas with containment. Water will accumulate in uncovered
storage areas during and after rain. Any contaminated water cannot simply be
drained from the area. It must be collected, inspected, and possibly tested at the
expense of the Owner before proper disposal can be determined and authorized.
Frequent draining may be required during the wet season, which may prove
costly. Some type of monitoring may also be needed to determine the
characteristics and level of contamination of the stormwater.

All substances and methods discharged to the sanitary sewer shall be authorized
by OLWS prior to release. OLWS considers these batch discharges and shall
require pretreatment prior to discharge. An industrial discharge permit may be
required. Pretreatment requirements shall be set as part of the discharge
approval process, based on the types and quantities of material to be
discharged. A discharge evaluation shall be performed before connection to a
sanitary sewer or stormwater sewer system. Testing may be required to
establish characteristics of the wastewater or contaminated stormwater and to
verify that local discharge limits are not exceeded. For batch discharge
applications and industrial discharge permit requirements, call OLWS’s
Environmental Monitoring Division.

Additional Requirements

A. Covered storage areas: A shut-off valve may be required for the covered storage
area if the Applicant proposes to install drainage facilities to an approved public
sanitary sewer connection. OLWS will make this determination based on the
type of material stored and the proposed point of discharge.

B. Uncovered storage areas: A shut-off valve shall be installed in the storage area
so excess stormwater can be drained out of the activity area and directed either
to the stormwater drainage facilities (if clean) or into the public sanitary sewer
or authorized pretreatment facility (if contaminated). Except when stormwater is

Oak Lodge Water Services Design and Construction Standards
Section 2—Stormwater and Erosion Control Oct. 10, 2024 (Previous Revision: February 18, 2021)

2-27



being discharged, the valve shall always be kept closed so any spills within the
activity area can be effectively contained.

a. Tank farms shall follow the criteria established for bulk fuel terminals.
Exceptions may be granted, based on the product being stored. Requests for
an exception will require an additional review process and may delay
issuance of related building permits.

b. Storage of reactive, ignitable, or flammable liquids shall comply with the
Uniform Fire Code as adopted by the State of Oregon. These source controls
are intended to complement, and not conflict with, current fire code
requirements. None of these requirements shall exclude or supersede any
other requirements in this manual, other OLWS permit requirements, or
State and Federal laws pertaining to water quality. Contact OLWS for further
information and requirements.

2.5.2.03 Recycling and Solid Waste Storage Areas

These requirements apply to all commercial and industrial development with facilities
that store recycling materials and/or solid wastes (both food and non-food wastes). A
solid waste storage area is a place where solid waste containers are collectively stored.
Solid waste receptacles may include, but are not limited to compactors, containers,
carts, barrels, dumpsters, and garbage cans. These requirements also apply to areas
used to collect and store refuse or recyclable materials. This applies to multi-family
residential sites of five or more units if a shared trash collection area is proposed.
However, these requirements do not apply to single-family homes or debris collection
areas used for temporary storage of wood pallets or cardboard.

The following design requirements apply for approval of solid waste storage and
handling activity areas in OLWS. All receptacles used for storage of solid waste and
recyclables (except cardboard) are required to be designed by the manufacturer to fully
contain liquid waste if maintained properly and must remain in properly functioning
condition throughout their period of use. Per the most current version of the Clackamas
County Solid Waste and Recyclable Material collection code, containers used to store
cooking oils, grease, or animal renderings for recycling or disposal shall not be located in
the principal recyclable materials or solid waste storage areas.

These materials shall be stored in a separate storage area designed for such purpose.
Restaurants and other businesses that collect and store oil and grease shall create a
separate space under their covered enclosure to store the oil/grease container that
does not block access to garbage, food, and recycling containers. Material collection,
containers used to store cooking oils, grease, or animal renderings for recycling or
disposal shall not be located in the principal recyclable materials or solid waste storage
areas. These materials shall be stored in a separate storage area designed for such
purpose.

Cover

Oak Lodge Water Services Design and Construction Standards
Section 2—Stormwater and Erosion Control Oct. 10, 2024 (Previous Revision: February 18, 2021)

2-28



Restaurants and other businesses that collect and store oil and grease shall create a
separate space in accordance with local zoning and building codes. Additional details on
these requirements can be found in the local Solid Waste and Recyclable Material
collection code.

A permanent canopy, roof, or awning may be required to cover the solid waste storage
area and shall be constructed to cover the activity area so rainfall and stormwater
runoff cannot come in contact with the waste materials being stored. The cover shall be
sized relative to the perimeter of the hydraulically isolated activity area it is to cover.
Runoff shall be directed from the cover to a stormwater disposal point that meets all
applicable code requirements.

If the structure is covered, then the Building Drain shall be connected to the public
sanitary sewer in accordance with local building and plumbing codes. If the structure is
not covered, it cannot be drained into the public sanitary sewer system. Uncovered
structures shall drain into the stormwater drainage system with the applicable oil/water
separator and cartridge filter water quality treatment.

Pavement

If a paved waste storage area is required. The structure and impervious surface area
shall be designed and constructed in accordance with all applicable zoning, building and
plumbing codes. The pad shall be designed to discharge stormwater runoff to avoid
ponding. Sizing of the paved area shall adequately cover the activity area intended for
refuse storage, or the trash compactor(s) and associated equipment.

Isolation

Hydraulic isolation shall be provided for the solid waste storage activity area and shall
be designed to prevent uncontaminated stormwater runoff from entering the area and
carrying pollutants away. Runoff occurring outside the hydraulically isolated area shall
be directed to a stormwater disposal point that meets all applicable code requirements.
This can be achieved by reverse grading at the perimeter of an activity area, perimeter
curbing or berming, or the use of area drains to collect and divert runoff.

Drainage

The paved area under the cover shall be hydraulically isolated, meaning no stormwater
draining into or liquids draining out of the covered storage area. Hydraulic isolation may
include installation of a berm or grading that prevents uncontaminated stormwater
from running into the waste storage area and ensures that any fluid under the enclosure
drains to the sanitary system. An oil/water separator may be required as pretreatment
before discharging to the sanitary system, per Section 2.5.1.

Non-gravity Option

Activity areas that do not have gravity sanitary sewer service may be allowed to install a
pressurized system in accordance with local building and plumbing codes. With these
types of installations, the following items shall be provided at the time of building
permit application:

Oak Lodge Water Services Design and Construction Standards
Section 2—Stormwater and Erosion Control Oct. 10, 2024 (Previous Revision: February 18, 2021)

2-29



A. Verification or evidence that gravity service cannot be obtained.
B. Details of an electronic sump pump system equipped with a float switch.
C. OLWS approval.

Pressurized system installations are considered “permanent equipment” and deemed
the Owner’s liability in the event of system failure or if the property becomes vacated.

The local building and plumbing codes authorities will review all sump pump or sewage
ejector installations for compliance with the UPC and Oregon State Plumbing Specialty
Code.

2.5.2.04 Exterior Storage of Bulk Materials

These requirements apply to developments that stockpile or store materials in outdoor
containers that may erode or have negative stormwater impacts. The materials are
separated into the following three categories, based on risk assessments for each
material stored: high-risk, low-risk, and exempt materials.

These include, but are not limited to, the types found in Table 2. Materials with any of
the following characteristics are exempt from these requirements:

A. Have no measurable solubility or mobility in water and no hazardous, toxic, or
flammable properties.

B. Exist in a gaseous form at ambient temperature.

C. Are contained in a manner that prevents contact with stormwater (excluding
pesticides and fertilizers).

Cover

Low-risk materials shall be covered with a temporary plastic film or sheeting at a
minimum.

High-risk materials shall be permanently covered with a canopy or roof to prevent
stormwater contact and minimize the quantity of rainfall entering the storage area.
Runoff shall be directed from the cover to an approved stormwater disposal point that
meets all applicable code requirements.

Table 2. Stormwater Impacts of General Material Types

High Risk Materials

e Recycling materials with potential effluent (including mercury containing items)
e Corrosive materials (e.g., lead-acid batteries)

e  Storage and processing of food items

e Chalk/gypsum products

e Feedstock/grain

e Material by-products with potential effluent

o Fertilizer

e Pesticides

e Qily or otherwise contaminated vehicle/equipment parts
e Lime/lye/soda ash

Oak Lodge Water Services Design and Construction Standards
Section 2—Stormwater and Erosion Control Oct. 10, 2024 (Previous Revision: February 18, 2021)

2-30



e Animal/human wastes

Low Risk Materials

e Recycling materials without potential effluent

e Used tires

e Non-oily scrap or salvage

e Treated lumber

e Metal

e  Sawdust/bark chips

e Sand/dirt/soil (including contaminated soil piles)
e  Material by-products without potential effluent
e Unwashed gravel/rock

e Compost

e Asphalt

e Non-leaking vehicles in stages of disassembly

Exempt Materials

e Rock

e Finished untreated lumber

e Rubber and plastic products (hoses, gaskets, pipe, etc.)
e Clean concrete products (blocks, pipe, etc.)

e  Glass products (new, non-recycled)

® |nert products

Covers 10 feet high or less shall have a minimum overhang of 3 feet on each side. The
overhang shall be measured relative to the perimeter of the hydraulically isolated
activity area.

Covers higher than 10 feet shall have a minimum overhang of 5 feet on each side. The
overhang shall be measured relative to the perimeter of the hydraulically isolated
activity area.

Pavement
Low-risk material storage areas are not required to have an impermeable surface.

High-risk material storage areas shall be impervious beneath the structural cover. Sizing
of the impervious surface area shall adequately cover the activity area intended for
storage.

Drainage

Low-risk material storage areas are typically allowed in areas served by standard SMFs.
However, all erodible materials being stored must be protected from rainfall and
stormwater runoff.

If materials are erodible, a structural containment barrier shall be placed on at least
three sides of every stockpile. The barrier shall be tall enough to prevent the contained
and uncontaminated area from mixing stormwater runoff into the storage area with the
stored materials as a result of being blown or washed away. If the area under the
stockpile is paved, the barrier can be constructed of asphalt berms, concrete curbing, or
retaining walls. If the area under the stockpile is unpaved, sunken retaining walls or

Oak Lodge Water Services Design and Construction Standards
Section 2—Stormwater and Erosion Control Oct. 10, 2024 (Previous Revision: February 18, 2021)

2-31



ecology blocks can be used. The Applicant shall clearly identify the method of
containment on the building and/or site plans.

For high-risk material storage areas, the paved area beneath the structural cover shall
be hydraulically isolated through grading, structural containment berms or walls, or
perimeter drains to prevent uncontaminated stormwater from running onto the area
and carrying pollutants away. If significant amounts of precipitation are not expected to
accumulate in covered storage areas, drainage facilities are not required for the
contained area beneath the cover. If the Applicant elects to install drainage facilities, the
drainage from the hydraulically isolated area shall be pretreated and connected to a
point of discharge approved by OLWS. In such a case, an evaluation will be done to
determine if an NPDES Discharge permit is required.

Additional Requirements

A. Storage of pesticides and fertilizers may need to comply with specific regulations
outlined by DEQ. For answers to technical questions, call DEQ’s Northwest
Region Portland office.

B. A sampling manhole or other suitable stormwater monitoring access point may
be required to monitor stormwater runoff from the storage area. This may apply
to certain types of storage activities and materials if an alternative source control
is proposed. OLWS’s Development Review Division will review for applicability of
this requirement.

C. Hazardous materials signage shall be provided at the storage area where
hazardous materials or other materials of concern are stored. Signage shall be
located so it is plainly visible from all storage activity areas. More than one sign
may be needed to accommodate large storage areas.

D. A shut-off valve may be required for the structurally covered storage area if the
Applicant elects to install drainage facilities and discharge into a sanitary system.
OLWS’s Development Review Division will make this determination based on the
type of material stored and the proposed system receiving the discharge.

2.5.2.05 Material Transfer Areas/Loading Docks

These requirements apply to all developments proposing the installation of new
material transfer areas, or structural alterations to existing material transfer areas (e.g.,
access ramp regrading, leveler installations).

The requirements apply to all material transfer areas, including loading/unloading
docks, bay doors, and any other building access point(s) with the following
characteristics:

A. The area is designed (size, width, etc.) to accommodate a truck or trailer being
backed up to or into it; and,

B. The area is expected to be used specifically to receive or distribute materials to
and from trucks or trailers.

Oak Lodge Water Services Design and Construction Standards
Section 2—Stormwater and Erosion Control Oct. 10, 2024 (Previous Revision: February 18, 2021)

2-32



The requirements may not apply to areas that are used only for mid-sized to small-sized
passenger vehicles and that are restricted (by lease agreements or other regulatory
requirements) to storing, transporting, or using materials that are classified as domestic
use: Primary educational facilities (elementary, middle, or high schools), buildings used
for temporary storage (a lease agreement will need to be provided), and churches.
Contact OLWS’s Development Review Division for help in determining if requirements

apply.
Pavement

An impervious surface area such as asphalt or concrete shall be placed underneath and
around the loading and unloading activity area and shall meet all applicable building
code requirements. This will reduce the potential for soil contamination with potential
impacts on groundwater and will help control any acute or chronic release of materials
present in these areas.

Isolation

The first 3 feet of the paved/covered area of a loading dock, measured from the building
or dock face, shall be hydraulically isolated through grading, berms, or drains to prevent
uncontaminated stormwater from running onto the area and carrying pollutants away.

Bay doors and other interior transfer areas shall be designed so that stormwater runoff
does not enter the building. This can be accomplished by grading or drains.

Drainage

Drainage from the hydraulically isolated, covered loading dock area shall be directed to
a pretreatment facility and then the sanitary sewer. Surrounding runoff and drainage
from the access ramp shall be directed away from the hydraulically isolated area to a
SMF that meets all applicable requirements of this manual.

Areas which cannot gravity discharge may be allowed to install a pressurized system.
With these types of installations, the following items shall be provided at the time of
building permit application:

A. Proof that a gravity system cannot be obtained.
B. Details of an electronic sump pump system equipped with a float switch.
C. A point of discharge approved by OLWS.

Pressurized system installations are considered “permanent equipment” and deemed
the Owner’s liability in the event of system failure or if the property becomes vacated.

The local building authority will review all sump pump or sewage ejector installations for
compliance with the UPC and OPSC. OLWS’s Development Review Division will review
the pressurized systems for compliance with the Standards.

Bay Doors and Other Interior Transfer Areas. Because interior material transfer areas
are not expected to accumulate precipitation, installation of floor drains is not required
or recommended. It is preferable to handle these areas with a dry mop or absorbent

Oak Lodge Water Services Design and Construction Standards
Section 2—Stormwater and Erosion Control Oct. 10, 2024 (Previous Revision: February 18, 2021)

2-33



material. If interior floor drains are installed, they shall be plumbed to an approved
pretreatment facility and discharge into the public sanitary sewer.

Shut-off Valves

A shut-off valve downstream of the transfer area may be required to prevent spills and
contamination from leaving this area. OLWS’s Development Review Division will make
this determination, based on the type of material being transferred, pretreatment
facility and the Approved Point of Discharge.

Shut-off valves are required to protect health, safety and the environment from spills
and substances that may provide a risk. Shut-off valves are required for any of the
following situations:

A. Site activity areas that are exposed to corrosives or oxidizers that can harm
stormwater drainage system components (such as battery acid).

B. Substances (such as oil and grease) that do not settle or remain in one location
and are capable of being dissolved in or float on top of water. These substances
can spread rapidly into downstream systems, causing widespread impacts and
difficult clean-up situations.

C. Substances that are known to infiltrate through soils and contaminate
groundwater.

Valves located in material transfer areas are typically left open to facilitate drainage
during normal conditions, and immediately closed in the event of a spill.

Prior to transfer activities of harmful substances, the valves shall be closed and
reopened only after the transfer is complete. The shut-off valves must be located on
private property and downstream of the exposed area’s collection system.

All valves shall be installed and maintained in accordance with manufacturer
specifications. For additional information about installation of shut-off valves contact
the local building authority.

Addition Requirements

Bay doors and other interior transfer areas shall provide a 10-foot “no obstruction zone”
beyond the entrance within the building. This will allow the transfer of materials to
occur with the truck or trailer end placed at least 5 feet inside the building, with an
additional staging area of 5 feet beyond that. The “no obstruction” zone shall be clearly
identified on the site plan at the time of the building permit application and shall be
painted at the facility with bright or fluorescent floor paint.

2.5.2.06 Equipment and/or Vehicle Washing Facilities

These requirements apply to all development within designated equipment, vehicle
washing or cleaning areas. This includes smaller activity areas, such as wheel-washing
stations. Residential sites are exempt.

Cover

Oak Lodge Water Services Design and Construction Standards
Section 2—Stormwater and Erosion Control Oct. 10, 2024 (Previous Revision: February 18, 2021)

2-34



The washing area shall be covered with a permanent canopy or roof so precipitation
cannot come in contact with the washing activity area. Precipitation shall be directed
from the cover to a SMF that meets all applicable code requirements.

A. Covers 10 feet high or less shall have a minimum overhang of 3 feet on each
side. The overhang shall be measured relative to the perimeter of the
hydraulically isolated washing activity area it is to cover.

B. Covers higher than 10 feet shall have a minimum overhang of 5 feet on each
side. The overhang shall be measured relative to the perimeter of the
hydraulically isolated washing activity area it is to cover.

Pavement

The wash pad area shall be impervious surface such as asphalt or concrete placed under
and around the washing activity area and shall meet all applicable building code
requirements. Sizing of the paved area shall adequately cover the activity area, including
the placement of the vehicle or piece of equipment to be cleaned.

Drainage

The paved area beneath the cover shall be hydraulically isolated through grading,
berms, or drains to prevent uncontaminated stormwater from running onto the area
and carrying pollutants away. Drainage from the hydraulically isolated area shall be
directed to a pretreatment facility and then the sanitary sewer. If connected to the
public sanitary sewer, and, depending on the washing compounds used (i.e.,
brighteners), an industrial discharge permit to the public sanitary sewer system may be
required. For further questions, contact the Development Review Division. Surrounding
runoff shall be directed away from the hydraulically isolated washing pad to a SMF that
meets all applicable requirements.

Oil Controls

All vehicle and equipment washing activities shall be equipped with an approved
oil/water separator system. The system shall comply with the public sanitary sewer
discharge limits. For discharge requirements and limitations to the public sanitary sewer
system contact OLWS’s Environmental Monitoring Division.

For washing areas protected with a cover or located inside a structure, the following
design criteria apply to oil/water separators discharging a public sanitary sewer system:

A. Baffled oil/water separators and spill control (SC-type) separators shall not be
allowed for use with equipment and/or vehicle washing applications. Note:
Activities and processes of a washing facility change over time, and the
introduction of heat and surfactants may occur.

B. Coalescing plate separators shall be designed to achieve a 100-ppm non-polar oil
and grease limit in the effluent from the peak flow generated by the washing
activity. Testing information must be submitted by the manufacturer of the unit
that supports the 100-ppm effluent standard at the calculated flow rate.

Oak Lodge Water Services Design and Construction Standards
Section 2—Stormwater and Erosion Control Oct. 10, 2024 (Previous Revision: February 18, 2021)

2-35



a. The minimum design flow rate shall be 10 gallons per minute which is the
estimated flow from a 5/8-inch hose.

b. For specially designed washing units, check the vendor specifications for
maximum flow rates.

C. Any pumping devices shall be installed downstream of the separator and
pretreatment facility to prevent oil emulsification.

D. Separator details must be shown on the building plans submitted at the time of
building permit application and shall match manufacturer specifications and
details, including the unit flow rate, effluent water quality, and maximum
process flow rate.

E. All separators shall be maintained per the manufacturer specifications and OLWS
approved maintenance plan.

Onsite wash recycling systems may be used for oil control as long as they can meet
effluent discharge limits for the public sanitary sewer system. A detail of the wash
recycling system and vendor specifications identifying effluent efficiencies shall be
submitted as part of the building plans at the time of the building permit application.
2.5.2.07 Equipment and/or Vehicle Repair Facilities

These requirements apply to all development within designated equipment or vehicle
repair including areas conducting body work.

Cover

Repair areas shall be located indoors so precipitation cannot come in contact with the
repair area. Precipitation shall be directed from the repair facility roof to a SMF that
meets all applicable OLWS requirements.

Floors
The floor shall be impervious material such as concrete.
Drainage

The exterior of the repair area shall be hydraulically isolated through grading, berms, or
drains to prevent uncontaminated stormwater from running onto the area and carrying
pollutants away. Runoff shall be directed away from the hydraulically isolated repair
area to a SMF that meets all applicable requirements.

Storage

Interior: Chemicals used for cleaning machinery or motor vehicle and machine parts
(including, but not limited to, lubricants, used fluids, solvents, cleaners, etc.) of any
guantity must be stored in or on secondary containment structures.

Exterior: Chemicals and materials must be stored in a manner consistent with the
requirements set forth in Section 2.5.

Oil Controls

Oak Lodge Water Services Design and Construction Standards
Section 2—Stormwater and Erosion Control Oct. 10, 2024 (Previous Revision: February 18, 2021)

2-36



All vehicle and equipment repair areas with floor drains and/or shop sinks must have an
approved oil/water separator system and comply with OLWS'’s sanitary sewer discharge
standards. Details on oil/water separator design criteria are in Section 2.5.

2.5.2.08 Land with Suspected or Known Contamination

These requirements apply to all development projects that disturb property at risk,
suspected, or known to contain pollutants in the soil or groundwater. This includes
development that is surrounded by properties found to have trace pollutants. These
requirements will also be applied to any property that is seeking to make a new
connection to a public stormwater system or drainageway from a property that is at
risk, suspected, or known to contain pollutants in the soil or groundwater. To avoid
confusion with references to water quality pollutants throughout this manual, this
section refers to pollutants as contaminants and/or contamination.

Because of local, State, and Federal regulations, special handling and management of
soils, groundwater, and surface drainage may be necessary. As a result of these
regulations, sites with suspected or known contamination require a more detailed
review process that may delay issuance of related site plan and building permit
approvals. Applicants are advised to contact the Development Review Division early in
the planning process (before plan submittal) if they are aware or suspect the site has
contaminants or is adjacent to a contaminated site.

To research contaminant information, refer to DEQ’s Environmental Cleanup Site
Information database.

A. If records indicate there is a potential of contamination on the site, the Applicant
must contact DEQ prior to pre- and post-construction activities. For technical
guestions related to site contamination and clean-up, contact the Land Quality
Division of DEQ.

B. All regulatory divisions or departments of DEQ referenced in this section can be
reached by calling DEQ’s Northwest Region Portland Office.

C. If a Phase 1 DEQ Site Assessment was required, the report will be submitted to
OLWS for review.

D. If contamination is discovered subsequent to site plan approval the Owner shall
immediately take steps to protect health, safety and the environment and
contact OLWS and DEQ. Plan approval is suspended until the contamination
issues are resolved.

Contaminants have the potential to become entrained and transported through
exposure to construction activities and post-construction design elements of a
development. The requirements in this section apply to:

A. Excavation and stockpiling of contaminated soils (soil management)

B. Disposal or re-use facilities related to groundwater, foundation or footing drains,
interior floor drains in basements or sub-grade structures, construction

Oak Lodge Water Services Design and Construction Standards
Section 2—Stormwater and Erosion Control Oct. 10, 2024 (Previous Revision: February 18, 2021)

2-37



dewatering, and surface stormwater treatment and stormwater drainage
systems.

Stormwater discharges from sites suspected of contamination, whether proposed as a
temporary construction connection or as permanent connection to any public storm,
sanitary sewer system or drainageway, will require a special authorization from OLWS
and Environmental Monitoring Division. After reviewing the proposal and a
characterization of the contaminants on the site, OLWS and/or Environmental
Monitoring Division will make one of the following decisions:

A. Approve discharges to the public stormwater and/or sanitary sewer system with
restrictions such as described in these pages or as is necessary given the nature
of the discharge.

B. Require the Applicant to obtain an NPDES permit from DEQ for the anticipated
discharge prior to connection to a public system.

Require the Applicant to obtain an OLWS Industrial Pretreatment Permit.

D. Deny the request to discharge to the public stormwater and/or sanitary sewer
system.

E. Allow unrestricted connection to the public stormwater and/or sanitary sewer
system, with an approved monitoring/testing structure.

Contaminants, media, and site conditions are unique to each parcel of land. Sites at risk
for contamination shall therefore be reviewed on a case-by-case basis.

Soil Management

Stockpiles of contaminated soils shall be covered with temporary plastic film or sheeting
to prevent stormwater from contacting them.

Stockpile perimeters shall have a containment barrier on all four sides of every stockpile
to prevent stormwater run-on and material run-off. Barriers can consist of concrete
curbing, silt fencing, or other berm materials, depending on the activity, size, and
resources available.

Areas under stockpiles of contaminated soils are not required to be paved. However, an
impervious layer shall be placed beneath the stockpile to protect uncontaminated areas
from potential leachate.

Construction Dewatering

For technical assistance on obtaining a batch discharge approval for construction
dewatering activities, contact OLWS’s Development Review Division. The following
requirements apply:

A. Construction dewatering discharges from contaminated sites to OLWS's
stormwater system are prohibited. Upon approval by OLWS, these waste
streams may be discharged to the sanitary sewer if the discharge meets all
standards detailed in Section 2.5.1.03.

Oak Lodge Water Services Design and Construction Standards
Section 2—Stormwater and Erosion Control Oct. 10, 2024 (Previous Revision: February 18, 2021)

2-38



B. Laboratory analysis reports with data for all pollutants of concern will be
required.

C. Installation of required pretreatment technology, an approved sampling point,
and/or a meter may be required by OLWS prior to any discharge to the sanitary
sewer is permitted.

D. Contact OLWS for further information on discharging water to the sanitary sewer
system.

E. If onsite infiltration is the proposed method for disposal, authorizations are
required from OLWS and the Land and Water Quality Divisions of DEQ. Private
infiltration facilities for construction dewatering shall be located and maintained
on private property outside the Public ROW.

F. If a public sanitary system is the proposed method of disposal, authorizations are
required from OLWS including the Environmental Monitoring Division and will be
allowed only if extensive pretreatment is implemented and the discharge is
approved by OLWS. All groundwater, stormwater, and surface water discharges
to a sanitary sewer system shall meet local discharge limits and will be subject to
all fees and discharge volume charges.

G. If a Public Stormwater System is the proposed method of disposal, evaluations of
discharge to the public stormwater system will be based on whether discharges
meet, or can be pretreated to meet, requirements of OLWS, NPDES Discharge
Permit or other State and Federal regulations for the receiving drainageway.

H. If a drainageway is the proposed method for disposal, authorizations are
required from OLWS, Land and Water Quality Divisions of DEQ.

Post-Construction Surface Drainage Systems

If onsite infiltration is the proposed method for disposal, authorizations are required
from OLWS, Land Quality, and Water Quality Divisions of DEQ. Private infiltration
facilities shall be located and maintained on private property, outside the Public ROW.

If a drainageway is the proposed method for disposal, authorizations are required from
OLWS, the Army Corps of Engineers (USACE), and both the Land Quality and Water
Quality Divisions of DEQ.

If an offsite public stormwater or sanitary sewer system is the proposed method for
disposal, authorization is required from OLWS. Evaluations for discharges from sites
with suspected contamination will be based on the following:

A. Surface drainage systems that are not exposed to industrial activities,
contaminated soils, or subsurface discharges are not assumed to contain
contaminants and do not pose a threat to public infrastructure. All discharges to
a public sanitary sewer system will require an additional review and approval
process.

Oak Lodge Water Services Design and Construction Standards
Section 2—Stormwater and Erosion Control Oct. 10, 2024 (Previous Revision: February 18, 2021)

2-39



B. A permanent monitoring and testing point may be required to ensure
compliance with discharge regulations. If monitoring is necessary, a permanent
structure (such as a sampling manhole or flow-through vault) shall be
constructed per OLWS Standards and installed on the discharge line.

Laboratory Analysis Reports

Laboratory analysis reports are required to identify the characteristics and levels of
contamination in the soils and groundwater of a site.

OLWS will determine the applicable process to review the laboratory reports to
determine regulatory authority and requirements. Testing and analysis are highly
recommended prior to submitting the site plan. DEQ permitting and/or review may be
required if contaminants are found and the levels of contamination appear to exceed
OLWS discharge regulations. This may delay issuance of the site plans and related
building permits.

Laboratory analysis reports shall include the following information:

A. Analysis reports shall identify the elevation of the seasonal water table and
identify the depth of any perched water aquifers.

B. Analysis reports shall identify the method of laboratory testing, the detection
level and analytical method used for detection, and the depth of any found
contaminants in the soils.

C. Minimum test parameters for baseline contaminants shall include metals
(arsenic, cadmium, chromium, copper, lead, mercury, molybdenum, nickel,
selenium, silver, and zinc); total petroleum hydrocarbons; and benzene, toluene,
ethyl benzene and xylene.

D. Test parameters may be required to include other contaminants identified
through historical data, research, and environmental assessments.

Additional Requirements

Typical structural controls that would need OLWS approval include containment areas,
shut-off valves, oil/water separators and pretreatment facilities. If an Applicant requests
an alternative or exception to any of the source controls identified in this section, the
Applicant shall engage with OLWS staff. These types of requests require an additional
review process and may delay issuance of the site plans and related building or
development permits.

2.5.2.09 Covered Vehicle Parking Areas for Commercial and Industrial Uses

These requirements apply to all development with a covered vehicle parking area,
except single-family and duplex residential sites. Projects that add a cover to an existing
parking structure are not required to meet these requirements unless the project
expands or replaces existing impervious surfaces.

Oak Lodge Water Services Design and Construction Standards
Section 2—Stormwater and Erosion Control Oct. 10, 2024 (Previous Revision: February 18, 2021)

2-40



A. Stormwater runoff from the top floor of a multi-level parking structure shall be
directed to an SMF and Approved Point of Discharge that meets all requirements
of these Standards.

B. Significant amounts of precipitation are not expected to accumulate in covered
vehicle parking areas, and drainage facilities are not required for the lower
floors. If the Applicant elects to install drainage facilities, the drainage from the
lower floors of a multi-level parking structure shall be directed to the public
sanitary sewer system. Prior to discharge all applicable pretreatment and/or oil
water separator requirements shall be met.

C. The surrounding uncovered portions of the site shall be designed so precipitation
and stormwater runoff does not enter the covered parking areas. This can be
accomplished through grading and/or drains.

D. Single-level covers (canopies, overhangs, and carports) are exempt from the
requirements of this section.

2.5.2.10 Industrial and Commercial High Traffic Areas

These requirements apply to all new development with vehicle parking areas for
developments zoned industrial or commercial with high-traffic volumes. High-traffic
volumes are defined as an average daily traffic of 2,500 vehicles, consistent with DEQ’s
Industrial Stormwater Best Management Practices Manual (February 2013).

Industrial and commercial high-traffic areas with a drainage area of over 10,000 sf
directed to a single shall have an adequate oil control facility located upstream of the
SMF. Parking areas of over 10,000 sf that are divided into drainage areas of less than
10,000 sf do not require this pretreatment.

Oil Controls

An oil/water separator with coalescing plates shall be installed between the surface
drainage catchment structure and the stormwater management treatment facility. The
purpose of the device is to treat and prevent hydrocarbons from entering the SMF. This
device shall be maintained per the manufacturer’s specifications and the approved
operations and maintenance plan.

Coalescing plate separators shall be designed to achieve a 100-ppm non-polar oil and
grease limit in the effluent from the peak flow generated by the washing activity.
Testing information must be submitted by the manufacturer of the unit that supports
the 100-ppm effluent standard at the calculated flow rate.

Flow rates will be determined by the drainage area served by the device. The device will
be sized to treat the Water Quality Design Storm as specified in Section 2.6.

For Proprietary Stormwater Treatment Devices (see Section 2.6.5.10), check the vendor
specifications for design flow rates.

Oil controls and pretreatment facility details must be shown on the building plans
submitted at the time of building permit application and shall match manufacturer

Oak Lodge Water Services Design and Construction Standards
Section 2—Stormwater and Erosion Control Oct. 10, 2024 (Previous Revision: February 18, 2021)

2-41



specifications and details, including the unit flow rate, effluent water quality, and
maximum process flow rate.

All oil controls and pretreatment facilities shall be maintained per the manufacturer
specifications and the approved operation and maintenance plan.

2.6 STORMWATER MANAGEMENT FACILITY DESIGN

SMFs include a variety of methods to mitigate stormwater runoff and remove pollutants from
stormwater, including detention, infiltration/retention, sedimentation, filtration, plant uptake,
ion exchange, adsorption, and bacterial decomposition. Infiltration is the preferred method to
address stormwater runoff for water quality and flow control requirements. In some cases,
using a combination of SMFs may be the most effective strategy for removal of specific
pollutants of concern in designated high-risk areas.

This section describes the methods and criteria for designing SMFs to meet water quality and
flow control performance standards. Additional structural source controls may be required for
certain types of development categorized as high risk for pollutants as described in Section 2.5.

OLWS’s Stormwater Standards guide the design of Stormwater Management Plans for new
development and redevelopment projects. Site-specific Stormwater Management Plans are
most effective when developed early in the site planning process. Strategies for meeting the
requirements in these standards depend on several site factors, including soil infiltration
capacity, available infrastructure, proposed development plans, and downstream conveyance.
The plan review and approval requirements are specific to each jurisdiction and may vary from
one application, submittal, and building permit to another. To obtain further information on a
specific plan review or permit process, contact OLWS.

2.6.1 Stormwater Management Performance Standards

Applicants of projects subject to stormwater review must demonstrate that the proposed
project will include SMFs that meet water quality and flow control performance standards.

2.6.1.01 Water Quality Performance Standard

SMFs shall be designed to capture and treat 80 percent of the average annual runoff
volume, to the maximum extent practicable with the goal of 80 percent total suspended
solids removal. In this context, “maximum extent practicable” means less-effective
treatment may not be substituted when it is practicable to provide more effective
treatment. Based on local rainfall frequency and intensity, the required treatment
volume equates to a Water Quality Design Storm of 1.0 inch over 24 hours. SMFs for
water quality shall be designed in conformance with the design guidelines in this
section.

Hydrodynamic separators, when used as a sole method of stormwater treatment, do
not meet the “maximum extent practicable” requirement for stormwater treatment
effectiveness with regard to these Standards.

Oak Lodge Water Services Design and Construction Standards
Section 2—Stormwater and Erosion Control Oct. 10, 2024 (Previous Revision: February 18, 2021)

2-42



2.6.1.02 Flow Control Performance Standard

Flow control facilities shall be designed so that the duration of peak flow rates from
Post-Development Conditions shall be less than or equal to the duration of peak flow
rates from pre-development conditions for all peak flows between 42 percent of the 2-
year peak flow rate up to the 10-year peak flow rate. A hydrologic/hydraulic analytical
model capable of performing a continuous simulation of peak flow rates from local long-
term rainfall data must be used to determine the peak flow rates, recurrence intervals,
and durations. SMFs for flow control shall be designed in conformance with the design
guidelines in Section 2.6.

Flow control is not required for projects that discharge directly to the Willamette River,
provided that all of the following conditions are met:

A. The project site is drained by a stormwater drainage system that is composed
entirely of man-made conveyance elements (e.g., pipes, culverts, ditches, outfall
protection, etc.) and the stormwater drainage system extends to the ordinary
high-water line of the exempt water body.

B. The entire length of the stormwater drainage system between the project site
and the exempt receiving water shall have sufficient hydraulic capacity to convey
discharge from the proposed development of the site and the existing
development condition from the remaining drainage area contributing to the
stormwater drainage system for the 25-year storm event, based on the
conveyance of the design storm as outlined in Section 2.7.3.

C. Any erodible elements of the man-made stormwater drainage system must be
adequately stabilized to prevent erosion under the conditions noted above.

D. The constructed stormwater drainage system does not result in an inter-basin
transfer of runoff, as determined by OLWS.

Projects that are exempt from flow control are still subject to the other requirements
outlined in these standards, including requirements to provide erosion and sediment
control, water quality treatment, stormwater drainage systems, downstream
stormwater drainage system analysis and applicable source controls.

2.6.1.03 Emergency Overflow Pathway

For all projects with SMFs, an overland emergency overflow pathway must be identified
and/or designed that allows runoff from large storm events to discharge without risk of
injury or property damage. The emergency overflow pathway must be incorporated into
the design to show how flow will escape from the site during rainfall events larger than
the design storm and/or from failure of the primary stormwater drainage system. If a
Stormwater Drainage System is used as a component to convey the emergency overflow
pathway, then the structure(s) and system shall be designed to convey the 100-year
Design Storm.

Oak Lodge Water Services Design and Construction Standards
Section 2—Stormwater and Erosion Control Oct. 10, 2024 (Previous Revision: February 18, 2021)

2-43



The Applicant shall identify the proposed 100-year emergency overflow pathway. If
downstream properties are impacted by the 100-year storm event, then the Applicant
shall provide additional flow control or secondary SMFs to mitigate the potential impact.

2.6.1.04 Fee In Lieu

When a proposed development is unable to meet the flow control or water quality
performance standards, OLWS may allow Applicants to pay a fee in lieu of stormwater
management improvements. In such a case, the fee shall be based on a proportional
cost for OLWS to construct an equivalent SMF including costs for land acquisition,
design, construction, maintenance, and administration.

The financial viability of designing and constructing onsite or offsite SMFs is not a
justification to use the fee in lieu program. Applicants must demonstrate that the
proposed development site has one or more physical limitations that prevent the
installation of onsite SMFs, and that offsite or regional facilities are not a feasible
alternative. All projects should meet the downstream stormwater drainage system
capacity requirements, and provide an emergency overflow pathway, as needed.

2.6.2 Stormwater Management Facility Sizing Methods

This section explains the methods accepted by OLWS for determining the appropriate size and
configuration of SMFs to achieve the performance standards.

A Stormwater Report that meets the submittal requirements of Appendix A must accompany
the engineered stormwater plans to demonstrate and document the design, including sizing
methods and calculations.

2.6.2.01 Infiltration

Infiltration is the required strategy to achieve the stormwater management
performance standards unless it can be demonstrated that infiltration is not possible.
When a SMF is designed to fully infiltrate the 10-year, 24-hour Design Storm, the facility
is assumed to meet the flow control performance standard without further analysis.
Such facilities provide onsite stormwater retention for most rainfall conditions and
should only result in partial downstream discharge during events larger than a 10-year
storm. When site conditions do not allow infiltration of the full 10-year, 24-hour Design
Storm, infiltration shall still be incorporated into the flow control facility design to
reduce the volume of discharge released from the site unless it can be proven that
infiltration is not possible. Flow control facilities designed with partial infiltration should
include an underdrain, control structure, and overflow system to manage the release
rates from the facility. Whether or not infiltration is incorporated into the design,
release rates from the facility must meet the flow control performance standard in
Section 2.6.1.02.

When a rain garden, planter, swale, or pond is designed to fully infiltrate the 10-year,
24-hour Design Storm, the facility is also assumed to meet the water quality
performance standard, without further analysis. UIC facilities, such as drywells,

Oak Lodge Water Services Design and Construction Standards
Section 2—Stormwater and Erosion Control Oct. 10, 2024 (Previous Revision: February 18, 2021)

2-44



infiltration trenches, and infiltration chambers may require upstream water quality
treatment to meet the water quality performance standards. Refer to the individual
facility design requirements in Section 2.Error! Reference source not found. to d
etermine which infiltration facilities can be used to provide upstream water quality
treatment for UICs. When a UIC facility is designed to infiltrate the 10-year 24-hour
Design Storm, the Applicant is responsible for demonstrating the proposed UICs will be
rule authorized under Oregon Administrative Rules (OAR) 340-44-008 or will obtain an
DEQ-issued UIC Permit.

The Applicant shall conduct infiltration testing and establish a design infiltration rate as
described in this section. Infiltration testing is required as part of obtaining the Service
Provider Letter.

Infiltration may be limited where any of the following conditions exist:
A. Infiltration rates of less than ¥:-inch per hour.

B. Sites that include steep slopes (>25 percent) and/or geologic hazard zone
designation (Subsection 1002.01, Hillsides of the Clackamas County Zoning and
Development Ordinance). A geotechnical engineering or geologist report and
OLWS approval is required for infiltration facilities located on moderate slopes of
10 to 25 percent.

C. Sites in areas of seasonal high groundwater table. Sites with jurisdictional
wetlands or FEMA floodplains may be required to perform a seasonal high
groundwater table assessment to determine that the seasonal groundwater
table is at least 12 inches below the bottom of proposed non-infiltrating
stormwater facilities.

D. Sites within the 2-year time of travel to irrigation or drinking water wells or
within the 500-foot horizontal setback from irrigation or drinking water wells are
not suitable for UICs, such as drywells or infiltration trenches or galleries.
However, green infrastructure facilities that provide water quality treatment in
conjunction with infiltration, such as rain gardens, planters, and bioinfiltration
swales, may still be used within water pollution control facility (WPCF) permit
setback distances.

E. Sites where SMFs would be located on new or existing structural fill material.

F. Sites that have contaminated soils must be evaluated by the DEQ and/or the EPA
to determine if areas on the property are suitable for infiltration without the risk
of mobilizing contaminants in the soil or groundwater. Documentation showing
contamination assessment and determination must be submitted to OLWS at the
time of application.

G. There is a conflict with required source controls for high-risk sites (see Section
2.5).

Oak Lodge Water Services Design and Construction Standards
Section 2—Stormwater and Erosion Control Oct. 10, 2024 (Previous Revision: February 18, 2021)

2-45



For sites with limiting conditions, Applicants should document the infiltration limitations
and design SMFs that do not use infiltration exclusively to meet the performance
standards. Infiltration testing may still be required to document select limitations.

Sites without limiting conditions have the potential to use infiltration as part of the
stormwater management strategy. Applicants shall conduct infiltration testing and
establish a design infiltration rate for potential SMFs. Infiltration, even at slow rates, has
the potential to retain stormwater at the source, recharge groundwater, and reduce
offsite flows. Incorporating infiltration into SMF design can also reduce the footprint of
required SMFs.

Regardless of the tested infiltration rate of the soils on the site, Applicants must
demonstrate that SMFs will meet the performance standards for water quality
treatment and flow control detailed in Section 2.6.

Infiltration testing is required to determine the suitability to retain the stormwater
runoff.

Infiltration Testing to Establish Site Characteristics and to Assess Stormwater Facility
Viability
Infiltration testing should be conducted to establish site conditions and soil strata.

Infiltration testing can identify ideal locations for SMFs or to identify where site
constraints exist.

Required Infiltration Tests

The type and number of required infiltration tests depends on the size and type of
proposed development (see Table 3 and Table 4). Infiltration testing shall be conducted
according to the specifications in Appendix A, or using an equivalent method approved
by OLWS. When a confining layer, or soil with a greater percentage of fines is observed
during the subsurface investigation to be within 4 feet of the bottom of the planned
SMF, the testing should be conducted within the confining layer

Table 3. Types of Infiltration Tests

Development Size Test Type Number of Tests
Development less than 10,000 square | Basic Method One test at the location and depth of
feet of impervious area each proposed SMF
Development equal to or greater than | Professional / See
10,000 square feet of impervious area | Engineered Method
. P & Table 4.
Table 4. Number of Professional Method Infiltration Tests
Type of Location of Minimum Number Maximum Number of Infiltration
Development Infiltration Test of Infiltration Tests | Tests
Oak Lodge Water Services Design and Construction Standards
Section 2—Stormwater and Erosion Control Oct. 10, 2024 (Previous Revision: February 18, 2021)

2-46



Single Family and

At the location and

One test per SMF

One test per SMF

Partitions depth of the
proposed SMF(s)
Subdivisions At location and One test per SMF If more than five SMFs are proposed,

depth of the
proposed SMF(s)

OLWS may accept a recommended
infiltration rate from a Geotechnical
Engineer based on the consistency of
the soil classification(s) throughout
the site, unless otherwise permitted
by OLWS

Non-single family
residential (e.g.,
multi-family,
commercial,
industrial, and all
other types)

At location and
depth of the
proposed SMF(s)

One test per SMF

If more than five SMFs are proposed,
OLWS may accept a recommended
infiltration rate from a Geotechnical
Engineer based on the consistency of
the soil classification(s) throughout
the site, unless otherwise permitted
by OLWS

Design Infiltration Rate

When feasible, infiltration is the preferred strategy to satisfy the flow control
performance standard. The design infiltration rate shall be determined by the
Developer’s Engineer conducting the infiltration test. A minimum correction factor of 2
shall be applied to the field-tested infiltration rates to determine the design infiltration
rate for SMF design.

The design infiltration rate after applying the safety factor shall not exceed 100 in/hr for
non-vegetative facilities, such as drywells or infiltration chambers. Vegetated facilities
with growing media shall be designed at a maximum infiltration rate of 6.0 in/hr
through the growing media.

SMFs shall be designed with an infiltration component, unless otherwise stipulated by
the design professional. If the SMF cannot be designed to fully infiltrate the 10-year
storm event, then an underdrain and outflow will be required to safely convey the
discharge from the SMF to an approved discharge point. If the proposed facility does not
have an approved discharge point, then it must be designed to fully infiltrate the 25-
year storm event as required by OLWS.

2.6.2.02 Water Quality Facility Sizing

Water quality SMFs shall be sized to capture and treat 80 percent of the average annual
stormwater runoff with the goal of 80 percent total suspended solids removal. This is
equivalent to treating runoff from the first 1.0 inch of an individual 24-hour storm event.

The water quality design volume or flow rate shall be determined through one of the
following methods:

Oak Lodge Water Services Design and Construction Standards

Section 2—Stormwater and Erosion Control Oct. 10, 2024 (Previous Revision: February 18, 2021)

2-47



A. The water quality design volume for volume based SMFs (constructed wetlands,
ponds, planters, rain gardens, and bioinfiltration swales) shall be calculated as the
total runoff volume from a storm with 1.0 inch of precipitation. Volume analysis may
be performed using a hydrograph analysis program or spreadsheet tools. (Refer to
Section 2.7 and Appendix D for design limitations and calculation references when
using the Santa Barbara Urban Hydrograph [SBUH], Technical Release 55 (TR-55), or
SWMM method for sizing water quality treatment.) The City of Portland’s
Stormwater Management Manual Presumptive Approach Calculator is not approved
for use to meet OLWS Water Quality Facility Sizing.

B. The design flow rate for flow based SMFs (filter strips and most manufactured
treatment systems) shall be calculated as the peak discharge from design storm with
the following peak rainfall intensities:

a. Design storm intensity for online facilities of 0.18-inches per hour (in/hr)
b. Design storm intensity for offline facilities of 0.10 in/hr

C. Use a continuous simulation hydrologic/hydraulic model analysis that addresses the
design equivalent of capturing and treating 80 percent of the average annual
stormwater runoff.

D. Volume calculations using the 1.0-inch Design Storm and the following equation:

1,000
p o2+ | -10] 2
Vimp or Vper\.'= 3,630 *A* ( design o CN )
P . +08 1,000
( design [ _ 10] )
CN

where:
V = runoff volume (impervious or pervious), cubic feet
A = drainage area, acres
P = design precipitation depth, inches (assumed to be 1.0 for water quality sizing)

CN = National Resource Conservation Service (NRCS) curve number, unitless (see
Appendix D)

2.6.2.03 Flow Control Facility Sizing

To design for flow duration matching, a hydrologic/hydraulic analytical model capable of
performing a continuous simulation of peak flow rates from local long-term rainfall data
must be used to determine the peak flow rates, recurrence intervals, and durations.

The Developer’s Engineer may use any analytical model capable of performing a
continuous simulation of peak flows from long-term local rainfall records. Regardless of
how the stormwater calculations are performed, the report submitted to OLWS must
show how the proposed SMFs meet the flow control performance standards. Creation
of a continuous simulation hydrologic model for a specific development site requires
specialized expertise and usually takes additional time and expense to develop and

Oak Lodge Water Services Design and Construction Standards
Section 2—Stormwater and Erosion Control Oct. 10, 2024 (Previous Revision: February 18, 2021)

2-48



review. The Applicant may be required to pay additional fees to OLWS to review the
Stormwater Management Plan developed using other modeling methods. These fees
will be used to pay for a third-party peer review of the stormwater report, hydrologic
model, and facility design.

2.6.3 General Design Requirements

SMFs, such as planters, swales, rain gardens, ponds, and other vegetated facilities are the
required strategy to meet the stormwater management requirements for water quality
treatment and flow control unless it can be demonstrated that a vegetated SMF is not possible
based on infiltration limitations or site constraints. The best way to control the rate and
duration of runoff is through the incorporation of infiltration using vegetated SMFs.

2.6.3.01 Allowable Facilities

While OLWS provides design guidance for privately maintained SMF types, not all
facilities are acceptable for use in every jurisdictional area. See Section 2.6.5 for facilities
that are approved for use in OLWS which cover areas managed by OLWS only.

Applicants should consult with OLWS and local agency staff to understand the types of
SMFs that could be approved for use on the project.

If a proposed facility meets the DEQ criteria for a UIC, the Applicant shall comply with
UIC requirements and prepare appropriate registration information for DEQ.

2.6.3.02 Alternative Facilities

Applicants may propose SMFs that are not allowed as per Section 2.6.3.01. Such a
proposal will require the Applicant to submit a request for a variance per Section 2.2.8.
Alternate facilities must be designed to meet the performance standards outlined in
Section 2.6.

2.6.4 General Facility Design Requirements

The following design requirements apply to all SMFs. Additional facility specific design criteria
are included in Section 2.6.5.

2.6.4.01 Location and Setbacks

Applicants must review local zoning, building and plumbing code requirements to
understand setback requirements for SMFs. The minimum setback for a stormwater
facility is 5 feet from a property line, unless more distance is specified by the
Developer’s Engineer, geotechnical engineer, and/or by local and state minimum
setback requirements. See OLWS Buffer Standards for further information on the design
requirements for vegetated facilities and buffer areas.

In addition, stormwater facilities that incorporate an infiltration component are subject
to all local and state minimum setback requirements. A geotechnical report is required

Oak Lodge Water Services Design and Construction Standards
Section 2—Stormwater and Erosion Control Oct. 10, 2024 (Previous Revision: February 18, 2021)

2-49



to determine setbacks from slopes for infiltration facilities installed near slopes >15
percent or within 200 feet of a steep slope hazard area or landslide hazard area.

Easements and Setbacks

Piped stormwater drainage systems shall generally be located in the Public ROW. Public
stormwater drainage system facilities not located in the Public ROW shall be located
within an easement granted to the Public and not Oak Lodge specifically.

When design conditions require locating stormwater drains in easements, the
stormwater drain shall typically be centered in the easement.

An easement shall be centered on the pipe centerline, unless otherwise approved by
OLWS, and easements shall typically be exclusive. Combined easements shall be a
minimum of 20 feet wide with a minimum separation of 5 feet between utilities and be
approved by OLWS on a case-by-case basis and in conjunction with Clackamas County
DTD.

All public manholes, junction or inlet structures in easements shall be accessible to
OLWS personnel at all times. A minimum 15-foot-wide access easement is required
between the nearest ROW and each structure. Paved or gravel access road may be
required by OLWS, if access is deemed necessary, and otherwise unavailable.

Unless shown on a proposed plat of subdivision, all onsite easements shall be furnished
to OLWS for review, approval, and recordation prior to approving the Stormwater
Management Plan.

All offsite easements shall be furnished to OLWS for review, approval, and recordation
prior to approving the Stormwater Management Plan.

OLWS may require that an area of 5 feet in all directions from the edge of a public
manhole, catch basin, cleanout, or field inlet be encompassed in a Public ROW or
easement granted to the Public.

Access easements shall be provided to all stormwater structures such as manholes,
catch basins, and other related structures, as required by OLWS.

When a pipe will be stubbed, the easement shall extend a minimum of 5 feet past the
end of the stub.

The center of the stormwater pipes in an easement shall be located no closer than 5
feet from the easement line.

The following easement requirements are the minimum requirements established to
maintain, repair and/or replace the stormwater infrastructure or open stormwater
drainage system.

A. Easements shall be minimum 15 feet wide for pipes up to 24 inches in diameter.

B. Easements for pipes over 24 inches in diameter shall be 20 feet wide or greater
as determined by OLWS.

Oak Lodge Water Services Design and Construction Standards
Section 2—Stormwater and Erosion Control Oct. 10, 2024 (Previous Revision: February 18, 2021)

2-50



C. OLWS may require wider easements for large trunk sewers, sewers greater than
10 feet deep and areas with topographic constraints such as steep slopes or sites
where maintenance, repair or replacement would require a wider easement.

D. Areduced easement width must be approved by OLWS.

E. Easement widths shall be increased as required in 5-foot increments as per

F. Tables.
Table 5. Minimum Pipe Size per Minimum Easement Width
Pipe Size (inches) Minimum Easement Width (feet)
6-12 15
15<24 15
24 <54 20
>54 30

When a conservation easement is not required, the minimum open stormwater channel
easement width shall extend 5 feet from each side of the top of bank of the open
channel.

Structures constructed within easements shall meet the following requirements:

A. Structures constructed within easements shall require an encroachment
agreement with OLWS. Approval of the encroachment is at the discretion of
OLWS and may involve the imposition of specific conditions in the granting of
such. The Applicant will complete an encroachment agreement application and
pay all applicable charges and fees.

B. The encroachment agreement shall allow OLWS to remove the structure, as
needed, to access the stormwater drainage system. Replacement of the
structure shall be at the Owner’s expense.

C. OLWS may require increased protection for the stormwater drainage system in
the vicinity of an encroachment. All special protection requirements and plans
will be reviewed and approved by OLWS. All review and/or approval costs
associated with this provision will be paid by the Applicant.

2.6.4.02 Outlet Structures

SMFs designed as flow through systems shall have a perforated pipe underdrain system
to convey water from the facility to a flow control structure and/or downstream
stormwater drainage system.

Orifice sizes for SMFs will be specified by the BMP Sizing Tool results. Orifices shall be
located to prevent clogging and blockages. Outlet structures (orifices, weirs, overflow
risers, etc.) shall be configured to operate as passive systems and shall not require
adjustments during normal operation.

Oak Lodge Water Services Design and Construction Standards
Section 2—Stormwater and Erosion Control Oct. 10, 2024 (Previous Revision: February 18, 2021)

2-51



Flow control structures shall be located in an enclosed structure, outside the open water
storage area, in a location that provides sufficient maintenance access for a minimum of
20 feet. Flow control manholes shall have solid locking covers, however open grates
may be permitted.

Outlet structures and overflow configurations must address the 100-year overflow
pathway requirements in Section 2.6.1.03.

Additional outlet requirements for specific facility types are addressed in Section 2.6.5.

2.6.4.03 Stormwater Facility Signage

All SMFs, including permeable surfaces such as pervious pavement shall have at least
one informational sign and one curb stamp that is clearly visible and legible to the
public.

The Permittee shall install the applicable sign(s) before OLWS deems the project is
completed, and/or prior to the issuance of the Certificate of Occupancy Permit.

Signs for publicly maintained SMFs require the following:

A. The Permittee shall be responsible for obtaining and installing the stormwater
facility sign at their own expense.

B. The material shall be aluminum with green reflective sheeting and silk screen
lettering or equal as approved by OLWS.

C. The minimum sign size shall be 12 by 18 inches. The maximum sign size shall be
24 by 30 inches.

D. The sign shall be affixed to metal signpost, or facility fencing.

The sign shall be installed near the stormwater facility in a location highly visible
to the public.

F. The sign shall be created and installed in accordance with the Clackamas County
Standard Detail Drawing D.26 SWM ST-3.0 Stormwater — Surface Water Facility
Signs.

G. An electronic file format of the sign is available upon request from OLWS.
H. Signs may be available for purchase from OLWS.

Signs for privately maintained vegetated SMFs shall be provided by the Permittee and
will include:

A. Description of the facility and its purpose
B. Contact information for maintenance complaints or to report a problem.

Signs for privately maintained permeable surfaces, such as pervious pavement, shall be
provided by the Permittee and will include at least the following information:

A. Description of the facility and its purpose

Oak Lodge Water Services Design and Construction Standards
Section 2—Stormwater and Erosion Control Oct. 10, 2024 (Previous Revision: February 18, 2021)

2-52



B. Contact information for maintenance complaints or to report a problem.
C. Operations and maintenance instructions, such as:
a. Avoid tracking or piling dirt, mud, or sediment on the driveway.

b. If debris is tracked onto the driveway surface, clean by using a vacuum-type
street cleaner during dry weather.

c. Maintain vegetation along the sides of the driveway to help keep erosion and
sediment laden water from clogging the surface.

d. Do not place any sealants on the driveway.

2.6.4.04 Soil Mixes for Stormwater Management Facilities

Vegetated facilities require a soil/landscape system that simultaneously supports plant
growth, soil microbes, water infiltration, nutrient and pollutant adsorption, sediment
and pollutant filtration, and pollutant decomposition. Therefore, the soil mix selected
for a facility is critical to its success.

Facilities that include soil, such as swales, planters, curb extensions, and basins, must
use the Blended Soil Specification for Vegetated Stormwater Systems from the most
currently adopted City of Portland’s Standard Construction Specifications in section
0104.14(d), titled Stormwater Facility Blended Soil. See the City of Portland’s
Stormwater Management Manual website for information about the most current soil
specification information and a list of stormwater facility blended soil vendors and
haulers.

2.6.4.05 Planting and Irrigation

SMF planting guidelines are included in Appendix B. Planting plans must meet the
following requirements:

A. Establish and implement procedures such as control of the following: invasive
weeds, animal and vandal damage, mulching, re-staking, and watering to the
extent needed (as determined by OLWS) to ensure plant survival. Plastic and
mesh tubes are prohibited and shall not be used within a publicly maintained
facility.

B. Stormwater facilities located in the Public ROW are not permitted to include
trees.

C. Selected plant materials should be appropriate for soil, hydrologic, and other
facility and site conditions (see Appendix B).

D. For facilities located in riparian corridors, all plants within the facility area shall
be appropriate native species from the plant list found in Appendix B of the
Buffer Standards.

E. No nuisance, invasive, or prohibited plants shall be used in any stormwater
facilities.

Oak Lodge Water Services Design and Construction Standards
Section 2—Stormwater and Erosion Control Oct. 10, 2024 (Previous Revision: February 18, 2021)

2-53



F. The design for plantings shall minimize the need for herbicides, fertilizers,
pesticides, or soil amendments at any time before, during, and after construction
and on a long-term basis.

G. Plants shall be selected and planted to minimize the need for mowing, pruning,
and irrigation once established.

H. Side slopes of planted areas shall not exceed 3h:1v.

The Developer’s Engineer or Landscape Architect shall determine the appropriate
irrigation strategy to maintain the plant survivability. Temporary irrigation systems must
be fully removed by the Developer before OLWS releases the stormwater warranty
bond.

2.6.4.06 Pond Embankment, Retaining Walls, Fencing, Gates, and Handrails

Pond embankments and retaining walls are allowed to impound water to enhance the
functionality of the SMF.

Pond Embankments

Pond embankments must be constructed with a maximum slope of 3h:1v on the
upstream and downstream face. Side slopes within the pond must be sloped no steeper
than 3h:1v below the maximum water surface elevation, unless otherwise approved by
OLWS.

Retaining Walls

Retaining walls greater than 4-feet in height shall have a professional structural or
geotechnical engineer registered in Oregon provide stamped design calculations and
detail drawings required for the retaining wall construction, per local building code
requirements. Stormwater ponds that require retaining walls will be limited to the
height of 10 feet above the vegetated surface elevation for 50 percent of the
circumference of the facility, and 6 feet for the remaining portion of the circumference,
unless otherwise approved by OLWS.

Retaining Wall Ownership

OLWS shall not have any maintenance or ownership responsibility for retaining walls.
The Owner of the property (HOA) shall be responsible for the maintenance, repair,
and/or replacement of the retaining wall(s) within the public easement(s) or tract(s).
The ownership and maintenance responsibility for the retaining wall shall be clearly
specified in the CCRs and/or within the stormwater maintenance plan.

Fencing, Gate and Handrails

A minimum 6-foot high fence is required to be constructed around the parameter of all
publicly maintained stormwater facilities with a designed water depth greater than 3
feet. Publicly maintained stormwater facility must provide a maintenance access gate
with a minimum opening width of 12 feet wide that consists of two 6-foot sections.

Oak Lodge Water Services Design and Construction Standards
Section 2—Stormwater and Erosion Control Oct. 10, 2024 (Previous Revision: February 18, 2021)

2-54



Fencing or handrails may be required along the top of the retaining wall in accordance
with local zoning and building codes.

2.6.4.07 Public Maintenance Access

Publicly maintained stormwater facilities and structures must provide an access road
designed and constructed for the intended use and purpose for accessing and
maintaining the proposed SMFs. OLWS-maintained facilities should be located adjacent
to the Public ROW. Public maintenance access roads shall be designed and constructed
to the minimum standards as specified in Table 6.

A. Maintenance road access for OLWS-maintained facilities shall be shown on the
recorded plat and be situated in a separate tract and identified with the specific
and intended use for maintenance access.

B. OLWS may require additional protection for access roads, including fencing,
signs, and/or bollards to restrict public access. Minimum maintenance access of
20 feet to structures is required.

C. All access roads must be rated for a minimum of 80,000 pounds.

Table 6. Access Road Specifications

WIDTH STRUCTURAL
SLOPE DESIGNATION SURFACE DESIGN NEEDS
TOTAL | ROAD SUPPORT
8-INCH
< 8% EASEMENT 15-ft 12-ft GRAVEL N/A GRAVEL
FILTER FABRIC
w/o 8-INCH
>8% < 12% TRACT 15-ft 12-ft 2-INCH A.C. GRAVEL
TURNAROUND FILTER FABRIC
w/ 8-INCH
12% - 15% TRACT 20-ft 15-ft 2-INCH A.C. TURNAROUND GRAVEL
W/ LANDING FILTER FABRIC
>15% CONTACT OLWS

General Requirements
A Profile of the access road is required.
Maximum grade:
A. 15 percent with a maximum 3 percent cross-slope.
B. Special permission is required for grades over 15 percent.
Minimum width of surface:

A. 12 feet on straight runs and 15 feet on curves.

B. Curves will be designed with a minimum 40-foot interior radius.

Oak Lodge Water Services Design and Construction Standards

Section 2—Stormwater and Erosion Control Oct. 10, 2024 (Previous Revision: February 18, 2021)

2-55




C. Access will extend to within 10 feet of all pollution control structures unless
otherwise approved by OLWS.

D. Access roads in excess of 150 feet in length is required to have a turnaround.

E. Turnaround is required when access is taken from a collector or arterial
roadway.

Provide a minimum 12-foot wide double opening gate at the entrance of the
stormwater facility maintenance access.

Access Road Contained Within a Tract of Land

All publicly maintained stormwater facilities must provide an access road in accordance
with these Standards and must be contained within a Tract of Land that has an OLWS
stormwater drainage easement.

Design
Access Road:
A. Horizontal curves
a. Minimum Radius for (inside) = 40 feet
B. Vertical Curves
a. Vertical Curves
i. Crest maximumK=4
ii. Sag maximum K =6
Where K = L/A
L= algebraic difference in grades percent
A= length of vertical curve (feet)
Landing:
A. Maximum slope = 4 percent
B. Minimum length of 40 feet
Turnaround:
A. Design per Clackamas County Roadway Standards — Detail C350
B. Maximum cross slope = 4 percent
C. Minimum width of the access road 12 feet
D. Minimum radius for (inside) = 30 feet

Typical Surface:

Oak Lodge Water Services Design and Construction Standards
Section 2—Stormwater and Erosion Control Oct. 10, 2024 (Previous Revision: February 18, 2021)

2-56



Three 3-inches of class “B” asphaltic concrete and 2 inches of %”-0” compacted crushed
rock; over 8 inches of 1%”-0” compacted crushed rock; over subgrade compacted to 95
percent AASHTO T-99.

The Developer’s Engineer may submit a certified road design capable of supporting a 30-
ton maintenance vehicle in all weather conditions.

Driveway Access:

All access roads shall have a standard driveway with 6 inches of concrete over 2 inches
of gravel. The plan will include design of strengthened sidewalk sections (6 inches of
concrete minimum) where maintenance vehicles will cross. (See D600 Clackamas County
Department of Transportation).

The final plan will have to show how maintenance equipment will safely access the
pond. At least one side of the detention pond is required to have access suitable for
maintenance equipment (backhoe etc.). Direct access to the pond must be 15 feet wide
and slopes of 4h:1v or flatter.

2.6.4.08 Private Maintenance Access

Privately maintained facilities shall be located in a manner so that the facility can be
safely and efficiently maintained. Egress and ingress access routes shall be clear of any
obstacles and constructed of a sufficient surface to safely convey the size and weight of
vehicles, and equipment necessary to maintain, repair and replace the SMF.

2.6.4.09 Underground Injection Control Registration

Infiltrators and infiltration trenches are generally classified as UICs by DEQ. OLWS will
evaluate each case and may accept ownership and/or maintenance responsibility for
UICs. For UICs on private property, with the exception of single-family residential roof
and footing drains, there is a requirement to register the UICs and provide site inventory
data to DEQ.

Any proposed UIC facility shall be authorized pursuant to OAR 340-44-008, have an DEQ-
issued UIC permit associated with the facility, or have a notice of intent to issue a UIC
permit.

2.6.5 Stormwater Facility Design Requirements
The following section includes SMF design guidelines for facilities approved for use in OLWS.
Typical facility drawings are included in Section 5.

2.6.5.01 Stormwater Planter

Stormwater planters are walled basins that capture and treat runoff through a
combination of vegetation and an engineered soil mix called biofiltration soil medium.
Planters may also be used for flow control when designed with infiltration or with an
underdrain with controlled outlet.

Oak Lodge Water Services Design and Construction Standards
Section 2—Stormwater and Erosion Control Oct. 10, 2024 (Previous Revision: February 18, 2021)

2-57



Planters treat stormwater through sedimentation of particles in ponded water; filtration
and phytoremediation through contact with vegetation; and biodegradation and
adsorption of pollutants through contact with soil organisms and chemical soil
processes. Planters and rain gardens provide similar treatment and flow control
performance, though planters require less space than rain gardens to treat the same
contributing area.

General Stormwater Facility Requirements

Water quality pretreatment is generally not required.

Stormwater facilities shall be designed to treat the entire inflow.

An infiltration test shall be conducted at the location and depth of the facility.

SMFs shall have a minimum separation of 3 feet from the bottom of the facility to the
seasonal high groundwater elevation or other layer that limits infiltration (e.g., bedrock,
clay lens).

If infiltration is used as a design component to determine retention, then the maximum
draw down time is 24 hours.

Native soil infiltration rate shall be at least 0.25 in/hr for an infiltration planter. If the
infiltration rate is less than 0.25 in/hr, an underdrain is required. For native soil
infiltration rates between 0.25 and 2.0 in/hr, the engineer shall determine the need for
an underdrain based on design performance calculations.

Water quality planters shall be located prior to the flow control facility, and not be
located downstream of detention.

Planters are designed with vertical walls and may require a structural engineer to design
(because of their structural walls).

Planters receiving stormwater from downspouts need energy dissipation at the
downspout outlet and planters receiving water from the street need a sediment forebay
to facilitate maintenance.

Lined flow-through planters may not have setback requirements from building
foundations. Check with local building code division to confirm the setback of these
facilities from building, structures, and property lines.

Planters shall be designed to consider safety issues (including pedestrian safety).
Curbing, fencing, railings, or placing planters above grade may be necessary. Planters
located within the ROW shall be approved by the local roadway authority.

Dimensions
Drain rock depth: 18 inches.
Minimum bottom width: 2.0 feet.

Minimum orifice size: filtration facilities 0.5-inches, all other 1.0 inches.

Oak Lodge Water Services Design and Construction Standards
Section 2—Stormwater and Erosion Control Oct. 10, 2024 (Previous Revision: February 18, 2021)

2-58



Minimum freeboard: 2.0 inches, if contributing area is less than 10,000 sf; 6.0 inches for
larger contributing areas.

Maximum ponding depth: 12.0 inches.
Depth of biofiltration mix: 18 inches minimum.
Materials

When required, waterproof liners shall be 30 mil polyvinyl chloride (PVC) membrane or
equivalent.

Planter walls and bottom (when needed) shall be made of concrete. Chemically treated
wood that can leach out toxic chemicals and contaminate stormwater shall not be used.

Drain rock is required below the biofiltration soil mix. For infiltration planters, use 0.75
to 1.5 inches of washed drain rock. Drain rock shall conform to Oregon Department of
Transportation (ODOT) Standard Specifications 00430.11 or AASHTO No. 4.

When used, underdrains shall be a minimum of 4-inches diameter for private facilities
and a minimum of 6 inches for publicly maintained facilities. Underdrains shall be
slotted or perforated PVC that conforms to American Society for Testing and Materials
(ASTM) D 3034, with a pipe stiffness of 46 pounds per square inch (psi) or a minimum
standard dimensional ratio (SDR) of 35 or approved equal. Installation and testing
requirements shall conform to the current OPSC and ODOT Standard Specification
02415.50 for PVC pipe. Slotted perforations (0.064-inch-wide x 1.00 inch-long, spaced
0.3-inch on center) are preferred and less susceptible to clogging.

Drain rock and biofiltration soil mix shall be separated by a 2-inch to 3-inch choker
course layer. Choker course shall conform to ODOT Standard Specifications 00430.11.

Biofiltration soil mix must support long-term plant and soil health and provide
treatment for water as it moves through the soil column. See Section 2.6.4.04 for soil
mix requirements.

Plant selection shall follow the Planting Guide in Appendix B. Plant selection shall be
based on water level tolerances during the rainy season, as well as the ability of plants
to withstand dry summer conditions. Species should be selected that are suitable for the
hydrologic, light, and soil conditions in the proposed planter. Planters shall be designed
so that they do not require mowing.

2.6.5.02 Rain Garden

Rain gardens are vegetated depressions that capture and treat runoff with a
combination of vegetation and biofiltration soil medium. Rain gardens may also be used
for flow control when designed to infiltrate or with an underdrain with controlled
outlet.

Rain gardens treat stormwater through sedimentation of particles in ponded water,
filtration, and phytoremediation through contact with vegetation, and biodegradation
and adsorption of pollutants through contact with soil organisms and chemical soil

Oak Lodge Water Services Design and Construction Standards
Section 2—Stormwater and Erosion Control Oct. 10, 2024 (Previous Revision: February 18, 2021)

2-59



processes. Rain gardens are ideal for residential and small commercial sites, within
parking lots, and along roadways. They can help fulfill landscaping requirements.

Rain gardens may take a variety of shapes to fit the site layout. Rain gardens may be
round, linear, or irregular shape and can have multiple distinct depressions, called cells,
which can be linked hydraulically via overflow structures or berms.

Site Requirements
Pretreatment is not required.
An infiltration test shall be conducted at the location and depth of the facility.

Rain gardens shall have a minimum separation of 3 feet from the bottom of the facility
to the seasonal high groundwater elevation or other layer that limits infiltration (e.g.,
bedrock, clay lens).

If infiltration is used as a design component to determine retention, then the maximum
draw down time is 24 hours.

The native soil infiltration rate shall be at least 0.25 in/hr for an infiltration rain garden.
If the infiltration rate is less than 0.25 in/hr, an underdrain is required. For native soil
infiltration rates between 0.25 and 2.0 in/hr, the engineer shall determine the need for
an underdrain based on design performance calculations.

Water quality rain gardens shall not be located downstream of detention.
Dimensions

Minimum drain rock depth: 18 inches.

Minimum bottom width: 2.0 feet

Planted side slopes: no steeper than three horizontal to one vertical (3h:1v). Rock or
concrete walls may be used for areas that require steeper side slopes.

Minimum orifice size: filtration facilities 0.5-inches, all other 1.0 inch.

Minimum freeboard: 2.0 inches, if contributing area is less than 10,000 sf; 6.0 inches for
larger contributing areas.

Maximum ponding depth: 12.0 inches.

Depth of biofiltration mix: 18 -inches minimum.

Materials

When required, waterproof liners shall be 30 mil PVC membrane or equivalent.

Drain rock is required below the biofiltration soil mix. For infiltration rain gardens, use
0.75 to 1.5 inches of washed drain rock. Drain rock shall conform to ODOT Standard
Specifications 00430.11 or AASHTO No. 4.

When used, underdrains shall be a minimum of 4-inches diameter for private facilities
and a minimum of 6 inches for public facilities. Underdrains shall be slotted or
perforated PVC that conforms to ASTM D 3034, with a pipe stiffness of 46 psi or a

Oak Lodge Water Services Design and Construction Standards
Section 2—Stormwater and Erosion Control Oct. 10, 2024 (Previous Revision: February 18, 2021)

2-60



minimum SDR of 35 or approved equal. Installation and testing requirements shall
conform to the current UPC and ODOT Standard Specification 02415.50 for PVC pipe.
Slotted perforations (0.064-inch-wide x 1.00 inch-long, spaced 0.3-inch on center) are
preferred and less susceptible to clogging.

Drain rock and biofiltration soil mix shall be separated by a 2- to 3-inch choker course
layer. Choker course shall conform to ODOT Standard Specifications 00430.11.

Biofiltration soil mix must support long-term plant and soil health and provide
treatment for water as it moves through the soil column. See Section 2.6404 for soil mix
requirements.

Plant selection shall follow the Planting Guide in Appendix B. Plant selection shall be
based on water level tolerances during the rainy season, as well as ability of plants to
withstand dry summer conditions. Species should be selected that are suitable for the
hydrologic, light, and soil conditions in the proposed rain garden. Rain gardens shall be
designed so that they do not require mowing.

2.6.5.03 Vegetated Swale

Vegetated swales are gently sloping, landscaped depressions that collect, convey, and
treat stormwater runoff with a combination of vegetation and a biofiltration soil
medium. Swales may also be used for flow control when designed with infiltration or
with an underdrain with controlled outlet. Vegetated swales are designed much like rain
gardens, but with a sloping bottom.

Vegetated swales reduce stormwater flow rates, volume, and temperature and improve
water quality. Pollutants are removed as runoff passes through the vegetation and soil
media and is collected in an underlying layer of gravel or drain rock. Swales are ideal for
residential and small commercial sites, within parking lots, and along roadways. They
can help fulfill landscaping requirements.

Site Requirements
Pretreatment is not required.
An infiltration test shall be conducted at the location and depth of the facility.

SMFs shall have a minimum separation of 3 feet from the bottom of the facility to the
seasonal high groundwater elevation or other layer that limits infiltration (e.g., bedrock,
clay lens).

If infiltration is used as a design component to determine retention, then the maximum
draw down time is 24 hours.

The native soil infiltration rate shall be at least 0.25 in/hr for an infiltration swale. If the
infiltration rate is less than 0.25 in/hr, an underdrain is required. For native soil
infiltration rates between 0.25 and 2.0 in/hr, the Developer’s Engineer shall determine
the need for an underdrain based on design performance calculations.

Water quality swales shall not be located downstream of detention.

Oak Lodge Water Services Design and Construction Standards
Section 2—Stormwater and Erosion Control Oct. 10, 2024 (Previous Revision: February 18, 2021)

2-61



Dimensions

Longitudinal Slope: range is from 0.5 to 6 percent (for steeper sites, use check dams or
similar features to slow flow velocity and create step pools to promote infiltration.) See
Drawing 206 in Section 5.

Minimum drain rock depth: 18 inches.
Minimum bottom width: 2.0 feet.

Planted side slopes: no steeper than three horizontal to one vertical (3h:1v). Rock or
concrete walls may be used for areas that require steeper side slopes.

Minimum orifice size: 0.5-inches.

Minimum freeboard: 2.0 inches, if contributing area is less than 3,000 sf; 6.0 inches for
larger contributing areas.

Maximum ponding depth: 12.0 inches.

Depth of biofiltration mix: 18 inches minimum.

Materials

When required, waterproof liners shall be 30 mil PVC membrane or equivalent.

Drain rock is required below the biofiltration soil mix. For infiltration swales, use 0.75 to
1.5 inches of washed drain rock. Drain rock shall conform to ODOT Standard
Specifications 00430.11 or AASHTO No. 4.

When used, underdrains shall be a minimum of 4-inches diameter for private facilities
and a minimum of 6 inches for public facilities. Underdrains shall be slotted or
perforated PVC that conforms to ASTM D 3034, with a pipe stiffness of 46 psi or a
minimum SDR of 35 or approved equal. Installation and testing requirements shall
conform to the current UPC and ODOT Standard Specification 02415.50 for PVC pipe.
Slotted perforations (0.064-inch-wide x 1.00 inch-long, spaced 0.3-inch on center) are
preferred and less susceptible to clogging.

Drain rock and biofiltration soil mix shall be separated by a 2-inch to 3-inch choker
course layer. Choker course shall conform to ODOT Standard Specifications 00430.11.

Biofiltration soil mix must support long-term plant and soil health and provide
treatment for water as it moves through the soil column. See Section 2.6.4.04 for soil
mix requirements.

Plant selection shall follow the Planting Guide in Appendix B. Plant selection shall be
based on water level tolerances during the rainy season, as well as ability of plants to
withstand dry summer conditions. Species should be selected that are suitable for the
hydrologic, light, and soil conditions in the proposed swale. Swales shall be designed so
that they do not require mowing.

Oak Lodge Water Services Design and Construction Standards
Section 2—Stormwater and Erosion Control Oct. 10, 2024 (Previous Revision: February 18, 2021)

2-62



2.6.5.04 Filter Strip

Filter strips are gently sloped areas intended to remove pollutants using sheet flow that
runs off adjacent impervious surfaces. Filter strips are vegetated with grasses and
densely spaced groundcovers that filter pollutants and reduce the velocity of
stormwater.

Filter strips are a good choice for use adjacent to uncurbed roads where a gravel
shoulder or shallow gravel strip helps to uniformly distribute flow. They can also be
good choices for small projects; for example, to provide water quality treatment for roof
or driveway runoff before it is discharged into a drywell, infiltration trench, or other
facility.

Site Requirements
Pretreatment not required.
Filter strips are appropriate for all soil types.

Flow shall be distributed evenly along the length of the strip. This may require additional
structures or design features to fully spread point discharges along the length of the
strip.

Filter strips shall be a minimum of 50 feet from wetlands, rivers, streams, and creeks.

The maximum flow path distance of the contributing impervious surface shall be 100
feet to prevent concentrated flow.

Dimensions
Slope (measured in the direction of flow): 0.5 to 10 percent
Minimum width: 5 feet, measured in the direction of flow

Maximum slope of contributing impervious area (measured in the direction of flow): 6
percent. Steeper slopes may be allowed with an appropriate energy dissipation
structure between the impervious area and filter strip.

Maximum design flow depth: 1.0 inch for water quality flow.
Maximum design velocity: 0.5-feet per second for water quality flow.

The filter strip width and slope shall be determined through iterative calculations, using
the following two equations:

and
where:
Q = water quality flow rate, cubic feet per second
T = filter strip width (measured in the direction of flow), feet
S =filter strip slope (measured in the direction of flow), feet per feet

y = flow depth, feet (maximum 0.083)

Oak Lodge Water Services Design and Construction Standards
Section 2—Stormwater and Erosion Control Oct. 10, 2024 (Previous Revision: February 18, 2021)

2-63



n = Manning’s roughness coefficient, unitless
V = flow velocity, feet per second (maximum 0.5)
Materials

Plant selection shall follow the Planting Guide in Appendix B. Establish dense plant
growth of groundcovers, herbaceous plants, and shrubs, with a goal of 95 percent
coverage. Filter strips often experience moist soil conditions during the wet, rainy
season and dry soil conditions during warm summers. Plant selection should respond to
specific site conditions for each facility.

2.6.5.05 Drywell

A drywell is an underground perforated pipe or chamber that collects stormwater runoff
and gradually discharges it into underlying soils.

Drywells are “Class V Injection Wells” under the federal Underground Injection Control
Program (OAR Division 44). UICs are either classified as exempt (no registration
required), authorized by rule, or authorized by permit. Designers are urged to review
current regulations and UIC registration materials from DEQ.

Drywells do not provide water quality treatment, so water quality treatment is required
before stormwater discharges into drywells. Drywells utilized exclusively to infiltrate the
roof runoff from one single-family residential roof are exempt, and a silt trap is the only
pretreatment necessary. An approved water quality pretreatment device is required for
multiple single-family residential roofs to discharge into a common drywell. Where
space is available, rain gardens are preferred to manage residential runoff because they
provide both treatment and flow control (and are not regulated UICs). The intent of this
section is to support compliance with the water quality treatment requirements as
specified by the State of Oregon UIC regulations.

Site Requirements

Native soil design infiltration rate shall be at least 2.0 in/hr. Apply a factor of 2 to the
tested infiltration rate to determine the design rate.

Bottom of drywells and other types of stormwater injection devices shall be at least 3
feet above seasonal high groundwater or impermeable layer.

The edge of excavation for the drywell shall be at least 10 feet from building
foundations, unless otherwise specified by the local building code division.

Drywells are not allowed on slopes of 15 percent or more.
Drywells are not allowed in areas with existing soil or groundwater contamination

Drywells may be allowed to be located under the travel surface within the Public ROW.
The minimum setback from the edge of the travel lane is 5 feet. Check with the local
roadway authority,

Oak Lodge Water Services Design and Construction Standards
Section 2—Stormwater and Erosion Control Oct. 10, 2024 (Previous Revision: February 18, 2021)

2-64



Soil surrounding the drain rock, surrounding the drywells shall be native, uncompacted
soil.

Drywells are not allowed within 500 feet of drinking water or irrigation wells or within
the 2-year time of travel setback to drinking water or irrigation wells.

Infiltration rates shall be tested after construction and testing shall be overseen by the
Developer’s Engineer to confirm that the dry well provides adequate infiltration capacity
for the relevant design storm.

A water quality pretreatment device is required, unless the drywell is receiving runoff
from only one single-family residential roof,

The following facilities are approved for pretreatment:
A. Facilities identified for water quality treatment in Section 2.6.3.01.
B. Catch basins with a 36-inch sump and trapped outlet (snout).

If the facility is designed to infiltrate the 100-year storm event, then an emergency
overflow pathway is not required.

Dimensions
Private: Diameter: 2-feet minimum
Publicly Maintained: 4-feet minimum

The required storage capacity within the drywell structure and surrounding drain rock is
determined by subtracting the volume of water that can infiltrate out of the facility
within a 24-hour period from the runoff volume generated by the contributing drainage
area during a 25-year, 24-hour storm event.

Materials

Place 12-inch minimum layer of 1.50-inch to 0.75-inch round rock that conforms to
ODOT Standard Specifications 00430.11 or AASHTO No. 4 between drywell structure
and earth wall. The drain rock should extend from 1 foot below the drywell structure up
to the lid.

2.6.5.06 Infiltration Trench or Gallery

An infiltration trench is a linear, gravel-filled trench that distributes stormwater to
underlying soils. An infiltration gallery includes underground chambers to increase
subsurface storage.

Infiltration trenches that receive only surface runoff (no underdrains or subsurface pipe)
are not classified as UICs. Infiltration trenches with underdrains and infiltration galleries
are “Class V Injection Wells” under the federal UIC program (OAR Division 44). UICs are
classified either as: exempt (no registration required), authorized by rule, or authorized
by permit. Infiltration trenches and galleries do not provide water quality treatment, so
water quality treatment is required before stormwater discharges into the facility.

Oak Lodge Water Services Design and Construction Standards
Section 2—Stormwater and Erosion Control Oct. 10, 2024 (Previous Revision: February 18, 2021)

2-65



Water quality treatment is required before stormwater discharges into infiltration
galleries, though galleries used exclusively for single-family residential roof runoff are
exempt and a silt trap is the only pretreatment necessary. Where space is available, rain
gardens are preferred to manage residential runoff because they provide both
treatment and flow control (and are not considered UICs).

An infiltration test shall be conducted at the location and depth of the facility. Designers
are encouraged to review current regulations and UIC registration materials from DEQ.

Site Requirements

Trenches or galleries are not approved for slopes greater than 15 percent, unless
approved by a geotechnical engineer.

Trenches or galleries within 200 feet of a steep slope or a mapped landslide hazard area
require the review and approval of a geotechnical engineer.

Infiltration trenches or galleries are not allowed in the Public ROW.
Trenches shall not be located where they will be subject to vehicular traffic.
Soil surrounding trenches or galleries shall be native, uncompacted soil.

Bottom of trench or gallery shall be at least 3 feet above seasonal high groundwater
elevation.

Native soil design infiltration testing rate shall be at least 1.00 in/hr which includes the

applicable safety factor of two, therefore the minimum infiltration design rate is 0.50
in/hr.

Trenches or galleries are not allowed within 500 feet of drinking water or irrigation wells
or within the 2-year time of travel setback to drinking water or irrigation wells.

Infiltration trenches or galleries shall be located outside of tree protection zones or at
least 10 feet from the base of newly planted trees and large shrubs.

Water quality treatment is required unless the infiltration trench or gallery is receiving
only single-family residential roof runoff, then an approved pretreatment device will
suffice. The following facilities are approved for pretreatment:

A. Facilities identified for water quality treatment in Section 2.6301.
B. Private catch basins with a 36-inch sump and trapped outlet (snout).
Dimensions

The required storage capacity within the structural chambers and surrounding drain
rock is determined by subtracting the volume of water that can infiltrate out of the
facility within a 24-hour period from the runoff volume generated by the contributing
drainage area during a 25-year, 24-hour storm event.

The maximum draw down time is 24 hours.

Minimum infiltration trench dimensions shall be 12 inches deep and 2 feet wide, filled
with drain rock.

Oak Lodge Water Services Design and Construction Standards
Section 2—Stormwater and Erosion Control Oct. 10, 2024 (Previous Revision: February 18, 2021)

2-66



An observation well is required for all infiltration galleries and for infiltration trenches
that exceed 50 feet in length.

Materials

Drain rock shall be 0.75-inch to 1.50-inch of granular drain backfill material. Drain rock
shall conform to ODOT Standard Specifications 00430.11 or AASHTO No. 4.

If applicable, the distribution pipe in an infiltration trench shall be perforated, 6-inch-
diameter PVC pipe that conforms to ODOT Standard Specification 02410.70. The IE shall
be at least 12 inches below finished grade.

2.6.5.07 Constructed Wetland

Constructed wetlands are SMFs that are designed to emulate natural wetlands, with
shallow water that varies in depth, and varied side slopes. They are saturated or have
standing water for part of the year, rather than draining over a short period of time as
rain gardens are designed to do. Wetlands are inundated or saturated at a frequency
and duration sufficient to support a prevalence of hydrophytic vegetation.

Constructed wetlands present an opportunity to integrate wildlife habitat and a public
amenity into the landscape of a large residential, institutional, or commercial
development. Constructed wetlands with healthy, thriving plants provide excellent
water quality treatment. They require a large surface area and a large contributing area
to ensure that wetland conditions are maintained.

Site Requirements

Site shall have adequate space for maintenance access that allows equipment access
within 20 feet of the flow control, water quality devices and other structures as
specified by OLWS.

Constructed wetlands are best for Type C and D soils or in areas with a high
groundwater table. Soils shall be saturated for a long enough time to maintain wetland
vegetation. The soil profile should be investigated to determine whether appropriate
site soils exist and if any soil amendments need to be added to assist with initial plant
establishment.

Waterproof liners may be used to maintain saturated conditions.

Constructed wetlands may be irregularly shaped, with a sinuous flow path and a variety
of side slopes and benches incorporated to maximize plant establishment and diversity.

Vector (mosquito) control is an important design consideration for any facility that has
standing water for extended periods of time. Bat boxes, diverse planting, and other
design strategies to encourage biological controls can help to keep mosquito
populations in balance.

Dimensions

Constructed wetlands can be sized for water quality treatment or a combination of
treatment and flow control, similar to ponds. However, constructed wetlands will have a

Oak Lodge Water Services Design and Construction Standards
Section 2—Stormwater and Erosion Control Oct. 10, 2024 (Previous Revision: February 18, 2021)

2-67



larger surface area, varied side slopes, and shallower ponding areas to maximize water
quality treatment.

Two cells are required, with the first cell, the sediment forebay, containing 10 percent of
the design volume, unless pretreatment is provided in a different facility. A sediment
forebay provides a clear visual indicator of when maintenance is needed.

Water depth in a constructed wetland may vary in the different cells. Determine the
average, maximum, and minimum depths for permanent pool in each cell of the
wetland.

Design varied side slopes, water depths, and planting zones to provide a variety of
habitat and maximize treatment.

Bottom width: minimum 3.0 feet

Maximum ponding depth: 4.0 feet

Average ponding depth: < 2.5 feet

Side slopes: no greater than 5h:1v below maximum ponding depth

Side slopes: no greater than 3h:1v above maximum ponding depth

Materials

When required, waterproof liners shall be 30 mil PVC membrane or equivalent.

Investigate the soil profile and determine whether appropriate site soils exist and if any
soil amendments need to be added.

Plant selection shall follow the Planting Guide in Appendix B. Plant selection shall be
based on water level tolerances during the rainy season, as well as the ability of plants
to withstand dry summer conditions. Species should be selected that are suitable for the
hydrologic, light, and soil conditions in each of the proposed wetland cells.

Woody vegetation shall be used to provide shade over standing water and to provide
structural diversity within the constructed wetland. Shrubs and trees shall be sited to
promote long-term health and survival, minimize maintenance, and protect lines of
sight. Shrubs and trees shall be located to allow for maintenance access to the
treatment area.

Woody vegetation shall not be planted within 20 feet of inlet and outlet structures.
Overflow Spillway

All constructed wetlands shall have an emergency overflow spillway or other overland
flow location that will safely pass runoff from the 100-year storm event over the
embankment in the event of control structure failure or for storm events that exceed
the design of the control structure.

Locate the spillway to direct overflows safely toward the 100-year emergency overflow
pathway.

Oak Lodge Water Services Design and Construction Standards
Section 2—Stormwater and Erosion Control Oct. 10, 2024 (Previous Revision: February 18, 2021)

2-68



Protect the spillway with riprap or an approved material that extends to and is an
appropriate distance beyond the bottom of the berm embankment. Fill the voids of the
riprap with soil and vegetate the spillway with grass or ground cover. The selection of
the vegetation on the spillway shall consider the required design capacity.

The IE of the spillway shall be a minimum of 6 inches above the 10-year water surface
elevation.

Provide a minimum of 12 inches of freeboard through the spillway between the 100-
year water surface elevation and the top of the berm.

Alternate methods to accomplish the design intent of the emergency spillway will be
acceptable, as long as they accomplish the same level of protection.

2.6.5.08 Pond

Stormwater ponds can provide water quality treatment, infiltration, and flow control to
mitigate post-construction stormwater runoff. Ponds are a good choice where there is a
large contributing area draining to a single facility, where there is adequate space to
design a pond that can be integrated into the landscaping, and where it is accessible for
maintenance. Stormwater ponds can be used to meet both water quality treatment and
flow control performance standards. When site conditions allow, ponds should be
designed as infiltration facilities or with an infiltration component in addition to a
detention component to meet the flow control performance standard. An infiltration
test shall be conducted at the location and depth of the facility.

The stormwater report and engineered drainage plans, in addition to documentation of
existing and proposed conditions, shall include, at a minimum, the flow control structure
rim elevation, the pond grading plan, the outlet pipe IE, the elevation of the top of the
berm, the elevation of the top of the overflow structure, all pipe diameters, and any
deviation in shear gate/lift assembly from OLWS’s Standard Drawings.

Site Requirements

Pond type selection shall be appropriate for soil characteristics (e.g., if soils have
adequate infiltration capacity, design an infiltration pond rather than a facility with a
controlled downstream outlet)

The minimum setback of a pond from the edge of the top of bank, wall, or toe of an
embankment to the nearest property line must be horizontal for a minimum of 5 feet,
or greater if recommended by a civil or geotechnical engineer.

A geotechnical report is required to determine setbacks of ponds near slopes 215
percent or within 200 feet of a steep slope hazard area or landslide hazard area.

Vector (mosquito) control is an important design consideration for any facility that has
standing water for extended periods of time. Bat boxes, diverse planting, and other
design strategies to encourage biological controls can help to keep mosquito
populations in balance.

Dimensions

Oak Lodge Water Services Design and Construction Standards
Section 2—Stormwater and Erosion Control Oct. 10, 2024 (Previous Revision: February 18, 2021)

2-69



May include two cells, with the first cell (forebay) containing approximately 10 percent
of the design surface area. Forebays simplify maintenance and are strongly encouraged.
Maintenance access shall be provided to the forebay.

Maximum side slopes: 3h:1v

Length to width ratio: 2 3:1

Materials

When required, waterproof liners shall be 30 mil PVC membrane or equivalent.
Soil amendments shall meet the requirements of Section 2.6.4.04.

Plant selection shall follow the Planting Guide in Appendix B. Plant selection shall be
based on water level tolerances during the rainy season, as well as the ability of plants
to withstand dry summer conditions. Species should be selected that are suitable for the
hydrologic, light, and soil conditions in the pond.

Woody vegetation shall be used to provide shade over standing water and to provide
structural diversity within the pond. Shrubs and trees shall be sited to promote long-
term health and survival, minimize maintenance, and protect lines of sight. Shrubs and
trees shall be located to allow for maintenance access to the treatment area.

Woody vegetation shall not be planted within 20 feet of inlet and outlet structures.
Outlet Structures

Flow Control Structure: Flow control structures for ponds shall be located in an enclosed
manhole, outside the open water storage area, in a location that allows equipment
maintenance access and access during high flow events. Access to a flow control
structure, not located in a public roadway, shall be provided within 12 feet of the edge
of a vehicular access, measured from center of flow control structure, when designed to
be accessed perpendicularly by the maintenance vehicle and within 6 feet when
designed to be accessed from the front of the maintenance vehicle. The flow control
structure may be farther from the edge of the roadway if a public access road is
provided that allows for maintenance trucks to get within the appropriate distances.

Secondary Outlet. Detention ponds shall have a secondary pond outlet structure, such
as a catch basin with grated lid located along an interior side slope. This secondary pond
outlet will serve as a backup to convey stormwater to the flow control manhole should
the primary pond outlet become clogged. The lip elevation of the secondary pond outlet
should be set at approximately the 10-year design water surface. See Appendix C for a
graphical depiction showing a secondary pond outlet.

Flow control manholes connected to the public stormwater system requires Clackamas
County approval and shall comply with all applicable WES Standard Drawings.

Orifices less than 2.0 inches shall be made of material (e.g., stainless steel, high-density
polyethylene pipe [HDPE], or PVC) shall be used to make the orifice plate. The plate shall
be attached to the concrete or structure.

Oak Lodge Water Services Design and Construction Standards
Section 2—Stormwater and Erosion Control Oct. 10, 2024 (Previous Revision: February 18, 2021)

2-70



Overflow Spillway

In addition to primary and secondary outlets, ponds shall have an emergency overflow
spillway that will safely pass runoff from a post-developed 100-year Design Storm to the
downstream emergency overflow pathway. The design intent is to protect the integrity
of the pond, as well as associated embankments and downstream properties, during
large storm events and/or failure of the flow control structure. Secondary spillway shall
meet the following criteria:

Locate the spillway to direct overflows safely toward the 100-year overflow pathway.

Locate the spillway in existing soil wherever possible. Protect the spillway with riprap or
an approved material that extends to, and is an appropriate distance beyond, the
bottom of a berm embankment.

The IE of the spillway shall be a minimum of 6 inches above the 25-year water surface
elevation.

Provide a minimum of 12 inches of freeboard through the spillway between the 100-
year water surface elevation and the top of the berm.

Alternate methods to accomplish the design intent of the emergency spillway will be
acceptable, as long as they accomplish the same level of protection.

Pond Interior Maintenance Access

Design ponds with access suitable for maintenance equipment (backhoe, etc.) to safely
access the bottom of the interior of the pond. The purpose of this requirement is to
provide access suitable for sediment removal by OLWS equipment.

The interior pond access will begin at the edge of the required pavement and end at the
lowest elevation of the pond. The minimum access requirement is at least 15 feet wide
with slopes no steeper than 4:1.

The pond interior access shall be constructed of 8 inches of gravel, pervious pavers, or
native vegetation (no trees or shrubs). The access can be constructed of compacted
native material suitable for the intended seasonal use. Other materials will be reviewed
and approved on a case-by-case basis.

2.6.5.09 Structural Detention

Structural detention facilities include underground tanks and vaults that temporarily
store water must be designed in accordance with the custom pond sizing feature that is
part of the BMP Sizing Tool program. Structural detention facilities are appropriate for
commercial sites, industrial locations, and multi-family sites. They can be designed to
reduce the runoff rate and duration of flow to meet the flow control performance
standards. Structural detention facilities alone do not provide water quality treatment,
so a separate water quality treatment facility is necessary to meet the water quality
performance standards.

Oak Lodge Water Services Design and Construction Standards
Section 2—Stormwater and Erosion Control Oct. 10, 2024 (Previous Revision: February 18, 2021)

2-71



Detention pipes and vaults are not allowed for use on developments that convey public
waters, such as stormwater runoff from public roadways. Structural detention design
shall demonstrate that the facilities have adequate maintenance access of 20 feet to the
flow control and water quality structures, can withstand vehicular and other structural
loadings, will be stable, have been designed to counteract buoyancy forces in areas of
high groundwater, and that the materials can withstand chemical properties of soils on
the site.

The stormwater report and design drawings, in addition to documentation of existing
and proposed conditions, shall include, at a minimum, the flow control structure rim
elevation, the storage pipe IE, the outlet pipe IE, the elevation of the top of the storage
pipe, the elevation of the top of the overflow pipe, all pipe diameters, and any deviation
in shear gate/lift assembly from OLWS’s Standard Drawings.

Site Requirements

Structural detention facilities shall be located to avoid conflicts with other underground
utilities.

Regular maintenance is essential to ensure continued function of underground
detention facilities. Maintenance access shall be provided to allow sediment removal
from the length of the facility and to maintain the outlet control structure. Facility
location shall be chosen to maximize access for maintenance and replacement.

Pipes and vaults shall be placed on stable, consolidated native soil with suitable
bedding. Pipes and vaults are not allowed in fill slopes unless a geotechnical analysis is
performed for stability and construction practices.

Dimensions
Detention Pipe:
A. Minimum diameter: 36.0 inches
Pipe bottom shall be flat or gently sloped: < 0.5 percent
Maximum distance between pipe bottom and finish grade: 20.0 feet

Sediment storage depth in upstream standard manhole: 6.0 inches minimum

m o O w

Minimum freeboard: 6.0 inches, measured from the maximum design water
surface elevation and the overflow elevation in the control structure.

Detention Vault:

A. Vault bottom shall be flat or gently sloped to the center, forming a “V”: <0.5
percent

B. Minimum sediment storage depth: 6.0 inches

C. Minimum freeboard: 6.0 inches, measured from the maximum design water
surface elevation and the overflow elevation in the control structure.

Oak Lodge Water Services Design and Construction Standards
Section 2—Stormwater and Erosion Control Oct. 10, 2024 (Previous Revision: February 18, 2021)

2-72



Private facilities may use a 1.0-inch-diameter orifice if the structural detention facility is
preceded by an approved water quality filtration device.

Materials

Private Maintained Detention Pipe: Stormwater detention/conveyance pipes that are
located solely on private property shall be constructed of a material in accordance with
OPSC. A plumbing permit to construct the pipe shall be obtained by the local plumbing
authority, and the Developer’s Engineer shall certify the infrastructure was constructed
in accordance with the approved plans. Galvanized metals leach zinc into the
environment, especially in standing water situations. This can result in zinc
concentrations that can be toxic to aquatic life. Therefore, galvanized materials shall not
be used in stormwater facilities and stormwater drainage systems.

Publicly Maintained Detention Pipe: For publicly maintained facilities, the detention
pipe material shall be concrete. The joints shall conform to technical and manufacturer's
specifications.

Detention vaults shall be constructed of structural reinforced concrete (3,000 psi, ASTM
405). All construction joints shall be provided with water stops.

A flow control manhole shall be provided to regulate outflow from the structural
detention facility. Flow control manholes connected to the public stormwater system
requires Clackamas County approval and shall comply with all applicable WES Standard
Drawings.

Orifice structure material shall be HDPE or PVC. A thin material (e.g., stainless steel,
HDPE, or PVC) shall be used to make the orifice plate. The plate shall be attached to the
structure.

Access

Detention pipes more than 50 feet long shall provide an access riser at each end for
maintenance. Detention pipes over 200 feet long shall have an access riser at the
upstream end and access risers at least every 100 feet.

Access for detention vaults may be provided by use of removable panels, hatches, or
ring and cover.

36-inch minimum diameter corrugated metal riser-type manholes of the same gauge as
the detention pipe material may be used for access along the length of the detention
pipe and at the upstream terminus of the detention pipe. The top slab is separated (1-
inch minimum gap) from the top of the riser to allow for deflections from vehicle
loadings without damaging the riser pipe.

All detention pipe, vault access and control structure openings shall be readily accessible
by maintenance vehicles.

Detention pipes and vaults shall comply with the OSHA and Oregon OSHA confined
space requirements, which include, but are not limited to, the preparation of ventilation
plans and clearly marked entrances to confined space areas.

Oak Lodge Water Services Design and Construction Standards
Section 2—Stormwater and Erosion Control Oct. 10, 2024 (Previous Revision: February 18, 2021)

2-73



Internal structural walls of large vaults shall be provided with openings sufficient for
maintenance access between cells. The openings shall be sized and situated to allow
access to the maintenance “V” in the vault floor.

For detention vaults, the recommended minimum internal height is 7 feet from the
highest point of the vault floor (not sump), and the recommended minimum width is 4
feet. However, concrete vaults may be a minimum 3 feet in height and width if there are
access manholes at each end, and if the width is no greater than the height. Minimum
internal height requirements do not apply for any areas covered by removable panels.

2.6.5.10 Proprietary Stormwater Treatment Device

Proprietary Stormwater Treatment Devices are manufactured technologies used to
address the stormwater quality impacts of land development, including removing
pollutants through physical, chemical, or biological treatment processes. These SMFs
rely upon a variety of mechanisms to remove pollutants.

Proprietary Stormwater Treatment Devices include hydrodynamic separators, cartridge
filters, and other emerging treatment technologies that are designed to remove
pollutants from stormwater. Proprietary devices are generally grouped by their use for
pretreatment, oil removal, enhanced treatment, basic treatment, phosphorus removal
and construction pollutant management. There are numerous manufacturers that build
Proprietary Stormwater Treatment Devices.

Stormwater treatment technologies are reviewed and certified by several agencies.
OLWS follows the Technology Assessment Protocol — Ecology (better known as the TAPE
Program), administered by the Washington State Department of Ecology (Ecology).
OLWS allows the use of Proprietary Stormwater Treatment Devices that have a General
Use Level Designation (GULD) for basic, dissolved metals, or phosphorus treatment.
Devices with Pilot Use Level Designation or Conditional Use Level Designation are not
allowed. OLWS may require pretreatment facilities to improve the performance of
Proprietary Stormwater Treatment Devices.

The Proprietary Stormwater Treatment Devices that have been tested and approved
under Ecology’s TAPE program are regularly updated on the TAPE Program website.

Proprietary Stormwater Treatment Devices approved by Ecology with GULD and
classified as Basic Treatment may be utilized to satisfy the stormwater water quality
treatment requirements when sized to capture and treat the first 1 inch of stormwater
runoff within a 24- hour period; and are sized as specified in the Ecology-approved
GULD.

The use of Proprietary Stormwater Treatment Devices approved by Ecology is allowed
for use on privately maintained facilities.

The use of Proprietary Stormwater Treatment Devices that will be maintained by a
public agency shall be approved by OLWS. Any device requiring the replacement of
specific manufacture filter cartridges and/or media will not be allowed without the

Oak Lodge Water Services Design and Construction Standards
Section 2—Stormwater and Erosion Control Oct. 10, 2024 (Previous Revision: February 18, 2021)

2-74



specific approval of OLWS for SMFs which will be publicly maintained and/or accepts
stormwater runoff from public improvements.

Site Requirements

Proprietary Stormwater Treatment Devices for water quality treatment shall not be
located downstream of flow control facilities.

Proprietary Stormwater Treatment Devices may be located on a range of site conditions.
Site requirements vary by type of system. Review the manufacturer’s restrictions and
recommendations when selecting an appropriate treatment device and configuration
for the development and site conditions.

Proprietary Stormwater Treatment Devices shall be a minimum of 5 feet from
structures.

Proprietary Stormwater Treatment Devices that are publicly maintained, and require
staff to enter, shall provide a minimum of 78 inches of head room.

The device shall be designed to safely convey the storm event as specified in this
section, and if applicable provide an emergency overflow pathway.

Devices shall be readily accessible by maintenance vehicles at a minimum distance of 20
feet and in accordance with manufacturer recommendations.

Dimensions

Proprietary Stormwater Treatment Devices may be configured as inline systems or
offline systems with high flow bypasses, in accordance with manufacturer specifications.

Proprietary stormwater treatment devices shall be designed to treat the peak flow or
total volume from the water quality storm event, as defined in Section 2.6.1

Calculations to determine the required size, number, or configuration of the Proprietary
Stormwater Treatment Device must be based on the design guidelines specified in the
GULD approval documents from Ecology. When sizing Proprietary Stormwater
Treatment Devices for water quality treatment, Applicants shall use the treatment flow
rates identified in the TAPE approval documents.

2.6.5.11 Sheet Flow Dispersion

Sheet flow dispersion is one of the simplest methods of stormwater management. Sheet
flow dispersion is the dispersion of concentrated flows from driveways, roadways, or
other impervious surfaces through a vegetated pervious area. Because flows are already
dispersed as they leave the surface (i.e., not concentrated), they need only traverse a
narrow band of adjacent vegetation for effective flow attenuation and treatment.

Sheet flow dispersion is applicable for impervious surfaces with slopes less than 15
percent, such as driveways, sport courts, patios, roofs without gutters, recreational
vehicle pads, or other situations where concentration of flows can be avoided.

Oak Lodge Water Services Design and Construction Standards
Section 2—Stormwater and Erosion Control Oct. 10, 2024 (Previous Revision: February 18, 2021)

2-75



Sheet flow dispersion is a preferred stormwater management strategy for impervious
surfaces in rural areas, driveways, and agricultural buildings. The discharge shall not be
directly connected to a drainageway, Stormwater Drainage System, or other Public
Stormwater System.

Site Requirements

Dispersion is not permitted within potential landslide areas. OLWS may require a
geotechnical report to verify the site soils are suitable for sheet flow dispersion.

Dispersion is not permitted within 10 feet of the top of a slope greater than 25 percent.
Dispersion is not permitted over contaminated sites or abandoned landfills.

For sites with septic systems, the discharge point shall be downgradient of the drain
field primary and reserve areas. This requirement may be waived if site topography
clearly prohibits flows from intersecting the drain field.

Area receiving flow shall be protected from compaction during construction, or
substantial soil amendment may be required prior to final site stabilization.

No erosion or flooding of downstream properties may result.
Dimensions

A 2-foot-wide transition zone to discourage channeling shall be provided between the
edge of the contributing impervious area and the downslope vegetation. This may be an
extension of subgrade material (crushed rock), modular pavement, drain rock, or other
material approved by OLWS. The transition zone may be narrowed for sidewalks and
pathways, if approved by OLWS.

A 10-foot-wide vegetated buffer shall be provided for up to 20 feet of width of
contributing impervious surface. An additional 5 feet of buffer width shall be added for
each additional 20 feet of width of contributing area or fraction thereof.

The flow path shall be covered with well-established lawn or landscape area
(landscaping with well-established groundcover, or native vegetation with natural
groundcover). The groundcover shall be dense enough to help disperse and infiltrate
flows and to prevent erosion.

2.6.5.12 Pervious Pavement

Pervious pavement is a walking or driving surface designed to allow rainfall to percolate
into the underlying soil or aggregate storage reservoir beneath the pavement. The
wearing course (surface layer) of pervious pavement may be any of the following:

Porous asphalt is open-graded asphalt that allows water to percolate or infiltrate into
underlying soils.

Pervious concrete omits fines in the aggregate to create stable air pockets that allow
water to drain to the base below. There is an inverse relationship between porosity and
strength. As porosity is increased, the structural strength is reduced.

Oak Lodge Water Services Design and Construction Standards
Section 2—Stormwater and Erosion Control Oct. 10, 2024 (Previous Revision: February 18, 2021)

2-76



Pavers are generally suitable for pedestrian areas and low traffic parking areas. They are
available in a variety of configurations such as rigid concrete or durable plastic grid filled
with gravel or a mixture of gravel, sand, and topsoil suitable for vegetation.

Pervious pavement shall be designed only as an impervious area reduction technique to
manage direct rainfall. It shall not be designed as a SMF that receives runoff from
surrounding areas.

Site Requirements
Surface slope no greater than 6 percent.

Site does not receive high sediment loads. Areas with high volumes of leaf litter can
cause clogging, so avoid pervious pavement under large trees.

Adequate separation from underlying seasonal high groundwater table; bedrock or
other impermeable layer shall be at least 3 feet below the bottom of the pervious
pavement facility.

Pervious pavement is not appropriate for areas at elevated risk of hazardous materials
spills such as gas stations.

Minimum infiltration rate of 0.25 in/hr.

Not appropriate for construction over fill soils unless evaluated and approved by
geotechnical engineer.

No stormwater run-on allowed.

Pavement design shall demonstrate that pavement structure has the structural strength
for anticipated vehicle loadings.

Dimensions

Pervious pavements designed with 6 inches of aggregate storage and a minimum design
infiltration rate of 0.25 in/hr are assumed to meet the performance standard to fully
infiltrate the 10-year, 24-hour Design Storm.

Pervious concrete wearing course: 4-inch thickness for residential driveway, pedestrian
only, private street, parking lot or fire lane; 7-inch thickness for public street. Public
streets shall be designed in conformance with the local roadway authority.

Porous asphalt wearing course: 2.5-inch thickness for residential driveway or pedestrian
paths; 3 inches for private street, parking lot, or fire lane; 6 inches for public street.
Public streets shall be designed in conformance with the local roadway authority.

Pavers shall be designed according to manufacturer recommendations. State size of
stone to be used between pavers—sand is not allowed if pavers are used for
stormwater treatment or flow control.

Where pervious pavement installations are proposed over fine sediments, provide a 1-
to 3-inch-thick leveling course if the pervious pavement surface is open-celled paving
grids, interlocking concrete pavers, or porous asphalt concrete.

Oak Lodge Water Services Design and Construction Standards
Section 2—Stormwater and Erosion Control Oct. 10, 2024 (Previous Revision: February 18, 2021)

2-77



Minimum depth for aggregate storage reservoir shall be 6 inches for vehicular loading.
In addition to structural design considerations, design depth is typically determined by
storage depth needed to manage design storm.

Pervious pavements designed with 6 inches minimum of %-inch to 2-inch crushed/
washed open graded base material and a minimum design infiltration rate of 0.25 in/hr
are assumed to meet the performance standard to fully infiltrate the 10-year, 24-hour
Design Storm.

Materials

Leveling course: The leveling course shall consist of uniformly graded, washed aggregate
that conforms to AASHTO No. 8 gradation.

Aggregate storage reservoir: The aggregate storage reservoir shall conform to ODOT
Standard Specifications 00430.11 granular drain backfill material, AASHTO No. 57, or
approved equal.

Porous asphalt: The surface wearing course for porous asphalt shall conform to open-
graded, %-inch or %-inch asphalt concrete pavement design from ODOT Standard
Specification 00745 or approved equal.

Content: 6.0 to 6.5 percent by weight of total (dry aggregate) mix. Performance Grade:
70-22. Do not use an asphalt cement performance grade less than 70-22 for open-
graded, porous asphalt mixes.

2.6.5.13 Green Roofs

A green roof is a building roof that is partially or completely covered with vegetation
and growing media, atop a waterproof membrane; a green roof is also called an eco-
roof or vegetated roof. Green roofs include the following elements: a thin, layered
system of waterproofing, drainage layers, growing media, and planting to cover
impervious roof areas and allow water to be absorbed, detained, and evaporated back
into the atmosphere. Proprietary systems are also available using various layers or even
modular trays that fit easily on an existing roof.

Green roofs are primarily designed for stormwater management, with aesthetics as a
secondary goal. Green roofs are not designed for foot traffic or recreation.

Site Requirements

Flat or slightly sloped roofs on large institutional, commercial, or residential projects.
Green roofs work on sloped roofs up to a maximum of 4:12 roof pitch without additional
engineering—and can be steeper with intermediate structural support of soils.

Structural Considerations

Shall be able to carry additional loads as determined by a structural engineer (15 to 30
pounds per square foot is typical) to support fully saturated conditions.

These load recommendations do not include snow load.

Oak Lodge Water Services Design and Construction Standards
Section 2—Stormwater and Erosion Control Oct. 10, 2024 (Previous Revision: February 18, 2021)

2-78



Access to roof via crane, lift or other device is recommended to load heavy, and bulky
materials up to rooftop surface.

Safety line tie-off points, hand holds, or walking surfaces may be necessary to facilitate
maintenance.

Green roofs shall include outlets to an approved location from roof drains, scuppers,
and other drainage devices.

Dimensions

Green roofs may be designed to meet flow control and water quality performance
standards.

The Developer’s Engineer is required to provide adequate documentation showing how
the planned green roof meets OLWS performance standards for flow control and water
quality treatment Materials.

Root barrier/protection layer. A synthetic, non-biodegradable layer shall be placed to
protect waterproofing layers and to provide additional protection from roots. Do not
use copper or copper hydroxide for a root inhibitor.

Drainage layer/filter fabric. A synthetic or mineral layer shall be placed over the
protection layer to allow for water movement under the growing media. The drainage
layer shall be %-inch-deep with a void space of at least 50 percent, covered by a non-
woven (needle-punched) filter fabric to separate the drainage layer from the growing
media.

Growing media. An engineered growing media mix shall be placed over the filter fabric
to a depth of at least 4 inches to meet requirements. It shall contain no fines, weed
seeds, or other materials. Provide documentation of saturated weight (field moisture
capacity) that has been tested and documented by a third party. The media mix shall
consist of 80 to 90 percent pumice or lightweight aggregate and 10 to 20 percent
composted, plant-based organic matter.

Mineral mulch. A mulch layer of washed gravel or non-decomposable material (no fines)
that will not be moved by wind or water movement shall be placed on top of the
growing media.

Planting. Establish dense plant growth of low-maintenance, low-water use succulent
vegetation supplemented with some hardy perennials, grasses, and other native, non-
woody vegetation. A minimum of 10 species shall be included to promote microclimatic
diversity and resilience to the roof, allowing for species to fill in if others are slow to
perform. Use 10 percent deciduous species distributed throughout the roof to provide
organic matter inputs through leaf litter. Plant selection shall follow the Planting Guide
in Appendix B.

Proprietary systems may not match these dimensions or materials.

Oak Lodge Water Services Design and Construction Standards
Section 2—Stormwater and Erosion Control Oct. 10, 2024 (Previous Revision: February 18, 2021)

2-79



2.7 STORMWATER DRAINAGE SYSTEM DESIGN

Stormwater system design is an integral component of site planning. Acceptable stormwater
drainage system design must strive to maintain compatibility and minimize interference with
existing drainage patterns; control onsite and downstream flooding of property, structures, and
roadways for design flood events; and minimize the potential environmental impacts of
stormwater runoff. Three considerations largely shape the design of these systems: public
safety, flooding, and water quality. Stormwater collection systems must be designed to provide
adequate surface drainage while at the same time meeting other stormwater management
goals such as water quality treatment, stream channel protection, wildlife habitat protection,
and groundwater recharge.

Some sites may require two separate stormwater drainage systems: the localized onsite system
and the regional bypass system. The onsite system is generally designed to convey stormwater
runoff from the developed areas of the site to the SMFs. The SMFs discharge to the bypass
system, which conveys upstream stormwater runoff around or through the developed site and
conveys the stormwater to the natural point of discharge downstream. This section includes
requirements for stormwater drainage system design.

2.7.1 General Conditions

This section presents design requirements for open channel and closed conduit stormwater
drainage systems. It also describes requirements and methods used to plan, design and size
stormwater drainage systems. Stormwater drainage systems are generally made up of four
components; stormwater runoff entering the site from upstream drainage areas; stormwater
runoff conveyed through the site; the acceptable point of discharge from the site; and
stormwater runoff discharged downstream from the site.

2.7.2 Stormwater Drainage System Requirements

Planning for the stormwater drainage system is an essential element in preparing a site plan.
Several factors must be considered prior to developing the preliminary design and requesting
OLWS approval of the Service Provider Letter.

Stormwater drainage systems are to be designed to intercept and convey stormwater runoff
efficiently enough to meet flood protection criteria. The stormwater drainage system should
complement the ability of the site design and structural stormwater controls to mitigate the
major impacts of urban development.

2.7.2.01 Points of Discharge

The Applicant will establish a proposed point of discharge. A point of discharge shall be
approved by OLWS prior to approving the Service Provider Letter.

Runoff from developed portions of the site drainage area should be discharged at the
existing natural drainage outlet or outlets.

Oak Lodge Water Services Design and Construction Standards
Section 2—Stormwater and Erosion Control Oct. 10, 2024 (Previous Revision: February 18, 2021)

2-80



Runoff must be discharged in a manner that will not increase flooding to downstream
properties.

The Applicant will be responsible for acquiring approval from any other agency having
jurisdiction or permitting authority related to the activity. OLWS may require a copy of
other jurisdictional approval(s) prior to approving the plan.

If the point of discharge is an open stormwater drainage system, then adequate velocity
dissipation and/or additional channel protection shall be required to prevent erosion
and/or alteration to the existing downstream drainageway.

Any connection to a public or private piped downstream stormwater drainage system
shall be approved by Clackamas County Department of Transportation and
Development. Oak Lodge may require a copy of this approval prior to approving the
plan. OLWS.

2.7.2.02 Onsite Stormwater Drainage System

The site shall be planned and designed to generally conform to onsite natural drainage
patterns and discharge to natural drainage paths within a drainage area. These natural
drainage paths should be modified as necessary to contain and safely convey the peak
flows generated by the development.

Open channel systems are preferred over closed conduit stormwater sewers where
feasible, especially where they might provide opportunities for water quality treatment,
some infiltration, wildlife habitat improvement, or emergency overland flood relief
routes.

It shall be the responsibility of the Owner to provide a stormwater drainage system for
all stormwater runoff and/or or surface water entering the property from offsite.
Surface water, springs, and groundwater shall be incorporated into the drainage design.

An emergency overflow pathway must be identified and/or designed that allows large
flow events to discharge without risk of injury or property damage. The emergency
overflow pathway must be incorporated into the design and show how flow will escape
from the site during rainfall events larger than the design storm events and/or from
failure of the primary stormwater drainage system. Any emergency overflow pathway
structures shall be designed for the 100-year Design Storm. The pathway location shall
be co-permitted by Clackamas County DTD.

It is important to ensure that the onsite stormwater drainage system is designed to
reduce blockages and flows in excess of the design storm capacity to minimize the
likelihood of nuisance flooding or damage to private properties. If failure of these
systems and/or drainage structures occurs during these periods, the risk to life and
property could be significantly increased.

2.7.2.03 Upstream Drainage Areas

Developments are required to convey upstream drainage through or around the
development in a system OLWS refers to as a “Bypass System”.

Oak Lodge Water Services Design and Construction Standards
Section 2—Stormwater and Erosion Control Oct. 10, 2024 (Previous Revision: February 18, 2021)

2-81



The upstream offsite stormwater or other nuisance surface water runoff will be
conveyed through the development in a separate system referred to as the “Bypass
System” and will not be mixed with the stormwater collected and treated with onsite
SMFs unless the SMFs are designed to include all of the additional flows from the
upstream drainage areas(s) assuming full development potential.

The bypass system shall be designed according to Clackamas County DTD specifications.

It is important to ensure that the bypass stormwater drainage system is designed to
reduce blockages and flows in excess of the design storm capacity to minimize the
likelihood of nuisance flooding or damage to private properties.

If failure of these systems and/or drainage structures occurs during rainfall events in
excess of the design storm capacity, the risk to life and property could be significantly
increased.

In establishing the layout of stormwater networks, it is essential to ensure that
upstream flows will not be redirected onto private property during rainfall events up to
the stormwater drainage system design capacity.

2.7.2.04 Downstream Analysis

Downstream analyses are required and reviewed by Clackamas County Department of
Transportation. Full infiltration of the 10-year design storm or adherence to OLWS flow
control performance standard (see Section 2.6.1.02) is intended to provide hydraulic
mitigation and may remove the need for downstream analyses subject to Clackamas
County’s approval.

2.7.3 Stormwater Drainage System Design Methods

The following section describes accepted criteria and methods for analyzing and designing
stormwater drainage systems. It is the responsibility of the engineer to determine the
appropriate method of analysis in determining the capacity of the proposed stormwater
drainage system.

2.7.3.01 Design Methodology

Stormwater drainage systems shall be designed and constructed to carry the design
storm flowing full with no pressure flow. Flow conditions in existing pipe systems will be
evaluated by Clackamas County DTD.

Stormwater drainage systems in the Public ROW shall be designed per Clackamas
County DTD standards.

2.8 CONSTRUCTION REQUIREMENTS

All development, regardless of permit status, shall keep sediment laden water and any other
forms of stormwater pollution from entering natural drainage systems or the stormwater
drainage system. The requirements for erosion prevention and sediment control shall be

Oak Lodge Water Services Design and Construction Standards
Section 2—Stormwater and Erosion Control Oct. 10, 2024 (Previous Revision: February 18, 2021)

2-82



implemented in accordance with OLWS’s Rules, these Standards, and the most current version
of the Water Environment Services Erosion Prevention and Sediment Control Planning and
Design Manual referentially adopted by OLWS. The Applicant for a development permit shall
submit an EPSC Plan as part of their application specifying appropriate BMPs. For site
disturbances of 5 acres or larger, the Applicant must demonstrate that they also have an DEQ-
approved 1200-C permit.

The Applicant for a development permit is ultimately responsible for retaining all soil on the
project site and must recognize the potential for changing, or unexpected site and weather
conditions. If at any time the OLWS approved EPSC Plan is determined to be ineffective, OLWS
will require additional controls to be implemented until a site is stabilized. The Applicant is
responsible for updating the EPSC Plan and resubmitting it to OLWS.

2.8.1 General Provisions

The following general erosion prevention and sediment control provisions apply to all
properties within OLWS’ boundary, regardless of whether that property is involved in a
construction or development activity.

A. The use of erosion prevention techniques, including proper site planning and
construction phasing, shall be emphasized, rather than sediment control measures.
Erosion and sediment control practices shall be designed and implemented to maintain
water quality; protect fish and wildlife habitat; maintain natural vegetation; reduce the
use of pesticides, fertilizers, chemicals; and manage dust.

B. Construction within waterways shall be pursuant to permits issued by State and Federal
agencies having jurisdiction and shall apply their regulations. Pollutants such as, but not
limited to, fuels, lubricants, asphalt, concrete, bitumens, raw sewage, and other harmful
materials shall not be discharged into rivers, wetlands, streams, impoundments,
undisturbed buffers, or any stormwater drainage system, or at such proximity that the
pollutants flow to these watercourses.

C. The use of water from a stream or impoundment, wetland, or sensitive area, shall not
result in altering the temperature or water quality of the water body in violation of
OARs, and shall be subject to water rights laws. All sediment-laden water from
construction operations shall be routed through sedimentation basins, filtered, or
otherwise treated to remove the sediment load before release into the surface water
system.

D. Construction shall be done in a manner to minimize adverse effects on wildlife and
fishery resources pursuant to the requirements of local, state, and federal agencies
charged with wildlife and fish protection.

E. Natural Vegetation

a. Asfarasis practicable, natural native vegetation shall be protected and left in place.
Disturbed Areas shall be carefully located and marked to reduce potential damage.

b. Trees shall not be used as anchors for stabilizing working equipment.

Oak Lodge Water Services Design and Construction Standards
Section 2—Stormwater and Erosion Control Oct. 10, 2024 (Previous Revision: February 18, 2021)

2-83



c. During clearing operations, trees shall not be permitted to fall outside the Disturbed
Area. In areas designated for selective cutting or clearing, care in falling and
removing trees and brush shall be taken to avoid injuring trees and shrubs to be left
in place.

d. Where natural vegetation has been removed, or the original land contours
disturbed, vegetative ground cover shall be planted and established in accordance
with the Wet Weather Stabilization standards in Section 2.8.2.06.

F. The use of hazardous chemicals, including pesticides, insecticides, herbicides, defoliants,
soil sterilant, and fertilizers, must strictly adhere to Federal, State, County, and local
restrictions.

G. All pesticides, fertilizers, and chemicals delivered to the job site shall be covered and
protected from the weather. None of the materials shall be exposed during storage.
Waste materials, rinsing fluids, and other such material shall be disposed of in such a
manner that pollution of groundwater, surface water, or the air does not occur. In no
case shall toxic materials be dumped into drainageways.

H. Dust and other particulate matters caused by development activity containing
pollutants may not settle on property and/or be carried to Waters of the State through
rainfall or other means. Dust shall be minimized to the extent practicable as per Section
2.8.6.05.

2.8.2 Erosion Prevention and Source Control Requirements

This section provides criteria regarding erosion prevention and sediment control standards. The
requirements of this section shall apply to all activities requiring an EPSC Permit. The Applicant
for the EPSC Permit shall be responsible for meeting these requirements.

2.8.2.01 Erosion Prohibited

Visible or measurable erosion as defined in OLWS’s Rules, which enters, or is likely to
enter, the public or private stormwater and surface water system or other properties, is
hereby prohibited, and is a violation of these standards, unless authorized by a state or
federal permit or certification.

Unless authorized by a State or Federal permit or certification, no person shall create
physical erosion by dragging, dropping, tracking, or otherwise placing or depositing, or
permitting to be deposited, mud, dirt, rock, or other such debris upon a public street or
into any part of the public stormwater and surface water system, or any part of a private
stormwater and surface water system which drains or connects to the public
stormwater and surface water system. Any such deposit of material shall be
immediately removed using hand labor or mechanical means. No material shall be
washed or flushed into any part of the stormwater and surface water system until all
mechanical means to remove the debris have been exhausted and preventative
sediment filtration is in place. The Applicant of the property, Permittee, under a site
development permit, together with any person or persons, including but not limited to

Oak Lodge Water Services Design and Construction Standards
Section 2—Stormwater and Erosion Control Oct. 10, 2024 (Previous Revision: February 18, 2021)

2-84



the Contractor or the Developer’s Engineer who causes such erosion, shall be held
responsible for violation of these standards.

2.8.2.02 Erosion Prevention and Sediment Control Plan

An EPSC Plan shall be prepared in accordance with the requirements of Section 2.8.4 of
these standards for all sites where an EPSC Permit is required.

2.8.2.03 Erosion Prevention and Sediment Control Permits

The Applicant for a development permit shall submit an EPSC Plan as part of their
application specifying appropriate BMPs.

An EPSC Permit is required under the following conditions:

A. Prior to placement of fill, site clearing, or land disturbances, including but not limited
to grubbing, clearing or removal of ground vegetation, grading, excavation, or other
activities, any of which results in the disturbance or exposure of soils covering an
area of 500 sf or greater.

B. For Disturbed Areas or exposed soils of areas less than 500 sf, where OLWS has
determined that site conditions may result in visible and measurable erosion and
where OLWS has provided written notice of the requirement to obtain an erosion
prevention and sediment control permit to the Owner. Upon notice by OLWS, all
work shall cease pending receipt of an EPSC Permit and installation of approved
EPSC measures.

C. For any lot that includes natural resources regulated by OLWS, an EPSC Permit may
be required prior to placement of fill, site clearing, or land disturbances, including
but not limited to grubbing, clearing or removal of ground vegetation, grading,
excavation, or other activities, any of which has the potential for, or results in visible
and measurable erosion, regardless of the area of disturbance.

An EPSC Permit shall not be issued for activities on lots that include natural resources,
where the site activity has not been authorized, or is not exempt under the provisions of
Natural Resources as determined by OLWS. This provision does not apply where the
EPSC Permit is associated with correction of a violation of OLWS Rules or Standards or as
necessary for public safety, or the protection of property or water quality.

2.8.2.04 NPDES 1200-CN and 1200-C Permit

In addition to an OLWS EPSC Permit, a NPDES 1200-CN permit is required for projects
disturbing one acre up to less than 5 acres of disturbance. The 1200-CN shall be issued
by OLWS along with the local permit.

For disturbances of 5 acres or greater, a DEQ 1200-C permit is required. The local permit
may also be issued by OLWS. The 1200-C permit shall be obtained directly from DEQ. In
the case of a residential subdivision, the “child lots” created with the subdivision may be
required by OLWS to obtain individual ECSL permits.

Oak Lodge Water Services Design and Construction Standards
Section 2—Stormwater and Erosion Control Oct. 10, 2024 (Previous Revision: February 18, 2021)

2-85



2.8.2.05 Maintenance and Removal of Stormwater Best Management Practices

The Permittee shall maintain the BMPs contained in the approved EPSC Plan to continue
to be effective during the construction phase, post construction phase, establishment of
permanent vegetation, or any other permitted activity. If the BMPs approved in an EPSC
Plan are not effective or sufficient as determined by OLWS site inspection, the Permittee
shall submit a revised plan within three (3) working days of written notification by
OLWS. Upon approval of the revised plan by OLWS, the Permittee shall immediately
implement the additional BMPs included in the revised plan. In cases where erosion is
likely to occur, OLWS may require the Applicant to install interim control measures prior
to submittal and/or approval of the revised EPSC Plan.

Temporary BMPs, such as sediment fences, shall be removed after permanent
vegetation is established.

2.8.2.06 Wet Weather Stabilization

Where natural vegetation has been removed, or the original land contours disturbed,
vegetative ground cover shall be planted and within 72 hours of completion of ground-
disturbing project phasing established by October 1 and continue to function through
May 31 of the following year, or as approved by OLWS. If ground cover is not
established by October 1, the open areas shall be protected through May 31 of the
following year with straw mulch, erosion blankets, like hydroseed, or other methods
approved by OLWS. The site shall be revegetated per a submitted and approved seeding
and maintenance plan as soon as practicable after construction has commenced, but
not later than September 1. After that date, a stabilization plan approved by OLWS must
be used.

2.8.2.07 Contaminated Soils

In the event the construction process reveals soils contaminated with hazardous
materials or chemicals, all parties shall stop work immediately, ensure no contaminated
material is hauled from the site, remove work forces from the immediate area of the
contamination, leaving all machinery and equipment, and secure the area from access
by the public until such time as a response team has evaluated the situation and
identified an appropriate course of action. The Applicant and the Contractor shall notify
OSHA and DEQ of the situation upon discovery. The Applicant and the Contractor must
comply with OSHA and DEQ statutes and rules.

2.8.3 Establishing Protective Vegetative Cover Upon Completion of Final
Grading
To prevent and minimize erosion, all development shall implement BMPs as required by the

EPSC requirements in these Standards including, but not limited to, the following stages of a
project:

A. Vegetation is to be established as soon as practicable after completion of final grading
to minimize erosion.

Oak Lodge Water Services Design and Construction Standards
Section 2—Stormwater and Erosion Control Oct. 10, 2024 (Previous Revision: February 18, 2021)

2-86



B. Prior to final project acceptance, the site shall be permanently stabilized with approved
cover or permanent landscaping.

C. In cases of a land division, temporary groundcover will be accepted on each lot where
home construction will begin within 30 days of project completion.

D. To the extent practicable, all stormwater facilities and open channel stormwater
drainage system shall be permanently stabilized prior to use.

E. Erosion control measures shall be continued after construction has been completed
until the permanent stabilization measures and vegetative ground cover for the site is
established and functioning such that erosion has ceased.

F. The Developer will be responsible for all erosion prevention and sediment control for
individual lots until ownership has changed.

G. In cases with developments with 1200-C permits, the Permittee is responsible for
erosion prevention and sediment control until the 1200-C permit is terminated by the
state.

H. Temporary EPSC measures shall be removed by the Developer when permanent
stabilization or landscaping has been installed and is functioning.

2.8.4 Plans Required

An EPSC Plan shall be prepared in accordance with the requirements of the most current
version of the Water Environment Services Erosion Prevention and Sediment Control Planning
and Design Manual and these Standards for all sites where an EPSC Permit is required. See
Appendix A for submittal requirements.

2.8.5 Supplemental Plans

This section provides criteria for supplemental plan submittals.

2.8.5.01 Mass Grading and Runoff Control

A phased mass grading and runoff control plan is required for projects where clearing
and mass grading activities are proposed during Wet Weather. The runoff control plan
shall identify BMPs from Section 2.8.6.03, or approved alternatives, and be submitted
with, or as a revision to, the EPSC Plan. All stormwater BMPs specified on the runoff
control plan shall be in place and functional prior to commencement of mass grading.

2.8.5.02 Dewatering

A dewatering plan is required for projects with anticipated excavation activities at or

below the ground water table, or if ground water is encountered during construction.
The supplemental plan shall be submitted with, or as a revision to, the EPSC Plan and

shall identify how dewatering discharges will be managed.

Oak Lodge Water Services Design and Construction Standards
Section 2—Stormwater and Erosion Control Oct. 10, 2024 (Previous Revision: February 18, 2021)

2-87



2.8.5.03 Cement Treatment

A cement treatment plan is required for projects where cement treatment is proposed
as a soil amendment (including, but not limited to Portland cement-treated base [CTB],
cement kiln dust [CKD], or fly ash). The supplemental plan shall indicate an application
rate, work schedule, and limits of work areas proposed for cement treatment. If cement
treatment will occur during Wet Weather, the following conditions will also apply:

A. The project shall be phased in small manageable areas to minimize the risk for
erosion.

B. Contractor shall have sufficient erosion prevention stormwater BMPs on site to
cover all exposed soil.

C. Each phase must be stabilized with temporary or permanent erosion prevention
stormwater BMPs before disturbing additional phases.

D. The plan shall indicate how runoff from areas treated with cement will not cause
or accelerate erosion of soils not treated with cement.

E. If the runoff has a high pH (8.5 standard units or higher) then the plan must
include an engineered sediment basin or similar impoundment must be used for
treatment before discharge. The operator is required to determine the
acceptable pH water quality criteria range of site discharge based on criteria of
the receiving waterbody according to OAR 340-041-0021. If necessary, the
operator must adjust or neutralize the high pH water until it is in the range of pH
Standard Units (SU) using an appropriate treatment BMP such as carbon dioxide
(CO2) sparging or dry ice. The operator must conduct and document pH
monitoring of stormwater captured in the sediment impoundment as described
below:

a. The operator must begin the pH monitoring period when the engineered
soils are first exposed to precipitation and must continue every 7 calendar
days and within 24 hours of the occurrence of discharge from the site, or the
occurrence of a storm event of 0.10-inches or greater until final stabilization
of the area of engineered soils is established.

b. Document date soil amendments were added and final stabilization achieved
in the Inspection Reports.

c. The operator must monitor the pH of stormwater in the sediment
basins/impoundments and at discharge point locations that receive
stormwater runoff from the area of engineered soils before the stormwater
discharges to surface waters. Testing shall be done by an approved method
and protocol and be performed by an operator knowledgeable in the testing
method.

d. The benchmark value for pH is defined in SU and determined by the river
basin containing the receiving waterbody according to OAR 340-041-0021.

Oak Lodge Water Services Design and Construction Standards
Section 2—Stormwater and Erosion Control Oct. 10, 2024 (Previous Revision: February 18, 2021)

2-88



Anytime monitoring indicates that the pH is the maximum allowed SU or
greater, the operator must either:

i. Prevent the high pH water from entering stormwater sewer systems or
surface waters; or

ii. If necessary, adjust or neutralize the high pH water until it is in the range
of pH SU acceptable for discharge to the river basin containing the
receiving waterbody by using an appropriate treatment BMP such as
carbon dioxide (CO2) sparging or dry ice. The operator must obtain
written permission from OLWS (and/or other authorities as applicable)
before using any form of chemical treatment other than CO2 sparging or
dry ice.

F. If visible or measurable erosion is occurring, all cement treatment activities shall
be suspended, and approved erosion prevention facilities shall be applied to all
exposed soil.

2.8.5.04 Chitosan Treatment Systems

Chitosan treatment plan is required where chitosan is proposed as a BMP. The
supplemental plan must include a statement of the intent to use chitosan, the reason
for its use and the name, experience and training of the qualified operator who will be
monitoring the use of chitosan. Additional requirements are dependent on the form of
chitosan proposed, as detailed below:

A. If chitosan acetate is proposed, the system must be a chitosan enhanced sand
filtration system. The supplemental plan must demonstrate that the system is
consistent with the protocol outlined in Ecology’s GULD for chitosan enhanced
sand filtration.

B. If chitosan lactate (cartridge) is proposed, the system shall be designed by a
registered PE to meet site specific conditions and comply with the
manufacturer’s recommendations. A supplemental plan must include the
following:

a. Location and design schematic of treatment system, location of inlet and
location of discharge and dispersion device design.

b. Method for ensuring filtration or settlement of treated stormwater to
comply with the following discharge standards:

i Residual chitosan must not exceed 1 mg/L,
ii. Turbidity must not exceed DEQ’s Water Quality Standards, and
iii. pH must remain within a range of 6.5-8.5

C. Qualified operator inspection and certification of consistency with the design,
prior to system operation and use.

D. Testing and monitoring protocol, including at minimum:

Oak Lodge Water Services Design and Construction Standards
Section 2—Stormwater and Erosion Control Oct. 10, 2024 (Previous Revision: February 18, 2021)

2-89



a. Qualified operator must field test discharge using a Residual Chitosan Lactate
Field Screening Test Kit, or OLWS approved equal.

b. Field tests shall be performed during the first discharge of treated water and
weekly thereafter for as long as chitosan is being used.

E. Response protocol, if field testing demonstrates exceedance of discharge
standards, including immediate notification to OLWS, modification to the
treatment system, and implementation of additional erosion control facilities.

F. Notification protocol to OLWS if any modifications to the treatment system are
made.

G. Maintenance protocol of treatment system

2.8.6 Best Management Practices

This section provides a list of approved stormwater BMPs. Each BMP shall be implemented
consistent with additional information in the Standard Details from the most current Water
Environment Services Erosion Prevention and Sediment Control Planning and Design Manual.

Depending on site-specific conditions, the required base measures may be inadequate to
prevent erosion and control sediment discharges. In these cases, additional stormwater BMPs
shall be applied to the site to meet the EPSC standards.

2.8.6.01 Base Measures

The following stormwater BMPs, as described in Table 7, shall be implemented on all
sites requiring an EPSC Permit:

A. Gravel construction entrance/exit.

B. Linear barrier or downslope perimeter control (e.g., sediment fence, straw wattles,
or similar measure).

Stormwater drain inlet protection

D. Applying temporary or permanent soil stabilization to denuded development site
areas in conformance with the following requirements:

Between October 1 and April 30, all denuded sites must be provided with either
temporary or permanent soil stabilization as soon as practicable, but in no case more
than two days after ground-disturbing activity occurs.

Between May 1 and September 30, all denuded sites must be provided with either
temporary or permanent soil stabilization as soon as practicable, but in no case more
than seven days after ground-disturbing activity occurs.

2.8.6.02 Erosion Prevention Stormwater BMPs

Erosion prevention is the highest priority in the overall EPSC Plan and shall be integrated
into a project throughout the planning, design, scheduling, and construction phases.

Oak Lodge Water Services Design and Construction Standards
Section 2—Stormwater and Erosion Control Oct. 10, 2024 (Previous Revision: February 18, 2021)

2-90



Erosion prevention stormwater BMPs shall be included in the approved EPSC Plan. See
Table 7 for approved erosion prevention facilities.

Table 7. Erosion Prevention Stormwater BMPs

EPSC Manual
Name Standard Description
Detail
Maintain existing vegetation or place vegetative buffer strips. This SMF is
Preserve Natural . . . . - .
. NA especially effective for sites with sensitive resources like wetlands, stream
Vegetation .
corridors, lakes, and steep slopes.
An undisturbed area or strip of natural vegetation or an established
suitable planting adjacent to a Disturbed Area that reduces erosion and
Buffer Zone NA . .
runoff. A Vegetated Corridor shall not be used or considered a buffer
zone under this section.
Vegetative cover established on Disturbed Areas to reduce erosion by
Temporary and seeding (applied by hand or hydroseeding) with appropriate and rapidly
Permanent NA growing grasses. Permanent seeding can be used in conjunction with
Seeding erosion control blankets and mats to provide both temporary and
permanent erosion prevention control.
A protective layer of straw or other suitable material applied to the soil
Ground Cover NA surface. Various ground cover methods include straw mulch and compost
blankets.
A mechanical method of applying erosion control materials, other than
simply hydroseeding, to bare soil. This BMP is often called Bonded Fiber
Hvdraulic Matrix. Bonded Fiber Matrix can be used without seed in upland areas to
A ¥ lication NA stabilize and prevent erosion. This BMP cannot be used in areas of
PP concentrated flow or water quality facilities. This BMP may be used in
place of straw, mulch, compost, or matting depending on site and
weather conditions.
Permanent or temporary turf for immediate erosion protection and
Sod NA e
stabilization.
A class of products that includes manufactured mulch materials that are
produced in a roll configuration that is placed on the ground and held in
. lace by stakes, metal staples, geotextile pins, or other fastening system.
Matting 4-1 and 4-2 P . v .p & ) P & 5Y
Matting shall be 100% biodegradable fibers or approved equal. Refer to
the Floodplain, Wetland and Stream Construction Strategies Handbook
for a comparison of matting types for work in sensitive areas.
Materials that are applied to the soil surface for dust control and
Soil Binders NA temporary erosion control. These are also known as hydraulic soil
stabilizers.
Stockpile 43 Methods to reduce or eliminate loss of sediment from temporary
Management stockpiles of soil.
Water applied over susceptible areas, typically due to dry soil conditions
Dust Control NA ppledovel -eptibie , ypically aue Y ’
during high wind periods. (Also see Section 2.8.6.05).

Oak Lodge Water Services Design and Construction Standards
Section 2—Stormwater and Erosion Control Oct. 10, 2024 (Previous Revision: February 18, 2021)

291



2.8.6.03 Runoff Control Stormwater BMPs

The purpose of runoff control BMPs is to control stormwater runoff and drainage
patterns at construction sites. Runoff control BMPs shall be included in the EPSC Plan.
Table 8 provides a list of approved runoff control BMPs.

Table 8. Runoff Control Stormwater BMPs for All Sites

or Dike

EPSC Manual
Name Standard Description
Detail
The pipe slope drain carries concentrated runoff down steep slopes
. . without causing gullies, erosion, or saturation of slide-prone soils. It
Pipe Slope Drain 4-9 .g & . . P
should be designed to intercept and direct surface runoff or groundwater
into a stabilized watercourse, trapping device, or stabilized area.
Outlet protections are physical structures that reduce the velocity and
. 4-7 and energy of concentrated flow to prevent scour at stormwater drainage
Outlet Protection L . . .
4-8 system outlets. Outlet protection includes riprap-lined basins, concrete
aprons, and stilling basins.
Soil surface is roughened by mechanical methods. All slopes prepared by
Surface 4-10 and surface roughening shall meet engineering compaction requirements.
Roughening 4-11 This BMP is intended to only affect the surface of soils and is not intended
to compromise slope stability or overall compaction.
Small, temporary dams placed across a natural or man-made channel or
4-4 and drainage ditch and designed to reduce drainage ditch erosion caused by
Check Dams 4.5 stormwater runoff by reducing the velocity of flow in the ditch. Check
dams are often used as a temporary measure while a channel is being
permanently lined with vegetation or other materials to prevent erosion.
Diversion Swale 16 A ridge of compacted soil or a vegetated lined swale located at the top,

base or somewhere along a sloping Disturbed Area.

2.8.6.04 Sediment Control Stormwater BMPs

Sediment control BMPs include any practice that traps soil particles after they are
dislodged and moved by wind, water, or mechanical means. These BMPs are usually
passive systems that rely on filtering or settling particles out of the water or wind once
they have become suspended. Soil that accumulates in or near sediment control BMPs is
a waste product that must be removed and disposed of at an approved location.
Uncontaminated sediment/soil can be placed back on site and protected with
appropriate erosion control BMPs.

Sediment control BMPs are considered the last line of defense before stormwater runoff
leaves a site and are not to be used as the primary methods for EPSC.

Oak Lodge Water Services Design and Construction Standards
Section 2—Stormwater and Erosion Control

Oct. 10, 2024 (Previous Revision: February 18, 2021)

2-92




Table 9 lists approved sediment control BMPs. These BMPs are to be applied prior to

and during earthwork. Sediment control BMPs shall be included in the approved EPSC
Plan.

The perimeter sediment barrier identified in

Oak Lodge Water Services Design and Construction Standards

Section 2—Stormwater and Erosion Control Oct. 10, 2024 (Previous Revision: February 18, 2021)

2-93



Table 9 is not required where:

A. Flows are collected through the use of temporary or permanent grading or other
means such that the flows are routed to an approved settling pond, filtering system,
or sediment control BMP.

B. There are no concentrated flows, slopes are less than 10 percent, and runoff passes
through a grass area which is either owned by the Applicant or such use is allowed,
through written agreement, by the Applicant of the grass area. The grass area shall
be at least equal in dimensions to the project area. The grass area shall not be
located in a Vegetated Corridor or Sensitive Area.

C. The surface is protected by re-established permanent vegetation.

Oak Lodge Water Services Design and Construction Standards
Section 2—Stormwater and Erosion Control Oct. 10, 2024 (Previous Revision: February 18, 2021)

2-94



Table 9. Sediment Control Stormwater BMPs

EPSC Manual
Name Standard Description
Detail
Gravel construction entrances/exits shall be required at each
Gravel entrance/exit to and from the site. If a property contains or is adjacent to
Construction 4-13 a stream, watercourse, stormwater facility, wetlands, or other water

Entrance/Exit® quality sensitive area, BMPs in addition to a gravel construction
entrance/exit shall be required to prevent physical erosion into the water
quality sensitive area.

The wheel wash, which shall be incorporated with a stabilized
Tire Wash Facility 4-26 construction entrance, shall be designed and constructed for anticipated
traffic loads.

Linear barrier (sediment fence) shall be installed around the down-
gradient perimeter of the site to control sheet flow from the site.
Sediment fence shall not be placed in areas of concentrated flow or across
stream channels.

Linear Barrier or
Perimeter 4-23
Control®

Wattles are small, cylindrical barriers composed of biodegradable fibers
Wattles 4-27 encased in photodegradable open-weave netting. Wattles are placed in
shallow trenches and staked along the contour of newly constructed or
disturbed slopes.

Temporary inlet protection shall be provided for all active inlets for the

Storm Drain 4-15 through . . . .
g duration of construction to keep sediment, trash, and other construction-

Inlet Protection® 4-20 .
related pollutants out of the stormwater drain system.
Rock or brush filter berms are temporary barriers composed of brush,
Rock or Brush 4-14 wrapped in filter cloth, and secured or rock anchored in place. These are
Filter Berm designed for sheet flow, not concentrated flow, and shall not be placed
across a stream or channel.
Sidewalk Undercut lots or sidewalk subgrades with rock base are linear drainage
barriers that provide an effective sediment filtration and retention area
Subgrade Gravel 4-25 . . .
. behind the curb. If weep holes exist, they must be plugged when using
Barrier .
this BMP.
Dewatering NA Separation of sediment and water achieved through filtration, either by

gravity or with pressure.

A sediment trap consists of a small, temporary ponding area with a rock
Sediment Trap 4-22 weir or perforated riser pipe at the outlet. This BMP is not to be used for
drainage areas greater than 5 acres.

A temporary sediment basin has one or more inflow points and baffles to
Sediment Basin 264 spread the flow for wet and dry storage. The sediment basin is effective
for about one year with a drainage area less than 10 acres.

A turbidity curtain is a pre-manufactured floating geotextile structure
which minimizes turbidity transport from a Disturbed Area adjacent to or
Turbidity Curtains NA within a body of water. This BMP can be used to minimize the mixing of
turbid water with adjacent clean water and/or contain soil particles during
construction and/or repair activities.

This is a flat layered pad that provides filtration and settling of sediment.
4-21 BMP may be incorporated into the permanent stabilization/revegetation
process if used in conjunction with mulch and/or seed.

Sediment
Entrapment Mats

@ These measures are minimum requirements for all projects per Section 2.8.6.01.

Oak Lodge Water Services Design and Construction Standards
Section 2—Stormwater and Erosion Control Oct. 10, 2024 (Previous Revision: February 18, 2021)

2-95



2.8.6.05 Dust Control Stormwater BMPs

During active project work, dust shall be minimized to the extent practicable, using all
measures necessary, including, but not limited to the following BMPs.

A. Sprinkling the haul and access roads and other exposed dust producing areas
with water.

B. Application of dust palliatives on access and haul roads as approved by OLWS.
Establishing temporary vegetative cover.

D. Placing wood chips or other effective mulches on vehicle and pedestrian use
areas.

E. Maintaining the proper moisture condition on all fill surfaces.
Pre-wetting cut and borrow area surfaces.

G. Use of covered haul equipment.

2.8.6.06 Non-Stormwater Pollution Control Stormwater BMPs

For the purposes of this section, non-stormwater pollution includes, but is not limited
to, concrete truck wastewater, paint, fuel, hydraulic fluid, solvents, glues, and other
waste materials characteristic of construction sites. Non-stormwater pollutants are
prohibited from entering a public or private street or stormwater system or surface
waters.

Non-stormwater pollution controls consist of general site and materials management
measures that directly or indirectly aid in minimizing the discharge of sediment and
other construction related pollutants from the construction site.

Approved non-stormwater pollution control BMPs include:
A. Concrete truck washout areas.
B. Written spill prevention and response procedures.
C. Employee training on spill prevention and proper disposal procedures.
D

Protected areas for equipment storage and maintenance where the risk of
pollution is minimal.

E. Debris boxes to contain construction wastes.

2.8.7 Inspection Requirements

This section provides criteria for EPSC inspections during a project’s construction.

2.8.7.01 Pre-Construction Conference

Prior to the initial EPSC inspection, OLWS may require, or the Permittee, Applicant, or
Contractor may request, a pre-construction conference to review and discuss the EPSC
Plan for the site.

Oak Lodge Water Services Design and Construction Standards
Section 2—Stormwater and Erosion Control Oct. 10, 2024 (Previous Revision: February 18, 2021)

2-96



A pre-construction conference shall be required when the risk of erosion is high due to
one or more of the following factors:

A. Construction during Wet Weather.

B. Steep slopes with severe erosion potential.

C. Construction adjacent to a sensitive area or vegetated corridor.
D

Mass grading on a large site.

2.8.7.02 OLWS Initial EPSC Inspection

On all projects, except single family home construction sites, EPSC base measures shall
be installed by the Permittee and then inspected and approved by OLWS’s Inspector
prior to the start of any permitted activity.

For single-family home construction sites, EPSC measures for each property shall be
installed by the Permittee and then inspected and approved by OLWS's Inspector prior
to the building foundation installation. Foundation approvals shall not be given until
EPSC measures are approved.

2.8.7.03 Permittee Inspections

The Permittee or Applicant’s authorized agent shall provide ongoing inspection of the
site in accordance with approved plans to ensure compliance with the standards
specified in this section. The Permittee or Applicant’s authorized agent for inspections
shall be knowledgeable in EPSC BMP selection, installation, and maintenance. They shall
also possess the technical skills to assess conditions at the construction site that could
impact stormwater quality, and to assess the effectiveness of EPSC BMPs selected. If the
Permittee or representative determines the stormwater BMPs approved in the EPSC
Plan are not effective or sufficient to ensure compliance, additional stormwater BMPs
must be implemented and identified in a revised plan.

For single family developments that disturb 1 acre or greater and all non-single-family
developments the Engineer’s Inspector shall:

A. Meet the applicable DEQ qualifying inspection certifications.

B. Inspect the site once every 14 calendar days and within 24 hours of any storm event,
including snowmelt, that results in discharge from the site.

C. Maintain records of their EPSC inspection and maintenance activities. Records shall
be made no later than 48 hours after inspection by the Permittee or their authorized
agent. Records shall be made available to OLWS Inspector upon request.

For single family developments that disturb less than 1 acre, the Permittee’s or
representative shall:

A. Inspect the EPSC measures and provide maintenance as required to maintain the
functionality of the BMP measures.

Oak Lodge Water Services Design and Construction Standards
Section 2—Stormwater and Erosion Control Oct. 10, 2024 (Previous Revision: February 18, 2021)

2-97



B. Inspect site daily when stormwater runoff, including runoff from snow melt, is
occurring, once per week on active sites when runoff not occurring or once every
two weeks on inactive sites

C. Keep onsite documentation of their EPSC activities for reference during operations,
maintenance activities, and inspections.
2.8.7.04 Final Inspection

A final erosion control inspection shall be required on all sites after they have been
stabilized and prior to approval of the Certificate of Occupancy. All temporary BMPs
shall be removed prior to final inspection.

For single family sites seeking final erosion control inspection between September 1 and
May 31, groundcover, using approved techniques, shall be completed before the single-
family site can be deemed complete.

2.9 OPERATION AND MAINTENANCE

The purpose of OLWS’s O&M requirements is to assure long-term operations and maintenance
of public and private SMFs.

The O&M requirements in this section apply to all SMFs constructed as a requirement of
OLWS’s Rules. Maintenance activities, such as routine maintenance, restorative maintenance,
and rehabilitation are required to ensure the long-term function and effectiveness of SMFs and
infrastructure. Initial site planning must incorporate provisions for adequate access and space
to perform maintenance activities for all SMFs.

2.9.1 General Requirements

All SMF designs will be held to the same maintenance standards regardless of the organization
or entity that has accepted responsibility for the maintenance.

Privately maintained SMFs only convey Private Stormwater that generally benefit one owner or
entity. They include residential, multi-family, commercial, and industrial types of developments.
These SMFs require a maintenance covenant recorded with the title that describes the types of
facilities and necessary maintenance.

2.9.2 Operations and Maintenance Plans Required

All SMF that are intended to be privately maintained require the Developer, Applicant, or
Owner to execute and record an O&M Plan prior to final inspection approvals of the related
development permits. The O&M Plan shall ensure that Owner maintains and operates the SMF
to preserve and continue its function. O&M Plans require Owners of property with SMFs to
properly maintain, repair, modify or reconstruct (if necessary) the facility, and provide a
schedule for the maintenance frequency for the facility.

Oak Lodge Water Services Design and Construction Standards
Section 2—Stormwater and Erosion Control Oct. 10, 2024 (Previous Revision: February 18, 2021)

2-98



2.9.2.01 Operations and Maintenance Plan Development

O&M Plans shall be required for all permanent SMFs to ensure that they function as
designed. The purpose of an O&M Plan is to provide guidance to those who are
responsible for the long-term inspection and maintenance of the facility.

To ensure functionality of the SMFs, Owners are required to inspect facilities regularly
per the approved O&M Plan to determine maintenance needs. Routine inspection and
maintenance can help to keep overall maintenance costs low by detecting problems
early and avoiding large repair or replacement costs.

The facility design and maintenance specifications in Appendix B can be used to create
the O&M Plan. If the proposed facility types do not match the SMFs in Appendix B, the
Applicant and Developer’s Engineer will be responsible for creating any drawings,
maintenance specifications, and an inspection checklist to be incorporated into the
O&M Plan.

O&M Plans for privately owned/maintained facilities shall be recorded with the
Recording Office of Clackamas County as an exhibit to the maintenance covenant
referenced in Section 2.9300 before issuance of a building permit or final plat approval.

2.9.2.02 Operations and Maintenance Plan Elements
The following outline can be used to prepare an O&M Plan.

Introduction and General Information

Facility information, including type and identifying name or number, as applicable.
Include the number of each type of structure including the manufacturer’s model
number where applicable.

Name and contact information for the organization or individual responsible for
conducting maintenance and/or ensuring maintenance is conducted.

Written narrative overview describing the site, drainage areas, and intended function of
the facility.

Operations and Maintenance

Normal operating procedures for facility function, including any seasonal modifications,
adjustments, and manufacture’s recommendations.

Required regular maintenance activities and schedule (e.g., landscape maintenance,
sediment removal, pipe cleaning).

Required inspection frequency to verify facilities are being maintained and functioning
as designed.

Minimum maintenance standards that are required for the SMF to produce desired
results and maintenance actions when the minimum standards are not met (See
Appendix B). Where applicable, the minimum maintenance standards should include
manufacturer’s recommendations.

Oak Lodge Water Services Design and Construction Standards
Section 2—Stormwater and Erosion Control Oct. 10, 2024 (Previous Revision: February 18, 2021)

2-99



Expected lifespan of the facility components (i.e., the time when Owners should expect
to replace growing media, plantings, cartridges, and control structure elements).
Proprietary facility lifespan information, if known.

List of interrelated or connected SMFs and description of how each facility works with
the next one.

O&M Plan Responsibility

Identify the person(s) or organization(s) responsible for inspections of SMFs.
Identify the funding source for maintenance.

Attachments

Include a site plan to identify the location of the facility/facilities, sources of runoff
entering each facility, and ultimate stormwater disposal point.

Include the SMF detail sheet(s) and O&M Plan and checklist(s) (when applicable, use
details in Appendix C for reference).

Include a copy of the public maintenance agreement and/or private maintenance
covenant that will be used to assign maintenance responsibility and/or to allow access
for maintenance or inspection of the SMFs.

2.9.2.03 Operations and Maintenance Plan Review and Approval Process

The O&M Plan and associated agreements, covenants, and easements will be reviewed
as part of OLWS’s overall plan review and approval process.

2.9.3 Privately Owned and Maintained Facilities

Generally, SMFs that convey Private Stormwater that benefit a single Owner or entity shall be
privately-owned and maintained. All privately owned and maintained SMFs require an O&M
Plan that is reviewed and approved as part of the overall plan review process.

2.9.3.01 Maintenance Covenant for Private Stormwater Facilities

Maintenance of all privately-owned SMFs shall be ensured through the creation of a
formal maintenance covenant that must be approved by OLWS and recorded into the
land record prior to final plan and/or plat approval. The O&M Plan, including scheduled
inspections and regular maintenance activities, shall be referenced in the maintenance
covenant.

2.9.3.02 Access Easement

Prior to the issuance of any permit that includes a SMF, the Applicant or Owner of the
site must execute a maintenance covenant that includes public access rights, to inspect
the facility and ensure that it is maintained in proper working condition. This includes
the right to enter a property when OLWS has a reasonable basis to believe that a
violation of OLWS standards and/or rules and regulations is occurring or has occurred,
and to enter when necessary for abatement of a public nuisance or correction of an

Oak Lodge Water Services Design and Construction Standards
Section 2—Stormwater and Erosion Control Oct. 10, 2024 (Previous Revision: February 18, 2021)

2-100



OLWS violation. The access easement shall be included in the maintenance covenant, as
approved by OLWS, and recorded at the Recording Office of Clackamas County.

2.9.3.03 Annual SMF Inspection and Maintenance

The Responsible Party identified within the O&M Plan shall complete and keep records
of annual inspections of their SMF. The annual inspection records may be reviewed by
OLWS upon request. All SMFs must undergo an annual inspection to document
maintenance and repair needs and ensure compliance with the requirements of these
standards. Maintenance needs may include, but not limited to the following: removal of
silt, litter and other debris from all stormwater structures and facilities; grass cutting
and invasive vegetation removal; and necessary replacement of water quality
vegetation. Any maintenance needs identified must be addressed by the Responsible
Party in a timely manner. The inspection and maintenance frequency may be increased
as deemed necessary to ensure proper functioning of the SMF.

2.9.3.04 Records of Maintenance Activity

Owners shall keep records of all SMF maintenance and repairs and shall retain the
records for at least three (3) years. These records shall be made available to OLWS staff
during inspection of the facility and at other reasonable times upon request. The Owner
shall submit a copy of the SMF maintenance and inspection records to OLWS annually.

2.9.3.05 OLWS Inspection of Stormwater Management Facilities

Inspections may be conducted by OLWS at any time, including but not limited to,
routine inspections, random inspections, inspections based on complaints or other
notice of possible violations, inspections related to OLWS’s NPDES MS4 Permit, and joint
inspections with other agencies done under environmental or safety laws. Inspections
may include, but are not limited to, review of maintenance and repair records; sampling
discharges, surface water, groundwater, or material/water in SMFs; and facility
condition evaluations.

2.9.3.06 Failure to Comply with the O&M Plan

If an SMF becomes a danger to public safety or public health, OLWS shall notify in
writing the party responsible for maintenance of the SMF. Upon receipt of the written
notice, the responsible person shall have 30 days, unless otherwise specified by OLWS,
to complete the necessary maintenance and repair of the facility in an approved
manner. If a responsible party fails or refuses to meet the requirements of the
maintenance covenant, OLWS, after reasonable notice, may correct a violation of the
design standards or maintenance needs by performing all necessary work to return the
facility to proper working condition. If the Owner does not comply with their O&M Plan,
after proper notice, OLWS shall assess the Owner of the facility for the cost of repair
work and any penalties.

Oak Lodge Water Services Design and Construction Standards
Section 2—Stormwater and Erosion Control Oct. 10, 2024 (Previous Revision: February 18, 2021)

2-101



2.9.3.07 Modifications to the Operations and Maintenance Plan

If it is determined that the O&M Plan requires modification to maintain the functionality
of the facility, then modifications to the O&M Plan shall be submitted to OLWS for
review and approval. Written approval from OLWS is required prior to modifying the
O&M Plan. The approved modified plan shall be recorded at the Recording Office of
Clackamas County.

2.9.4 Publicly Owned and Maintained Facilities

Generally, publicly owned and maintained SMFs convey Public Stormwater, serve multiple
properties, or provide drainage for the general public. Publicly owned SMFs can serve any type
of development (residential, multi-family, commercial, industrial). Publicly owned facilities may
be constructed by OLWS, or they may be constructed by private parties, with maintenance
responsibilities OLWS determined by Clackamas County DTD.

END OF SECTION

Oak Lodge Water Services Design and Construction Standards
Section 2—Stormwater and Erosion Control Oct. 10, 2024 (Previous Revision: February 18, 2021)

2-102



Appendix A PERMITTING AND SUBMITTAL REQUIREMENTS

Appendix A outlines the planning, plan review, and project completion requirements for both
sanitary and stormwater sewer projects and is included in both the Sanitary Standards and the
Stormwater Standards. This section is intended to standardize the submittals and clearly outline
the minimum requirements. The requirement for a complete submittal package is intended to
reduce the overall plan approval processing time.

Review and Permitting Requirements

The following is a generalized overview of OLWS development review and permitting processes.
This process may vary from one application, submittal and/or building permit to another and is
only shown as a general outline of procedures and processes involved in the review and
approval of projects located within OLWS. To obtain further information on a specific plan
review or permit process contact a Development Review staff member. The Developer / Owner
shall have ultimate responsibility for compliance with all requirements specified in these
Sanitary Standards and OLWS’s Regulations. The Developer / Owner shall be directly
responsible for all administrative requirements including application for service, submittal of all
required Plans, bonds and insurance, and payment of fees.

General Plan Review and Approval Process

This subsection describes the most common elements of the general development
review process for a typical partition, subdivision, multi-family, commercial or industrial
project. Applicants should discuss their project with OLWS and local planning authority
early to understand the review and approval process required for a specific project.

1.

3.

Pre-Application Conference — The Applicant may elect to meet with the local
planning authority, OLWS, and other related departments to discuss the proposed
project to better understand the potential requirements. It is best if the Applicant
submits a preliminary concept or plan, so OLWS is better prepared to discuss the
proposed development. Contact the local planning authority to schedule the pre-
application meeting. The planning authority will invite OLWS to the meeting.

Service Provider Letter (Feasibility Statement) — Applicants proposing to develop or
redevelop property shall obtain a Service Provider Letter from OLWS prior to
submitting the land-use or design review application to the local planning authority.

Water Quality Resource Area Boundary Verification — If applicable, prior to OLWS
issuing a Service Provider Letter, the local planning authority must approve a WQRA
Boundary Verification for vegetated buffer requirements (see the Buffer Standards).

Conditions of Approval — The local planning authority will process the land
use/design review application and route a copy of the application for OLWS review.
OLWS will review the application and submit comments to the local planning
authority to be included as conditions.

Oak Lodge Water Services Design and Construction Standards
Section 2—Stormwater and Erosion Control Oct. 10, 2024 (Previous Revision: February 18, 2021)

2-103



5. Jurisdictional Authority— If the proposed project is outside the service area
boundaries of OLWS, the Developer must petition for annexation to OLWS. The
annexation must be approved by the Board before final occupancy or plat approval.
The Applicant shall submit a complete annexation packet to OLWS prior to any plan
approvals by OLWS. (There may also be de-annexation procedures.)

6. Pre-Design Meeting — The Applicant may elect to coordinate a meeting with the
local planning authority and/or OLWS to discuss the project and requirements
outlined in the conditions.

7. Plan Submittal — Upon land use approval, the Applicant must submit required fees,
civil plans and supporting documentation as specified in these standards for plan
review and approval.

8. Other approvals — Other permits and approvals may be required prior to OLWS
approving the plans (i.e., County, City, State or Federal).

9. Approved Plan(s) — Plans and applicable building permit applications will be
reviewed, approved, and then signed by an authorized representative of OLWS. If
applicable, it may be necessary to hold a Pre-Construction Meeting with the
Developer’s Engineer, Contractor, Applicant, OLWS, and other related agency
representatives to discuss project requirements, including processes to complete
the project as specified in the Sanitary, Stormwater and Water Engineering
Agreements.

10. Construction — The public sanitary and stormwater management infrastructure shall
be constructed under the supervision of the Developer’s Engineer as specified in the
Sanitary, Stormwater and Water Engineering Agreements.

11. Construction Completed — Upon final completion of the construction, the
Developer’s Engineer will certify the project was constructed in accordance with the
approved plans, and the as-built plans are an actual record of what was constructed.

The following items will be completed and submitted prior to requesting the final
inspection of the public sanitary and/or stormwater infrastructure:

i. All sanitary and/or stormwater infrastructure shall be cleaned of sediment and
debris.

ii. Electronic copy of the as-built drawings shall be submitted.

iii. If applicable, submit the video testing of the public sanitary and stormwater
conveyance piping systems, along with the Contractor’s reports for review and
approval. The Developer’s Engineer shall review the video and reports, and note
any deficiencies discovered in the system(s) prior to submitting the items to
OLWS.

iv. Submit a copy of the Developer’s Engineer inspection reports if OLWS did not
inspect the project/facility(ies).

Oak Lodge Water Services Design and Construction Standards
Section 2—Stormwater and Erosion Control Oct. 10, 2024 (Previous Revision: February 18, 2021)

2-104



12. Final Inspection — OLWS will review the required as-built submittals and, if
acceptable, will schedule the final field inspection. All repairs and corrections shall
be made prior to OLWS deeming the project complete.

13. Final As-built Drawings — When requested by OLWS, the Developer’s Engineer shall
submit the corrected final as-built drawings, electronic CAD, and PDF files of the as-
built civil construction plan set.

14. Warranty Surety Inspection — Between 11 and 12 months after issuance of the
letter of completion and acceptance, OLWS will inspect the public facilities at the
request of the Owner. The inspection will include all relevant stormwater treatment
infrastructure, including the plantings and other related improvements. Once all
deficiencies are corrected, OLWS will issue a release letter.

Service Provider Letter Submittal Requirements

The intent of the Service Provider Letter is that, prior to applying for Land Use/Design
Review, the Applicant must demonstrate the proposed development is viable in
accordance with OLWS Rules and applicable Standards. The Service Provider Letter will
only be issued once the Applicant has provided sufficient plans, reports, studies, and
agency approvals needed for preliminary review by OLWS. Based on the preliminary
review, OLWS may require additional information prior to issuance of the letter or as
part of the forthcoming land use application. Receipt of the Service Provider Letter does
not imply that all OLWS requirements have been met or guarantee that land use
approval for the development will be granted.

Applicants must submit the following to OLWS for review:

e Preliminary plat (if applicable)
e Preliminary proposal for public and private sanitary infrastructure
e Proposed sanitary system layout, including compliance with minimum design
standards
e Points of connection to public sanitary sewer system
e Service proposal for upstream properties
e Preliminary Stormwater Management Plan and Drainage Report
e Site assessment and maps
e Proposed stormwater drainage system and stormwater facilities:
0 Infiltration, detention, and water quality facilities
0 Conveyance System design
0 Point of discharge
0 Emergency overflow pathway
0 Service proposal for upstream properties
e Soils report and analysis
e Drainage area maps
e Infiltration testing results
e Drainage system analysis (upstream and downstream)

Oak Lodge Water Services Design and Construction Standards
Section 2—Stormwater and Erosion Control Oct. 10, 2024 (Previous Revision: February 18, 2021)

2-105



e Sizing and conveyance calculations

e Other supporting reports and information (as deemed necessary by OLWS)

e BMP Sizing Tool calculations

e WQRA Boundary Verification or Natural Resource Assessment

e Preliminary approval for off-site easements

e Offsite mitigation measures for downstream conveyance

e Statement that the same information was submitted to CC DTD for the any
public ROW impervious surface changes or changes to the public infrastructure.

Land Use Submittal Requirements

As part of the land use/design review application process, the Applicant must provide
sufficient plans, reports, studies, and agency approvals needed for preliminary review by
OLWS, as including, but not limited to the Service Plan Submittal Requirements, above.
The Applicant’s materials shall include any additional information or revisions requested
by OLWS with issuance of the Service Provider Letter.

The land use review stage includes OLWS issuance of 1) a Service Provider Letter, prior
to land use application submittal, and 2) land use conditions of approval, following
receipt of a complete land use application from the local planning agency.

Plan Review Submittal Requirements

The Developer’s Engineer shall submit sufficient supporting information to indicate that
the proposed plan design meets all the provisions within these Standards, including the
land-use conditions. The submittal information shall include, but not be limited to, the
items listed within this section.

Initial/First submittal requirements:

The following is a list of application submittals required by OLWS for a typical
development:

e Water Quality Resource Area (WQRA) Boundary Verification and WQRA
Development Permit, submit to the local planning authority as required (see
Buffer Standards)

e Complete set of drawings for the Stormwater Management Plan

e Existing conditions

e Infiltration testing

e Proposed on-site stormwater drainage system and stormwater facilities

e Proposed grading plan

e Existing and proposed off-site improvements

e EPSCPIlan

e Details and notes

e Stormwater Management Report that includes:

0 The engineered or BMP Sizing Tool method used to size the stormwater
facilities.

Oak Lodge Water Services Design and Construction Standards
Section 2—Stormwater and Erosion Control Oct. 10, 2024 (Previous Revision: February 18, 2021)

2-106



0 A Stormwater Drainage System/Hydrologic and Hydraulic Calculations
Report
0 Hydrology and hydraulic calculations with drainage area maps
O Tributary drainage areas shall be calculated in table form and identified
on maps submitted with the report
0 Geotechnical/Geologist Report
= |nfiltration Testing
= Soils Report
=  Geology Report

Other submittal requirements required by OLWS as applicable prior to final plan
approval.

e Standard Forms
0 Stormwater System Construction and Engineering Costs Data Sheet
0 Sanitary Sewer Construction and Engineering Costs Data Sheet
e Non-Residential Questionnaire Easements/Agreements as applicable
O Public/Private Water, Sanitary and Stormwater Easements
O Public/Private Stormwater Facility Operation and Maintenance
Plan/Agreements

Periodically, OLWS may require additional information to support design assumptions
used for sanitary sewer design. When required, the information shall be included on the
Plans or submitted in memorandum form to OLWS. The following may be required:

e Potential size of drainage basin
e Number of potential EDUs

Sanitary Sewer Extension Submittal

The Public Sanitary Sewer Extension submittal shall include all required information
along with any other information requested by OLWS. The required information
includes, but is not limited to the following:

e Electronic Set of complete civil construction Plans.
e Construction and Engineering Cost Estimate.
e Sanitary Plan review fees.

All submittals will be reviewed for completeness and the Developer’s Engineer will be
notified if required information is missing. Upon acceptance of a complete submittal,
subsequent project review and approval steps shall be undertaken.

Partition/Subdivision Plat Review and Approval

The Applicant shall submit a preliminary plat to the local planning authority, who will
coordinate plat review with OLWS. OLWS will only perform an official review of plats
received from the local planning authority. OLWS will review the plat in accordance with
the approved Water, Sanitary Plans and Stormwater Management Plans and return
comments to the local planning authority. Prior to final plat approval by OLWS, the
Developer shall address the following:

Oak Lodge Water Services Design and Construction Standards
Section 2—Stormwater and Erosion Control Oct. 10, 2024 (Previous Revision: February 18, 2021)

2-107



e All associated agreements and easements shall be reviewed and approved by
OLWS. OLWS will deliver the signed documents to the County Surveyor’s Office
at the time of plat approval.

e Sanitary and Stormwater Improvements shall be:

0 Fully constructed in accordance with the approved plans, or

0 The Applicant shall obtain a performance surety for all proposed water,
sanitary and stormwater improvements on the approved plan. If the
construction work is partially completed, the surety will be based on a
status report submitted by the Developer’s Engineer.

e Public easement documents shall include a site plan and specify the entitlements
within the boundary of the easement.

e Deferred Improvements — In some situations, the responsibility to construct
improvements may be deferred to the future Owner of a specific lot. Deferrals
are at the discretion of OLWS and will be reviewed on a case-by-case basis. All
deferred improvement(s) shall be fully constructed and completed in accordance
with the Rules and applicable Standards, prior to any future occupancy permit
approvals by OLWS. All responsibilities of the future Owner to construct the
deferred improvements shall be stipulated in a separate document recorded as a
covenant with the plat.

0 Subdivision Plats — Any deferred improvements must be part of an OLWS
-approved subdivision improvement plan.

0 Partition Plats — Eligible improvements are limited to Service
Connections, Conveyance System, pervious surfaces, and stormwater
facilities that either benefit one lot, or are shared facilities. In the case of
shared facilities, the deferred improvements will be the responsibility of
the first future lot Owner to submit a building permit application.

0 Other related agreements and documents (i.e., Homeowner’s Association
covenants, conditions, and restrictions; maintenance agreements, etc.)

Plan Submittals

This section contains specific information and drawing specifications for submittals
made to OLWS. This section is intended to standardize the submittals and clearly outline
the minimum requirements. The requirement for a complete submittal package is
intended to reduce the overall plan approval processing time. Plans will not be reviewed
until a complete plan has been submitted. A complete plan shall include at a minimum
all requirements listed in this section.

A. Specific Sheet Submittal Requirements and Specifications
The following sheets are required as part of a complete plan submittal:

e Title Sheet including OLWS'’s two inspector contact information and OLWS's
inspection and review authority. These are contained in the application pre-
application conference notes.

e Composite Utility Plan

Oak Lodge Water Services Design and Construction Standards
Section 2—Stormwater and Erosion Control Oct. 10, 2024 (Previous Revision: February 18, 2021)

2-108



e Composite Stormwater Management Plan Cover Sheet

e Stormwater and Sanitary Sewer Plans and Profiles

e Grading Plan

e EPSCPlan

e Vegetated Buffer Planting Plan

e Stormwater Management Facility Planting Plan

e Standard and Non-Standard Drawings/Detail Sheets

e Standard and Non-Standard Construction Notes

e All applicable Standard Drawings shall be included on a separate sheet in a clear
and legible size.

B. Title Sheet
As a minimum the following information shall be found on the title sheet:

¢ Index of Sheets.

e Complete legend of symbols used.

e Vicinity Map to a scale of not less than 1 inch = 800 feet showing the project
location.

e Site Plan of the entire project showing street ROW and/or subdivision layout.

e Temporary and permanent benchmarks including their descriptions. Total
acreage including streets directly served.

C. Composite Utility Plan

The Composite Utility plan shall be scaled to show the entire site on one sheet unless
otherwise approved by OLWS and shall show:

e All proposed sanitary and stormwater improvements

e All other proposed improvements

e All existing utilities and utilities adjacent to and within 100 feet of the project
e Existing natural or artificial drainage features

e Tract names and numbers

e Property lines with tax lot numbers and addresses

e Street names at a minimum shall be shown

D. Composite Plan Cover Sheet (separate sanitary and storm)
The following information shall be included on the Composite Plan cover sheet:

e The scale shall be scale-appropriate to fit the entire site on one sheet, unless
otherwise approved by OLWS

e Show the appropriate contour lines to demonstrate the overall site topography.
Generally, these are 1-, 2-, 5-, or 10-foot contour lines. The topography must
extend a minimum of 50 to 100 feet beyond the proposed limits of development

e Show the entire system

e Sh